
2021

Annual Report 

Reinventing 
the world  
for good



Annual report 2021 002

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION FINANCIALS SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Facts & figures

Revenue, MEUR Full time employees Number of operating countries

24 3892 823 90

With our new strategy 
and the six specialized 
businesses, we are well 
positioned to further support 
our customers in advancing 
their digital agendas.

Company name: 
Tietoevry

Founded: 
1968

Headquarters: 
Espoo, Finland

Listed:  
NASDAQ Helsinki and Stockholm, 
Oslo Børs

Total equity:  
EUR 1 821.1 million

Total liabilities:  
EUR 1 766.1 million
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The year 2021 marks an exciting milestone for Tietoevry; 

we completed our two-year integration programme and 

announced a new direction for the company with a new 

strategy. In the beginning of 2022, we also unveiled 

a refreshed brand and identity, and a company purpose: 

Creating purposeful technology that reinvents the world for 

good. Our new purpose reflects the company values, as well 

as the direction the world around us is taking.

Highlights 2021

13.0 %

5.1 %

We achieved all this in extraordinary circumstances, with 

the new waves of the pandemic and large-scale remote 

work continuing worldwide – underlining the importance of 

a reliable digital backbone and services across businesses 

and societies, writes our CEO Kimmo Alkio.  

Adjusted ebit

Dividend yield
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 ´ Divesting Oil & Gas software business. 
This divestment is part of the company’s strategy to seek 

focus and scale. Through the transaction the Oil & Gas 

software business will have greater global market reach 

and growth opportunities. 

 ´ Building digital trust.  
Tietoevry is a founding member of Findynet Cooperative 

which is broad public-private organization that 

develops a national digital identity network for 

Finland. The aim is to promote an ethically, socially and 

economically sustainable data economy by increasing 

Europe’s sovereignty in key enabling technologies 

and infrastructures. 

 ´ Promoting equality and inclusion.  
Efforts have been carried out to promote equal 

opportunities in Tietoevry and the ICT industry. 

Initiatives include collaboration with Pride across the 

Nordics, and an initiative for more inclusive language 

used in job ads to attract more female applicants.

 ´ Announcing a new focused, specialized  
and expansion-driven strategy.  
The new strategy will drive customer value and growth 

through specialization with six new end-to-end 

businesses focusing on cloud, data and software. 

 ´ Partner of the year in Finland.  
Tietoevry was awarded a 

Partner of the year award by 

Microsoft for demonstrating 

excellence in innovation and the 

implementation of customer solutions based 

on Microsoft technology.

 ´ The Polite Type awarded as Best of  
the Best at Red Dot Awards.  
The innovative corporate responsibility initiative The 

Polite Type, aimed at tackling cyber bullying was 

recognized in the Red Dot Award design competition. 

The Polite Type received a Best of the Best award for 

a particularly innovative and meaningful idea in the 

Advertising/Digital Campaigns category.

 ´ Recognized as Nordic leader.  
ISG named Tietoevry a leader in 24 of the ISG 

Provider Lens™ Nordic quadrants in 2021. 

Recognitions included, amongst others, Intelligent 

Automation, Public Cloud, Private/Hybrid 

Cloud, Next-Gen Application Development, 

Maintenance and more.

 ´ Recognized for tackling climate change.  
Tietoevry has been recognized for leadership in 

corporate sustainability by global environmental non-

profit CDP, securing a place on the organization’s 

prestigious ‘A List’ for tackling climate change. 

 ´ Winning the contract for next generation  
IT services for City of Stockholm.  
Tietoevry will offer the City of Stockholm an IT 

environment covering state-of-the-art digital services, 

including automation and AIOps, to modernize the city’s 

application and infrastructure landscape.

 ´ Tackling cyber bullying with innovation. 
Working together with the Swedish anti-bullying 

organization Friends and Örebro University, 

Tietoevry continues to make the online 

world safer via “The digital twin of 

bullying” pilot project.

 ´ Piloting European digital, state-guaranteed 
cash alternative. 
Riksbanken, Sweden’s central bank, invited Tietoevry 

to join the second phase of its e-krona pilot. The 

initiative could enable central banks to meet future 

payment needs, foster innovation, and enhance cross-

border payments. 

 ´ Utilizing technology to create responsible  
banking solutions.  
Together with Sparebanken Sør, we launched a 

sustainable payment card for the bank’s customers 

in the payments market. The new card is made of 

biological materials, which can reduce the CO2 emissions 

associated with payment cards by 75%.

 ´ Recognized for sustainability ambitions.  
Tietoevry achieved platinum level in Ecovadis 

ranking and was recognized for its long-term 

commitments especially in CO2 reductions and gender 

balance ambitions. 

 ´ Upgrading tomorrow.  
Tietoevry launched a three-year sustainability strategy, 

the Sustainability game plan. The plan outlines the 

company’s ambitions and describes our actions for the 

climate, ethical conduct and creating an exciting place to 

work – with targets stretching to 2023.

2021 highlights
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Enabling digital futures –  
with a new strategy  
and renewed identity

The year 2021 marks yet another exciting milestone 
for Tietoevry; we completed our two-year 
integration programme, announced a new direction 
for the company with a new strategy, and unveiled 
a renewed brand and identity. We achieved all this 
in extraordinary circumstances, with the new waves 
of the pandemic and large-scale remote work 
continuing worldwide – underlining the importance 
of a reliable digital backbone and services across 
businesses and societies. 

Positioning for growth

The post-merger integration has been central in our 

activities during the past two years. After building the basic 

operational capabilities for the combined company in 2020, 

the work during 2021 centered on enhancing the common 

ways of working through launch of core processes, focusing 

on employee growth and leadership through MyGrowth 

dialogues – our new development and performance 

management framework. The work for company culture 

and renewal of the brand and identity continued during 

the year. Considering the global pandemic and majority 

of the employees working remotely, we can be proud of 

the achievement and the successful completion of our 

corporate-wide integration program. 

As the natural next step, we announced during the 

autumn a new strategy that focuses on driving customer 

value and growth through specialization. The technology 

industry is being reshaped with cloud as a foundation, 

providing expansion opportunities for the company, 

especially in areas of cloud-native services, data, 

software engineering and scalable software businesses. 

To capture this momentum, we established six specialized 

end-to-end businesses with full operational responsibility, 

including go-to-market, service portfolio, investments and 

partnerships. The service businesses; Tietoevry Create, 

Tietoevry Transform and Tietoevry Connect as well as the 

software businesses; Tietoevry Banking, Tietoevry Care 

and Tietoevry Industry started their operations 1 January 

2022. Reflecting the distinct market dynamics of each, the 

individual businesses will have the optionality to scale and 

prioritize their investments for growth.

Our financial performance developed favorably during the 

year, with revenue turning to growth in the second half 

of the year. The reported growth was 1% and organically 

revenue remained at the previous year’s level. Operating 

profit (EBIT) rose to EUR 382.0 (146.7) million, including 

substantial capital gains of EUR 104.0 million from the 

divestments implemented during the year. Adjusted 

operating profit (EBITA) improved to EUR 367.8 (355.0) 

million, representing 13.0% (12.7) of revenue.  Merger 

synergies materialized well according to the plan and 

profitability improved. Total performance of the company 

was driven especially by strong software businesses, 

Product Development Services, and International 

Operations – forming solid ground for our future focus in 

cloud, data and software engineering. Organic growth in 

International Operations and software businesses was 

solid, 22% and 8%, respectively. Full-year operating cash 

flow was at record levels at EUR 367.5 (354.7) million, 

which enabled us to deleverage ahead of schedule. 

Based on our strong balance sheet, we are able to 

continue with attractive dividend levels as defined in our 

financial targets.  
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Employee wellbeing and customer  
experience – drivers of the hybrid work 

The unusual past two years led us to rethink our future ways 

of working also post-pandemic. Staying true to our values 

of openness, trust and diversity, we invited all our 24,000 

employees globally to co-create the “new normal” for us at 

Tietoevry. During spring, employees were invited to share 

their views and wishes through virtual ideation workshops 

and surveys.  Through crowdsourcing, we received around 

43,000 ideas on how to create a strong company culture, 

how to utilize digital collaboration tools for more efficient 

remote work, and what is the role of offices in the future.

Our employees’ input was utilized in the Hybrid Working 

guidelines which outline the principles for our new ways of 

working. We want to allow our employees to combine work 

at the office and from home – considering the diverse needs 

and preferences of individuals, teams and our customers. 

We believe that flexibility encourages everyone to give their 

best, contributes positively to both employee and customer 

experience as well as our company culture – and supports 

our sustainability ambitions.

Ability to provide meaningful assignments and attractive 

career opportunities is essential in our dynamic and talent-

intensive global industry. During the year, we were pleased 

to welcome around 5,700 new experts join the company 

to support our growth ambitions. The commitment and 

dedication of our employees was also demonstrated by our 

internal engagement scores, which continued to develop 

favorably throughout the year.

Towards more equal and sustainable societies

In 2020, we launched our Sustainability 2023 game plan 

outlining the company’s key priorities for ethical conduct, 

climate actions and creating an exciting place to work. 

In 2021, we uplifted our ambitions, aligned our carbon 

reduction targets with the Paris agreement and made our 

commitments to the Science Based Targets initiative. 

Building an inclusive and diverse workplace is a business 

imperative for us at Tietoevry; we develop new digital 

services for diverse users and as there is a shortage of 

key talent, utilization of the full potential of our markets 

is essential. When competing for the best talent, the 

company culture plays a vital role. Our culture is built on 

our core values of openness, trust and diversity – and we 

see that as an advantage for us in this industry with global 

competition. Achieving gender balance in the company 

is our long-term ambition, and in 2021 we took the first 

steps towards the target by looking into our recruitment 

and successor practices. While the development 

during the first year was moderate, we saw some units 

standing out as good examples. In 2022, we maintain our 

focus even stronger with new initiatives across all our 

new businesses.

We have been proceeding well towards our carbon 

reduction ambitions and in 2021, embarked on the work for 

circular economy practices, i.e., recycling of the hardware, 

laptops and mobile phones. 

Our sustainability work was also recognized for the long-

term commitments especially in CO2 reductions and gender 

balance ambitions with a platinum level on EcoVadis rating 

as well as A-list by CDP, the Carbon Disclosure Project.  

We have started to implement the new EU taxonomy – 

assessing eligibility of our solutions and preparing for 

alignment reporting as the next step.

Sustainability is becoming increasingly important for all key 

stakeholders, employees, customers and investors alike. 

We recognize the opportunities digitalization is bringing to 

significantly reduce emissions and environmental burden for 

our customers and for the society at large. 

Market outlook 

Creating superior experiences enabled by data continues 

to be a strong driver for investments across industries. 

This change is enabled by a number of technology-led 

advancements and new applications, including ones that 

utilize artificial intelligence and machine learning. The divide 

between traditional managed services and cloud-native 

services and software is widening and the polarized market 

calls for specialization. 

Innovations driving digital experiences are enabled by 

cloud technologies. Coupled with cloud enablement, agile 

development methods, DevOps, are becoming a standard 

way of delivering services faster. In parallel with cloud-

native development, our customers are continuing the 

modernization of their business processes, applications 

and infrastructure. 

The exceptional past years have continued to accelerate 

the digitalization of our societies. We believe that with our 

new strategy and the six specialized businesses, we are 

well positioned to take advantage of the opportunities in the 

market and further support our customers advancing their 

digital agendas.

Creating purposeful technology

To accelerate our renewal, we also unveiled a refreshed 

brand and identity, and a company purpose: Creating 

purposeful technology that reinvents the world for good. 

Our new purpose reflects the company values, as well 

as the direction the world around us is taking. Now more 

than ever it matters for companies to be active on societal 

issues. At Tietoevry, we want to be the company that 

develops digital futures where technology, humanity and 

responsibility are at the core. We will focus on making our 

new identity come to life in 2022.

I strongly believe that the foundation we built and the 

new era we have started for the company in 2021 will 

offer inspiring opportunities and enhanced learning for 

our employees, and long-term value for our customers, 

partners and shareholders. We look forward to 2022 with 

a clear strategic focus and a great deal of enthusiasm and 

confidence. I want to sincerely thank all our stakeholders 

for a successful 2021 and look forward to continuing close 

collaboration in the years ahead.

Kimmo Alkio 
President and CEO



Service %

Managed services 52% 52

Project services 39% 39

Support services 9% 9

Nordic IT  
services market

Managed services 52%

Project services 39%

Support services 9%
*Incl. core markets Finland, 
  Sweden and Norway
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IT market 
development

	´ Hyperconnected data, enabled by cloud, 
is reshaping the technology industry.  

	´ The divide between traditional managed 
services and cloud-native services and 
software is widening. This polarized market 
is calling for specialization reflecting 
distinctive competitive advantage in 
each service segment to capture the 
opportunities identified.

	´ Cloud-native services with high growth 
potential provide clear expansion 
opportunities for Tietoevry. 

	´ In traditional managed services,  
automation and scale are important 
drivers for competitiveness.

The rapidly changing market provides significant growth 

opportunities for Tietoevry. Creating superior experiences 

enabled by hyperconnected data continues to be a strong 

driver for investments across industries. Customers are 

considering how to utilize the benefits of data even faster 

to be able to launch highly advanced digital experiences 

supported by real-time and personalized services.

Innovations driving digital experiences are enabled by cloud 

technologies. Cloud enablement and agile development 

methods, DevOps, are becoming a standard way of 

delivering services. The focus is clearly geared towards 

cloud-native development, with investments in data and 

analytics, data management, data engineering and data 

platforms on the one hand, and investments in cloud-native 

application development on the other.

In parallel with cloud-native development, customers will 

continue the modernization of their business processes, 

applications and infrastructure. Hence, investments are 

also being geared towards the market with modernization 

programmes. As price erosion in these traditional segments 

will accelerate further, competitiveness requires scale.
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  Global delivery centres        Customer deliveries        The main markets
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Cloud nativeModernizeTraditional
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Techonology industry reshaping with cloud as the foundation
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Distinct competitive drivers as world evolves towards cloud native

Source: Multiple analyst reports (e.g. Gartner) and Tietoevry analysis, Growth CAGR ‘18 -23Tietoevry Strategy 2021
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Tietoevry announced a new strategy in 
October 2021, driving growth and expansion 
through specialization. Investments will be 
focused on businesses where we see competitive 
advantages and sustainable growth:

 ´ cloud-native services

 ´ data and software engineering 

 ´ scalable software businesses, including  

 their global expansion potential.

In the areas of traditional managed application and 

infrastructure services, the company sees new  

partnerships as potential means to build scale and  

pursue joint investments.

New strategy  
launched in 2021 –  
growth through  
specialization

Six specialized businesses established

To capture the momentum of the cloud-native and 

software market, Tietoevry has established six specialized 

end-to-end businesses. The businesses, forming the 

reportable segments as from the first quarter of 2022, are 

described below: 

Tietoevry Create accelerates customers digital agenda to 

create competitive products and data driven businesses 

utilizing design, data and cloud technologies. This is a global 

business with software and data engineering at its core.

Tietoevry Transform drives enterprise-wide transformation 

across customers’ business processes, applications and 

infrastructure. Deep customer knowledge, global cloud 

and data competencies and automated operations form 

its foundation.

Tietoevry established six end-to-
end businesses to capture the 
momentum of cloud-native and 
software market.
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Tietoevry Connect is a multi-cloud platform provider with 

a full range of infrastructure choices at scale – ensuring 

security, resilience and compliance for customers’ business.

Tietoevry Banking aims to be the market-leading financial-

software products, platform and services partner in the 

Nordics and beyond.

Tietoevry Care aims to reinvent the Nordic health and social 

care sector with modular, open and interoperable software 

– enhancing care personnel and citizen experience.

Tietoevry Industry is a portfolio of distinct competitive 

software and data solutions across a wide variety of 

industry domains. These include the public sector, pulp and 

paper and utilities.

Tietoevry Group continues to support the businesses 

through scalable common functions (Finance, Strategy, 

global Operations and HR) driving portfolio development, 

performance management and efficiency across the 

company. The new structure took effect on 1 January 2022.

Investment priorities to support scale 
in distinct businesses

The following investment priorities will drive 

competitiveness and value creation in each business:

 ´ Invest to expand in Tietoevry Create, Tietoevry Care 

and Tietoevry Banking – invest to accelerate products, 

services and capabilities; prioritized M&A.

 ´ Partner to scale in Tietoevry Transform and Tietoevry 

Connect – invest in capabilities to drive scale 

and automated managed services; seek partners 

(operational and structural) to jointly invest and 

build scale.

 ´ Focus for value in Tietoevry Industry – optimized 

investments for selected businesses and develop 

portfolio to increase focus.



Renewed structure to drive specialized end-to-end businesses

Specialized businesses with broader options to scale, including M & A & D

Specialized end-to-end businesses to drive fast decision making,  

experts at customer front and employee attractiveness

Common Group functions driving portfolio development, performance 

management and efficiency: HR, Operations, Strategy and Finance

End-to-end businesses with full operational responsibility covering:

	´ Go-to-market

	´ Business models and service portfolio

	´ Culture, talent and rewarding

	´ Investments and partnerships

	´ Financial performance
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Operating  
model

Six specialized businesses established

To capture the momentum of the cloud-native and 

software market, Tietoevry has established six specialized 

end-to-end businesses. These businesses have full 

operational responsibility, including go-to-market, service 

portfolio, investments and partnerships. Reflecting the 

distinct market dynamics of each, the individual businesses 

have optionality to build scale and prioritize investments. 

The businesses, forming the reportable segments 

as from the first quarter of 2022, are described 

in the Strategy section. 
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We’re making it our business to reinvent 
the world for good 

The extraordinary times in the past few years have resulted 

in changes in the expectations of our key stakeholders. 

Today, having a view and being active on societal issues 

is more important than ever for companies. At Tietoevry, 

we want to be the company that develops technology 

with responsibility at the core – acknowledging also 

how to counter any negative effects the technological 

advancements may bring. Tietoevry focuses on developing 

digital futures where businesses, societies, and 

humanity thrive. 

We are a leading technology company with a strong Nordic 

heritage and global capabilities. Our main role is to drive 

customer value and growth through specialization. Our 

role varies from advisory and service design to building 

and running solutions and services. We look at the world 

from our customers’ perspective and aim to offer the best 

services and solutions from our wide-ranged portfolio. 

This enables our customers to focus on their core business 

and create value in their respective domains. The world is 

increasingly driven by technology and data. We see this 

as an opportunity and aim to use the data to create social, 

economic and environmental value. 

Read some of our customer cases on page 033. 
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Tietoevry regards sustainability as both a 
responsibility and an opportunity. We need to be 
environmentally, socially and financially responsible 
in our operations in order to meet the requirements 
and expectations set by our stakeholders. Our 
innovative solutions drive more sustainable 
outcomes for our customers and society. We make 
all this happen through effective governance, 
compliance, processes, tools and ways of working.

As a company, we align our sustainability practices with 

international norms, frameworks and legislation covering 

anti-corruption, environment, human rights and labour 

rights. Our sustainability approach is based on the principles 

of the UN Global Compact and the OECD Guidelines for 

Multinational Enterprises, and is aligned with the UN 

Sustainable Development Goals. 

But our sustainability efforts are not merely a question of 

complying with laws and regulations. We are determined to 

Our innovative 
solutions drive more 
sustainable outcomes 
for our customers 
and society.

Managing  
sustainability 

show the way and be an ethical leader, which sometimes 

means going above and beyond regulations and applying 

even higher standards. 

With the purpose of jointly promoting long-term and 

sustainable industry development and regulation at the 

local, national and international levels, we affiliate ourselves 

with several voluntary industry organizations and initiatives. 

These include: 

 ´ CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project)

 ´ Cleantech Finland

 ´ CSR Sweden

 ´ FIBS (in Finland) 

 ´ Fossilfritt Sverige (in Sweden) 

 ´ Digitaliseringskonsulterna (in Sweden) 

 ´ The European AI Alliance

 ´ UN Global compact
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SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainability game plan 2023

Tietoevry’s three-year Sustainability strategy, called 

Sustainability game plan 2023, is the roadmap guiding our 

efforts towards integrated sustainable practices across our 

value chain.

The plan is based on a materiality analysis conducted in 2020, 

and a process to identify areas where sustainability is a driver 

for value creation and customer engagement. It’s a two-fold 

plan, with one part ensuring that Tietoevry has responsible 

operations, and the other part focusing on the business and 

impact opportunities we have together with our customers. 

Responsible operations comprise three broad themes – 

climate action, ethical conduct and Tietoevry as an exciting 

place to work – with focus areas under each theme. Our 

business impact opportunities lie in a range of solutions and 

services that can accelerate and improve our customers’ 

sustainability performance, and create a positive large-scale 

impact for society. The plan also details how we contribute 

to the UN Sustainable Development Goals. The goals were 

selected with the help of principled prioritization, in line with 

the document “Integrating the SDGs into corporate reporting: 

A practical guide” developed by GRI and Un Global Compact. 

This means that we have aligned our company strategy, efforts 

and allocated resources that reflect our most significant 

impacts  assessed as a part of our materiality analysis.

Governance and responsibilities 

Tietoevry’s sustainability work is facilitated by the 

company’s Sustainability team and is supported by the 

Sustainability Steering Group, chaired by the Vice President, 

Communications and Sustainability. The steering group 

advises the Group Leadership Team and the Board of 

Directors, and approves the sustainability section of the 

company’s integrated annual report. The members of the 

Sustainability Steering Group represent different functions 

and units at Tietoevry, including members of the Group 

Leadership Team, and meet on a bi-monthly basis. 

Daily sustainability activities are facilitated by the 

Sustainability team, led by the Head of Sustainability, who is 

also responsible for the company’s sustainability policies and 

processes. The Head of Sustainability reports directly to the 

Vice President of Communications and Sustainability, who 

in turn reports to the Head of Operations. The management 

of specific responsibility areas and business-opportunity 

areas is handled by appointed area owners, each of 

whom is responsible for reporting on area-specific goal 

performance. Long-term sustainability goals are presented in 

the Sustainability game plan 2023, which has been approved 

by the Sustainability Steering Group and the CEO. The 

management of specific responsibility areas is presented in 

more detail in the respective sections of this report.

Policies and rules providing strategic 
direction and practical guidance 

The company’s ethical principles are summarized in the 

Code of Conduct, which applies to all our employees and 

any third party contributing to Tietoevry’s services, products 

and other business activities. The Code of Conduct is 

aligned with international frameworks and norms, as well as 

with local legislation. 

A separate Supplier Code of Conduct clarifies the 

ethical guidelines that apply to Tietoevry’s suppliers. Our 

ambition is to ensure that the Supplier Code of Conduct 

is implemented in all new supplier contracts and when 

contracts with current suppliers are renewed. 

https://www.unglobalcompact.org/library/5628
https://www.unglobalcompact.org/library/5628


Analyzing and quantifying the environmental,
societal and financial impacts of our service.

Development of ethical software.

Ethical designSustainability impact analysis

Sustainability game plan 2023

Employee experienceDiversity and inclusion

Circular economy practices

Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions

We help to optimize production and logistics,  
digitalize  processes and support in the re-use  
and recycling of material.

Solutions to reduce carbon footprint

Solutions to collect, compile and visualize the 
current state and thereby enable customers to 
integrate accurate sustainability data into   
decision-making and plans.

Services for data-driven sustainability

Responsible 
operations

Impact 
opportunities

Business ethics and anti-corruption

Cybersecurity and privacy

Responsible sourcing

Human rights

People

Society

Climate
action

Planet

Ethical
conduct

Exciting place to work
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Our Anti-Corruption Rule provides practical guidelines on 

how to evaluate and avoid unethical behaviour, and the 

Environmental Rule - which is compliant with ISO 14001 

requirements - outlines our precautionary approach to 

environmental management within the company and 

throughout the value chain. In addition, we have several 

other policies and rules supporting the management 

of specific sustainability areas. All policies, rules and 

processes covering sustainability apply to our entire 

organization and are reviewed each year as part of our 

compliance program.

Tietoevry’s Whistleblowing Rule defines our common way 

of managing all whistleblowing notifications made to our 

centralized channel or to Internal Audit, Human Resources 

and Legal and Compliance  functions. Our Whistleblowing 

Unit is responsible for logging and investigating the cases 

and following up on escalations, as well as for initiating 

preventive actions based on the case experience. We are 

committed to a culture where employees feel safe to speak 

up and report concerns, and we adhere to the principle of 

non-retaliation. The handling of escalations is described in 

more detail here.

Implementing sustainability in daily 
business operations

To support our organization in further implementing 

sustainability in daily business operations, we have a 

Sustainability Management Process, which is included in 

our business system. This process utilizes best practices 

from the UN Global Compact Management Model and GRI 

Standards. The Sustainability Management Process formally 

outlines the role of a Responsible Area Owner. Our Code of 

Conduct e-learning further supports the implementation 

of sustainable and ethical business practices across the 

entire organization. In addition, we have an environmental 

e-learning that supports the implementation of our 

Environmental Management System and related ISO 14001 

certifications. An annual training curriculum “Tietoevry 

Essentials” also covers e-learnings in GDPR as well as 

a general security training.

The Sustainability “HIT Team”, a network of colleagues in 

business, play a key role in integrating sustainability into 

our business and delivering sustainable solutions to our 

customers. The cross-service-line team comprises multiple 

sustainability and technology consultants, enabling a 

networked way of working with sustainability-related 

customer projects. During 2021, the team focused on 

experience sharing and business development, with the aim 

of identifying and capturing synergies across similar types 

of customer projects. The structure and focus of business-

related sustainability efforts in the new organizational setup 

will be defined during 2022. 

We encourage our employees to engage in the corporate-

wide sustainability ambitions as well as deepen their 

knowledge on the topic to enhance sustainability in our 

customer engagements. Therefore, a learning module called 

Sustainability Curriculum was built and launched during Q3, 

2021. The Curriculum contains modules on the key elements 

of our Sustainability game plan. 

The Sustainability team, together with the responsible 

area owners, support internal functions such as 

Procurement, HR, and our customer teams in sustainability 

matters. Our sustainability approach and ambitions are 

also included in the company’s sales materials. These 

materials help our sales teams to communicate about 

sustainability at Tietoevry and respond to our customers’ 

sustainability requests.

Tietoevry’s Sustainability 
game plan 2023 guides 
our sustainability efforts.
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Sustainability dashboard

* Measured on an annual basis
** Scope: agreements made through Procurement function. Note that scope also includes supplier’s versions of Code of Conducts agreed by our Head of Sustainability.
*** Baseline FY20.
**** Scope: result based on reuse of returned devices (mainly laptops). Data accuracy: data is based on our main hardware supplier’s reports. This supplier provides close to 75% of Tietoevry’s devices.  

Responsible area Goal Result 2020 Result 2021 Trend UN sustainable 
development goal

ETHICAL CONDUCT

Human rights 2021: Conduct a formal Human Rights Impact Assessment for a business entity Assessment to be conducted FY21 Group-wide Human Rights Impact 
Assessment initiated during FY21     

Cybersecurity and privacy 2023: Zero substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer privacy and losses 
of customer data* Zero Zero

Business ethics  
and anti-corruption

2023: 90% completion of ethics training (CoC e-learning)* 91% 93%
    

2023: 100% confirmation of receipt of a whistleblowing notification within four business 
days of receipt 100% 100%

Responsible sourcing 2023: 100% of new or renewed suppliers agreeing to Tietoevry’s Supplier Code of Conduct** 100% 99%
    

CLIMATE ACTION

Energy usage  
and GHG emissions

2023: 80% reduction of scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) by FY23*** Baseline is FY20 and reductions against  
baseline will be available from 2021 44% reduction

  

2023: 100% carbon free electricity in own data centers and offices 80% 92%
  

Circular economy practices 2023: 100% reuse and recycling of hardware**** Baseline set during FY21 Internal: 70%
Customer: 86%

EXCITING PLACE TO WORK

Diversity and inclusion 2026: 40% female employees by 2026: 50% female employees by 2030 29% female employees 29% female employees
  

Employee experience 2023: Employee engagement score >75 76/100 78/100



Policies and processes covering sustainability areas

Climate action Exciting place to work

 Sustainability management process, sustainability materiality assessment for Sustainability game plan 2023 

Ethical conduct

2. Human rights

3. Cyber security and privacy

4. Responsible sourcing

6. Circular economy practices 8. Employee experience

1. Business ethics and anti-corruption 5. Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 7. Diversity and inclusion

Policies, rules and guidelines

Code of Conduct (1, 2), Internal audit policy (2, 3), Anti-corruption rule (2), Whistleblowing rule (1, 2, 3, 7, 8), Competition compliance rule (2),  

Procurement policy (4), Supplier Code of Conduct (1, 2, 4, 5), Environmental Rule (4, 5, 6), Information classification rule (3), Data transfer rule (3),  

Security Policy (3), Security Rule (3), User Security Rule (3), Privacy Policy (3), AI ethics guideline (1, 3), Occupational Health and Safety Policy (1, 8), 

HR Policy (1, 7, 8), Insider Rule (2), Public Authority Request Rule (1, 3)

Whistleblowing channel

Internal and external audits (1, 2), Governance, risk and compliance management (2, 3), Sourcing to pay (4), Supplier self assessment (4),  

Environmental management process (EMS) ISO14001 (4, 5, 6), ISO27001 (3), ISO31000 (3), ISAE3402 audits in Data Centers (3),  

ISAE 3000 Assurance of non financial information (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8), Information and cyber security audits and assessments (3),  

CDP Climate Change program (4, 5, 6), HR processes (1, 7, 8), Employee engagement survey (8)
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During the past year we received several acknowledgements for our 

sustainability efforts and performance. 

CDP

In 2021, Tietoevry achieved level A in CDP Climate Change scoring. Our 

CDP score exceeds the IT sector and CDP programme averages. 

EcoVadis

Tietoevry achieved platinum level in EcoVadis ranking and was 

recognized for its long-term commitments especially in CO2 reductions 

and gender balance ambitions.

OMX GES Sustainability Finland Index 

Based on our sustainability performance, Tietoevry is now listed as part 

of the OMX Finland Sustainability Index calculated by NASDAQ OMX 

and GES Investment Services. This is a benchmark index that comprises 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki listed companies that lead in sustainability.

SHE Index

Tietoevry in Norway was ranked 14th out of a total of 92 companies 

in SHE Index. In Sweden, Tietoevry ranked 3rd out of a total of 30 

companies. She Index will do a proper market entry to Finland in 2022.



Tietoevry’s stakeholders

Our
stakeholders

Potential  

employees
Investors

Employees

Customers

Suppliers

Business 

partners

Ecosystems

Industry 

associations

Governments/ 

Public authorities

Academia/Universities/ 

Schools

Local  

communities

Media

Non-governmental  

organizations
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Stakeholder 
engagement 
and materiality 
analysis

to affect our operations (all these groups are marked in dark 

blue in the illustration to the right). 

We interact with our key stakeholders in multiple ways; 

regular surveys are conducted with customers and 

employees, and important information is received for 

example through our escalation channels. Social media is an 

important platform for us to engage in a dialogue with both 

employees and external stakeholders. We actively monitor 

topical discussions and respond to questions. We also have 

ongoing formal and informal conversations with suppliers, 

business partners, customers, investors and authorities 

as an integrated part of our operations. More information 

about our stakeholder engagements throughout 2021 can 

be found here. 

Our stakeholder relations are managed throughout the 

organization, except for Investor Relations which is 

centralized within the Finance function. 

Understanding what our stakeholders expect 
from us is key to ensuring business success. 
Collaboration and continuous dialogue bring 
Tietoevry insights about stakeholders’ concerns and 
expectations, as well as point out emerging risks 
and also business opportunities. With sustainability 
expectations growing all the time, stakeholder 
dialogue is a vital tool helping us to develop our 
ways of working across the value chain.

We are committed to meet our stakeholders’ sustainability 

requirements and needs both in our daily business and 

our long-term strategy. Our approach to stakeholder 

engagement is based on both structured and sporadic 

dialogue and interactions. We engage with a wide range of 

stakeholders, including employees, customers, business 

partners, authorities, governments, and society at large. Our 

most important stakeholders are those directly affected by 

Tietoevry’s operations, or the ones who have the potential 

https://www.tietoevry.com/siteassets/files/sustainability/stakeholder-dialogue_22.pdf


Materiality matrix according to GRI Standards
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Significance of economic, environmental & social impacts

Human rights

Diversity and inclusion

Responsible sourcing

Business ethics and anti-corruption

Cybersecurity 

and privacy

Employee Experience

Circular economy practices

Energy usage 

and greenhouse 

gas emission
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Materiality analysis

A materiality analysis is used to identify and prioritise the 

most important material topics based on the industry, 

our business and ambitions as well as the impact we 

have on society, market trends and the UN’s Sustainable 

Development Goals. 

In 2020, we examined stakeholders’ perceptions through a 

survey conducted among customers, investors, employees, 

potential employees, suppliers and partners. We also 

carried out in-depth interviews with key internal and 

external stakeholders – including subject-matter experts, 

customers and investors – to gather insights for our 

sustainability focus areas. 

Based on our materiality analysis and our vision, strategy 

and operations, we have developed our sustainability 

strategy: the Tietoevry Sustainability game plan 2023. The 

materiality analysis also forms the basis of our sustainability 

reporting in accordance with GRI Standards, Core option. 



Suppliers Partners Tietoevry Customers End-users

Human rights

Business ethics & anticorruption

Cybersecurity and privacy

Responsible sourcing

Energy usage & GHG emissions

Circular economy practices

Diversity & Inclusion

Employee experience

Responsible area boundaries according to GRI Standards
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Impact in our value chain 

As a company, we may cause impacts either through our own activities and 

operations, or through our business relationships. The table to the right indicates 

where in our value chain each material area is of most importance, and where 

the impact most likely occurs. Cybersecurity and privacy are areas of great 

importance in our interactions with our customers and the end users of our 

services and solutions. Business ethics, anti-corruption and human rights are 

topics that we can impact and be impacted by throughout our entire value chain. 
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Responsible 
operations

Climate action

028 Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions

033 CASE: Accelerating decarbonization in 
Europe via the Energy ESC project  

034 CASE: Citizen data drives climate 
action in Norway 

036 Circular economy practices

039 CASE: Payment cards go beyond plastic

040 CASE: Data-driven insights reduce 
bus emissions in Helsinki

Exciting place to work

043 Diversity and inclusion

049 Employee experience

056 Building a brighter future through 
our  societal engagements 

059 CASE: New HIT team takes on 
our sustainability goals 

Ethical conduct

061 Business ethics & anti-corruption

065 Cybersecurity and privacy

068 Human rights

071 Responsible sourcing

074 CASE: Tietoevry Sustainability Data Hub: 
real-time data for real-time action 
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Climate  
action

Through leading technologies and the smart use 
of data, we believe we can positively impact the 
environment and build solutions that benefit 
everyone – from our customers to society at 
large. We strive to carry out our operations in a 
responsible manner, reduce carbon emissions 
in our value chain and unlock growth without 
compromising the earth we share.

Circular economy practices – where we recycle 
and reuse our hardware – are crucial in our 
mission of becoming even more responsible 
in our operations. We strive to explore how to 
further grow our environmental handprint with 
the innovations and solutions we provide our 
customers. Together with them and our ecosystem 
of partners, we are creating purposeful technology 
that reinvents the world for good.



Percentage of carbon free electricity 
in data centers and offices

Target 2023, %

 

 100 

Result 2021, % 

92
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028

Energy usage 
and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Climate change is one of the biggest challenges 
of our time. Corporations have a significant role to 
play in tackling the challenge and Tietoevry is no 
exception. We take it upon ourselves to reduce our 
own carbon footprint and help our customers and 
society at large to become more efficient in energy 
and resource usage. Together we can pave the 
way towards carbon neutrality with sustainable IT 
solutions and innovative technology.

Our approach to reducing our own 
carbon footprint

As technology is created by people, and as global warming 

derives from human activities, we who are behind the 

technology and the creation of tomorrow’s society have a 

responsibility to make a positive impact on climate change. 

Companies of today are expected to take responsibility 

for their energy usage to minimize greenhouse gas (GHG) 

emissions. The challenge is now part of every industry’s and 

customer’s agenda, so we as a tech provider want to be and 

should be part of the solution and the shift to greener ways 

of doing business. 

We believe the most effective ways to fight climate change are 

reducing our own energy consumption and GHG emissions, 

as well as aiming for net-zero carbon in our operations. We 

understand the opportunity we have to help customers and 

societies reduce their emissions with the help of our products 

and services. We approach our role as an enabler of the 

transformation to a low-carbon society with great respect. 

For our own operations – our offices and data centers, 

we aim to use electricity, heating and cooling produced 

with renewable and carbon-free sources – such as wind 

or solar power – as much as possible. We understand 

that the location of our data centers plays a key role in 

enabling the circularity of the energy the centers produce. 

Innovative technology allows the energy produced by the 

centers to feed nearby district-heating networks to warm 
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up households. By doing so, we are adding a circularity 

dimension to our power usage in a few of our data center 

locations. In 2021, 680 houses were warmed with excess 

heat from our data center in Espoo. 

As a natural consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic in 

both 2020 and 2021, the business travelling has been 

dramatically reduced. With the adaptation to new hybrid 

ways of working – both culturally and through the use 

of modern conference tools – “no-fly” meetings and 

less travelling are becoming the new norm. In 2021, we 

reduced our CO2 emissions from business travel by 63% 

per employee from 2020 levels. The reduction in emissions 

was a consequence of Tietoevry’s pandemic-related travel 

restrictions in 2021.

As we need to procure goods for our own operations, we 

also need to reduce supply chain related emissions. Thus, 

we need to consider the whole lifecycle of the products and 

services we purchase and the emissions they cause – both 

upstream and downstream. We maintain a close dialogue 

with our suppliers and subcontractors, encouraging them to 

follow and set their own science-based targets according to 

the Paris Agreement. We expect 70% of our biggest suppliers 

to have absolute GHG targets by 2023.

Towards carbon neutrality

Tackling environmental challenges to protect and save 

our planet for future generations requires commitment, 

a proactive approach, and an aspiration to continuously 

improve. Our long-term targets are defined in our 

Sustainability game plan 2023. In the plan, we have set 

ambitious targets to achieve net-zero carbon emissions in 

own operations by 2025, and we are working to cut 80% of 

our market-based energy-related GHG emissions by 2023. 

For 2021, we see our progress to be well on track, with a 

reduction of 44% from the previous year. By 2023, we aim 

to use 100% renewable and carbon-free electricity in our 

offices and our own data centers (scope 2). In 2021, the result 

was 92% due to increase of renewable electricity in offices in 

the Nordic countries. The 2021 result shows that we are well 

on track towards our target for 2023. Our co-location data 

centers are reported as part of scope 3 (indirect emissions).

Our total energy consumption for 2021 was reduced by 5% 

compared to the previous year. The main reason for this was 

the increased transition to cloud solutions. The transition to 

cloud is much more energy efficient and reduces the energy 

consumption in general. 

Our carbon handprint is an important tool to exemplify 

the positive impact increased use of digital solutions and 

services can have on customers’ emissions. We estimated 

that the avoided CO2 emissions for our customers during 

2021 were 75 ktons of CO2, thereby meeting our goal of an 

annual increase of avoided emissions by 10%. The scope 

includes smart transaction solutions in financial services and 

document handling systems within the public sector. We are 

looking into further developing our handprint calculation 

model during 2022.

By 2030, we aim to reduce the average carbon footprint 

per employee from business-travel-related emissions by 

47% compared to the levels in 2019 levels (prior to the 

pandemic). Tietoevry’s Travel Rule encourages employees 

to always prioritize virtual “no-fly” meeting alternatives 

over travel. The Travel Rule also recommends choosing 

environmentally-friendly options such as train travel over 

flying, or to use environmentally-classified vehicles. 
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Energy consumption and GHG emissions 

Emission class Unit 2019 2020  2021 
% Change  

2020–2021

302-1 ENERGY CONSUMPTION WITHIN THE ORGANISATION

Stationary combustion

Diesel total kWh 525 800 472 000 -10

Transportation

Diesel total kWh 19 700 49 400 151

Petrol total kWh 22 000 7 500 -66

Total scope 1 energy consumption kWh 567 500 528 900 -7

Electricity kWh 100 346 394 90 724 850 -10

Cooling kWh 19 269 706 17 683 600 -8

Heating kWh 9 381 487 13 628 900 45

Total scope 2 energy consumption kWh 128 997 588 122 037 350 -5

Total energy scope 1 & 2 kWh 129 565 088 122 566 250 -5

302-3 REDUCTION OF ENERGY CONSUMPTION

No data in 2020 kWh  NA  6 998 838 

305-1, 305-2 TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT GHG EMISSIONS

Diesel total tCO2e 138  132 -4

Petrol total tCO2e  5  2 -66

Electricity (location-based) tCO2e 11 317  7 936 -30

Electricity (market-based) tCO2e 8 845  5 578 -37

Cooling tCO2e 0  -   

Heating tCO2e 1 055  1 399 33

Total GHG scope 1 tCO2e  143  134 -6

Total GHG scope 2 (location-based) tCO2e 12 372  9 336 -25

Total GHG scope 2 (market-based) tCO2e  9 899  5 499 -44

Total GHG scope 1&2 (location-based) tCO2e  12 515  9 470 -24

Total GHG scope 1&2 (market-based) tCO2e  10 042  5 633 -44

Emission class Unit 2019 2020  2021 
% Change  

2020–2021

305-3 OTHER RELEVANT INDIRECT (SCOPE 3) GHG EMISSIONS

Business travel tCO2e 24 102  1 898  717 -62

Business travel - flights tCO2e 22 270  1 755  669 -62

Business travel - own cars tCO2e 1832  143  48 -66

Upstream leased assets tCO2e  364  91 -75

Waste generated in operations tCO2e  51 39 -23

Total GHG scope 3 emissions tCO2e  2 313  847 -63

Total Tietoevry GHG emissions 
(location-based) tCO2e  14 828   10 317 -30

Total Tietoevry GHG emissions 
(market-based) tCO2e  12 355  6 480 -48

305-5 REDUCTION OF GHG EMISSIONS tCO2e

Scope 3  6 961  1 466 

Scope 2  9 011  4 125 

302-3 ENERGY INTENSITY MWh/Meur  47 43

305-4 GHG EMISSION INTENSITY tCO2e/Meur  4 2

Other

Energy returned to district network kWh 14 907 500  12 318 390  13 650 000 

Tietoevry KPI 5.1 Percentage of renewable 
and carbon free electricity in scope 1 and 2 % of total  80 92

Tietoevry KPI 5.2 Reduction of total 
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions tCO2e  9 011  4 410 

Tietoevry KPI 5.2 Reduction of total Scope 3 
GHG emissions tCO2e  6 961  1 466 

Tietoevry KPI 5.3 Reduction of average 
carbon footprint from business travel 
per employee

kgCO2e/ 
employee  83  31 

Tietoevry KPI 5.4 Ton CO2e avoided 
by customers through use of IT 
services provided by Tietoevry ktonCO2e 78  68  75 
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Tietoevry is committed to the Paris Agreement, and in 

2021 we have set our goals in alignment with the Science 

Based Targets. Our goals, covering our own operations 

and our supply chain, will be communicated more broadly 

in 2022 after validation by the Science Based Targets 

initiative (SBTi). 

Our Environmental Rule outlines the environmental 

approach in our operations. The Rule covers three 

dimensions: our own operations, the impact we have on our 

customers’ carbon handprint, and our overall value chain. 

The Rule applies to all Tietoevry companies and employees 

in all our operating countries. Each of our businesses are 

responsible for implementing processes and actions linked 

to this rule, ensuring alignment across our operations. 

The Environmental Rule defines, among other things, our 

aspiration to reduce direct and indirect energy consumption 

in our offices and data centers by implementing more 

energy-efficient measures. When relocating or upgrading 

our facilities, we prioritize either BREEAM- or LEED-certified 

buildings where applicable. Other important criteria include 

the general energy efficiency of a building and the use of 

green energy. All our offices and data centers are covered 

by our Environmental Management System (EMS), which is 

ISO 14001 certified. This year, after the integration activities 

across former Tieto and EVRY, we achieved a single global 

ISO 14001 certificate for the combined Tietoevry covering 

all businesses and sites.

All mentioned KPIs are tracked on an annual basis. 

Improvement actions are taken to ensure the best 

possible performance.

Making it all work together

The Global Environment Team is responsible for developing, 

coordinating and supporting the implementation and 

continuous improvement of the Environmental Management 

System, EMS. The implementation of the system is the 

responsibility of the Environmental Manager appointed for 

one or several of our operating countries. Environmental 

Managers form a global network with regular meetings 

facilitated by a global EMS Manager and team. 

The Sustainability Team owns the overall Sustainability 

game plan 2023, which defines the long-term targets for the 

EMS work. All our environment-related targets are managed 

in our EMS. The Global Environment Team works in close 

collaboration with the Sustainability Team to ensure the 

targets are met. All incidents related to environmental issues 

are reported through our EMS in each country. In addition, 

our global risk-reporting portal addresses environment-

related risks. 

Our Chief Procurement Officer is responsible for the 

environmental management of our offices and our 

procurement activities, including business travel. 

Our environmental coordinators implement the daily 

environmental activities in our offices. The Head of Data 

Centers has the same responsibility for the data centers, 

and the data center teams are responsible for monitoring 

the energy consumption.

All our offices and data 
centers are covered by our 
Environmental Management 
System, which  
is ISO 14001 certified.



* Covers emissions in Scope 1, 2 and 3. Scope 3  
consists of emissions mainly from business travel  
and leased data centers.

Our sustainability ambitions —  
towards a carbon neutral world
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Tietoevry’s total CO2 emissions* Emission intensity

100%
use of green electricity

in datacenters and offices

100% Circularity
Reuse and recycling

of hardware –
own and customer

Net-zero carbon
in own operations

by 2025

80%
reduction of CO2 

emissions in scope 1 and 2
in 2020–2023

tCO2

6 480
tCO2 / MEUR

2
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To create a more efficient global environmental 

management system, we worked on unifying our processes 

and guidelines during 2021. This work will continue in 2022.

Looking ahead, we continue focusing on ensuring 

efficient green energy consumption and decreasing GHG 

emissions by implementing circular-economy practices and 

responsible sourcing. Through supplier engagement and 

data collection we continue to manage the environmental 

footprint of our value chain. 

The continued implementation of our Sustainability game 

plan 2023 will proceed in order to reach a reduction 

of 80% of our GHG emissions in our operations, and 

be net-zero carbon by 2025 in scope 1 and 2. We 

continue our ambitious actions to minimize, neutralize 

and limit all emissions, also those that cannot yet be 

completely eliminated.

We understand that we cannot reduce all GHG emissions 

within a short timeframe. As a responsible company, 

however, we aim to remove negative externalities that we 

indirectly cause. To achieve this, we look for sustainable 

solutions, such as buying carbon removal from trusted 

and externally verified sources that support carbon 

sequestration from the atmosphere. Our key actions to 

reduce emissions are related to the use of carbon-free 

energy in our own operations and in our value chain. A 

reduction of business travel, continuous improvement 

of technical solutions and processes, as well as a 

consciousness around the materials we use are all among 

our key actions to reduce emissions. 

We purchase a lot of goods and services via our supply 

chain and need to take into consideration the lifecycle-

based emissions related to these actions. We will continue 

to work on reducing our emissions in our supply chain 

through new supplier engagement. Completely offsetting 

emissions is considered as a next step only after all our 

reduction ambitions are completed. 

To increase the positive impact – our carbon handprint – 

we continue to provide our customers with solutions to 

support their transition to more sustainable operations. We 

are proud to work on projects that help customers measure 

and manage their emissions. The shift from old ways of 

working to utilizing new technologies has a positive effect 

on carbon handprints and we are committed to helping 

quantify that together with our customers.
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30 participating organizations from eight European 
countries are paving the way for a new business 
and technology ecosystem aiming at tackling 
energy related challenges for the future of mobility. 
Tietoevry is coordinating the initiative. 

The Energy Electronics, Components and Systems  

(Energy ECS) project is a mix of areas that need increased 

attention for unlocking the potential to reduce greenhouse 

gas emissions in the mobility and energy sectors. As 

societies are becoming increasingly data-driven and are 

shaped by innovative technology, the Energy ECS project 

shapes the future of e-mobility by electrifying the mobility 

industry with the aim of reducing carbon footprints in 

Europe through energy transitions. 

The Energy ECS project builds on six use cases that 

represent different angles on the future of mobility and 

energy. The use cases have the potential to solve real 

challenges related to carbon emissions and are aimed at 

creating viable business solutions. The initiative tackles the 

following areas: enablers of new logistic modes, energy-

independent intermodal transport, advanced charging 

technologies, grid stability responding to bi-directional 

charging, and enablers of safe autonomous driving. 

The advancement of e-mobility is a key part of the green 

energy transition. Together with its direct role in reducing 

emissions, the adoption of e-mobility can have a crucial 

indirect role as a grid stability element if managed 

intelligently. E-mobility accelerates the transition to wind 

and solar energy production, thus reducing the use of fossil 

fuels in the energy mix. 

This is an extensive three-year project that truly has 

the potential to contribute to the European Green Deal 

Objectives via its ambitions and targets. The project has 

received funding from the ECSEL Joint Undertaking (JU) 

Accelerating 
decarbonization in Europe 
via the Energy ESC project 

under grant agreement No. 101007247. The JU receives 

support from the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research 

and innovation programme in Austria, Finland, Germany, 

Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Sweden and Switzerland. The effort 

is coordinated by Tietoevry and is carried out by 16 small 

and mid-sized enterprises, eight large enterprises, and 

six research and technology organizations from countries 

across Europe. 

https://energyecs.eu/
https://energyecs.eu/
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In 2021 Tietoevry partnered to develop Zero 
Emission Citizen – an interactive map providing 
Norwegian municipalities with greenhouse gas 
emission data down to the neighbourhood level. 
The tool is vital in linking citizen impact with 
Norway’s climate goals.

One of the challenges in the battle against climate 

change is that people often lack access to quality data 

on the carbon impact of their everyday lifestyle choices. 

Yet changes at the household level are fundamental to 

meeting national goals for emission reductions. In Norway, 

calculations from climate-tech expert Ducky indicate that 

average greenhouse gas emissions from citizens’ private 

consumption must be reduced from 13,5 tonnes to 3 tonnes 

in order to achieve the UN’s climate goals.

Against this background, Tietoevry joined forces with 

Ducky and urban-planning consultancy Asplan Viak to 

create an emissions data tool for Norway’s municipalities. 

Tietoevry gathers and assimilates publicly available data to 

help calculate the average emission impact per household 

in a given location. This data is then visualised on an 

interactive map.

“The world is on fire and we’re running out of time, so 

everybody needs to pitch in. Yet the emissions impact of 

private individuals is generally not included in municipal 

climate strategies due to a lack of good data,” says Kim 
Remvik-Larsen, Head of Business Concepts, Data Services 

at Tietoevry. 

“One of the quickest ways to make a significant positive 

climate impact is to help people to change their habits a 

bit. We need to do this in such a way that people want to 

change, rather than feeling pushed to do so. Zero Emission 

Citizen is designed around this promise,” he says.

Climate impact meets business value

The tool has been available to all Norwegian municipalities 

since June 2021. Average greenhouse gas emissions per 

Citizen data drives  
climate action in Norway

Zero emission citizen  
is vital in linking  
citizen impact with 
Norway’s climate goals.
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capita are broken down into impact categories such as 

nutrition, transport and electricity. Municipal employees can 

drill into the data all the way down to the neighbourhood 

level. Groups of citizens can then be informed about 

the carbon impact of their choices, and can be offered 

initiatives to reduce their household’s footprint. 

Tietoevry helps the municipalities to access data from 

public registries, from Norway’s national bureau of statistics, 

and by performing life-cycle analyses on consumption 

habits. Work has also started to bring in data from energy 

companies, banks, telecom providers and grocery stores. 

Other partners will be included too, as Tietoevry looks to 

build a multilateral ecosystem for exchanging carbon-impact 

data and insights. 

“We’re in a dialogue with companies from multiple sectors, 

as there is business value for them in being able to provide 

carbon-impact data and insights to their clients,” says 

Remvik-Larsen. “For instance, one of the partners in Norway 

is a bank with 1.2 million private customers. The bank 

provides these customers with the option of seeing the 

carbon impact of their financial transactions. Services of this 

nature will clearly benefit from the data we gather.”

Same model, different contexts

The statistically relevant information from Zero Emission 

Citizen helps in identifying behavioural shifts and trends. 

Both public and private actors can use this knowledge to 

create campaigns that shift consumption in a more climate-

favourable direction. Having the information available in 

near real-time is a big advantage, as until now there has 

often been a significant time lag between gathering data 

and driving action.

While climate-change data is the basis for the model 

today, Remvik-Larsen says the principles can be applied 

in other contexts too. This is where Tietoevry sees future 

opportunities.

“Sustainability is an extremely important topic, and also a 

very good learning domain for principles and approaches 

that are valuable and applicable elsewhere,” he says. 

“By pulling together information from a range of different 

players, we’re essentially providing a better basis for 

decision making. In the years to come, the bulk value of this 

approach can be realised in many different areas. We’re 

learning more every day.”

Having the information 
available almost  
real-time is a big 
advantage.



Percentage of reused and recycled hardware

Target 2023, %

 

 100 

Result 2021, %

Internal

 70
Customer

 86 * Scope: result based on reuse of 
returned devices (mainly laptops). 
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Circular 
economy  
practices 

As one of the largest IT companies in the Nordics, 
we use a lot of hardware in our operations. We 
also provide hardware such as laptops and mobile 
phones to our customers. Due to this our operations 
do generate electronic waste. 

A report from 2020 indicates that global recycling 
of e-waste is not keeping pace with the growth of 
such waste. We are committed to take action in 
this area, contribute to improving these numbers 
and support the transition to a circular economy. 
Reusing and recycling hardware in a structured 
manner is our first step towards enabling circular 
economy practices for both ourselves and our 
customers. 

How we work 

Production of hardware involves the extraction of raw 

materials, usage of water and generation of carbon 

emissions. Today, around 83% of total global e-waste is 

not collected for recycling, which in turn increases the 

consumption of resources, the emission of greenhouse 

gases, and the release of toxic substances that may come 

from irresponsible waste-disposal procedures. 

At Tietoevry, we provide personal IT equipment for our 

24,000 employees. As such, we are responsible for a 

hardware fleet comprising computers and mobile devices 

of various types. Through our customer operations we also 

support customers and around 400,000 end users with 

devices such as laptops and smartphones.

Our End-User Services business is responsible for 

purchasing the hardware delivered to Tietoevry customers, 

while our Procurement function purchases hardware for 

our own employees. End-User Services also ensure that our 

customers’ and Tietoevry’s own environmental requirements 

are met. This includes TCO certified certification, an 

independent sustainability certification for IT products, 
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or Energy Star certification for hardware devices. All 

Tietoevry’s hardware suppliers and service providers are 

required to have relevant environmental certifications in 

place, such as ISO 14001 or the equivalent. 

The standardized lifecycle management services provided 

by End-User Services include end-of-life handling. This 

covers taking back used hardware, secure erasing of data, 

the grading of hardware to determine its condition, and re-

sale or recycling. 

We collect information about the devices – including 

purchase date, purchase price, and technical specifications 

– and combine this with HR data to better understand 

the needs and usage patterns of our employees. When 

utilizing the Lifecycle Management (LCM) framework for our 

customers, we can collect the information about the devices 

they source from us and make it available to them. 

By managing what, when and how we buy – and by taking 

responsibility for sustainable usage and end-of-life handling 

– we strive to minimize the negative impacts of production 

and logistics of the devices.

Progress 

The former Tieto and EVRY used different asset 

management systems. Our ambition as Tietoevry has been 

to establish and implement a standardised approach to 

the purchasing and leasing of hardware devices for our 

customers and employees. 

The Covid-19 pandemic had a positive impact on our 

circular economy practices, due to the savings actions 

that put a temporary stop on purchasing hardware for 

employees. This boosted the reuse of available used 

devices within the company. We build on this and continue 

towards our ambition to reuse or recycle 100% of all 

internal and customer hardware – i.e. laptops and mobile 

phones by – the end of 2023.

In 2021, we started to track data regarding the reuse and 

recycling of the hardware usage in 2021 across Tietoevry. 

We count the number of returned and recycled laptops, 

including our own devices and the ones leased to our 

customers. We set a monetary value for these devices, 

and get configured reports related to our sustainability 

targets (CO2, kWh) and our targets for the secure and safe 

handling of waste (including laptops and mobile phones). 

These reports are being managed by our End-User Services, 

Procurement and CIO Office. 

We have also started to collect information related to waste, 

recycled rare materials and conflict materials, as reported 

by our hardware suppliers and take back system providers. 

By creating a framework and a baseline we can monitor and 

follow up on compliance and KPIs in this area.

In 2021, we recycled and reused 70% of the laptops used 

by our employees. In addition, 86% of the laptops delivered 

to our customers were reused or recycled.

We consider the devices that are returned to the take back 

system provider and are not reused but recycled, as waste. 

During 2021, Tietoevry generated 4,2 tons of e-waste. The 

waste has been disposed through good environmental 

practices by our third-party provider. Due to lack of 

availability and quality of data, our current data source 

covers approximately 75% of the estimated total volume 

of laptops. 

Our ambition is to 
reuse or recycle 100% 
of all internal and 
customer hardware.
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By utilizing a trusted vendor, and by closely following up 

our hardware life cycle through our central CIO office for 

devices used internally and End-User Services for customer 

devices, we are confident that our waste levels stay as low 

as possible and that the waste generated is being handled 

in an environmentally friendly way.

We also introduced a new mobile phone policy for the 

company, with a mobile phone lifecycle of three years. The 

new policy enables us to establish better management 

for the full life cycle of mobile phones together with 

our employees.

Looking ahead 

We continue our path towards the 2023 ambition with 

the focus in 2022 on implementation of the new policies 

and processes. We continue enhancing the targets and 

partner selections and defining a more detailed roadmap 

towards 100% reuse and recycling of hardware. Green 

hardware reporting with energy usage per hardware unit, 

carbon emissions generated throughout a device’s lifecycle, 

waste per unit, and information related to rare and conflict 

minerals will also be further explored.

Our ambition is to extend hardware lifecycles and increase 

the usage of reused devices by supporting the end users 

with appropriate device-management services. We will 

also work on consolidating and standardizing our hardware 

models – focusing on TCO-certified devices – while 

minimizing the carbon footprint of our devices. Our future 

activities focus on increasing the length of lease periods, 

enhancing the climate-neutral hardware process and the 

circular economy. We aim to compensate the emissions for 

purchased and leased hardware. 



Annual report 2021 039

TIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION FINANCIALS SUSTAINABILITY NOTESSUSTAINABILITY

CASE

Tietoevry’s card-issuer customers are increasingly 
choosing materials other than virgin plastic for the 
payment cards they source from us. 

Each year Tietoevry delivers approximately 20 million payment 

cards. In 2020, just four of our card-issuer customers used 

sustainable materials for the body of the cards. A year later, 

and an additional 22 of our issuer customers have committed 

to launching payment cards based on sustainable materials. 

We expect this trend to continue, which means that within 

two years more than 50% of the cards we provide in the 

Nordic countries will be made from sustainable materials.

“Cards are traditionally made from five different layers of 

polyvinyl chloride, or PVC, a material derived from  

oil. Sustainable cards replace some or all of these layers 

with a material other than virgin PVC,” says Jarmo 
Rouhiainen, Head of Card Production and Personalization  

at Tietoevry. 

“There are essentially two approaches. The first is to use 

recycled plastic materials such as rPVC or rPET. The other 

is to use a completely biodegradable material such as 

polylactic acid, or PLA, which is made from corn starch. 

Tietoevry is working with both approaches – it just depends 

on the customer’s preferences,” says Rouhiainen. 

Towards the end of 2021, Tietoevry announced an agreement 

with the Savings Bank group in Finland that would allow the 

bank to offer its customers payment cards made from plastic 

collected from oceans and coastal regions. According to the 

International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), at least 

14 million tons of plastic end up in the oceans every year. The 

plastic for the Savings Bank cards is collected in countries 

without adequate recycling facilities. 

“The growing trend towards using materials other than virgin 

plastic for cards is a win-win for sustainability on the one hand, 

and market differentiation for our issuing customers on the 

other,” says Rouhiainen. 

“Even though people increasingly use their phones to make 

payments, the number of physical cards out in the market is 

growing each year. A payment card is a very strong brand token 

Payment cards  
go beyond plastic

that a customer sees and uses often, which is why many banks 

and fin-techs look at cards as a way to stand out. Sustainable 

materials provide more options for this differentiation, while 

doing good for the environment.”

Tietoevry has also kicked off a pilot project with Norwegian 

banking-alliance Sparebank 1 to assess the viability of 

recycling expired payment cards. When customers receive a 

new card, they also receive a return envelope and instructions 

to send back the old card. These are then sent to a partner 

for recycling. The overall CO2 impact of the exercise is being 

assessed before potential wider roll out.

We are also helping our issuing customers to minimize the 

environmental impact of cards in other ways, including 

ordering them in larger batches from local factories to make 

deliveries more sustainable.
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Helsinki’s public transport authority worked with 
Tietoevry to study bus-route data and find ways to 
reduce carbon emissions. We believe the project 
can be replicated in other cities too.

Tietoevry’s customer base in Finland includes public 

transport authorities, with some 90% of the country’s 

public-transport data going through our systems. The 

Helsinki region alone comprises some 15,000 IP addresses 

and is one of the biggest IoT implementations in Europe. 

We offer everything needed from the IT side to run such 

a service, including ticketing, fleet management, data 

management in vehicles, background services, and 

other platforms. 

 

One of our customers is the Helsinki Regional Transport 

Authority (HSL), which runs all public transport in Finland’s 

capital region. With the majority of Finland’s citizens living 

in the capital, it generates some 70% of the country’s total 

public transport data. This makes Helsinki the ideal testbed 

for public transport impact assessment and optimization 

projects, such as the emission-reduction initiative for buses 

that we carried out for HSL through 2021.

Smooth driving, better scheduling

Christian Sundell, Head of Intelligent Transport and 

Logistics Systems at Tietoevry, explains the background to 

the project:

 

“HSL already uses Tietoevry’s solutions to optimize bus 

routes based on how people jump on and off the vehicles,” 

says Sundell. “Our systems know where the buses are 

moving or should be moving, how fast they go between bus 

stops, whether they are on schedule, and so forth.”

 

Data-driven insights 
reduce bus emissions 
in Helsinki

“Now imagine if a bus driver is running late, for instance, 

so they push harder on the gas pedal to get to the next 

stop. Compared to smooth driving, the deviation from the 

ideal emission footprint on that bus stop goes into the red. 

This is the kind of thing we’ve been studying in the impact 

assessment for HSL,” says Sundell.

 

The idea is for the findings to be used in how HSL plans 

its bus routes. Even if an individual driver can affect 

sustainability by how they handle the accelerator, the 

biggest emission-reduction gains are made in the planning 

phase. With the more complete data picture provided 

by Tietoevry, route planners can study the benefits of 

shortening routes or making seasonal changes to them. 

The data will make it possible to properly study the trade-
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offs between service continuity and sustainability targets. 

Sundell believes this approach can be applied in other 

cities too.

 

“We are using a very granular and accurate calculation 

model in Helsinki that can be extended elsewhere, as the 

environment and routing details are similar in other Finnish 

cities,” he says. “By using Helsinki as the example case, 

we will calculate national averages for public transport 

emissions based on vehicle type, route, weather and 

several other metrics. These can then be used as guides in 

other locations.”

Green means more than go

In another boost for public transport sustainability, Tietoevry 

also works with partners on traffic-light prioritization 

services. Traffic lights and bus services in Finland are 

already synced so that a bus arriving at an intersection 

is met with a green light. This not only allows a smoother 

journey for passengers, it also makes better use of driver 

time and reduces the fuel consumed when starting from a 

stop. Now Tietoevry is studying the traffic-light prioritization 

data with the aim of making minor adjustments to bus 

schedules that would help with further reducing emissions.

 

“Eventually all this work and data will be available for the 

different applications through which HSL customers buy 

their tickets,” says Sundell. “Our solution will calculate 

accurate data on the emissions impact of each bus 

journey to show passengers the carbon footprint of their 

transport decisions.”

“We have a lot of data that can help public transport 

authorities to deliver a better and more sustainable service,” 

he says. “Digitizing cities in this way is not only good for 

sustainability, it also helps public transport authorities to 

strengthen relationships with their customers.”

Data can help 
public transport
authorities to deliver 
a better and more 
sustainable service.
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Exciting place  
to work

We help to create smarter and more sustainable 
cities, increase wellbeing for citizens, and support 
our customers’ digital transformation. Our 
employees are developers of digital futures using 
their specific sets of skills and expertise to create 
technology that reinvents the world for good. 
Our people are the key source of our competitive 
advantage, so employee experience is a top 
priority for us.  
 

Our values – openness, trust and diversity – stem 
from our Nordic heritage and steer our work. 
Diverse skills, capabilities, perspectives, knowledge, 
and ideas are what build sustainable solutions 
that solve our customers’ challenges for good, and 
allow us to create a workplace where everyone 
can thrive. 



Total share of female employees

Target 2026, %

 

40 

Target 2030, %

 

 50 

Result 2021, % 

29
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Diversity  
and inclusion 

A culture where everyone can grow helps 
employees to perform at their very best. 
Capitalizing on the perspectives of different people 
with diverse backgrounds improves innovation. 

For Tietoevry, diversity and inclusion are 
fundamental in the creation of an inspirational 
workplace and thinking differently is how 
we advance our own and our customers’ 
competitiveness. 

Our approach

Diversity and inclusion are business critical, as a diverse 

workplace means more potential for finding better solutions 

to the problems our customers are facing. We need a diverse 

team when developing new digital services for a diverse group 

of users. There is also a shortage of talent in our industry, so 

for us to win the battle to attract talent we need to ensure that 

all current and future employees can thrive with us.

Our ambition is to be inclusive to all – majorities and 

minorities alike. Diversity means valuing differences and 

having the utmost respect for everyone as an individual – 

regardless of sex, gender identity, nationality, religion, belief 

system, race, age, disability, sexual orientation, political 

opinion, union membership, or social or ethnic origin. 

Inclusion in a workplace can be described as the realization 

of a professional environment in which all individuals 

are treated fairly and with respect, have equal access to 

opportunities and resources, and can contribute fully to the 

organization’s success. To reach this state we work hard on 

creating a culture based on continuous learning, diversity 

and inclusion. Constantly developing our culture, mindset 

and processes is key to fostering an environment of open 

thinking where a truly eclectic mix of people join forces for 

common goals. 

Our Code of Conduct and our Diversity and Inclusion 

Charter outline the principles for diversity and inclusion at 

Tietoevry. Everyone plays a role in fostering a diverse and 

inclusive culture. Each manager is responsible for ensuring 

diversity in their teams. Managers have the responsibility 

to inform, engage and educate their team members on our 
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policies, promoting inclusive behaviour and minimizing bias 

in the workplace. The overall responsibility for ensuring a 

diverse workforce where people feel included lies with our 

CEO and the Group Leadership Team. 

Attracting a diverse workforce

Policies and statements are fundamental, but the proof lies 

in how diversity and inclusion manifest in each business 

unit and in our operations across the company. Diversity is 

a highly prioritized topic for the members of our Talent & 

Acquisition team. They work tirelessly towards our diversity 

goals when hiring and attracting new talent. 

Our aspirational goal is to have 40% female employees 

by 2026, and a 50–50 male vs. female split by 2030. 

Tietoevry’s ambition is to have, at any given time, the 

proportion of female leaders equal to or greater than the 

overall share of female employees, and to ensure that 

there is at least one female successor for all positions in all 

manager level succession plans. 

Our diversity ambitions also reflect the global markets we 

operate in, with a mix of around 80 different nationalities 

and cultures represented among our employees. We 

support internal mobility across national and business 

structures and our talent acquisition is based on a global 

talent pool. A healthy blend of age groups is good for 

the business, therefore we invest in the recruitment of 

graduates and young professionals. We see a competitive 

advantage in a combination of experience, subject-matter 

expertise, and industry knowledge with competences in 

relevant emerging technologies. We are also committed to 

ensuring an accessible workplace for everyone, regardless 

of their physical or cognitive abilities. 

An inclusive culture, where people experience 

psychological safety, is a prerequisite for creating 

a diverse workplace. An inclusive workplace offers equal 

opportunities for jobs, wages, benefits, leadership and 

personal development, as well as access to training, 

depending on each individual’s ability and performance.

We measure diversity and inclusion in multiple ways. 

A corporate-wide cultural assessment is part of our 

employee survey, OurVoice, which is run three times a year, 

while the 50/50 gender balance ambition is monitored on 

a regular basis across our businesses and countries. Our 

HR function provides the Group Leadership Team with 

quarterly updates on the developments in various aspects 

of the diversity and inclusion charter. 

Progress in 2021

According to the European Institute for Gender Equality, 

only around 17% of the almost eight million ICT specialists 

in Europe are women. Increasing the share of women is 

challenging, since women are less likely to apply for male-

dominated jobs. For companies like Tietoevry, changes in 

employer communications and the language of job ads can 

help to improve the situation. 

With this knowledge, we decided to tackle the issue at a 

grassroots level by revisiting our recruitment ads with help 

of Laura Smith, a researcher within the field of diversity, 

equality and inclusion from VALIDEI Research. By changing 

gendered content in the ads we were able to increase the 

percentage of female applicants by 32%. This initiative 

was a pilot conducted in the Nordics and the plan is now 

to analyze the learnings and implement the initiative on a 

global level. 



Total number of employees by gender

2021 2020

male 71 % 71 %

female 29 % 29 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 71% Female 29%

Male 71% Female 29%

Senior management by gender

2021 2020

male 77 % 78 %

female 23 % 22 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 78% Female 22%

Male 77% Female 23%

Senior management by age groups

2021 2020

<30 0 % 0 %

30–50 52 % 55 %

>50 48 % 45 %

by age groups

2020

2021

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  55% > 50  |  45%

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  52% > 50  |  48%

Board of directors by age groups

2021 2020

<30 0 % 0 %

30–50 44 % 43 %

>50 56 % 57 %

by age groups

2020

2021

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  43% > 50  |  57%

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  44% > 50  |  56%

Leadership teams by age groups

2021 2020

<30 0 % 0 %

30–50 25 % 54 %

>50 75 % 46 %

by age groups

2020

2021

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  54% > 50  |  46%

< 30  |  0% 30–50  |  25% > 50  |  75%

Total number of employees by age groups

2021 2020

<30 21 % 18 %

30–50 59 % 61 %

>50 20 % 21 %

by age groups

2020

2021

< 30  |  18% 30–50  |  61% > 50  |  21%

< 30  |  21% 30–50  |  59% > 50  |  20%

Board of directors by gender

2021 2020

male 67 % 86 %

female 33 % 14 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 86% Female 14%

Male 67% Female 33%

Leadership teams by gender

2021 2020

male 83 % 77 %

female 17 % 23 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 77% Female 23%

Male 83% Female 17%

Full-time employees by gender

2021 2020

other 0,01 % 0,03 %

male 71 % 72 %

female 29 % 28 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 72% Female 28% Other 0.03%

Male 71% Female 29% Other 0.01%

Part-time employees by gender

2021 2020

other 0,0 0,0 %

male 59 % 60 %

female 41 % 40 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 60% Female 40% Other 0%

Male 59% Female 41% Other 0%

Permanent employment contract by gender

2021 2020

other 0,01 % 0,02 %

male 71 % 71 %

female 29 % 29 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 71% Female 29% Other 0.02%

Male 71% Female 29% Other 0.01%

Temporary employment contract by gender

2021 2020

other 0 % 0 %

male 66 % 67 %

female 34 % 33 %

by gender

2020

2021

Male 67% Female 33% Other 0%

Male 66% Female 34% Other 0%

*  Data does not include Tietoevry’s Swedish subsidiary Avega.
 **  Data does not include Tietoevry’s Norwegian subsidiary Bekk.
 ***  Data does not include Tietoevry’s subsidiaries Bekk, Avega, EVRY India 

and Infopulse.

TIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION FINANCIALS SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 045

SUSTAINABILITY

Total number of employees 2021 (2020)

 25 460
(24 549*)

Employees working full-time*

 23 984
(23 508*)

Employees working part-time*

1 165
(1041*)

Permanent employment contract

24 867
(24 053*)

Temporary employment contract

 593
(496*)

Diversity  
and inclusion 
at Tietoevry

Total number of employees Senior management***

421
(418)

Board of Directors

9
(14)

Leadership team

 12
(13)

 25 460
(24 549*)



 

New employee hires and employee turnover by gender, 2021 (2020)*

New employment

2020 2021

person % person %

Other 1 0 % 0 0 %

Female 879 27 % 1890 31 %

Male 2331 73 % 4292 69 %

Total 3211 100 % 6182 100 %

Total         6 182 (3 211) 

Male         4 292 (2 331) 69% (73%) 

Female    1 890 (879) 31% (27%) 

Other       0 (1)  0% (0%)

New employee hires Employee turnover

Total         5 236 (4 065) 

Male         3 752 (2 897) 72% (71%) 

Female    1 482 (1 167) 28% (29%) 

Other        2 (1)  0% (0%)

Turnover

2020 2021

person % person %

Other 1 0 % 2 0 %

Female 1167 29 % 1482 28 %

Male 2897 71 % 3752 72 %

Total 4065 100 % 5236 100 %

New employee hires and employee turnover by age groups, 2021 (2020)*

New employment

2020 2021

person % person %

>50 371 12 % 285 5 %

30–50 1891 59 % 3115 50 %

<30 949 30 % 2782 45 %

Total 3211 100 % 6182 100 %

Total         6 182 (3 211) 

> 50          285 (371) 5% (12%) 

30–50    3 115 (1 891) 50% (59%) 

< 30          2 782 (949) 45% (30%)

New employee hires Employee turnover

Total         5 236 (4 065) 

> 50          664 (673) 13% (17%) 

30–50     2 909 (2 140) 56% (53%) 

< 30          1 663 (1 252) 32% (31%)

Turnover

2020 2021

person % person %

>50 673 17 % 664 13 %

30–50 2140 53 % 2909 56 %

<30 1252 31 % 1663 32 %

Total 4065 100 % 5236 100 %

New employees by region, 2020

Country number 2020 2020 %

Austria 28 0,9 %

China 75 2,3 %

Czech Republic 306 9,5 %

Estonia 92 2,9 %

Finland 177 5,5 %

India 628 19,6 %

Latvia 190 5,9 %

Lithuania 19 0,6 %

Norway 716 22,3 %

Poland 130 4,0 %

Sweden 401 12,5 %

Ukraine 381 11,9 %

Other 68 2,1 %

New employees by region, 2021 (2020)

Austria China Czech Republic Estonia Finland India Latvia Lithuania Norway Poland Sweden Ukraine Other

57 (28) 485 (75) 480 (306) 15 (92) 563 (177) 1 831 (628) 272 (190) 44 (19) 734 (716) 229 (130) 654 (401) 718 (381) 147 (68)

0.9% (0.9%) 7.8% (2.3%) 7.7% (9.5%) 0.2% (2.9%) 9.0% (5.5%) 29.4% (19.6%) 4.4% (5.9%) 0.7% (0.6%) 11.8% (22.3%) 3.7% (4.0%) 10.5% (12.5%) 11.5% (11.9%) 2.4% (2.1%)

New employees by region, 2021

Country number 2021 2021 %

Austria 57 0,9 %

China 485 7,8 %

Czech Republic 480 7,7 %

Estonia 15 0,2 %

Finland 563 9,0 %

India 1831 29,4 %

Latvia 272 4,4 %

Lithuania 44 0,7 %

Norway 734 11,8 %

Poland 229 3,7 %

Sweden 654 10,5 %

Ukraine 718 11,5 %

Other 147 2,4 %

Employee turnover by region, 2020

Country number 2020 2020 %

Austria 19 0,5 %

China 90 2,2 %

Czech Republic 369 9,1 %

Estonia 120 3,0 %

Finland 480 11,8 %

India 633 15,6 %

Latvia 166 4,1 %

Lithuania 28 0,7 %

Norway 628 15,4 %

Poland 140 3,4 %

Sweden 856 21,1 %

Ukraine 473 11,6 %

Other 63 1,5 %

Employee turnover by region, 2021 (2020)

Austria China Czech Republic Estonia Finland India Latvia Lithuania Norway Poland Sweden Ukraine Other

16 (19) 84 (90) 371 (369) 146 (120) 523 (480) 1 421 (633) 207 (166) 21 (28) 865 (628) 295 (140) 805 (856) 420 (473) 123 (63)

0.3% (0.5%) 1.6% (2.2%) 7.0% (9.1%) 2.8% (3.0%) 9.9% (11.8%) 26.8% (15.6%) 3.9% (4.1%) 0.4% (0.7%) 16.3% (15.4%) 5.6% (3.4%) 15.2% (21.1%) 7.9% (11.6%) 2.3% (1.5%)

Employee turnover by region, 2021

Country number 2021 2021 %

Austria 16 0,3 %

China 84 1,6 %

Czech Republic 371 7,0 %

Estonia 146 2,8 %

Finland 523 9,9 %

India 1421 26,8 %

Latvia 207 3,9 %

Lithuania 21 0,4 %

Norway 865 16,3 %

Poland 295 5,6 %

Sweden 805 15,2 %

Ukraine 420 7,9 %

Other 123 2,3 %

 The data in brackets refers to 2020 numbers. *Data does not include Tietoevry’s Swedish subsidiary Avega.

2021 2021 2021 2021
2020 2020 2020 2020

TIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION FINANCIALS SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 046

SUSTAINABILITY

Total number of employees by employment contract by region, 

Dec 31 2021*

2021 Permanent Temporary Total %

Sweden 4 473 52 4 525 17.8

India 4 414 49 4 463 17.5

Norway 4 338 105 4 443 17.5

Finland 3 329 16 3 345 13.1

Czech Republic 2 617 122 2 739 10.8

Ukraine 2 149 177 2 326 9.1

Latvia 1 065 21 1 086 4.3

China 838 8 846 3.3

Poland 733 2 735 2.9

Other 428 41 469 1.8

Austria 242 0 242 1.0

Lithuania 127 0 127 0.5

Estonia 114 0 114 0.4

Total 24 867 593 25 460 100.0
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We also use anonymous recruiting for target groups, such as 

graduates. This means we receive no information about the 

candidate’s age, gender or education in the early stages of 

the recruitment process. Instead, all applicants go through 

a game where certain themes are explored, such as how 

willing they are to take risks, level of engagement, and how 

fast the candidates perform different tasks. Basing decisions 

on data removes the risk of bias influencing the applicant’s 

chances to proceed in the recruitment process, as the 

focus remain solely on the competence and skills needed 

for the job.

In 2021 we recruited a total of 209 (105) graduates of which 

80 (46) were females. Compared to last year’s figures, we 

have managed to recruit more graduates in total. However, 

we see a slight decrease in the percentage of women being 

recruited through our graduate programme. An explanation 

to this might be the increased need for highly technical 

software development roles. The share of females applying 

for highly technical roles as software developers is in general 

low. This is a problem we share with other companies in our 

industry. Naturally, this affects the total number of females 

hired through our graduate programme, and overall during 

the year. In total, during the years 2017–2021 we recruited 

649 graduates of which 39% are women. 

By the end of 2021, the share of women in senior 

management positions at Tietoevry had reached 23% which 

is an increase in comparison with last year’s figures. Overall, 

the share of female employees in the workforce remained 

at the same level as last year, at 29%, and the share of total 

females hired was 31%, which is an increase compared to 

last year when 27% of the new employees were female. 

On 31 December 2021, Tietoevry’s Group Leadership Team 

comprised eight men and two women and Tietoevry’s 

Board of Directors comprised nine members elected 

by the Annual General Meeting, including six men and 

three women. In 2021 we took the first steps towards the 

gender balance target by looking into our recruitment and 

successor practices. The development during the first year 

was moderate, some units standing out as good examples, 

and we continue the work in 2022 with new initiatives and 

practices across our new businesses. 

Tietoevry contributes to transparency in gender equality 

by participating in the SHE Index. This is a voluntary 

measurement of how companies perform in terms of 

gender balance, gender equality policies, and diversity 

and inclusion. Tietoevry has been included in the index for 

Norway since 2020, and in 2021 we were included in the 

indices for Sweden and Finland too. We have had a positive 

development on the index score in Norway where Tietoevry 

ranked 14th out of a total of 92 companies. Similar success 

is being seen in Sweden, where Tietoevry ranked 3rd out of 

a total of 30 companies. The SHE Index will be introduced in 

Finland in 2022.

Our commitment to diversity and inclusion is also shown 

in the composition of our workforce. We are proud of 

the 35 nationalities represented at our headquarters in 

Espoo, Finland. At our Stockholm office in Sweden we have 

29 nationalities, and at our Fornebu office in Norway we 

have 32. Targeted efforts to recruit young professionals 

(aged 30 or younger) resulted in the onboarding of 

593 young recruits (37% of our total recruitments during 

2021). At the end of the year, the average age of Tietoevry 

employees was 39,7 years. 

We take part in a wide range of local initiatives and activities 

to highlight diversity, inclusion, and women in technology. 

For example, in 2021 we continued to partner in female 

networks such as Women in Tech in Finland and Sweden, 

An inclusive culture is 
a prerequisite for creating 
a diverse workplace.
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and with similar external networks in Norway. Publishing our 

aspirational goal to have a 50–50 male vs. female split by 

2030 has created us many public speaking opportunities 

about these ambitions and activities, including the UN Women 

network as well as an YLE Aurora event focused on equality. 

We also partnered with Pride across the Nordics during 2021. 

During the past few years we have also focused on 

neurodiversity. This is described as the concept of not 

viewing neurological conditions as deficits, but rather as 

strengths that can be utilized as a competitive advantage. 

Tietoevry works together with the Norwegian Labour and 

Welfare Administration (NAV) to enable and accelerate this 

initiative. Coming out of the pandemic, we will continue to 

build awareness – both internally and in wider society – 

to increase the utilization of this mostly untapped talent 

pool. During 2021, we held internal sessions to engage our 

colleagues and we are currently investigating widening the 

scope of our neurodiversity work to a pan-Nordic level. With 

increased understanding about neurological differences, 

new opportunities will open up where digital talents can 

drive innovation, challenge the status quo, and in general 

aim to make the world a better place. 

In Sweden we have continued our collaboration with 

Länsstyrelsen in Stockholm – as part of its “Vidga Normen 

i praktiken” project – to evaluate our internal work against 

discrimination based on skin colour or ethnicity. Through 

training conducted by Länsstyrelsen during spring 2021, this 

project helps to increase our knowledge and awareness of 

restrictive norms. Guidelines on vocabulary and examples 

to be used when talking about racism in the workplace are 

now part of the Swedish personnel handbook. The ambition 

is to ensure everyone understands their responsibility and 

becomes aware of any unconscious bias and the actions 

they can take to mitigate it. 

During 2021 six allegations of discrimination cases were 

submitted through our escalation channels. All of them were 

thoroughly investigated and none were concluded to be a 

case of sexual harassment i.e. discrimination. All six cases 

has been closed following due investigation. 

Looking ahead 

We kicked off our 2021 work by developing a clear action plan 

to support our ambitions set out in the Diversity and Inclusion 

charter. An inventory seeking to map all the ongoing initiatives 

and actions related to diversity and inclusion at our offices 

around the world will help us understand how to scale up and 

accelerate our efforts. Each country in which we operate may 

face different challenges when it comes to acknowledging 

diversity and ensuring inclusiveness. 

Due to the launch of our new business strategy and the 

operations being split to six end-to-end businesses, there 

will be a need to review how we work with diversity and 

inclusion, including the further establishment of related KPIs. 

Our actions going forward will include setting measurable 

goals for diversity and gender balance per business unit, 

identifying successors and final candidates for leadership 

positions of both sexes, as well as scanning and shaping our 

recruitment practices in general. 

We also aim to increase development and mentoring 

initiatives for female leaders, as well as build awareness 

across the organization through initiatives such as bias 

trainings. Salary comparisons across the various roles and 

countries will be one of the key initiatives going forward. It 

will also be vital to establish a transparent and systematic 

way to follow-up on the development of gender balance in 

our new businesses to ensure progress towards our long-

term ambition. 



Employee engagement score

Target 2023, %

 

75 

Result 2021, % 

 78
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Employee 
experience 

Our people are the heart of Tietoevry, and we are 
committed to building an engaging workplace with 
an excellent employee experience. We want our 
employees to feel a sense of pride and commitment 
to our company and have the opportunity to grow 
and develop with us. 

Our approach

Tietoevry is one of the largest communities of technology 

and business professionals in the Nordic region. We 

employ over 24,000 professionals and operate in more 

than 90 countries around the world. Continuous focus on 

improving engagement throughout the organization is an 

investment in the success of our people, and subsequently 

in the success of our customers. Thus, employee experience 

is vital for us. 

To help our customers be more competitive, we need 

people with deep understanding of digitalization and 

the latest technologies, as well as an understanding of 

specific industry and customer needs. As our societies 

digitize faster than ever – with industries merging and all 

companies becoming technology companies – the need for 

new skills is constant and competition over talent is fierce. 

Understanding of local market environments, legislation and 

regulations is also important for our customers. All these 

factors together mean we need to constantly both re skill 

and up skill our current employees, as well as recruit new 

talent with the right experience.



Employee engagement

Our voice
Continuosly bringing employee’s

perspective and voice to the

development of Tietoevry

Establishing a regular solid 

feedback and dialogue cycle 

across the organization
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Tietoevry’s Human Resources (HR) function facilitates 

and develops our workforce, making sure our practices 

and employee experience improve. The function is led by 

our Chief HR Officer, while HR leads are responsible for 

country-specific and service-line-specific HR operations 

and agendas. Leaders and employees in all countries are 

also responsible for living our culture and acting as role 

models for it. Overall, the governance for  the employee 

experience lies with the Learning & Development unit 

within HR. Employee engagement activities are followed up 

through OurVoice, an employee engagement survey where 

employees give feedback on how we are doing in key areas 

three times a year. The survey results are reviewed and 

discussed in the Group Leadership Team, as well as within 

the business networks and teams across the organization.

We support freedom of association and collective 

bargaining as defined in the International Labour 

Organization Declaration on Fundamental Principles and 

Rights at Work, and as stated in our Code of Conduct. Local 

employment laws and practices, collective agreements, and 

individual contract terms are followed. In the countries of 

operation where collective bargaining is not applied – such 

as China and India – we facilitate local forums where these 

topics can be addressed. 

European Works Councils (EWC) are bodies representing 

European employees. Tietoevry’s management works 

constructively with the employee organizations through 

both the EWCs and the local works councils and unions. 

This is both to inform and consult on the business and any 

significant decisions at a European level that could affect 

our people’s employment or working conditions.

We also look to collaborate closely with personnel 

representation bodies. Our personnel elect members and 

deputy members to the company’s Board of Directors. This 

is done by the personnel representatives in accordance 

with the Personnel Representation Cooperation Agreement 

and Nordic practices. 

In 2021, 45.8% of our employees were covered by collective 

bargaining agreements. However, the differences between 

countries are extensive, with the highest participation 

being in Sweden (93%) and in Finland (95%). Just as in 

2020, this year too we mapped our operations in relation to 

geographical areas in which employees’ rights to exercise 

their freedom of association or collective bargaining may 

be violated or are at significant risk. The majority of our 

operations take place in areas where the risks are low, 

but a large proportion of our operations are also taking 

place in areas where there are large risks for violations or 

no guarantee of rights (34% of total operations). In these 

countries of operation – such as in China, Ukraine, Poland, 

Russia and Serbia – we strive to facilitate local forums 

where these topics can be addressed. 

Keep Learning – boost learning  
for the future

Curiosity and lifelong learning are crucial parts of our culture 

and keys to success in our dynamic industry, so developing 

and nurturing a learning culture is essential. We call it “Keep 

Learning”.

Our global processes to support this include our voluntary 

competence based Learning Communities and the 

Cornerstone learning platform, which has various learning 

modules on areas like data, analytics and the cloud. Both 

forums provide opportunities for our employees to learn 

and share experiences, and have turned them into active 

creators and curators of so called learning playlists, i.e. 



Hybrid Working at Tietoevry

What’s in it 
for you?

Flexibility to choose where you work 

increases well-being.

Possibility to decide where to do  

tasks that require concentration and 

less interruptions or collaboration  

and brainstorming.

Tools to increase collaboration virtually 

and across geographics.

Flexibility & well-being

Digital tools

Time saved thanks to less commuting 

and running between meeting rooms.

Opportunity to fit the workday into  

your private schedule.

More focus on strengthening team 

culture and collaboration across teams.

Trainings help us to explore new  

ways to engage our teams and create  

a sense of belonging.

Inclusion is everyone’s responsibility.

More effective and holistic use 

of the offices for social meetups, 

collaboration, innovation and 

concentration.

Developing and learning new skills, 

tools and new ways of collaborating.

Remote work

Sense of belonging

Attractive offices Learning 

Enhanced Employee 
Experience
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suggested curriculums. By the end of 2021, 99% of our 

employees had used the learning platform, with an average 

of 19 training sessions completed per employee.

To further boost the learning culture during 2021, two Keep 

Learning weeks were organized to highlight the importance 

of learning and maintaining new skills. Keep Learning weeks 

included a total of 76 themed sessions and involved more 

than 3,200 learners in the activities. 

Our customers demand that we have the competencies to 

solve the challenges they face. To understand them and 

ultimately fulfil their needs, the right components, skills 

and expertise must be brought into the dialogue with the 

customer. In 2020, we launched a development program 

together with our strategic partner Microsoft to certify 

3,000 Microsoft Azure-cloud professionals at Tietoevry. By 

the end of the year 2021, the number of completed Azure 

certifications were 2,343, and we are proceeding well in our 

ambitions towards building the largest Azure professional 

network in the Nordics. 

Microsoft Azure trainings are meant for all, from sales to 

technical experts and leadership to project managers. 

Upskilling helps in understanding the bigger picture, not just 

one customer project or delivery at a time, and it also creates 

a wider benefit for our customers and for us as a company.

Progress in 2021

The year 2021 was marked by the continued global 

pandemic, and it created an extensive focus on our 

employees’ well-being and engagement. Since the 

pandemic began in 2020 we have been practicing the 

remote ways of working, which has become the new normal 

for us. We call it Hybrid Work. This has given many of us the 



Kuva Jenniltä
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opportunity to better balance our work and our daily lives. 

According to a survey among our employees, most are also 

experiencing a greater level of productivity when working 

from home. 

As in many other companies, a smaller group of colleagues 

have found the changes brought by the pandemic to be 

more challenging. They miss the social interaction with 

others, and to some extent lack a clear physical distinction 

between work and home life. Considering the long-term 

consequences that these new behaviours may have on the 

well-being has therefore been an important focus area for 

us during 2021.

In the spring of 2021, all Tietoevry colleagues were invited 

to co-create our future ways of working through a virtual 

Upgrading Working Life ideation platform and workshops. 

About 11,000 employees across the world participated, 

submitting more than 43,000 ideas and comments. 

According to the results, most of our employees stated that 

they prefer coming to the office 1–2 days per week, but 

preferences in ways of working differed. 

The inputs received in the ideation were used for the 

creation of the Hybrid Working Guidelines launched in 

September. For us at Tietoevry, the new normal needs to 

be flexible enough to fit our different needs, hence our 

future way of working is hybrid – a combination of working 

remotely and from the office. We trust our employees to 

judge how to work, balancing global and local regulations 

with the needs and wishes of customers, their team – and 

carefully considering the well-being, development and 

productivity of each individual. 

As difficult as the past years have been for many people 

and businesses, we are hopeful that the pandemic has 

also has positive effects in terms of work-life balance. Our 

hybrid way of working aims to enable even greater flexibility, 

proximity to customers, and less business traveling. We 

welcome any long-lasting impacts on sustainability, as we 

also need to mitigate the effects of climate change.

Personal and professional growth is highly valued among 

our employees, and it strengthens engagement and 

motivation across the whole organization. This is why in 

2021 we launched our new development and performance 

management framework, MyGrowth. 

The framework was created to drive personal and 

professional growth through dynamic goal setting, 

continuous feedback, and frequent development 

conversations with one’s closest manager about wellbeing, 

the employee experience, challenges and achievements. 

The process puts the employee in the driver’s seat. This 

means that everyone should take responsibility for their 

development and actively invite their manager for check-

in sessions throughout the year. Training needs are 

also discussed and agreed upon during the MyGrowth 

conversation. To ensure skills development, engagement at 

work, and to address any specific needs, we at Tietoevry 

believe that continuous dialogue is key. The MyGrowth 

conversation covers the needs of those starting with us 

directly from university, as much as it does for those are 

entering into retirement. It is to ensure that our employees’ 

needs are captured and followed up.



The culture code

Customer Driven Achieving Together Keep Learning Always Genuine

	´ We put the customer at the  

centre of everything we do.

	´ I am passionate about 

understanding our customers’ 

business and making 

an impact.

	´ I continuously explore 

how we can bring value 

to our customers to make 

them succesful.

	´ I take pride in creating high-

quality solutions for our 

customers and keeping 

our promises.

	´ We purposefully collaborate  

to achieve the right outcomes.

	´ I am proactive and take 

accountability for my 

team’s goals.

	´ I understand that success 

will only happen through the 

collaboration of diverse teams.

	´ I always involve and inspire 

colleagues and customers 

with a passion for making 

a difference.

	´ We continuosly grow, aiming  

to be world class.

	´ I strive to develop my skills and 

stay curious and relevant.

	´ I actively challenge the way  

we work and strive for 

continuous development.

	´ I dare to share my opinions  

and ideas, and learn 

from mistakes.

	´ We build trust by being  

good role models.

	´ I am always open-minded, 

strive for inclusion 

and embrace different 

perspectives.

	´ I have integrity and show 

respect and care for others.

	´ I am honest and transparent 

ineverything I do.

The culture code

Customer Driven Achieving Together Keep Learning Always Genuine

	´ We put the customer at the  

centre of everything we do.

	´ I am passionate about 

understanding our customers’ 

business and making 

an impact.

	´ I continuously explore 

how we can bring value 

to our customers to make 

them succesful.

	´ I take pride in creating high-

quality solutions for our 

customers and keeping 

our promises.

	´ We purposefully collaborate  

to achieve the right outcomes.

	´ I am proactive and take 

accountability for my 

team’s goals.

	´ I understand that success 

will only happen through the 

collaboration of diverse teams.

	´ I always involve and inspire 

colleagues and customers 

with a passion for making 

a difference.

	´ We continuosly grow, aiming  

to be world class.

	´ I strive to develop my skills and 

stay curious and relevant.

	´ I actively challenge the way  

we work and strive for 

continuous development.

	´ I dare to share my opinions  

and ideas, and learn 

from mistakes.

	´ We build trust by being  

good role models.

	´ I am always open-minded, 

strive for inclusion 

and embrace different 

perspectives.

	´ I have integrity and show 

respect and care for others.

	´ I am honest and transparent 

ineverything I do.
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The Culture Code

After 2020, the year of integration, 2021 has been a 

year of building on the fundamentals for our future 

success. Creating a common company culture has been 

highly prioritized. 

An important step in the integration phase was to create 

our own culture code to understand, manage and align 

cultural factors across the company. Tietoevry’s Culture 

Code defines our cultural guidelines and represents what 

the company stands for. Our Culture Code comprises four 

principles that describe the code in practice:

 ´ Customer Driven:  

We put the customer at the center of everything we do.

 ´ Achieving Together:  

We purposefully collaborate to achieve the right outcomes.

 ´ Keep Learning:  

We continuously grow, aiming to be world class.

 ´ Always Genuine:  

We build trust by being good role models.

The company culture sets the tone and affects every aspect 

of our business and the interaction with our customers. 

Going forward, the purpose is to enable our employees to 

continuously develop and sustain these values together. 



Re-enforcing Tietoevry identity and culture  
with leaders as role models

Leadership Principles

(Aspirations, Skills and Behaviors)

Culture Code

The Culture Code 

sets expectations  

to both leadership 

and employees

Leaders are achitects  

of our culture and  

role models for values

Nordic 
heritage

Openness, Trust  

and Diversity
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Results from OurVoice  
engagement survey

To continue improving employee engagement within 

Tietoevry, we need to listen to and act upon the feedback 

from our employees. The OurVoice engagement survey 

helps us to measure and gain insight into what matters to 

our employees, and what to improve. With OurVoice, we 

aim to ensure a continuous dialogue, bringing the employee 

perspective and voice to the development of the company. 

The survey is run three times a year and all employees are 

invited to contribute. 

Our measurement for employee engagement is the 

Tietoevry Engagement Index, where the result was 78/100 

for 2021. This is an increase from the 2020 result of 76/100, 

indicating that we are improving on matters important 

for our employees despite remote working during the 

pandemic. The scores in the category for understanding 

our direction as a company and what we are trying to 

achieve have improved, thanks to the strategy launch and 

related communications from October 2021 onwards. 

Other categories that have improved are opportunities for 

professional growth, feeling respected and valued by a 

manager, and how clearly employees see how their work 

contributes to achieving our company’s overall goals.

In addition to the overall scores, we received an average of 

almost 5,000 individual written comments per survey, which 

with AI-driven semantic analysis give us further insights 

on areas to improve. An engagement survey only has value 

if it is backed up by a process that facilitates acting on 

the insights. Managers are therefore equipped with tools 

for how to interpret the results, run workshops, create 

involvement and engage with their teams remotely. 

Leadership aspirations

Great leaders drive engagement in all organizations. This 

is why we define aspirations for leadership and align these 

aspirations with our ambitions to build a great company that 

enables people to grow and deliver value to our customers. 

Our three leadership aspirations are: 

1. Build the future: 
 ´  Ensure clarity of vision and inspire ourselves to shape 

customer agendas 

 ´  Be an awesome place to work

2. Lead performance: 
 ´ Focus on things that matter today and pursue the 

right outcomes

 ´ Empower

 ´ Be adaptive

3. Role model for values: 
 ´ Be authentic, always

 ´ Embrace diversity 

 ´ Care for those around you

Our leadership aspirations are further supported by defined 

leadership skills and expected leadership behaviours. These 

act as a foundation both for leadership selection and for 

the development activities of leaders in the company. Clear 

aspirations are aimed at increasing employee engagement 

through clarity on what to expect from leaders, bringing 

value for customers through purposeful collaboration, 

and accelerating the growth of both our people and 

our company. 
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Looking forward

The OurVoice engagement survey is a key tool for us 

to better understand the needs of our employees. The 

results help us act upon signals received. OurVoice is our 

navigation map, while MyGrowth, our Culture Code, and our 

Leadership principles are the tools that we will use as key 

ingredients for initiatives to make sure we all work in the 

same direction. Going forward, we will further improve the 

process of utilizing the insights gained in the survey in order 

to facilitate continuous dialogue and development across 

the entire organization, taking into consideration our newly 

established specialized businesses and their distinct focus, 

needs and ambitions. 

In 2022, we will continue implementing the Culture Code 

and Leadership aspirations as part of our daily activities. 
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Building a brighter 
future through 
our societal 
engagements

At Tietoevry we believe we can create long-lasting 
value by engaging with partners that develop 
societies, while at the same time supporting our 
business strategy, values and sustainability goals. 

We believe the future lies in the youth of today and 
that technology is shaping this future. This is why 
we invest in young people and help children and 
youth in less fortunate circumstances in some of 
our operating countries to advance in their lives 
and avoid exclusion. We are also continuing to 
focus on improving digital equality in society by 
strengthening digital competencies and skills among 
disadvantaged groups.

In 2021 we collaborated with:

The Children and Youth Foundation

The Children and Youth Foundation in Finland supports 

young people in achieving their dreams by organizing 

workshops for discussion about the skills needed in future 

working life. The operations of the Finnish Children and 

Youth Foundation focus on building good self-esteem, 

strong social skills, and the courage to act and try out 

different things. Our latest joint initiative is the Polite Type 

(see more on this below/on page 058).

Friends 

The Swedish organization Friends has a vision of achieving 

zero victims of bullying. Every day, Friends visits schools, 

pre-schools and sports clubs to provide training and 

develop methods for preventing bullying and discrimination. 

Tietoevry and Friends collaborated by organizing a series 
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of workshops in Swedish high schools during the spring of 

2021. In these workshops our Polite Type anti-cyberbullying 

initiative was used as part of the discussion. Students had 

the opportunity to discuss online culture, the importance 

of language, and how a single word can have serious 

consequences. 

Startup Refugees

Startup Refugees is an organization supporting newcomers 

in starting businesses and integrating into Finnish society. 

We have been collaborating with the organization for many 

years, offering asylum seekers, refugees and immigrants 

support in strengthening the digital competencies needed 

when entering the Finnish labour market. In 2021, we 

worked with Startup Refugees to enhance their own CV tool, 

“Match”. The tool is used to connect newcomers looking for 

a job with companies looking for employees. 

Press

Together with Press – Save The Children’s youth 

organization in Norway – we have conducted workshops 

with children and youth across the country focusing on 

responsible online behaviour as part of our The Polite Type 

initiative. From the workshops we prepared a report that 

summarizes all the input from the kids, alongside Press’s 

recommended actions. We feel adults must take children 

seriously and listen to what actions the children themselves 

believe can help. All children deserve a safe upbringing, 

both in the physical and digital worlds.

Identity Foundation

This charitable trust works with socio-economically 

challenged children in the city of Pune in India. We have 

supported Identity Foundation’s Mobile Learning and 

Infotainment Center (MLIC) buses since 2007. In the two 

mobile-learning buses, children can receive literacy and 

life-skills education. The MLICs also serve as information 

facilities by giving children access to positive entertainment 

and useful information.

Lila Poonawalla Foundation

The Lila Poonawalla Foundation in India is an educational 

trust with a vision of empowering Indian women. The 

foundation supports academically outstanding and 

financially challenged girls with scholarships that allow them 

to pursue higher education. Our long partnership with the 

Lila Poonawalla Foundation goes beyond financial support 

for the girls’ education. We also engage with the foundation 

through employee volunteering, mentoring by leaders, 

providing industry exposure, and supporting employment 

opportunities. 

In addition, we collaborate with:

UTTAM in India: A community-based mutual model 

providing micro-insurance to the poor.

NASSCOM Foundation Program – Tech for Good in India: 

A volunteering program through which we offer technology 

mentorship and grants to social innovators.

EDUCAIT: A non-profit registered trust in India bringing 

education to underprivileged children.



Polite Type – taking a stand against 
cyber bullying

During autumn 2020, we launched the Polite Type initiative 

against online hate speech, aiming at more inclusive online 

behaviour. The initiative was started in Finland and Sweden, 

and it was further expanded to Norway and Austria in 2021.

Bullying is especially damaging to children and people at a 

young age. We want bullies to rethink the words they use 

and the meaning behind them. This is why we created the 

Polite Type, an open-source font that rewrites hurtful words 

and replaces them with more inclusive ones. Inclusion, 

diversity and the utmost respect for each individual are at 

the core of our values at Tietoevry. The Polite Type supports 

our vision, but more importantly it hopefully continues to 

inspire all audiences and stakeholders to consider how 

bullying could be tackled.

The project was initiated in Finland together with our long-

term partner, the Children & Youth Foundation, and was 

expanded to Sweden where the initiative is supported by 

the Friends organization. In 2021 the campaign took off in 

Norway, as we announced we would initiate discussions 

in Norwegian schools too in collaboration with Press; a 

Norwegian NGO and a Save the Children affiliate. During 

spring, workshops across the country were organized where 

children were able to suggest actions that schools, parents 

and the Norwegian government can take to build a safer 

digital environment for children in Norway.

In addition to the Nordic countries, the font has reached a 

large worldwide audience and raised discussions on this 

important topic through social-media channels and other 

media outlets.

The Polite Type has received more than 15 nominations 

and awards globally for its efforts against online bullying. 

These many prestigious recognitions prove that simple ideas 

are often the best. The Polite Type also serves as a clear 

example of how the innovative use of technology can help 

us to tackle societal challenges.
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We believe the future  
lies in the youth of  
today and that technology  
is shaping the future. 
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Tietoevry has set ambitious sustainability goals for 
the years ahead. Our new HIT team helps to identify 
and develop ways we can reach those together with 
our customers.
 

Sustainability always starts at home. Every person or 

company is responsible for getting their own backyard 

in order first. That’s why we’ve put a lot of effort 

into developing our energy and circular-economy 

practises, diversity and inclusion policies, sourcing 

activities, and more.

 

But as an IT company, there’s even more we can do in the 

area of sustainability. With the knowledge and the tools 

we work with every day, we have the power to help our 

customers improve their sustainability performance. This 

is also where Tietoevry can make its biggest impact on 

sustainable business practises.

During early 2021, we formed a cross-functional 

sustainability HIT team tasked with developing this 

opportunity. The team is led by Senior Sustainability 

Manager Ulrika Lagerqvist von Unge.

 

“We saw that many of our customers are looking for new 

co-operations and solutions to fuel and advance their 

sustainability efforts, so we focused more closely at how 

we can help,” says Lagerqvist von Unge. “We reached 

out to some of Tietoevry’s business leaders and asked 

them to nominate people within our different delivery 

organisations who could support us in realizing these 

impact opportunities for our customers. This led to the 

establishment of what we now call the sustainability 

HIT team.”

The HIT team comprises eight employees, with plans to 

add additional members in the years to come. The team 

kicked off its work in 2021 by an inventory of ongoing 

sustainability-related projects and partnerships Tietoevry 

was involved in – and an assessment on how these could 

be scaled or repeated. A lot of work has also been done on 

building awareness – both inside and outside the company. 

 

“Tietoevry employees have a lot of knowledge about tech 

and business, but they may not always see how it connects 

with our sustainability agenda,” says Lagerqvist von Unge. 

“So part of our job is to spread that knowledge and join 

customer teams in both internal and external dialogues on 

possibilities that we have at hand.”

New HIT team to boost  
our sustainability goals

Tietoevry Lead Business Consultant Peter Mankenskiöld is 

an industry and application advisor who is part of the HIT 

team too. He brings insights from the B2C world, specifically 

from working with public-sector customers and having been 

involved in sustainability initiatives since 2008.

“A lot about sustainability really comes down to information 

management,” says Mankenskiöld. “When you have 

good control over your data, you can use it for different 

purposes. In this way sustainability KPIs can be a steering 

mechanism to provide a wider perspective on making 

business decisions.”

 

“One of the HIT team’s crucial roles is that we can collect 

all the relevant sustainability activities and initiatives from 

across Tietoevry, so the customer can see that we have a 

palette of different services. This helps us with cross selling. 

As you get to know a customer better, you can offer them 

lots of different solutions from our portfolio,” he says.
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Ethical  
conduct

In a time where technology makes societies 
thrive and businesses run, ethical considerations 
are more important than ever. Fostering ethical 
values and work practices is a vital part of our 
responsibility to our employees, our customers 
and to all our stakeholders. Implementing and 
maintaining responsible business practices across 
our business operations is how we build and 
maintain trust.

We are moving towards a world that runs on 
technology and is fueled by hyperconnected data 
– regardless of industry, geography, or function 
within our customers. When utilizing the data from 
individuals and organizations, privacy and security 
considerations grow increasingly important and 
a strong ethical foundation is required. Therefore, 
we actively develop our own ways of working in a 
transparent manner, and also take part in societal 
forums for an impact that is more far-reaching. 



Completion of Code of Conduct e-learning

Target 2023, %

 

 90 

Result 2021, % 

93
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Business  
ethics and   
anti-corruption 

Ethical business conduct is a must at Tietoevry. 
We have zero tolerance for any unethical behaviour, 
and we view the implementation and continuous 
monitoring of ethical guidelines and work practices 
as vital parts of the company’s responsibility. Our 
ethical guidelines are outlined in our company-wide 
Code of Conduct and related rules, which apply to 
all employees and subcontractors. In addition to our 
own policies, we always adhere to local legislation 
in our operating countries. 

How we work

Our key policies in the area of business ethics and anti-

corruption are the Tietoevry Code of Conduct, the Supplier 

Code of Conduct, and the Whistleblowing Rule. In addition, 

in 2021 we updated our Know Your Counterparty Rule and 

our Anti-money Laundering Rule. Our business ethics efforts 

are led by the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) of the Board 

of Directors, together with the Whistleblowing Unit within 

our Legal function’s Corporate Governance and Compliance 

team, and our Sustainability Steering Group. The work is 

driven in close cooperation with our Risk Management and 

Internal Audit teams.

The Corporate Governance and Compliance Team follows 

up on our policies. This means providing updates and 

suggesting continuous improvements, as well as ensuring 

awareness around the policies through training and 

communication. The team also follows up on concerns and 

questions raised through our whistleblowing channels. 

The Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors is 

provided with bi-annual reports on our compliance work, as 

well as on the number and topics of whistleblowing cases 

processed by the Whistleblowing Unit during the previous 

six months. The Audit and Risk Committee is immediately 

informed in case any material compliance incidents occur. 

In addition to our GRI Standards disclosures we have set 

an additional target of responding to a whistleblowing 
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notification within four business days of receiving it, a target 

we reached in 2021. We believe this metric contributes to 

the effective processing of all whistleblowing notifications 

received, as well as ensures swift communication towards 

the whistleblower about the status of the case. The whistle-

blowing scheme allows anonymous and confidential 

reporting to the Whistleblowing Unit about violations of 

the Code of Conduct and related rules, or any unethical 

behaviour. The process is designed to ensure that persons 

reporting violations will not be subject to any retaliation. 

Failure to act in compliance with the Code of Conduct will 

result in appropriate disciplinary actions.

To identify and validate the risks of unethical behaviour, 

our Group Internal Audit function conducts audits to assess 

the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 

compliance controls. The aim is to ensure the company 

complies with the relevant laws and regulations in all 

operations, as well as with internal policies and rules. The 

Group Internal Audit function reports audit conclusions 

with auditor opinions to the Audit and Risk Committee. The 

audit plan is reviewed on a quarterly basis in the Audit and 

Risk Committee, where adjustments may be made based on 

changes in the risk landscape. 

Our ambition is that all employees know our Code of 

Conduct and proactively foster an ethical culture across our 

operations. In addition to accepting the Code of Conduct 

when joining the company, employees are expected to 

refresh their knowledge on the content of the Code every 

year by taking the Code of Conduct e-learning. Our Human 

Resources function and the Group Compliance Officer 

further support employees in acting in accordance with our 

Code of Conduct throughout the employee lifecycle. This is 

done through awareness sessions that are organized during 

onboarding, for example, as well as through role-based 

training sessions when becoming a manager.

Tietoevry Tax Principles

We are committed to operating in a responsible way and 

with high ethics in all our activities. Our firm aim is to 

comply with all local tax legislation and other regulations in 

all jurisdictions. This means that we fulfil all our reporting 

requirements and pay all legally-imposed direct, indirect 

and other taxes in those countries where Tietoevry has 

operations. 

Our objective is to avoid uncertain tax positions. In case of 

uncertainty, all tax positions taken should be supportable 

and likely to be upheld by relevant tax authorities. 

Furthermore, we shall always operate with full co-operation 

with the authorities, and aim to disclose all information that 

is needed for determining tax consequences. Tietoevry Oyj 

has been in a co-operative compliance program with the 

Finnish Tax Authorities since 2017, with the aim of open co-

operation and focus on preliminary discussions to ensure 

correct taxation. Tietoevry operates in accordance with an 

approved Tax Policy, and the Group Tax team reports on the 

status of Group tax issues biannually to the Audit and Risk 

Committee.

Progress

Our focus during the year has been on adapting to the 

EU Whistleblowing Directive and third-party screening 

activities. In addition, we have:

 ´ Finalized the harmonisation of our policies and 

processes after the merger of Tieto and EVRY

 ´ Conducted Code of Conduct training for managers 

before offering the training for all employees

Income taxes payable, EUR million

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Finland 7.2 12.1 9.6 12.0 17.1

Sweden 9.2 7.9 1.3 0.4 17.4

Norway -0.4 0.00 1.9 2.6 1.2

Czech Republic 1.5 1.6 1.4 1.4 1.7

India 2.3 2.2 1.9 2.9 5.9

Ukraine 3.3 2.5

Other 1.7 2.9 5.7 4.8 9.1

TOTAL 21.5 26.7 21.8 27.4 54.9

Income taxes payable are based on the taxable results, against which confirmed tax losses have been utilized. 
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 ´ Continued learning sessions covering the Code of 

Conduct, security and GDPR, and organised mandatory 

training for all our employees

 ´ Updated our Know Your Counterparty Rule and 

our Anti-money Laundering Rule Carried out global 

communication and awareness campaigns for our 

Tietoevry-essentials training modules, including our 

security, GDPR, environmental management, and Code 

of Conduct e-learnings

 ´ Carried out sustainability awareness training – with 

components on business ethics – as part of Tietoevry’s 

‘Take off’ days for new employees in the Nordic region

 ´ Conducted training for customer teams about our tools 

and policies

Completion of our Code of Conduct e-learning is a mandatory 

goal in all employees’ scorecards and is formally evaluated as 

part of each employee’s annual-review process. We aim for 

90% e-learning coverage each year. By the end of 2021, 93% 

of employees had carried out the Code of Conduct training 

which is an improvement compared to 91% completion in 

2020. This year we have widened the scope and in addition 

to Tietoevry employees we are also including the completion 

rate of the Code of Conduct e-learning of employees at 

Infopulse and EVRY India. 

As part of Tietoevry’s zero-tolerance approach to any 

unethical behaviour, the company has a goal that all 

employees should not only know the Code of Conduct, but 

also know how to report potential breaches. We also conduct 

assessments of our operations with the aim of identifying any 

risk for corruption and fraud. In 2021, our operations in three 

countries – covering 17% of our business – were assessed 

for risks related to fraud or corruption. No significant risks 

were identified through this assessment.

However, there is one public legal case related to an old 

corruption incident, where a former Tieto employee was 

found guilty and convicted for bribing a public official in 

2018 (reported in the Sustainability Report FY2018). The 

trial concerned the person as an individual, not former Tieto 

as a company. In December 2020, the case was transferred 

to a prosecutor who decided to press charges against 

former Tieto Latvia for accused lack of controls. Tietoevry 

denies the charges. The case is currently subject to court 

proceedings in the Riga District Court.  

 

One suspected case of anti-trust was detected in 

2021. In December 2021 Infopulse Ukraine, a Tietoevry 

subsidiary, was fined for alleged collusion in relation to one 

Ukrainian government tender in 2017. Tietoevry takes the 

situation very seriously and has initiated an independent 

investigation with an external auditor to clarify the events 

thoroughly.  

 

Tietoevry has a zero tolerance for corruption and 

all unethical behaviour. We continue our efforts to 

prevent and detect any acts of corruption and unethical 

behaviour, however we cannot fully remove the risk of 

wilful criminal conduct of employees. The result suggests 

that our continuous work to increase ethical awareness 

and strengthen internal controls is reducing the risk 

of corruption.

Internally, whistleblowing escalations in 2021 generated 

24 investigations in five different countries. These 

investigations included analysis of fraud, misuse of company 

assets, corruption, antitrust, conflict of interest and 

inappropriate behaviour of individuals including bullying, 

racism and harrassment. In 2021, four breaches of the Code 

of Conduct were confirmed. No incident of corruption was 

identified in 2021. 

Tietoevry has a zero 
tolerance for any 
unethical behaviour.
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Looking ahead

Business ethics and anti-corruption will continue to be 

high priorities for Tietoevry going forward. Accordingly, 

we will continue implementing our Sustainability 2023 

game plan and continue to conduct targeted trainings on 

business ethics on areas that may involve a bigger risk for 

unethical conduct. 

Some key activities for 2022 include an update of our Code 

of Conduct to ensure it supports our hybrid working model, 

a new and updated Code of Conduct e-learning, and the 

implementation and roll-out of these two. Outcomes from 

our corporate-wide human-rights impact assessment – 

which will be concluded in early 2022 – may also result in 

further activities related to business ethics. 

From a corporate governance and compliance point of view, 

we will focus on awareness and training to strengthen our 

compliance culture, review our third-party management 

practices, and coordinate with other functions – including 

Internal Audit and Procurement – to drive continuous 

improvement. Further, we will follow up on the recently 

launched Know Your Counterparty Rule and our Anti-money 

Laundering Policy to ensure awareness and effectiveness. 



Total number of substantiated complaints 
regarding breaches of customers’ privacy 
and losses of customer data

Target 2023, %

 

 0 

Result 2021, % 

0
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Cybersecurity  
and privacy

In an increasingly complex IT landscape, where 
both organizational and human interactions take 
place through connected IT services, the role of 
the trusted IT service provider is vital. Security and 
privacy need to be at the core of every service, 
product, and process delivery.

Our ability to build resilience in our services and 
provide assurance to our customers is essential 
for earning and maintaining their trust, and for 
protecting individuals and their right to security 
and privacy. We are continuously developing our 
processes and the security services we provide, 
with the aim of keeping information safe under 
all circumstances. 

How we work

We are committed to building security into any delivery, 

solution and relationship. The importance of securing a safe 

and secure digital world is increasing as human interactions, 

and the world at large, becomes more data driven. Privacy 

and risk management, business continuity, security and 

privacy awareness, and well-functioning security services 

and response routines – all of these are important building 

blocks for establishing good cybersecurity resilience and 

meeting our stakeholders’ expectations.

Our comprehensive approach to security and data privacy 

covers confidentiality, integrity, and the availability of 

IT services and data. Updated on an annual basis and 

endorsed by our CEO, the policies cover risk, information 

security and privacy actions, comprising the following: 

 ´ Tietoevry Code of Conduct 

 ´ Tietoevry Security Policy 

 ´ Tietoevry Privacy Policy 

 ´ Tietoevry Privacy Notice 

 ´ Tietoevry Risk Management Policy 

 ´ Tietoevry Business Continuity Management Policy
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Roles and responsibilities are defined at group and business 

levels. The group level responsibility for security is managed 

by our Chief Security Officer. The Chief Risk Officer heads 

the central risk management function. Our Data Protection 

Officers ensure, in an independent manner, that the 

organization adheres to the laws protecting an individual’s 

personal data.

The group level roles work in tight collaboration with 

our businesses. Security, Risk and Privacy Managers 

support the organization with both expert advice and 

hands-on assistance for security, risk and privacy topics. 

Our dedicated Cybersecurity Services unit provides 

cybersecurity services and solutions to our external 

customers, as well as for the protection of Tietoevry itself. 

The Computer Incident Response Team handles security 

incidents in co-operation and collaboration with internal 

and external stakeholders, depending on the nature of 

the incident. Our Governance, Risk Management and 

Compliance platform supports the daily work of our security 

organization in areas such as risk management, security 

incident management, privacy risk assessments, and audit 

follow up.

 

Major Security Incidents are managed and resolved 

according to our Major Incidents and Escalation Process, 

designed to restore and protect business-critical IT 

services as fast as possible, and minimize the impact on 

our customers and their end users. Should a crisis arise, the 

well-trained Crisis Management Organization manages the 

crisis in accordance with our Crisis Management Process, 

ensuring that information is shared with all key stakeholders 

during the resolution process. 

To ensure our compliance and security, we perform regular 

internal and external audits of our information-security 

and data-privacy processes. Our Information Security 

Management System is audited and certified by an external 

accreditation service. Annual ISO 27001, ISAE 3402 and 

ISAE 3000 audits are conducted by external parties on 

our data centers, selected business units, and customer-

specific infrastructure services. These audits describe and 

document how adequate internal controls for information 

security, privacy and financial reporting are implemented 

and maintained. Audit results are followed up by both the 

Tietoevry Group Leadership Team and by the Audit and Risk 

Committee within our Board of Directors.

Progress 

During 2021 we strengthened the Tietoevry Risk, Security 

and Privacy Governance Processes to ensure that we 

comply with the security and privacy levels that our 

stakeholders expect. 

We initiated several internal projects to raise awareness of 

and resilience against the latest cybersecurity threats, and 

to ensure a good security baseline for our services. Online 

training courses, e-mail phishing simulations, conferences 

and training programs are all examples of our efforts to 

raise internal awareness of cybersecurity. All employees are 

expected to perform mandatory annual training on security 

and GDPR to maintain knowledge of our Security Policy, 

information- and IT-security, privacy, physical security, and 

travel security. The mandatory training covering our Code 

of Conduct includes modules on security and data-privacy 

topics, ensuring that our employees maintain a strong 

understanding of these. In 2021, 95% of our employees 

completed the security training, and 94% completed the 

GDPR training, a solid increase of completion from last year. 

We have thereby met our goal of 90% completion rate of 

the two trainings. 

We strive to keep 
information safe in 
all circumstances. 
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Tietoevry is in regular contact with relevant external 

stakeholders, including authorities, regulators, and various 

security and privacy forums. By participating in these forums, 

we gain understanding of and can help to influence new 

regulations, share experiences and information with regulatory 

bodies and our peers, and build relationships with security and 

privacy experts working for other companies.

In 2021, we received zero substantiated complaints regarding 

breaches of our customers’ privacy and losses of customer 

data, thereby meeting our annual target. Nevertheless, we see 

that cybersecurity related threats are constantly increasing. As 

with many other global companies, Tietoevry was also affected 

by a few critical issues during the year 2021.  

 

One example of these kinds of critical issues took place in 

July 2021, as a ransomware attack made use of a vulnerability 

in a widely-used IT system provided by a third-party. The 

ransomware encrypted servers and shared folders, affecting 

hundreds of different businesses worldwide. The event was 

widely considered to be the largest criminal ransomware 

attack in history. A number of Tietoevry’s small- and mid-sized 

customers in Sweden were affected, and we worked closely 

with them – following our Major Incident and Escalation 

Process – to restore their data and business-critical services 

from the backups after the attack. No loss of customer data 

was identified during the restoration process.  

 

A good security profile – i.e. up-to-date systems, backups, 

logs and multi-factor authentication – is a must when fighting 

against cyber attacks. At Tietoevry, we started a Cyber 

Security Uplift process in 2021 to improve our protection 

against ransomware attacks, and the work continues going 

forward. Good teamwork and transparent communication, 

both internally and towards our customers, are crucial when 

responding to these kinds of attacks and incidents. 

Looking ahead

We are committed to continuing to be a trusted service 

provider of secure IT solutions, by keeping a close dialogue 

with key stakeholders and guiding customers in the 

increasingly complex, hyperconnected IT landscape. We 

are committed to embedding security and privacy in all 

our service offerings, deliveries and processes – ensuring 

data subjects’ rights are always considered – and always 

adhering to relevant security and privacy regulations. 

To ensure a security-as-a-mindset internally, we will 

continue to offer guidance and training to employees, 

maintaining a thorough foundation of competence 

across our organization. We continue to measure our 

cybersecurity maturity against the evolving cybersecurity 

threat landscape, maturing regulatory requirements, annual 

audit findings, and the development of our customers’ 

business needs.

The Schrems II decision from July 2020 demands stricter 

requirements on transferring personal data to countries 

outside the EU/EEA, due to insufficient privacy protections 

in several countries. Therefore, Tietoevry has established 

a corporate program relating to the Schrems II EU decision 

to ensure we demonstrate Schrems II compliance as a 

processor and controller. To ensure and sustain long-term 

compliance, the program will also establish an updated 

personal-data-transfer governance model. 

To continue to meet our stakeholders’ expectations and 

comply with legislation, we will maintain an active dialogue 

on cybersecurity and privacy issues with our stakeholders – 

both internally, with customers, and on a societal level.



Human Rights Impact Assesment

Target

 

Result 2021

Conduct a formal Human 

Rights Impact Assesment

Corporate-wide Human Rights 

Impact Assessment initiated 
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Human rights

We strive to support and respect human rights  
across our operations; from the way we shape our 
internal environment, to how we manage our  
supply chain, foster our relationships, and how 
our products and solutions are being used. As 
a company in the technology industry, we have 
an opportunity to make a positive impact on 
human rights through smart and equal technical 
solutions, and the use of data. We understand 
that risks related to human rights may occur 
anywhere in our value chain. Therefore, we need to 
constantly identify, keep track of, and mitigate any 
possible risks. 

Setting a baseline 

Human rights risks can occur in our own internal 

environment, in our operations, in indirect business 

activities within our supply chain, and in delivery and 

use of the products. At Tietoevry we are convinced that 

respect for human rights must be an integral part of all 

activities and relationships. That is why we aim to integrate 

human rights considerations across our value chain and 

into all elements of our work. The UN Guiding Principles on 

Business and Human Rights and the Universal Declaration of 

Human Rights and its core conventions together create the 

foundation for our work.

The ethical anchor of our organization – the Code of 

Conduct – rests upon, among other international guidelines, 

the International Bill of Human Rights and the principles 

concerning fundamental rights as set out in the International 

Labour Organization’s Declaration on Fundamental 

Principles and Rights at Work. Fundamental human rights 

shall be known, understood, respected and applied equally 

to all employees – whether temporarily or permanently 

hired or contracted. Employees sign the Code of Conduct 

when joining the company, and all employees are expected 

to complete the mandatory Code of Conduct e-learning 

annually. The training contains, among other human 
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rights-related topics, sections on how we at Tietoevry 

ensure respect for human rights.

Tietoevry safeguards the privacy rights of individuals 

by constantly maintaining the general overview of our 

processing of personal data. The sustainability function 

oversees our global Code of Conduct, and is responsible for 

ensuring that the code is known throughout the 

organization and that employees are trained on its content. 

Read more about our relevant policies, processes and 

outcomes  under diversity & inclusion, employee 

experience, and business ethics and anti-corruption.

Violations and complaints related to human rights – both 

current or past – are encouraged to be reported through 

our whistleblowing system, which comprises both internal 

channels as well as an external anonymous whistleblowing 

channel. All requests are tracked with the aim of 

responding to the violations and complaints within 30 days. 

Whistleblowers should receive a receipt of the notification 

within four business days. We encourage a speak-up culture 

and prohibit any retaliation against anyone who reports 

concerns and violations in good faith. 

Procurement is responsible for ensuring that our suppliers 

and partners respect human rights in their operations and 

that they in turn require the same from their suppliers and 

partners. Our Supplier Code of Conduct covers topics 

including non-discrimination and equal opportunities, 

physical abuse, forced labour, and child labour, freedom 

of association and collective bargaining, pay and benefits, 

and health and safety. Compliance is followed up through 

screening, self-assessments, management review, 

trainings as well as on-site-audits. Read more on our 

efforts to respect human rights in our supply chain under 

Responsible Sourcing.

Individuals’ rights in service development

Transparency and respect for individuals’ rights are part 

of our Privacy Policy. Tietoevry supports individuals’ 

rights by following Privacy by Design principles in our 

product development process. By doing so we are 

enabling customers to fulfil – through our built-in product 

features – their needs to comply with individuals’ human 

rights. In cases where this is not possible or feasible, we 

are committed to providing the necessary assistance to 

manually process such requests from individuals in close 

cooperation with our customers. 

We safeguard the privacy rights of individuals in our own 

operations through an internal process for managing 

requests from individuals to exercise their privacy rights, 

and by maintaining an overview of personal data processing 

in the company. To further secure the freedom and rights 

of individuals, we ensure the embedding of privacy 

obligations in our core internal processes. This framework to 

ensure the fulfilment of privacy obligations, principles and 

individuals rights is found in core processes such as product 

development, sales, and service delivery.

We are convinced that technology can benefit and support 

human rights if applied and used in a proper manner. 

However, we also acknowledge the risks related to the 

development and application of technologies. As a large 

digital services company with Nordic heritage and values, 

we recognise that we have a responsibility to protect human 

rights when delivering digital solutions. Therefore, we have 

developed a system for due diligence to assess our ethical 

impact and any unforeseen consequences in software 

development. The model enables our development and 

delivery teams to uncover and mitigate any ethical risks in 

software developed. 
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Integrated in our risk management system is also the 

category of people risks. This concerns the framework for 

employees, project leaders and business leaders to report 

human rights risks related to deliveries, which are then 

followed up on according to our risk management process. 

Progress

During 2021 we initiated a corporate-wide human rights 

impact assessment covering our value chain. The aim is to 

identify the most prominent human rights risks to be able to 

improve risk mitigation through policies, processes, training 

sessions and awareness initiatives. The project will be 

finalized during spring 2022. The results will give us a better 

understanding of the risks related to human rights and serve 

as the foundation for the continued work, ensuring human 

rights are respected in all circumstances. This will be the 

starting point for efforts to improve management, processes 

and policies where needed to create a more holistic system 

for human rights risk management.

We can make  
a positive impact  
on human rights 
through smart  
technical solutions.

Looking ahead

With human rights high on the agenda going forward, we will 

continue to further consolidate and develop our processes 

for managing this area across our organization and supply 

chain. We also recognize the need to continuously stay 

on top of the human rights risks that come along with the 

development of new innovative technologies. 

As we are both a controller and a processor of personal 

data, we need to continue to consolidate and enhance 

the Individuals’ Rights Requests management process 

to ensure that our services can fulfil these requests. We 

embed privacy in our offering development process, which 

ensures the protection of individual rights in our service 

development. We have also created a procedure at the 

Group level to assist with the Individuals’ Rights Requests 

from our customers.



New or renewed suppliers agreeing to  
Tietoevry’s Supplier Code of Conduct

Target 2023, %

 

 100 

Result 2021, % 

99
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Responsible 
sourcing

At Tietoevry we strive for sustainable development 
in all our operations and in our supply chain. We 
drive initiatives for higher standards and to increase 
the capabilities of our suppliers to uphold human 
rights, labour rights and fair conditions, health 
and safety legislation, business ethics as well as 
environmental practices. 

Before any contractual commitment is made, 
each supplier is assessed for compliance with 
our policies. Through close collaboration with our 
suppliers and by making our requirements clear, 
we can support suppliers in applying sustainable 
practices that enable us deliver on our promise of 
creating value for our many stakeholders.
 

How we work

Tietoevry’s suppliers provide a wide range of solutions, 

products and services that are needed to deliver value 

to our customers and support our own operations. This 

includes hardware, software and IT consultants as well as 

services related to human resources, facility management, 

travel and many more. The main expenditure categories are 

hardware, software and IT consultants as part of customer 

deliveries and in support of our business organization.

Our group level Procurement function is driving the 

consolidation of our supplier base and the selection of 

preferred suppliers, with the aim of ensuring increased 

compliance with our standards, as well as mitigating 

supply chain risks. Our work is guided by the Tietoevry 

Supplier Code of Conduct, which includes a common set 

of ethical and business principles for our daily work with 

suppliers. The Supplier Code of Conduct is based on the 



Tietoevry model for responsible sourcing

Stakeholder engagement & training

On-site audits

Engagement

Self-assessment

Dow Jones sanction screening

High risk suppliers

Top-spend & Hardware suppliers

Strategic suppliers

Full supplier base

TIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION FINANCIALS SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 072

SUSTAINABILITY

UN Global Compact, with principles for human rights, labour 

conditions, the environment and anti-corruption.

The Supplier Code of Conduct forms one part of the 

operative framework for the company’s Sustainable Supply 

Chain programme. This programme handles supplier 

 on-boarding prior to entering co-operation, and also 

includes sanction checks and checks related to compliance 

with different requirements such as our payment terms. 

A key goal of the programme for all new and renewed 

suppliers is to sign the Supplier Code of Conduct. Another 

aim of the programme is for suppliers in prioritized product 

categories and regions to conduct self-assessments.

We also utilise our risk review model to guide prioritized 

actions, such as management reviews, in relation to 

our suppliers. In previous years, we conducted regular 

on-site audits, but in 2021 these physical audits were 

not possible due to the global pandemic. We drive 

annual self-assessments and follow-ups with selected 

suppliers, with the focus on assessing the Code of Conduct 

implementation and mitigating risks. The overall ambition is 

to strengthen risk management and co-operation with our 

long-term key suppliers.

Progress

Approximately 300 of our suppliers represent as much 

as 80% of the company’s spending. The vast majority of 

purchases take place in the Nordic countries. Suppliers 

invoicing from Finland, Sweden or Norway represent around 

90% of our total annual purchase volume. 

We have also continued to: 

 ´ Review the sustainability management of selected 

suppliers (biggest by expenditure) 

 ´ Send self-assessments to selected suppliers

 ´ Hold training sessions for selected suppliers

 ´ Increase awareness through internal training programs 

within group Procurement

 ´ Maintain a structured approach towards sourcing 

TCO-certified computers (or equivalent to TCO). In 2021, 

93% of our procured computers were TCO- certified.*

 ´ Engage in dialogues with our two main hardware 

suppliers around conflict minerals to increase our 

knowledge and discuss about the potential risks 

and their severity level. No major findings regarding 

management and risk- detection processes were 

identified during the dialogues.

 ´ Assessing suppliers at risk for right to freedom of 

association and collective bargaining

 ´ Further develop KPIs for a Sustainable Supply Chain, 

in line with Science Based Targets

 ´ Distribute a survey to selected suppliers who together 

represent the majority of our spend and CO2 footprint 

in the supply chain. The survey serves the purpose of 

confirming if our high-spend suppliers have science 

based targets or an absolute target on greenhouse 

gas reduction. Based on the survey and analysis, 18% 

of the suppliers in scope have an absolute target on 

greenhouse gas reduction in 2021.

*  We buy the devices through a third party vendor and  
the amount constitutes close to 75% of the total volume  
of our devices.
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During 2021, Tietoevry also continued the work of 

consolidating our locations and facilities – after the 

merger of Tieto and EVRY – to meet new needs and ways 

of working. This resulted in the closure of several smaller 

locations, mainly in Sweden and Norway. As a result of 

the divestment of our Oil & Gas business in 2021, we also 

divested a number of offices in countries outside the Nordic 

region, including Brazil, Canada, Malaysia, Netherlands, 

Russia, the UK and USA.

Our aim is that all external partners or sub-contractors, who 

regularly provide us with goods, service or technology are 

compliant with the minimum requirements stated in our 

Supplier Code of Conduct. Our Procurement function tracks 

all new and renewed supplier contracts to ensure we follow 

our standards and keep a high level of compliance. In 2021, 

we reached the level of 99% of supplier compliance while 

we keep our ambitions at 100%. 

Just like in 2020, we conducted a desktop assessment 

aimed at identifying the geographical areas where our 

top-spend suppliers operate and assess risks related to 

the rights for workers to exercise freedom of association 

or collective bargaining. The scope of the assessment 

included the suppliers representing 50% of Tietoevry’s 

total spend. The assessment shows that a vast majority 

(94%) of Tietoevry’s top-spend suppliers are based in 

countries where the risk is low. The majority of the suppliers 

are service providers with low risk from an industry 

perspective as well.

Each year, our Sustainability and Procurement functions 

agree on supplier related activities and annual targets. 

Procurement managers working closely with the business 

are responsible for making sure that our Procurement 

Policy is followed, and that the Supplier Code of Conduct 

is accepted and confirmed by all suppliers. Discussions 

on ethical and environmental topics are a regular part of 

procurement practices. In our annual performance follow-

ups within the sustainable supply chain arena we monitor 

progress and confirm that we are on track. 

The future 

We continue further improving sustainability in our supply 

chain through activities in the Sustainable Supply Chain 

programme, including: 

 ´ Setting ambitions and actions for greenhouse gas 

reduction targets – including Science based targets – 

with commitments that also cover our suppliers 

 ´ Investigating the possibilities to conduct virtual audits 

when on-site audits cannot be performed in a safe way, 

as during the pandemic

 ´ Automating and simplifying the supplier self-assessment 

 ´ Continuing to drive supplier management reviews with 

key suppliers 

 ´ Further implementing our Supplier Code of Conduct 

including training of our suppliers 

 ´ Improving collaboration with our main partners and 

important stakeholders

Throughout the year 2022, we will continue to evaluate 

the measures and risks in our supply chain and fine tune 

our approach towards suppliers in different sectors and 

markets. Results and findings from our group-wide human 

rights impact assessment, to be concluded in 2022, will 

further guide the improvement measures going forward. 

We are constantly working towards improving our own 

performance together with our suppliers.
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Our new Sustainability Data Hub helps customers 
monitor and report on their sustainability 
performance in real time. Swedish alcohol retailer 
Systembolaget is now using the hub to track a 
common set of metrics for its strategic IT suppliers.
 

Many companies now set sustainability targets and monitor 

their performance towards achieving them. This is typically 

a quarterly or annual exercise that involves gathering, 

analysing and reporting historical data. 

 

The problem with this approach is that there is often a 

time lag between intent and impact. When a company 

only assesses its sustainability performance with historical 

data, then it may not spot early opportunities for course 

correction when targets are not being met. 

 

This is the challenge Tietoevry is now addressing through 

our new Sustainability Data Hub – a methodology 

that shows our customers their sustainability 

performance almost.

Better data, smarter decisions

“A lot of companies are struggling with getting access to 

quality sustainability data. They may spend a lot of time 

collecting it, but by the time it is done the data is often 

outdated,” says Tietoevry Senior Sustainability Manager, 

Ulrika Lagerqvist von Unge.

 

“We saw this is a problem for companies wanting to set 

ambitious targets. If you can’t track progress, it’s tough to 

build a good roadmap. So our technology and business 

consultants came together to create the Sustainability Data 

Hub,” she says.

Tietoevry Sustainability 
Data Hub: real-time  
data for real-time action 

Taking the hub into use starts with a strategic scoping 

exercise where Tietoevry works with a customer to identify 

the relevant parameters, metrics and data-collection 

intervals. Then comes a technical phase that focuses 

on automating the data collection. This is followed by 

visualising the collected data against the agreed metrics and 

targets. Analytics and scenario modelling can be added too.

 

“In addition to reducing the time spent on manual data 

collection and improving decision-making, the hub is 

also aimed at easing compliance with both current and 

upcoming sustainability legislation and frameworks. It 

enables more frequent sustainability reporting too, meeting 

stakeholder demands for improved transparency,” says 

Lagerqvist von Unge. 
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Building a culture of sustainability

One of Tietoevry’s early customers for the hub is Sweden’s 

state-run alcohol retailer Systembolaget. The project 

began with Tietoevry illustrating its own carbon footprint 

for the IT services it provides to the company. But it soon 

expanded to include Systembolaget’s eight other strategic 

IT suppliers too. 

Now the Swedish retailer is using the hub as a way to build 

a common culture of sustainability among these suppliers, 

setting up carbon-emission KPIs in three areas: servers, 

office hardware, and consultancy services.

 

Systembolaget’s IT Strategist Harald Fragner says the 

project is part of the company’s broader aim of building a 

culture of supplier cooperation.

 

“Our long-term goal is to get our suppliers to work well 

together, as we believe a strategy of cooperation is a 

better approach than one of competition,” says Fragner. 

“So we went into this thinking about how we can start 

creating an atmosphere of common goals for all suppliers. 

As sustainability is equally important to everyone, we 

were delighted when Tietoevry offered us this platform. 

It encourages just the kind of cooperation we were 

looking for.”

 

Systembolaget’s IT suppliers range from a global cloud-

services provider to a small app and front-end UX 

developer. Recognizing that each supplier has different 

approaches towards sustainability, the company is taking a 

soft approach to introducing the hub. 

 

“We’re not yet setting hard targets for any of the suppliers, 

as they each have different starting points. This initial 

introduction of the Sustainability Data Hub is about creating 

awareness and action. Then we will continuously improve 

and refine the approach,” says Fragner.

The hub helps to 
reduce the time 
spent on manual data 
collection, improves 
decision making and 
eases compliance 
with legislation and 
frameworks.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Tietoevry is committed to good corporate governance. In addition to the relevant legislation and 
rules of the Helsinki, Oslo and Stockholm stock exchanges, Tietoevry complies with the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code issued by the Securities Market Association of Finland in 2020 
with the exception of the appointment procedure for electing personnel representatives to the 
Board of Directors (Recommendation 5) as described in detail in The Board of Directors section.

This Corporate Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code 2020. The code is available at www.cgfinland.fi. This statement 
has been issued separately from the report by the Board of Directors and is included in the 
Financial Review 2021.
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Governance at Tietoevry

President and CEO

Group Executive Management

Businesses 

Remuneration Committee

Group Operations

Processes and Quality, 

ICT, Procurement, Facilities, 

Strategy, Communications,

Brand & Identity, Sustainability

Audit and Risk Committee

Board of Directors

Group Support Functions

Human Resources, 

Legal, Finance, 

Risk Management,

Privacy, Security

Shareholders’ AGM and EGM

Shareholders’

Nomination 

Board

External Control: Auditor

External rules and regulations

• Companies Act

• Securities Markets Act

• Market Abuse Regulation (MAR)

• Commission’s Implementing Regulations,

adopted by virtue of MAR

• European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA)

interpretation and practical application guidelines

• Rules of Helsinki, Oslo and Stockholm Stock Exchange

(incl. OSE Continuing Obligations)

• Regulations and guidelines of the FIN-FSA

• Finnish Corporate Governance Code

• UN Global Compact Principles and OECD

• Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises

Internal Control

Internal rules and regulations

• Articles of Association

• Charter of the Board

• Board Committee Charters

• Code of Conduct, values

• Policies, rules and guidelines

Internal Audit
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Annual General Meeting

Tietoevry’s supreme decision-making body is the Annual General Meeting (AGM). Every 
shareholder has a right to participate in the AGM and each share in Tietoevry entitles its holder 
to one vote. However, no shareholder is allowed to vote at a General Meeting with more than 
one fifth (1/5) of the votes represented at the meeting.

The AGM elects the members of the Board of Directors (including the Chairperson) and 
appoints auditors, decides on their compensation and discharges the members of the Board 
and President and CEO from liability. The AGM’s approval is required for option programmes as 
well as Board authorizations for share repurchases and share issues. The meeting also makes 
the decision on the Board’s dividend proposal.

The following persons are usually present at Tietoevry’s AGM:
• Board of Directors: Chairperson, Board members and new Board member candidates
• Group Leadership: President and CEO, CFO
• Auditors

For more information regarding the AGM 2022 and previous meetings, shareholders and 
participation possibilities, please visit www.tietoevry.com/agm.

AGM 2021 

• In 2021, Tietoevry’s AGM convened on 25 March at Tietoevry’s headquarters in Espoo, 
Finland. To limit the spread of the Covid-19 pandemic, the company complied with the Act 
on Temporary Deviation from the Companies Act, under which shareholders were only 
allowed to participate in the AGM and exercise their shareholder rights by voting, submitting 
questions and making counterproposals in advance. Altogether 321 shareholders and 
70,388,307 shares (59.4% of the total outstanding shares) participated in the advance 
voting.
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Shareholders' Nomination Board 

The company's AGM decided in 2010 to establish a Shareholders’ Nomination Board (SNB), 
which is a body of shareholders responsible for preparing the proposals to the AGM for the 
election and remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors (including employee 
representatives).

The SNB consists of five members. Four of the members represent the four major shareholders 
who on 31 August held the largest number of votes conferred by all shares in the company and 
who wished to participate in the nomination process. The fifth member is the Chairperson of the 
company's Board of Directors. The term of office of the SNB members expires when a new SNB 
has been appointed. The SNB itself is an organ that has been established for the time being. 
The charter of the SNB is available on the company’s website.

The SNB based on shareholdings as at 31 August 2021 consisted of the following 
representatives announced by Tietoevry’s shareholders: 

Nominated by Solidium Oy: 
Petter Söderström 
Main occupation: Investment Director, Solidium Oy  
Born: 1976 
Nationality: Finnish  
Education: MSc. (Econ.) 

Nominated by Cevian Capital Partners Ltd: 
Gustav Moss 
Main occupation: Vice President, Cevian Capital AB  
Born: 1988 
Nationality: Swedish 
Education: MSc. (Econ.)

Nominated by Incentive AS:
Alexander Kopp
Main occupation: Investment Manager, Incentive AS
Born: 1981
Nationality: Norwegian
Education: A.B. (Econ.) Harvard College

Nominated by Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company: 
Mikko Mursula 
Main occupation: Chief Investment Officer, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 
Born: 1966 
Nationality: Finnish 
Education: MSc. (Econ.) 
 
Representing the Board of Directors:
Tomas Franzén

The SNB convened four times and provided Tietoevry's Board of Directors on 31 January 2022 
with its proposals to the AGM 2022. The SNB proposes to the AGM that the Board of Directors 
shall have eight members and that the current Board members Timo Ahopelto, Tomas Franzén, 
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam, Harri-Pekka Kaukonen, Angela Mazza Teufer, Katharina Mosheim, 
Niko Pakalén and Endre Rangnes be re-elected. Leif Teksum has informed that he is not 
available for re-election. The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that Tomas Franzén 
shall be re-elected as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

The biographical details of the candidates and information on their holdings in Tietoevry are 
available on the company’s website at www.tietoevry.com/en/investors/governance/board of 
directors.
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The Shareholders’ Nomination Board proposes that the remuneration of the members of the 
Board of Directors elected by the Annual General Meeting be annual fees and increased by 
approximately 3%: EUR 128 500 to the Chairperson (2021: EUR 125 000), EUR 72 000 to the 
Deputy Chairperson (2021: EUR 70 000) and EUR 54 500 to the other members 
(2021: EUR 53 000).

In addition to these fees, it is proposed that the Chairperson of a permanent Board Committee 
receives an annual fee of EUR 20 000, and a member of a permanent Board Committee 
receives an annual fee of EUR 10 000. It is also proposed that the members elected by the 
Annual General meeting will be paid EUR 800 for each Board meeting and for each permanent 
or temporary committee meeting. Further, it is proposed that the remuneration of the employee 
representatives elected as members of the Board of Directors will be an annual fee of 
EUR 15 000.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board is of the opinion that further increasing the long-term 
shareholding of the Board members will benefit all the shareholders. Every member of the 
Board of Directors elected by the Annual General Meeting is expected to over a five-year period 
accumulate a shareholding in the company that exceeds his/her one-time annual remuneration.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board therefore proposes that part of the annual remuneration 
may be paid in the company’s shares purchased from the market. An elected member of the 
Board of Directors may, at his/her discretion, choose from the following five alternatives:

No cash, 100% in shares
25% in cash, 75% in shares
50% in cash, 50% in shares
75% in cash, 25% in shares, or
100% in cash, no shares.

The shares will be acquired directly on behalf of the members of the Board within two weeks 
from the release of the company’s interim report 1 January–31 March 2022. If the remuneration 
cannot be delivered at that time due to insider regulation or other justified reason, the company 
shall deliver the shares later or pay the remuneration fully in cash.

The remuneration of the employee representatives elected as members in the Board of 
Directors will be paid in cash.
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The Board of Directors 

It is the general obligation of Tietoevry’s Board of Directors to safeguard the interests of the 
company and its shareholders. 

Composition and election 

According to Tietoevry’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors elected by the 
shareholders shall consist of at least six and no more than twelve members. Board members 
have a term of office of one year, expiring at the closing of the first AGM following the election. 

The company has defined as an objective that in addition to professional competence, 
Tietoevry’s Board members shall be diversified in terms of gender, occupational and 
professional background and that the Board as a group shall have sufficient knowledge of and 
competence in, inter alia, the company’s field of business and markets. 

The SNB, which consists of representatives nominated by the company’s largest shareholders, 
prepares a proposal on the composition of the Board to be presented to the AGM for its 
decision. The company has ensured that the principles have been included in the charter of the 
SNB and charter of the Board and taken into account in the SNB work and candidate search. 
Three out of eleven members elected by the AGM during 2021 were female. After Salim Nathoo 
and Rohan Haldea left the Board, there were three female and six male members. Gender 
diversity is continuously on the SNB's agenda.

In addition to the members proposed by the SNB and elected by the AGM, Tietoevry’s 
personnel elected four members and four deputy members to the Board of Directors. The term 
of office for the personnel representatives is two years. This special appointment procedure is a 
departure from Recommendation 5 “Election of the Board of Directors” of the Corporate 
Governance Code. Personnel representation is based on the Finnish Act on Personnel 
Representation in the Administration of Undertakings and was originally agreed between the 
company and personnel of the Group by way of a Personnel Representation Cooperation 
Agreement in 2001. 

The objectives of personnel representation are, inter alia, to provide opportunities for the 
personnel to influence and affect the organization, to improve communication and decision 
making within the Group, to increase mutual trust and confidence between corporate 
management and the personnel as well as to increase and develop the feeling of security 
among the personnel. The personnel representatives, however, are not entitled to participate in 
the handling of matters that concern the appointment or dismissal of corporate management, 
the contractual terms of the management, the terms of employment of staff or matters related to 
industrial actions. 
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Board of Directors as at 31 December 20211) 
Name Born Nationality Education Main occupation
Tomas Franzén (Board and RC Chairperson) 1962 Swedish MSc. (Eng.) Professional Board member
Timo Ahopelto (Deputy Chairperson)2) 1975 Finnish MSc. (Tech.) Entrepreneur, investor and professional Board member
Harri-Pekka Kaukonen (ARC Chairperson) 1963 Finnish DSc. (Tech.) Professional Board member
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam 1960 Swedish MSc. (Civ. Eng.) Expert advisor, professional Board member
Angela Mazza Teufer3) 1973 Italian and Swiss Master of Business Adm. Managing Director, Ambulatory Information Systems DACH
Katharina Mosheim 1976 Austrian Ph.D. (Econ.) CEO, Alpha Pianos AS
Niko Pakalén 1986 Finnish and Swedish MSc. (Econ.) Partner, Cevian Capital AB
Endre Rangnes 1959 Norwegian BBA (Econ.) CEO, Zolva Group, professional Board member
Leif Teksum 1952 Norwegian MSc. (Econ.) Partner, Vest Corporate Advisor AS, professional Board member
Tommy Sander Aldrin (personnel representative) 1965 Norwegian BSc. (Comp.) Chief Consultant
Ola Hugo Jordhøy (personnel representative) 1956 Norwegian MSc. (Eng.), PGCE Chief Consultant
Anders Palklint (personnel representative) 1967 Swedish MSc. (Eng.) Senior Project Manager
Ilpo Waljus (personnel representative) 1974 Finnish BBA Test Manager

1) During 2021, Salim Nathoo (until 19 July) and Rohan Haldea (until 7 September) also served as Board members.
2) Deputy Chairperson as of 25 March 2021. Salim Nathoo was the Deputy Chairperson until 24 March 2021.
3) Board member as of 25 March 2021.
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Independence and attendance in meetings of the Board and its committees in 2021 

Name Member since
Independent of 

company
Independent of 

shareholder Board 4) 5)
Audit and risk 

committee
Remuneration 

committee
Tomas Franzén 2019 yes yes 12/12 6/6
Timo Ahopelto 2017 yes no 12/12 6/6
Harri-Pekka Kaukonen 2016 yes yes 11/12 6/6 6/6
Rohan Haldea1) 2019 yes no 6/8
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam 2018 yes yes 12/12 6/6
Angela Mazza Teufer2) 2021 yes yes 10/10
Katharina Mosheim 2020 yes yes 12/12
Salim Nathoo3) 2019 yes no 5/7 2/2
Niko Pakalén 2019 yes yes 12/12 6/6
Endre Rangnes 2014 yes yes 12/12 6/6
Leif Teksum 2019 yes yes 11/12 5/6
Ilpo Waljus 2014 no yes 11/12
Anders Palklint 2014 no yes 12/12
Tommy Sander Aldrin 2019 no yes 12/12
Ola Hugo Jordhøy 2019 no yes 12/12

1) Board member until 7 September 2021.
2) Board member as from 25 March 2021.
3) Board member until 19 July 2021.
4) Additionally there were three informal Board meetings. Meeting fees were paid for these meetings.
5) Two temporary committees met seven and three times. Meeting fees were paid for these meetings.
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All Board members elected by the AGM of Tietoevry are independent of the company and eight 
out of nine members elected by the AGM are independent of the company's significant 
shareholders. The independence of the members is evaluated at the Board’s constitutive 
meeting. The Board members shall inform the Board if any changes in these circumstances 
occur, in which case their independence will be re-evaluated.

More detailed background information regarding the Board members, such as working 
experience, past and present positions of trust and remuneration, is presented on the 
company’s website at www.tietoevry.com/investors. 

Tasks

The main duties and working principles of the Board have been defined in a written charter. 
Additionally, the work of the Board is based on an annual action plan.

More specifically, the Board:
• approves the company’s values, strategy and organizational structure
• defines the company’s dividend policy
• approves the company’s annual plan and budget and supervises their implementation
• monitors management succession issues, appoints and discharges the President and 

CEO
• decides on the President and CEO’s compensation, sets annual targets and evaluates 

their accomplishment
• decides on the compensation of the President and CEO’s immediate subordinates
• addresses the major risks and their management at least once a year
• reviews and approves interim reports, annual reports and consolidated financial 

statements
• reviews and approves the company’s key policies
• is accountable for guiding the organization’s strategy on environmental and social 

topics
• meets the company’s auditors at least once a year without the company’s 

management
• appoints the members and Chairpersons of the Board’s committees and defines their 

charters
• reviews assessments of its committees as well as the President and CEO

• evaluates its own activities.

Work

The Board has scheduled meetings every one to two months. Besides the Board members, the 
meetings are attended by the President and CEO, Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and General 
Counsel, who acts as secretary of the meetings. In addition to the scheduled meetings, the 
Chairperson shall convene the Board whenever needed as well as at the request of any of its 
members or the President and CEO.

Matters to be handled are prepared by the Board committees and the President and CEO. The 
Board receives information on the company’s financial performance monthly and more detailed 
financial reports quarterly. Any material related to issues to be handled by the Board is provided 
four days prior to the meeting. Other case-specific materials are delivered at the management’s 
initiative or the Board’s request. Board members shall be informed about all significant company 
events immediately.

2021

• The Board convened 12 times in 2021 and the average attendance was 94.8%.
• The Board met six times during the year without the management present.
• The Board held one joint meeting with the auditors.
• The Board met the auditors once without the presence of the management.

Assessment

The performance of Tietoevry’s Board is assessed annually; the latest assessment was carried 
out by self-evaluation during autumn 2021. Assessments review the Board’s knowledge of the 
company’s operations and management as well as its understanding of the field of business. 
Additionally, the effectiveness of the Board work is evaluated. The SNB is informed of the 
results, which are also taken into consideration when the Board draws up its next annual plan.

9
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Committees

Tietoevry’s Board is assisted by two permanent committees that prepare matters for which the 
Board is responsible. The Board defines the charters of the committees and decides on their 
composition. The Board establishes temporary committees whenever a subgroup is needed to 
prepare a specific topic. The entire Board remains responsible for the duties assigned to the 
committees.

Remuneration Committee

Composition
The Remuneration Committee (RC) comprises at least three non-executive directors elected by 
the Board. The majority of the members shall be independent of the company. The Head of HR 
acts as secretary of the meetings.

Based on the Board’s decision, the RC was composed of the following non-executive directors 
who were independent of the company and of significant shareholders, except for Salim Nathoo 
who was independent of the company and non-independent of a significant shareholder:

• Tomas Franzén (Chairperson)
• Harri-Pekka Kaukonen
• Salim Nathoo (member until 19 July 2021)
• Endre Rangnes.

Work
The committee meets regularly and at least twice a year. The Chairperson of the committee 
reports to the Board when applicable. The main tasks of the committee are to:

• monitor the targets of the compensation schemes, implementation of the 
compensation schemes, performance assessment and compensation determination

• ensure that the targets set for earning the bonuses defined in the compensation 
scheme are met

• prepare a proposal for the Deputy Chairperson of the Board
• prepare a proposal on the committees (members and Chairpersons, and the duties 

and responsibilities of the committees)
• monitor corporate governance

• prepare a compensation proposal concerning the President and CEO and his 
immediate subordinates, and the principles of personnel compensation

• prepare for the Board option schemes and other share-based incentive schemes
• evaluate the performance of the President and CEO
• prepare the assessment of the Group Leadership
• prepare a proposal on the Board’s charter.

2021
• The committee convened six times in 2021 and the average attendance was 100%.
• In addition to its normal responsibilities within the scope of its charter, the committee 

followed the functioning of short- and long-term incentive plans to ensure that they 
supported the achievement of the objectives.

• The committee concentrated on reviewing and developing the remuneration of the 
Leadership team. 
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Audit and Risk Committee

Composition
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) comprises at least three non-executive directors who are 
independent of the company and out of whom at least one member shall be independent of the 
significant shareholders. The Chairperson and the members are elected by the Board. At least 
one committee member must have expertise in accounting, bookkeeping or auditing. Tietoevry’s 
Deputy General Counsel acts as secretary of the meetings.

In 2021, all committee members were non-executive directors who were independent of the 
company and of significant shareholders, except for Timo Ahopelto who is independent of the 
company and non-independent of a significant shareholder. All members have extensive 
experience in corporate management and financial issues and therefore have the required 
expertise.

Based on the Board’s decision, the ARC was composed of
• Harri-Pekka Kaukonen (Chairperson)
• Timo Ahopelto
• Liselotte Hägertz Engstam
• Niko Pakalén
• Leif Teksum

Work
The committee convenes regularly at least four times a year and meets the company’s auditors, 
also without the company’s management present. The Chairperson of the committee reports to 
the Board when applicable. The main tasks of the committee are to:

• review and supervise internal control – particularly the financial reporting process – 
and risk management 

• discuss and review the interim and annual reports and the consolidated financial 
statements

• assess compliance with legislation, official regulations and the company’s Code of 
Conduct

• evaluate the sufficiency of internal control and the internal audit
• examine, assess and approve the internal audit plan

• assess the appropriate coverage of risk management and monitor the efficiency of risk 
management

• review significant risks and unusual business events
• prepare for the Board's decision a proposal for the AGM on the nomination of external 

auditors and their compensation
• evaluate the external auditors’ independence, assess the audit plan and examine the 

audit reports
• monitor the statutory audit and consult with the auditors regarding matters that should 

be brought to the Board’s attention.

2021
• The committee convened six times in 2021 and attendance was 96.6%.
• In addition to its regular agenda, the committee followed up progress in project and 

delivery management and quality issues as well as development in areas of risk 
management, privacy and cybersecurity.
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The President and CEO and operative management   

Members of the Leadership Team as at 31 December 20211)

Kimmo Alkio 
President and CEO    
Born: 1963    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: BBA and Executive MBA    
Joined Tietoevry in 2011 

Malin Fors-Skjæveland     
Integration Officer 
Born: 1970    
Nationality: Swedish    
Education: MSc. (Tech.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2018    

Kishore Ghadiyaram   
Head of Strategy   
Born: 1972   
Nationality: Indian   
Education: BSc. (Tech.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2008  

Tomi Hyryläinen   
Chief Financial Officer   
Born: 1970   
Nationality: Finnish   
Education: MSc. (Econ.)
Joined Tietoevry in 2018

Ari Järvelä    
Head of Operations    
Born: 1969    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Eng.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2001 

Satu Kiiskinen    
Managing Partner, Finland    
Born: 1965    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Econ.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2013 
 
Thomas Nordås   
Head of Digital Consulting   
Born: 1971   
Nationality: Norwegian   
Education: MSc. (Math.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2019   

Christian Pedersen   
Managing Partner, Norway   
Born: 1974   
Nationality: Norwegian   
Education: MSc. (Tech.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2014   
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Harri Salomaa    
Head of Product Development Services    
Born: 1961    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: BSc. (Eng.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2020   

Christian Segersven    
Head of Industry Software   
Born: 1975    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Tech.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2013

Johan Torstensson   
Head of Cloud & Infra   
Born: 1969   
Nationality: Swedish   
Education: MBA in Finance and Management   
Joined Tietoevry in 2019   

Trond Vinje    
Head of HR    
Born: 1968    
Nationality: Norwegian    
Education: MSc. (Pol. Sci.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2015 

The remuneration and more detailed background information, such as full CVs of the Group 
Leadership, are presented on the company’s website.

1) Karin Schreil acted as Managing Partner, Sweden until 30 November 2021.
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Shareholdings of the Group Leadership

Name Shares at 31 Dec 2021 Shares at 31 Dec 2020
Kimmo Alkio  58 439  60 683 
Malin Fors-Skjæveland  3 552  1 776 
Kishore Ghadiyaram  12 829  11 049 
Tomi Hyryläinen  4 120  2 356 
Ari Järvelä  15 064  18 488 
Satu Kiiskinen  25 598  22 567 
Thomas Nordås  2 019  1 063 
Christian Pedersen  6 321  3 622 
Harri Salomaa 0 0
Karin Schreil1) N/A 0
Christian Segersven 0  4 000 
Johan Torstensson  1 059 0
Trond Vinje  33 518  36 562 

1) Employment ended on 30 November 2021.
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Internal control and risk management

Tietoevry’s internal control framework supports the execution of the strategy and ensures 
regulatory compliance. The foundation for internal control is set by the risk management 
framework, financial control, internal audit and supporting policies.

The aim of Tietoevry’s internal control framework is to assure that operations are effective and 
well aligned with the strategic goals. The internal control framework is intended to ensure 
correct, reliable, complete and timely financial reporting and management information. 

The framework endorses ethical values, good corporate governance and risk management 
practices. The activities related to internal control and risk management are part of Tietoevry’s 
management practices and integrated into the business and planning processes.

Risk management framework

Tietoevry uses systematic risk management to develop the efficiency and control of business 
operations as well as their profitability and continuity.
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The risk management framework consists of the risk management organization, related policies, 
processes, tools and common ways of working. The risk management organization develops 
and maintains the company’s risk management framework, including risk reporting, risk 
management governance and follow-up of risk exposures consisting of strategic, financial, 
operational, compliance and people risks.

The risk management organization consists of the Corporate Risk Management unit, nominated 
Risk Managers and Business Continuity Managers in the units and key stakeholders in 
functions. A group-wide Risk Manager Forum and Business Continuity Forum have been 
established for information sharing, setting direction of risk and continuity management, as well 
as crisis management, collaboration between units and reviewing steering documents. In 
addition, the forums align group-wide Risk Management Business Continuity and Crisis 
management activities and ensure company-wide deployment of the frameworks.

Tietoevry has also specified its compliance management system, including the compliance 
organization, steering model and annual plan for compliance-related activities. The Compliance 
Officer is responsible for maintaining the whistleblowing channel and coordinating investigations 
as well as ensuring the effectiveness and functionality of the governance model for compliance 
work. 

Governance of risk and compliance
At Tietoevry, governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) are closely linked and consistently 
defined corporate policies and rules with proper controls. In the finance function, for example, 
financial reporting, compliance and risk monitoring are efficiently integrated into daily 
operations. Thanks to automated processes, Tietoevry can readily adapt to changes in business 
conditions, regulations or corporate policy with the necessary risk management controls.

Tietoevry has invested in process automation, which is seen as a way to improve quality and 
reduce costs. Well-drafted policies and rules are made available to assure that the implications 
of automation on risk and compliance are fully understood by all parties in the organization.

Continuous development of the risk framework 
The development and integration of the Tietoevry GRC (Governance, Risk & Compliance) 
platform with its related framework continued during 2021. Its effectiveness is validated in 

business operations by means of active risk assessments of the company’s assets, resulting in 

measurable risk reductions. 

The Tietoevry GRC platform now comprises the following functionalities: 
• Business Reporting Dashboards
• Risk management and improvement opportunity
• Project risk management
• Privacy risk assessments
• Security incident management
• Audit management
• Business continuity management

The GRC platform enables online visibility to the information, with automated notifications to 
stakeholders and systematic follow-up of actions. 

The development of the GRC platform, risk management framework and other frameworks is  
carried out in close cooperation with the nominated Risk, Continuity, Security and Privacy 
Managers and the Quality Partners in the units, and they are approved by the Tietoevry Group 
Leadership and validated by the ARC. 

Financial control

The purpose of internal control over financial reporting is to ensure the correctness of financial 
reporting, including interim and annual reports and the compliance of financial reporting with 
regulatory requirements.

The ARC has the oversight role in Tietoevry’s external financial reporting.

Financial reporting process and responsibilities
Tietoevry has a common accounting and reporting platform. Group consolidation and reporting 
are based on the reporting system, which facilitates common control requirements for all legal 
entities reporting to the Group. Tietoevry does continuous improvements to the common 
accounting and reporting platform to accommodate internal needs and new regulatory 
requirements.
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Financial reporting consists of monthly performance reports, including all the key performance 
indicators, rolling forecasts and interim financial reports.

Financial reports are regularly reviewed by the Head of Business Finance in the units, the 
Group Leadership and the Board of Directors. The follow-up is based on a thorough comparison 
of the actual figures with the set objectives, forecasts and previous periods. If the figures 
deviate, the Group Leadership members are responsible for initiating corrective actions.

Internal audit
The purpose of Tietoevry’s Internal Audit function is to assure Quality and Trust all the way to 
the Customer. Internal Audit functionally reports to the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) and 
administratively to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

Core services aim at assessing and assuring the adequacy and effectiveness of risk 
management and internal control within Tietoevry’s ecosystem. Assurance and Advice is 
delivered via data-driven business partnering, enabling digital end-to-end assurance and 
assurance by design.  

Internal Audit applies quarterly planning and delivery cycles, approved by the ARC. This 
ensures that changes affecting the risk landscape can be addressed when needed. Main input 
sources for planning are Enterprise Risk Management, Legal and Compliance functions, 
Operational Excellence, external auditors as well as business management and the ARC. 
Services are delivered via co-sourcing with adjacent functions and area subject matter experts. 
This enables relevance and effectiveness, positively impacting behaviour across Tietoevry’s 
ecosystem.
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Related-party transactions

Tietoevry maintains a list of its related parties in accordance with IAS24 and discloses the 
required information concerning related-party transactions in the report by the Board of 
Directors and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Further, the company evaluates and monitors transactions concluded between the company 
and its related parties and seeks to ensure that any conflicts of interest shall be taken into 
account in decision making. The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility to monitor the 
company's measures and evaluate that related-party transactions are entered into the ordinary 
course of business and concluded on normal market terms.

Reporting to the Board of Directors takes place at the meeting where the financial statements 
are approved. The related-party transactions are summarized in note 29 of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Furthermore, the company has added controls into its processes and decision-making policies 
to identify and duly handle any transactions with related parties. Testing of customer and 
supplier transactions is carried out by both the company and its external auditors. 

Insider administration

Tietoevry follows the EU Market Abuse Regulation (MAR) and rules of Nasdaq Helsinki and 
Oslo Børs. In addition, Tietoevry’s Board of Directors has adopted an internal Tietoevry Insider 
Rule.

Tietoevry has specified that the Board of Directors and the President and CEO of the parent 
company TietoEVRY Corporation are subject to the requirement to notify their transactions. In 
addition, Tietoevry has set restrictions on trading for the members of the Group Leadership, 
persons participating in the preparation of interim reports and consolidated financial statements 
as well as other persons who are considered to receive information of a confidential and 
sensitive nature in their position or service.

The managers and other persons subject to trading restrictions are prohibited from dealing in 
Tietoevry’s shares or other financial instruments during the closed period. The closed period 
covers 30 calendar days before the disclosure of an interim financial report or a financial 
statement release including the date of disclosure (= 30 + 1 days).

Tietoevry's General Counsel is in charge of insider administration and Group Legal and 
Compliance team monitors compliance with the insider regulation and takes care of necessary 
guidance and training.
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Auditors 

The ARC prepares a proposal on the appointment of Tietoevry’s auditors, which is then 
presented to the Board of Directors and finally to the AGM for its decision. The compensation 
paid to the auditors is decided by the AGM and assessed annually by the ARC. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM, in accordance with the recommendation of the 
ARC, that the auditor to be elected at the AGM 2022 be reimbursed according to the auditor's 
invoice and in compliance with the purchase principles approved by the Committee. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM, in accordance with the recommendation of the 
ARC, that the firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy be re-elected as the company's 
auditor for the financial year 2022. The firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy has 
notified that APA Jukka Vattulainen will act as the auditor with principal responsibility. 

Auditing  

The AGM 2021 elected the firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy as the company’s 
auditor for the financial year 2021. Deloitte Oy notified the company that Authorized Public 
Accountant Jukka Vattulainen acts as principal auditor. 

In 2021, Tietoevry Group paid the auditors a total of EUR 1.3 (1.3) million in audit fees, and a 
total of EUR 0.5 (0.7) million for other services.
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Remuneration Report

The aim of Tietoevry’s remuneration principles is to attract and retain talent, motivate key people 
and align the goals of the company’s shareholders and executives in order to enhance the value 
of the company. We reward our employees for high performance in achieving both individual 
and company objectives, thus linking remuneration to the successful execution of our strategy 
and to long-term shareholder value creation.

The principles on how the company shall compensate its employees are defined in Tietoevry’s 
Remuneration Policy and HR Policy. The policy is globally applied to all Tietoevry entities and 
units to support the company’s strategy, objectives and values.

Remuneration of the Board of Directors is decided by the AGM based on a proposal by the 
Shareholders' Nomination Board. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for planning the 
remuneration of the Group Leadership members and preparing the principles underlying the 
remuneration of Tietoevry personnel. The Board of Directors decides on the remuneration of the 
President and CEO and other members of the Group Leadership based on a proposal by the 
Remuneration Committee. 
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Summary of the Remuneration of Tietoevry's President and CEO 
Element Purpose Description Execution 2021
Salary Recognition for continuous daily 

contribution and provides core 
remuneration for the role. 

Fixed compensation for performing defined job responsibilities. In addition to monthly salary, the 
President and CEO can be paid car and mobile phone benefits as per company policy. Salary is 
reviewed annually based on the individual’s performance and salary market conditions. 
Weighting of the reward factors for the President and CEO is described in a separate table. The 
reward targets are set annually by the Board of Directors.

There were no changes done to the base salary of 
the CEO during 2021. 

Short-term incentive 
plan

Incentivizes delivery of the 
company's annual financial and 
operational goals.

Cash-based plan that rewards the short-term (12-month) success of the company and the 
individual. The bonus for the President and CEO is 75% of the annual base salary when the 
performance is at expected level; the maximum bonus for the President and CEO is 150%1). The 
amount of bonuses is decided by the Board of Directors after the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared. 

Short-term incentives were paid in 2021 based on 
2020 performance. The CEO's short-term 
incentives are connected to the company's total 
performance by plan KPIs; their achievement was 
104.97%. Payment was made in March after Board 
approval.

Long-term incentive 
plan

Rewards for sustained increase in 
shareholder value and encourages 
ownership culture. 

Share-based plans reward leadership and key employees for company growth and achievement 
of defined strategic goals. LTI plans are annually commencing plans with a three-year 
performance period. Key principles of Tietoevry’s share plans – such as the basis and size of 
rewards – are described on the company’s website.

In spring 2021, the 2018–2020 LTI plan share 
delivery was conducted based on the achievement 
of plan KPIs. The target achievement was 80%. 
Shares were delivered after the Board approval. 
The KPIs and weights used in this plan were EPS 
30%, TSR 20% and growth 50% weight.

Additional pension Provides appropriate retirement 
benefits.

President and CEO: defined contribution (DC) plan where the expenditure is 23% of the annual 
base salary. Retirement age is 63. 

The company paid the agreed contribution to the 
pension plan.

Clawback Protects company interests in case 
of misconduct, restatement or 
misstatement of results.

Clawback provisions apply to STI and LTI plan rewards in exceptional circumstances such as 
misconduct or misstatement of financial results.

Share ownership Encourages building a meaningful 
shareholding in Tietoevry, ensuring 
alignment with shareholders.

The recommended minimum investment in the company's shares corresponds to the executive's 
one-time annual gross base salary.

The amount of shares owned by the CEO at the 
end of 2021 was 58 439. 

Service contracts 
and severance pay

Provides for clear contractual terms. President and CEO: if the agreement is terminated by Tietoevry, the notice period is twelve 
months. In the event of termination, the company shall pay a severance payment equivalent to 
the base salary and the short-term target incentive for six months in addition to the salary for the 
notice period. If the agreement is terminated by the President and CEO, the notice period is six 
months. Change of control terms are the same as in termination except for the monetary value of
the maximum amount of shares granted to him in the most recent long-term incentive plan in 
addition to the salary for the notice period.

1) Short-term incentive target and maximum value valid as of 5 Dec 2019
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President and CEO 

Kimmo Alkio
Salary 2021 EUR 807 300 
Benefits 2021 EUR 34 670 
Bonus 2020 EUR 847 424, paid in 2021 based on performance in 2020
Bonus 2021 EUR 484 380 paid in 2022 based on performance in 2021
Basis of bonus 2021 Target 75% of base salary based on the Group's external revenue and profit, PDS external revenue and 

profit and strategy implementation when achievements meet the targets. Maximum 150% of base salary 
based on the Group's external revenue, profit and strategy implementation when achievements exceed 
the targets. Weighting of the reward factors: 
• Group revenue 30%
• Group adjusted profit 30%
• Adjusted free cash flow 10%
• Strategic and operational goals 30%

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2018–2020 In March 2021, a total of 9 729 shares were transferred to the CEO based on criteria attainment. In 
addition, a cash portion corresponding to a value of 8 576 shares was paid. The total value of the paid 
gross reward was EUR 509 814.

Pension expenditure, voluntary defined contribution (DC) plan EUR 205 0541)

Share ownership in Tietoevry on 31 December 58 439

1) Payments to defined contribution plans are recognized as expenses for the period to which they relate. After payment of the contribution the Group has no further obligations in respect of such plans.
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Plan period Unvested Long-Term Incentives

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2019–2021
Entitled to 29 433 Performance Shares if the target levels of the performance metrics are met, and to 58 866 shares at maximum. The performance period of the plan is 
2019-2021. The share allocation at target level equalled 100% of annual base salary at the time of grant. The fair value of the allocation amounts to EUR 800 7312).

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2020–2022
Entitled to 40 600 Performance Shares if the target levels of the performance metrics are met, and to 101 500 shares at maximum. The performance period of the plan is 
2020-2022. The share allocation at target level equalled 125% of annual base salary at the time of grant. The fair value of the allocation amounts to EUR 792 1382).

Long-Term Incentive Plan 2021–2023
Entitled to 37 900 Performance Shares if the target levels of the performance metrics are met, and to 75 800 shares at maximum. The performance period of the plan is 
2021-2023. The share allocation at target level equalled 125% of annual base salary at the time of grant. The fair value of the allocation amounts to EUR 979 0022).

2) The fair market value for the Long-term Incentive Plans is calculated using the latest performance estimates and the value of the Tietoevry share on 31 December 2021, EUR 27.48

Updated information on the shares and options held by the President and CEO is available on the company’s website at www.tietoevry.com/investors under the insider register.

Remuneration of the Board

According to the decision of Tietoevry's AGM 2021, the annual remuneration of the Board of 
Directors is the following:

• EUR 125 000 to the Chairperson,
• EUR 70 000 to the Deputy Chairperson and
• EUR 53 000 to the ordinary members of the Board of Directors.

In addition to these fees, the Chairperson of a permanent Board Committee receives an annual 
fee of EUR 20 000 and a member of a permanent Board Committee receives an annual fee of 
EUR 10 000. In addition, remuneration of EUR 800 is paid to the Board members elected by the 
Annual General Meeting for each permanent or temporary committee meeting. Further, 
remuneration for employee representatives elected as ordinary members of the Board of 
Directors will be an annual fee of EUR 15 000, which is paid in cash only.

Further, the AGM 2021 decided that part of the fixed annual remuneration may be paid in the 
company's shares purchased from the market. An elected member of the Board of Directors 
may, at his/her discretion, choose to receive the fee from the following alternatives:
1. No cash, 100% in shares
2. 25% in cash, 75% in shares
3. 50% in cash, 50% in shares
4. 75% in cash, 25% in shares
5. 100% in cash, no shares.

No restrictions have been set on Board members concerning how they may assign these 
shares, but the company recommends that Board members should retain ownership of all the 
shares they have received as remuneration for as long as they serve on Tietoevry’s Board.

In addition to the share remuneration, the Board members do not belong to or are not 
compensated with other share-based arrangements, nor do the members have any pension 
plans at Tietoevry. Tietoevry executives or employees are not entitled to compensation for their 
Board positions or meeting attendance in the Group companies, with the exception of the 
employee representatives elected as ordinary members to the parent company's Board of 
Directors. None of the Board members, except the personnel representatives, have an 
employment relationship or service contract with Tietoevry.
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Compensation of individual Board members and the Board in 20211)

Annual remuneration
Name EUR2) Shares3) Meeting based, EUR

Tomas Franzén, Chairperson Board and 
RC4) 72 515 2 484 23 200
Timo Ahopelto, Deputy Chairperson4) 40 023 1 370 18 400
Harri-Pekka Kaukonen, Chairperson ARC4) 41 505 1 422 26 400
Rohan Haldea5) 9) 53 000 — 7 200
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam6) 47 272 539 22 400
Angela Mazza Teufer7) 8) 13 256 1 362 8 800
Katharina Mosheim6) 39 752 454 17 600
Salim Nathoo5) 10) 63 000 — 7 200
Niko Pakalén6) 47 272 539 19 200
Endre Rangnes4) 31 514 1 079 16 800
Leif Teksum6) 47 272 539 15 200
Tommy Sander Aldrin, personnel rep. 15 000
Ola Hugo Jordhoy, personnel rep. 15 000
Anders Palklint, personnel rep. 15 000
Ilpo Waljus, personnel rep. 15 000
In total 556 380 9 788 189 600

1) The Board members have not received any other benefits.
2) Gross compensation before taxes.
3) Shares were purchased and delivered in May 2021.
4) 50% in cash, 50% in shares.
5) 100% in cash.
6) 75% in cash, 25% in shares
7) 25% in cash, 75% in shares.
8) Board member as of 25 March 2021.
9) Board member until 7 September 2021.
10) Board member until 19 July 2021.

Board of Directors' shareholdings in Tietoevry11)

Name At 31 Dec 2021 At 31 Dec 2020
Tomas Franzén, Chairperson Board and RC 7 408 4 924
Timo Ahopelto, Deputy Chairperson 5 424 4 054
Harri-Pekka Kaukonen, Chairperson ARC 7 893 6 471
Rohan Haldea 9) N/A — 
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam 3 381 2 842
Angela Mazza Teufer 1 362 N/A
Katharina Mosheim 1 052 598
Salim Nathoo 10) N/A — 
Niko Pakalén 2 786 2 247
Endre Rangnes 6 274 5 195
Leif Teksum (partly via Teklei Consulting AS) 8 448 7 909

11) Corporations over which the Board members exercise control did not have shares or share-based rights on
31 December 2021, except Teklei Consulting AS of Leif Teksum.
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Comparative remuneration data
Information in the next table is based on Tieto’s data for 2016–2018. Years 2019 to 2021 include 
combined data for Tieto and EVRY. In 2021, Tietoevry's operating profit includes EUR 104.0 
million in capital gains from divestments, whereas in 2020, adjustment items included 
substantial costs related to integration. Eliminating all non-recurring items, adjusted3) operating 
profit (EBITA) stood at EUR 367.8 (355.0) million.The demographics of the workforce changed 
and the number of employees increased significantly following the merger of Tieto and EVRY on 
5 December 2019. CEO remuneration consists of gross rewards paid during the reported year. 
2019 and 2020 include a merger success bonus related to the merger of Tieto and EVRY. 
Personnel attrition rates were on the rise across the industry during 2021. While talent attraction 
has been high at Tietoevry, productivity in the consulting business has been somewhat 
impacted by high attrition. As a result, the average salary level has been on the rise. Employee 
average compensation in 2020 and 2021 is based on personnel expenses divided by the 
average number of employees. 

1) Years 2019 to 2021 include combined data for Tieto and EVRY
2) For the years 2020 and 2021 we use the average number of employees; for the other years, the end-of-year
employee figures are used
3) Adjusted for restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, goodwill impairment charges and other items affecting
comparability

2017 2018 20191) 20201) 20211)

Revenue, EUR million 1 543.4 1 599.5 1 734.0 2 786.4 2 823.4 
Operating profit (EBIT), 
EUR million 139.1 154.7 124.2 146.7 382.0
Board remuneration, 
EUR 518 000 450 800 613 500 641 300 556 380
CEO remuneration, 
EUR 1 160 985 1 788 302 2 589 032 2 636 446 2 404 562
Employee 
remuneration, EUR, 
average per employee  59 551 60 710 62 155 62 4522) 64 0842)
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Full-year outlook for 2022 148 14. Trade and other receivables 184 4. Other operating expenses 221
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About Tietoevry

TietoEVRY Corporation ("Tietoevry") is a Finnish public limited liability company. Headquartered 
in Finland, Tietoevry is a leading Nordic digital services and software company that employs 
around 24 000 experts globally. Tietoevry serves thousands of enterprise and public sector 
customers in more than 90 countries. The company's shares are listed on the NASDAQ in 
Helsinki and Stockholm and the Oslo Børs. 

In 2021, the Group comprised six operating segments: Digital Consulting, Cloud & Infra, 
Industry Software, Financial Services Solutions, International Operations and Product 
Development Services. The Group's new segments effective as from 1 January 2022 are 
described in the Strategy section.  

Highlights of 2021

• The company's growth agenda materialized during the second half of 2021. Tietoevry 
saw strong performance in its software businesses as well as Product Development 
Services and International Operations.

• The two-year integration programme was completed with successful operational 
integration and synergy realization. The company achieved a run-rate of EUR 97 
million by the year-end. The total cost synergy target of EUR 100 million is anticipated 
to be achieved during 2022.

• Tietoevry divested its oil & gas software business and three smaller software 
businesses during the year, resulting in capital gains of EUR 104.0 million.

• Tietoevry announced a new strategy in October 2021, driving growth and expansion 
through specialization. To capture the momentum of the cloud-native and software 
market, Tietoevry has established six specialized end-to-end businesses, which took 
effect on 1 January 2022. 

• The talent market was active. Over 5 700 recruitments (gross) during the year  
demonstrated the strong employer attractiveness of the company. 

• In the full year, revenue was up by 1.3%. Adjusted operating profit1) (EBITA) was up to 
EUR 367.8 (355.0) million, representing a margin of 13.0% (12.7). Profitability was 
somewhat affected by higher salary inflation. 

• Operating profit (EBIT) was up to EUR 382.0 (146.7) million.

1) Adjustment items include restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, impairment charges and other items affecting 
comparability. 
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Five-year key figures

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Revenue, EUR million  2 823.4  2 786.4  1 734.0  1 599.5  1 543.4 
Operating profit (EBIT), EUR million  382.0  146.7 126,8  154.7  139.1 
Operating margin (EBIT), %  13.5  5.3  7.3  9.7  9.0 

Adjusted1) operating profit (EBITA2)), 
EUR million  367.8  355.0  199.4  168.0  161.4 
Adjusted1) operating margin (EBITA2)), %  13.0  12.7  11.5  10.5  10.5 
Profit before taxes, EUR million  353.8  122.4  100.8  152.8  135.7 
Earnings per share, EUR

Basic  2.46  0.80  1.02  1.67  1.46 
Diluted  2.46  0.80  1.02  1.66  1.46 

Equity per share, EUR  15.38  13.73  14.27  6.54  6.46 
Dividend per share, EUR  1.40  1.32  0.64  1.45  1.40 
Capital expenditure, EUR million  80.8  83.5  51.4  45.0  50.8 
Acquisitions, EUR million  —  0.6  175.7  14.5  49.3 
Return on equity, 12-month rolling, %  16.9  5.7  7.3  25.7  22.3 
Return on capital employed,
12-month rolling, %  13.7  5.2  6.9  20.9  20.5 

Gearing, %  33.5  54.3  63.4  28.5  32.7 

Interest-bearing net debt, EUR million  610.6  883.3  1 070.0  137.4  155.7 
Equity ratio, %  51.6  45.9  44.5  41.3  42.5 
Personnel on average  23 824  23 788  15 950  14 907  13 889 
Personnel on 31 Dec  24 389  23 632  24 322  15 190  14 329 

1) Adjustment items include restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, impairment charges and other items affecting comparability. 
2) Profit before interests, taxes and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets.

See calculation of key figures on page Alternative performance measures.
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IT market development

The rapidly changing market provides significant growth opportunities for Tietoevry. Creating 
superior experiences enabled by hyperconnected data continues to be a strong driver for 
investments across industries. Customers are considering how to utilize the benefits of data 
even faster to be able to launch highly advanced digital experiences supported by real-time and 
personalized services.

Innovations driving digital experiences are enabled by cloud technologies. Cloud enablement 
and agile development methods, DevOps, are becoming a standard way of delivering services. 
The focus is clearly geared towards cloud-native development, with investments in data and 
analytics, data management, data engineering and data platforms on the one hand, and 
investments in cloud-native application development on the other. 

In parallel with cloud-native development, customers will continue the modernization of their 
business processes, applications and infrastructure. Hence, investments are also being geared 
towards the market with modernization programmes. As price erosion in these traditional 
segments will accelerate further, competitiveness requires scale. 

The overall addressable market for Tietoevry is anticipated to grow by around 3% during 2022, 
impacted by an estimated decline of 5–10% in traditional managed services. The market for 
software and cloud-native services is anticipated to grow by around 10%. This polarized market 
is calling for specialization reflecting a distinctive competitive advantage in each service 
segment in order to capture the identified opportunities. 

4
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New strategy launched in 2021 – growth through specialization

Tietoevry announced a new strategy in October 2021, driving growth and expansion through 
specialization. Investments will be focused on businesses where the company sees competitive 
advantages and sustainable growth:

• cloud-native services
• data and software engineering 
• scalable software businesses, 

including their global expansion potential.

In the areas of traditional managed application and infrastructure services, the company sees 
new partnerships as potential means to build scale and pursue joint investments.

Six specialized businesses established

To capture the momentum of the cloud-native and software market, Tietoevry has established 
six specialized end-to-end businesses. These businesses have full operational responsibility, 
including go-to-market, service portfolio, investments and partnerships. Reflecting the distinct 
market dynamics of each, the individual businesses have optionality to build scale and prioritize 
investments. 

The businesses – and their new names as from January 2022 – forming the reportable 
segments as from the first quarter of 2022 are described below: 

Tietoevry Create accelerates customers' digital agenda to create competitive products and 
data-driven businesses utilizing design, data and cloud technologies. This is a global business 
with software and data engineering at its core.

Tietoevry Transform drives enterprise-wide transformation across customers’ business 
processes, applications and infrastructure. Deep customer knowledge, global cloud & data 
competencies and automated operations form its foundation.

Tietoevry Connect is a multi-cloud platform provider with a full range of infrastructure choices 
at scale – ensuring security, resilience and compliance for the customer’s business.

Tietoevry Banking aims to be the market-leading financial-software products, platform and 
services partner in the Nordics and beyond.

Tietoevry Care aims to reinvent the Nordic health and social care sector with modular, open 
and interoperable software – enhancing care personnel and citizen experience.

Tietoevry Industry is a portfolio of distinct competitive software and data solutions across a 
wide variety of industry domains. These include the public sector, pulp & paper and utilities.

Scalable common functions, such as Finance, Strategy and HR, continue to support the 
businesses in driving portfolio development, performance management and efficiency across 
the company. The new structure took effect on 1 January 2022.

5
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Investment priorities to support scale in distinct businesses

The following investment priorities will drive competitiveness and value creation in each 
business:

• Invest to expand in Tietoevry Create, Tietoevry Care and Tietoevry Banking – invest 
to accelerate products, services and capabilities; prioritized M&A.

• Partner to scale in Tietoevry Transform and Tietoevry Connect – invest in capabilities 
to drive scale and automated managed services; seek partners (operational and 
structural) to jointly invest and build scale.

• Focus for value in Tietoevry Industry – optimized investments for selected 
businesses and develop portfolio to increase focus.

Long-term financial targets

The financial targets announced in December 2020 have been  maintained while the new 
strategy supports potential for enhanced performance. The targets include:

• Growth accelerating to 5% by 2023
• Adjusted EBITA 15% by 2023
• Net debt/EBITDA below 2 by the end of 2022
• One-time items around 1% of revenue post 2021
• Dividends increased annually.

In 2022, one-time costs are expected to be around 1.5% to 2.0% of revenue, primarily driven by 
the turnaround programme in Cloud & Infra. 
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Performance in 2022

Strong order backlog and a healthy market are anticipated to contribute to growth ambitions for 
2022. Tietoevry estimates its full-year organic growth1) to be 2% to 4%. Good business 
performance momentum in software businesses is anticipated to continue. In Cloud & Infra, the 
decline in traditional infrastructure services is anticipated to continue while the negative impact 
from the customer contracts lost prior to the merger ended in the fourth quarter. Hence, the 
company has initiated performance acceleration to drive cloud growth and achieve further profit 
improvement. Cost savings programme with a view to achieving around EUR 50 million in 
annual savings was announced in February 2022 and it is expected to contribute to 
performance in the second half of the year.

High personnel attrition is anticipated to continue, impacting the speed of performance 
improvement in 2022. Personnel costs are affected by salary inflation, expected to be around 
3% in the full year 2022. However, salary inflation is partly offset by price increases in some 
service areas, offshoring and management of the competence pyramid.  

1) Adjusted for currency effects, acquisitions and divestments

Merger-related synergies

Tietoevry anticipates that the total cost synergy target of EUR 100 million will be achieved by 
the end of 2022. The company achieved a run-rate of EUR 97 million at the end of 2021. By the 
end of 2021, accumulated integration costs amounted to EUR 110 million. The total integration 
costs are expected to be EUR 117 million, well in line with the previously estimated total 
integration costs of EUR 110–120 million.

Adjustment items

In 2022, one-time costs are expected to be around 1.5% to 2.0% of revenue, primarily driven by 
turnaround measures initiated in Cloud & Infra, as announced in February 2022. One-time costs 
also include the remaining integration costs, mainly related to the brand and identity 
programme.
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Financial performance

Full-year revenue increased by 1.3% to EUR 2 823.4 (2 786.4) million. Organically, revenue 
remained at the previous year's level. Growth was impacted by the decline in Cloud & Infra 
whereas software businesses as well as International  Operations saw strong growth. Positive 
currency changes had an impact of EUR 78 million on revenue while the impact of divestments 
was EUR 33 million. Full-year operating profit (EBIT) amounted to EUR 382.0 (146.7) million, 
representing a margin of 13.5% (5.3). Merger-related synergies supported profit improvement 
during the year.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to EUR 170.1 (175.8) million, including EUR 71.2 
(72.7) million in depreciation of right of use assets (IFRS 16 impact) and EUR 47.3 (45.5) million 
in amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. Net financial expenses stood at EUR 
28.1 (24.4) million. Net interest expenses were EUR 21.1 (22.3) million and net losses from 
foreign exchange transactions EUR 4.8 (gains 0.8) million. Other financial income and expenses 
amounted to EUR -2.3 (-2.9) million.

Earnings per share (EPS) totalled EUR 2.46 (0.80).

1) Adjustment items include restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, impairment charges and other items affecting
comparability.

Adjusted1) results

Operating profit includes EUR 61.5 (-162.8) million in adjustment items, mainly related to 
capital gains from divestments and integration costs. In 2020, adjustment items included 
substantial costs related to integration, the ending of the SmartUtilities platform and 
redefined IBM partnership. Adjusted1) operating profit (EBITA) stood at EUR 367.8 (355.0) 
million, or 13.0% (12.7) of revenue. Further details on adjusted items are available in the 
Alternative Performance measures paragraph. Adjusted1) earnings per share amounted to 
EUR 2.20 (2.16).
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Financial performance by segment

 Revenue Revenue Change
Operating 

profit
Operating 

profit 
EUR million 1–12/2021 1–12/2020 % 1–12/2021 1–12/2020
Digital Consulting 667.5 662.0  1 82.4 70.8 

Cloud & Infra 853.8 931.6  -8 30.0 36.6 

Industry Software 522.7 501.1  4 223.4 38.8 

Financial Services 
Solutions 471.0 418.8  12 43.2 10.0 

Product Development 
Services 153.3 142.4  8 17.3 17.7 
Other 155.1 130.5  19 -14.1 -27.2
Group total 2 823.4 2 786.4  1 382.0 146.7 

Operating margin by segment

Operating 
margin

Operating 
margin 

Adjusted2)

operating 
margin 

Adjusted2)

operating 
margin 

% 1–12/2021 1–12/2020 1–12/2021 1–12/2020
Digital Consulting  12.3  10.7  13.9  14.0 
Cloud & Infra  3.5  3.9  7.2  10.0 
Industry Software  42.7  7.7  24.0  18.3 
Financial Services Solutions  9.2  2.4  13.8  13.0 
Product Development Services  11.3  12.4  11.5  12.7 
Total  13.5  5.3  13.0  12.7 

2) Adjustment items include restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, impairment charges and other items affecting 
comparability.

In Digital Consulting, revenue was organically1) down by 2%. Growth remained healthy in 
areas such as Cloud and Data & Analytics while traditional application services continued to 
decline. At the beginning of the year, growth was negatively impacted by the pandemic. 
Adjusted operating margin remained at the previous year's level at 13.9% (14.0), impacted by 
higher salary inflation and an increase in attrition during the year. 

In Cloud & Infra, revenue was organically1)  down by 11%, mainly driven by contracts lost prior 
to the merger in 2019. Adjusted operating margin was down to 7.2% (10.0). The turnaround 
programme focusing on delivery capacity reduction in legacy services and the high automation 
level are expected to support profit improvement.

In Industry Software, revenue was organically1)  up by 8%.  Industry Software saw strong 
growth across the businesses, including Health & Care. Adjusted operating margin improved to 
24.0% (18.3), mainly driven by revenue growth and continuous efficiency improvement. 

In Financial Services Solutions, revenue was organically1)  up by 8%, driven by the core 
banking, credit and cards businesses. Adjusted operating margin improved to 13.8% (13.0), 
mainly driven by revenue growth and continuous efficiency improvement. 

In Product Development Services, revenue was organically1)  up by 5%. Growth was driven by 
the Mobile Networks and Automotive industries. Adjusted operating margin was 11.5% (12.7), 
somewhat down due to high attrition, increased subcontracting and salary inflation. New 
customers in the electronics and automotive segments coupled with an extended partnership 
with Ericsson and the R&D centre built in Nanjing, China, are supporting future growth.

1) Adjusted for currency effects, acquisitions and divestments.
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Cash flow and financing
Full-year net cash flow from operations amounted to EUR 367.5 (354.7) million, including an 
increase of EUR 26.9 (decrease of 67.2) million in net working capital.

Payments for restructuring amounted to EUR 21.1 (29.6) million. 

Full-year tax payments were EUR 40.6 (28.9) million. Tax rate was 17.6%, mainly due to tax 
exempt income.

Capital expenditure totalled EUR 80.8 (83.5) million, mainly consisting of investments in data 
centres and the capitalized costs for the development of software. Capitalized costs for industry-
specific software amounted to EUR 42.6 (51.0) million. Capital expenditure represented 2.9% 
(3.0) of revenue.

The equity ratio was 51.6% (45.9). Gearing decreased to 33.5% (54.3). Interest-bearing net 
debt totalled EUR 610.6 (883.3) million, including EUR 763.1 (925.5) million in interest-bearing 
debt, EUR 206.5 (243.1) million in lease liabilities, EUR 5.6 (5.2) million in finance lease 
receivables, EUR 29.5 (27.9) million in other interest-bearing receivables and EUR 323.8 
(252.3) million in cash and cash equivalents. 

Interest-bearing long-term liabilities amounted to EUR 875.6 (1 056.9) million at the end of 
December. The company has two bonds outstanding, EUR 100 million maturing in September 
2024 and EUR 300 million in June 2025. Additionally, interest-bearing long-term liabilities 
primarily consist of a syndicated term loan, a loan from the European Investment Bank and 
lease liabilities of EUR 144.0 million. 

Interest-bearing short-term liabilities amounted to EUR 94.0 (111.7) million, mainly related to 
leasing liabilities. The committed revolving credit facility of EUR 250 million expiring in 
September 2024 was not in use at the end of December.
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Investments and development 
Tietoevry is seeking to achieve a growth rate of 5% by 2023. A significant part of the company’s 
investments will be made in areas such as its own industry-specific software, data & analytics 
and cloud services. 

Tietoevry’s offering development costs amounted to around EUR 127 (2020: 135 and 20191): 
80) million, representing 4.5% (2020: 4.8% and 20191): 4.6%) of the Group's revenue. Of these 
costs, EUR 42.6 (51.0) million were capitalized. 

Capital expenditure totalled EUR 80.8 (83.5) million, mainly consisting of investments in data 
centres and the capitalized costs for the development of software. Capitalized costs for industry-
specific software amounted to EUR 42.6 (51.0) million. Capital expenditure represented 2.9% 
(3.0) of revenue.

 1) Includes only development costs of Tieto

Order backlog

The significance of traditional measures for the order backlog is impacted by the shift from 
traditional large outsourcing agreements towards agile methods and consumption-based 
business models. Additionally, traditional development programmes are cut into smaller 
projects. While this change in customer behaviour affects the order backlog levels, it is not 
expected to have any significant impact on Tietoevry’s market opportunities and business 
outlook. 

Tietoevry's order backlog amounted to EUR 3 513 (3 350) million at the end of December. Of 
the backlog, 50% (49) is expected to be invoiced during 2022. The order backlog includes all 
signed customer orders that have not been recognized as revenue, including estimates of the 
value of consumption-based contracts.
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Major agreements

Tietoevry has signed a number of new agreements during the period with customers across all 
the businesses. However, according to the terms and conditions of these agreements, Tietoevry 
is not able to disclose most of the contracts.

In January, Arva AS chose Tietoevry as its partner to implement Microsoft Dynamics 365 
business solutions as part of its ARVAneXT initiative to become one of the most efficient energy 
companies in Norway. By virtue of its ability to attract leading talents in the market, nomination 
as Microsoft’s Partner of the Year 2020 and industry knowledge, Tietoevry as a leading player in 
the Nordics is in a unique position to help Arva realize its ambitions. This four-year agreement 
has a contract value of NOK 27 million and includes an option to extend the delivery by another 
two years.

In February, Tietoevry and LocalTapiola signed a contract on new co-operation that expands the 
use of cloud services. In addition, Tietoevry provides support to LocalTapiola within end-user 
services and application development. Moving to a public and multi-cloud environment supports 
the implementation of LocalTapiola’s strategy and provides speed and flexibility to the 
company’s business development. The three-year contract, including an option for a two-year 
extension, is worth EUR 45 million.

In February, KEHA Centre – the Development and Administrative Services Centre for the Centre 
for Economic Development, Transport and the Environment – chose Tietoevry as its partner for 
development and expert services for extensive development packages. The aim is to modernize 
and streamline the case management of government agencies, as well as to make the daily life 
of citizens easier with more efficient services and better data utilization. The KEHA Centre 
procurement consisted of two separate tenders. It selected Tietoevry as its main partner in 
permit and monitoring services.

In February, Systembolaget chose Tietoevry as a partner in the roll-out of new hardware for 
around 2 000 point-of-sale equipment in 450 stores. The roll-out started in the second quarter 
and lasted until the fourth quarter of 2021. By replacing hardware, the customer can take full 
advantage of its new applications, including touch screens and better security, and at the same 
time manage the life cycle of its infrastructure. Tietoevry and its subcontractors handled all 
logistics, installations and recycling of the current hardware.

In February, the municipality of Uddevalla signed an agreement with Tietoevry for eCompanion, 
an end-to-end, user-friendly digital solution for municipal HR and payroll. The solution will be 
delivered as a cloud service that includes consulting and system support for all HR and payroll 
processes. The contract is valued at SEK 43 million and covers a period of 16 years, including 
optional year extension.

In March, Lyse decided to extend its agreement with Tietoevry with another three years and an 
option for a further two years. Tietoevry will transform Lyse to the new Hybrid Cloud (HIaaS), 
securing Lyse the best solution from both public cloud and private cloud and ensuring effective 
and smooth operation for end-users. Tietoevry is providing Lyse with the full stack including 
infrastructure, consultancy, security, end user, data management, UX and ERP services. The 
agreement has a value of approximately EUR 18 million.

In March, Valmet Automotive, one of the largest vehicle contract manufacturers in the world, 
extended its agreement with Tietoevry with the objective of modernizing Valmet Automotive’s IT 
infrastructure. The contract period is four years and has an option of one additional year. The 
extension has an estimated value of over EUR 10 million.

In March, IF Insurance and Tietoevry extended their collaboration into the application 
development and maintenance space. Tietoevry was chosen as IF's partner to provide Cobol 
experts to secure the need for competences in business-critical applications in a technology 
area with scarce market availability. The agreement is estimated to be valid for over five years 
and have a value of approximately EUR 5 million.

In March, Ellevio and Tietoevry concluded a software management agreement regarding 
Tietoevry’s energy utilities products. The agreement worth SEK 25 million is a continuation to 
their co-operation – Tietoevry has been working with Ellevio on engineering data regarding 
Ellevio’s customers and invoicing since 2019.

In April, Tietoevry and DNB entered into a strategic agreement which will provide the client with 
innovative, future-oriented solutions and access to high-tech expertise that meets the needs of a 
modern and digital bank. The agreement represents a contract framework with a value of 
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around EUR 200 million over three years and serves to strengthen Tietoevry's position as a 
leading Nordic supplier of banking technology.

In April, the Helsinki and Uusimaa Hospital District (HUS), the main hospital district in Finland, 
chose Tietoevry to develop digital health services and the Digital Health Village project. The 
partnership aims to design better seamless web and mobile healthcare services for Finnish 
citizens. The e-Health services developed in 2020 include pandemic guidance for citizens and 
professionals on testing and vaccination, as well as the development of infection-tracking 
software. Tietoevry is also a strategic partner for HUS in developing data-driven healthcare 
services, supporting preventive care and more comprehensive care overall. The contract is valid 
on an ongoing basis and has a maximum annual value of EUR 10 million. The procurement 
decision comes into effect at the end of the appeal period as set out in the Act on Public 
Procurement.

In May, Tietoevry and Lowell, an international credit management company, decided to extend 
their partnership. Lowell has previously been utilizing Tietoevry’s Collection platform, which is 
now being transitioned to a software-as-a-service solution. With this new agreement, Lowell will 
be able to improve agility, time to market and efficiency by consolidating services and platforms 
across markets. They will also secure access to a scalable competence pool of people that can 
support them to better meet market needs. The agreement initially spans over three years and 
includes services for Lowell Sweden and Norway.

In May, Tietoevry and The Farmers’ Social Insurance Institution Mela signed a six-year contract 
on infrastructure services, including data centre services as well as back-up and cybersecurity 
services. In addition, the agreement covers load balancing, monitoring and data communication 
services. With this agreement, Tietoevry provides Mela with high-quality, cost-efficient and 
reliable services supporting business operations. 

In June, Visma Finance, one of the leading Nordic ERP providers, chose Tietoevry’s platform for 
factoring in Norway to be able to scale up its factoring operations in that market. The modular 
build of Tietoevry's factoring platform will bring a new level of automation to their Norwegian 
operations, improving operational efficiency and the user experience.

Nordea has appointed Tietoevry as the bank’s provider of a complete set of payment card 
production and personalization services in Finland, Sweden and Norway. The agreement 
provides the bank’s customers with quicker access to new card features provided by Tietoevry, 

such as cards made of sustainable material, eco-friendly designs, biometric fingerprint 
payments or metal cards. Tietoevry makes use of its extensive partner network of card 
technology providers for the benefit of its issuer customers. The agreement runs for five years. 
Nordea’s extensive card portfolio has already been successfully migrated to Tietoevry’s 
personalization sites in Finland and Norway in a very short period of time.

In June, Tietoevry’s Card Issuing and Financial Crime Prevention reached an important 
agreement with Bank Norwegian to follow the bank on their journey to Europe by expanding into 
Germany and Spain. Bank Norwegian’s customers in those countries will get access to market 
leading credit cards, also covering fraud prevention. The agreement is an extension of their 
existing partnership, in which Tietoevry is delivering state-of-the-art Software-as-a-Service 
(SaaS) card services to Bank Norwegian in Norway, Sweden, Finland and Denmark.

In June, Region Skåne prolonged its partnership with Tietoevry in end-user services. Tietoevry 
will continue to have the full responsibility for delivering all the services required for a modern 
workplace, including service desk and end-user support. Region Skåne is one of Sweden’s 
largest county councils. The three-year contract is worth EUR 60 million.

In June, Tietoevry entered into a strategic agreement with the Norwegian Oil and Gas 
Association (Norog) for the modernization and further development of License2Share. By 
adopting cloud solutions, modern collaboration technology and seamless integration with other 
digital work tools, the new solution will simplify the day-to-day work processes of more than 5 
000 users across 500 exploration and extraction licences on the Norwegian continental shelf. By 
combining innovation with new technology, the new solution will also help increase knowledge 
sharing and will facilitate faster and better decisions.

In July, Tietoevry concluded a continuation to a contract, initially agreed in 2015, with Valtori, the 
Finnish Government ICT Centre. The new agreement, covering data centre and capacity 
services, has a contract value of EUR 98 million. 

In July, Telia Company and Tietoevry concluded a multi-year agreement. Tietoevry continues to 
serve Telia as a strategic IT partner, supporting the company in its digital transformation and 
cloud-first strategy.

In August, Aibel chose Tietoevry to support its digitalization to further accelerate the 
transformation towards renewable energy solutions. The comprehensive technology agreement 
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with a contract value of around EUR 26 million covers infrastructure and cloud-based services in 
Europe, Singapore and Thailand. Modern and environmentally friendly technology from 
Tietoevry will ensure that Aibel will harness the potential of modern cloud solutions to facilitate 
innovation and provide a high degree of security and scalability.

In August, Ilmarinen, Finland’s largest private earnings-related pension insurance company, and 
Tietoevry agreed on a strategic partnership in the area of insurance processes. The co-
operation commenced in September and it will cover the development of insurance processes 
and related solutions as well as a wider scope of application maintenance services across a 
variety of Ilmarinen’s other processes, and support functions. With this new partnership, 
Tietoevry commits to support Ilmarinen’s business targets and holds the key role in the planning 
and implementing of the client’s digitalization strategy.

In September, OP Financial Group and Tietoevry signed a multi-year agreement on renewal and 
modernization of application development, and maintenance collaboration in digital services. 
The agreement is valid for over five years and has a value of approximately EUR 16 million for 
maintenance services.

In September, Tietoevry announced that it will build an R&D centre in Nanjing, China. Through 
its extended competences and capabilities in China, the company aims to scale up its activities 
in the development of the latest Automotive, Smart Electronics, and Telecommunication 
Software technologies and related services. This establishment followed an extended 
partnership with Ericsson. Related revenue contribution started in November with 330 
employees having joined the company. The two-year agreement represents value of around 
EUR 30 million.

In October, Tietoevry extended its collaboration with MedMera Bank through the deployment of 
advanced AI and Machine Learning solutions. The new technology supports fast, evidence-
based decision-making based on profit scoring, which ultimately reduces customer churn.

In November, the City of Stockholm and Tietoevry concluded a long-term contract on next-
generation IT services. The contract covers the development, administration and operation of IT 
systems. Tietoevry will provide the City of Stockholm with an IT environment covering state-of-
the-art digital services, including automation and AIOps (AI within IT operations), to modernize 
an application and infrastructure landscape meeting high regulatory requirements and 
standards. The agreement initially runs for a period of seven years and includes options for 

extension to a maximum of eight years. The agreement is expected to represent a potential total 
contract value of approximately SEK 4 billion over 15 years.

In November, SEB and Tietoevry prolonged their strategic collaboration within Cards. The 
agreement covers the production and personalization of cards for SEB Group in a cost-efficient 
and sustainable way for the Swedish, Norwegian, Finnish and Danish markets.

In December, Equinor, one of the long-term key customers in Digital Consulting in Norway, 
extended its partnership with Tietoevry even further. Tietoevry will deliver more services in new 
areas. The company’s services strongly contribute to Equinor's business optimization, 
digitalization and ambitions for sustainable growth.

In December, Länsförsäkringar extended its collaboration with Tietoevry within card services. 
Tietoevry will deliver card services, including fraud detection and prevention, to 
Länsförsäkringar's banking and Wasa Kredit operations in Sweden. The contract is valued at 
over EUR 30 million and is an extension until the end of 2026. 

In December, Bankomat and Tietoevry renewed their agreement on IT services for ATMs. This 
includes all Bankomat’s ATMs and cash recyclers in Sweden. The ATM service delivery covers a 
wide range of services such as withdrawal and deposit of cash, cash administration, second-line 
maintenance of the ATMs and recyclers, first-line help desk for Bankomat’s users, network 
services connecting all the ATMs and a cash depot system that was launched in 2021. The co-
operation has been ongoing since 2011, and this extension is valid for three years until the end 
of March 2025 at a value of EUR 29.6 million. 

In December, Systembolaget extended its strategic collaboration for Tietoevry to deliver IT 
operations, including infrastructure, service desk, application operations, CaaS (Client as a 
Service) and mobility services for Systembolaget in Sweden. The co-operation started in 2011 
and the contract has now been prolonged until May 2025 at a value of EUR 28 million. With its 
simplified and reliable service delivery, Tietoevry will continue to support Systembolaget in its 
digital and sustainable transformation.

In December, Region Västernorrland renewed its collaboration with Tietoevry. Following a 
procurement process, Tietoevry was chosen to deliver services for data centres, 
communications and networks. These services cover core infrastructure, service desk, 
application operations and infrastructure consulting. The services help approximately 6 000 
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users in hospitals and health centres in all locations in the region, and are delivered primarily in 
the client's data centre. The contract with a value of approximately EUR 18 million is valid for 
four years and includes an option to extend by two years. 

In December, The Finnish Posti Group and Tietoevry signed a three-year contract covering a 
new SAP S/4HANA implementation on Microsoft Azure. The implementation will accelerate the 
client’s digital transformation and bring scalability and flexibility to Posti’s core business areas. 

In December, Hospital District of Helsinki (HUS) and Tietoevry agreed on continued support for 
HUS Health Village, a digital service platform for specialized health care that offers information 
and support to citizens, care for patients and tools for healthcare professionals. The platform 
has been produced in collaboration with experts and patients, making health care services 
available to everyone, regardless of where they live.

In December, Tietoevry announced that it will help the city of Gothenburg drive for greener and 
fossil-free operations in an eight-year partnership. Göteborgs Stads Leasing (GSL) is driving 
change with the goal of transitioning the city's vehicles into a fully fossil-free fleet by 2023. With 
the migration to Tietoevry’s leasing and asset finance SaaS platform, GSL is provided with a 
modern scalable solution enabling highly automated processes and end-to-end support from 
Tietoevry. The full-service contract is valid for eight years.

In December, Tietoevry announced that the company was chosen by the Swedish Maritime 
Administration to implement and develop the client’s ERP systems. Tietoevry’s private cloud 
solutions and expert teams will respond to the Swedish Maritime Administration's strict 
requirements for security and accessibility in all parts of its operations. The agreement with an 
estimated contract value of SEK 100 million initially covers six years and has an option to 
extend up to twelve additional years.

In December, the Norwegian Digitalization Agency (Digdir) chose Tietoevry as a partner for its 
transition to a cloud-based architecture. Tietoevry will deliver the scalability and flexibility Digdir 
requires for a future cloud-based operating platform, which will also be ready for operation in the 
public cloud. Digdir's joint solutions are part of the numerous business and public sector digital 
services that are critical for society. Digdir's ambition is to move the platform to the public 
Microsoft Azure within three years from the delivery date.
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Changes in Group structure

On 15 February 2021, Tietoevry announced that it had reached an agreement with Aucerna, a 
Quorum Software affiliate, to sell its Oil & Gas software business. The conditions required to 
complete the divestment were fulfilled and the transaction was closed on 7 June. Revenue of 
the businesses to be divested amounted to around EUR 50 million in 2020 and the number of 
employees to around 430.

On 13 October 2021, Tietoevry announced that it had signed an agreement to sell its software 
businesses Alystra, Jydacom and TRYGG/2000 to EG, a Nordic software company. Revenue of 
the businesses to be divested amounted to around EUR 13 million in 2020. The divestment was 
closed on 1 December. 

Branches

The Group has branches in France, Latvia, Norway, Ukraine and Sweden.
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Personnel

The number of full-time employees amounted to 24 389 (23 632) at the end of December. The 
number of full-time employees in the global delivery centres totalled 12 197 (11 225), or 50.0% 
(47.5) of all personnel.

The 12-month rolling employee turnover stood at 14.6% (9.7) at the end of December. Group-
level salary inflation is expected to be around 3% on average in 2022. Salary inflation is partly 
offset by price increases in some service areas, offshoring and management of the competence 
pyramid.   

Group personnel and remuneration

2021 2020 2019
Number of full-time employees, 31 December  24 389  23 632  24 322 
Average number of full-time employees  23 824  23 788  15 950 
12-month rolling employee turnover, %  14.3  9.7  12.6 
Employee benefit expenses, EUR million  1 527  1 486  990 

Following the year of integration, 2021 has been a year of building on the foundations of future 
success – and the common culture. In this year marked by the pandemic, the company 
continued to focus on the well-being of employees. Tietoevry has successfully adopted new 
hybrid ways of working – a combination of working remotely and from the office, and launched 
Hybrid Working Guidelines during the year. 

Tietoevry’s Human Resources (HR) function is facilitating and enabling the development of our 
workforce. It also ensures that the company’s practices and employee experience improve 
along with market change. The function is led by our Chief HR Officer, while the HR leads are 
responsible for country-specific and business-specific HR operations. 

The company supports freedom of association and collective bargaining as defined in the 
International Labour Organization’s Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work 
and stated in Tietoevry’s Code of Conduct. In addition, the company supports and respects the 
principles set out in the United Nations’ Universal Declaration of Human Rights. 

European Works Councils (EWC) are bodies representing European employees. Tietoevry’s 
management works constructively with the employee organizations through both the EWC and 
local works councils and unions to consult on any significant decision at a European level.

Tietoevry invests in the competence development of its employees. Curiosity and lifelong 
learning are crucial aspects of the company’s culture and success. During 2021, Tietoevry 
launched a new development and performance management framework, MyGrowth, to drive 
personal and professional growth by focusing on dynamic goal setting and continuous feedback. 

Employee engagement activities are followed up through OurVoice, an employee engagement 
survey where employees give feedback in key areas. The result of the Tietoevry Engagement 
Index was 78/100, up from 76 in 2020. Following the strategy update during the year, 
understanding of the direction as a company was one of the categories that improved during the 
year. 

Diversity and inclusion is a key area in Tietoevry’s long-term sustainability plan. The Code of 
Conduct and the Diversity and Inclusion Charter outline the principles for diversity and inclusion 
at Tietoevry. Each manager is responsible for ensuring diverse teams, which includes a 
balanced gender composition that reflects the markets Tietoevry operates in, as well as for 
engaging their team members to promote inclusive behaviour. 

Talent acquisition is based on a global talent pool and, additionally, the company aims to ensure 
a good blend of age groups. Tietoevry’s aspirational goal is to have 40% female employees by 
2026 and an equal gender split by 2030. The company successfully increased the percentage of 
female applicants in the Nordics. The share of female employees of the workforce was 29% and 
the share of females hired was up by 4 %-points. The Group Executive Management is provided 
with quarterly updates on development within prioritized areas and specific targets set as part of 
the inclusion and diversity charter.  

Tietoevry contributes to transparency in gender equality by participating in the SHE Index, a 
voluntary measurement of how companies perform on gender balance, gender equality policies, 
and diversity and inclusion. Since 2020, Tietoevry has been included in the index for Norway. 
During 2021, Sweden and Finland have also been included.
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Personnel by 
country

Country %

Norway 18% 18 %

Sweden 18% 18 %

India 19% 19 %

Finland 13% 13 %

Czech 
Republic 10%

10 %

Ukraine 9% 9 %

Latvia 4% 4 %

Poland 3% 3 %

China 3% 3 %

Other 4% 4 %

Norway 18% Ukraine 9%

Sweden 18% Latvia 4%

India 19% Poland 3%

Finland 13% China 3%

Czech Republic 10% Other 4%
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Non-financial information

This section describes Tietoevry’s sustainability activities as required in Chapter 3a of the 
Finnish Accounting Act on non-financial information (NFI). The linkages between NFI areas and 
Tietoevry's sustainability focus areas are identified in the chart describing policies and 
processes. More information is available in the Sustainability Report, assured by an external 
partner. 

Description of Tietoevry's business model 

Tietoevry is one of the largest digital services and software companies in the Nordics. The 
company’s value-adding services comprise new data-driven and cloud-native services, 
business-critical software solutions, managed services, product development services and 
related capabilities to support customers’ business renewal, innovation and efficient operations. 
Tietoevry’s role varies from consulting and advisory, designing and building solutions to running 
IT operations. Our ambition is to co-create new solutions and innovate new data-driven 
business models with our customers and partners. Value creation and competitiveness are 
based on solutions combining best-of-breed technologies with integration capabilities, 
industrialized service delivery and strong global delivery capability. 

To capture the momentum of the cloud-native and software market, Tietoevry has established 
six specialized end-to-end businesses, effective from 1 January 2022. These businesses have 
full operational responsibility, including go-to-market, service portfolio, investments and 
partnerships. Built on the solid foundation of the current service lines, these businesses are: 
Tietoevry Create, Tietoevry Transform, Tietoevry Connect, Tietoevry Banking, Tietoevry Care 
and Tietoevry Industry. 

Description of management of NFI topics 

Tietoevry’s sustainability work is facilitated by the company’s Sustainability Team and supported 
by the Sustainability Steering Group, chaired by the Vice President, Communication and 
Sustainability. The Sustainability Steering Group advises the Group Executive Management and 
Board of Directors and approves the sustainability section of the integrated annual report. The 
Sustainability Steering Group represents different functions and units of Tietoevry, and many of 

its members are part of the Group Executive Management. Tietoevry’s management and the 
Board of Directors formally reviewed sustainability matters on two occasions during 2021. The 
topics included a review of the sustainability strategy 2023, review of NFI information, including 
sustainability-related risks and the company’s societal engagements in 2021, among other 
things. Operational and business-oriented sustainability topics are delegated to Tietoevry’s 
Sustainability Steering Group, which meets on a bimonthly basis. 

In 2020, Tietoevry launched its sustainability strategy 2023. A materiality analysis was used to 
identify and prioritize the most important topics; this analysis forms the basis of our sustainability 
strategy and sustainability reporting in accordance with GRI Standards, option Core.

The sustainability strategy is twofold: part of it focuses on the continuous development of the 
company’s responsible operations and the other part on the business impact opportunities we 
have with our customers. Responsible operations consist of three key themes – climate action, 
ethical conduct and exciting place to work. Each responsible area has publicly stated goals, and 
their action plans, implementation and reporting are run by nominated responsible area owners 
and data partners. The goals and results for responsible operations in 2021 are presented in the 
table in this section. The business impact opportunities include a range of solutions and 
services that can improve our customers’ sustainability performance and create a positive 
impact for society. These business opportunities are driven by our cross-service line network 
consisting of sustainability and technology consultants.

During 2021, the work towards the goals defined in the sustainability strategy continued 
according to our plan. The pandemic has had no material adverse impact on the company’s 
ability to pursue its sustainable development. The work has continued in the flexible hybrid 
working mode adopted during the year. 

The sustainability strategy 2023 is managed according to Tietoevry’s sustainability management 
process, which follows the United Nations Global Compact Management Model and GRI 
Standards. Linkages to United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, which are considered a 
strategic tool enabling corporations to contribute to a more sustainable society, are established 
by applying principled prioritization. The management of the responsible areas – including 
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policies, processes, due diligence and escalation channels – is illustrated in the chart in this 
section. 

Tietoevry’s ethical guidelines are summarized in the Code of Conduct Policy, which applies to all 
Tietoevry employees, and a separate Supplier Code of Conduct Rule applied to any third party 
contributing to the company’s services, products and other business activities. Both documents 
are based on the United Nations Global Compact, OECD Guidelines for Multinational 
Enterprises, ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, the International 
Bill of Human Rights, UN Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, the UN 
Convention against Corruption, UK Bribery Act, and US Foreign Corrupt Practices. The policies 
cover all responsible areas, which are also linked to other, topic-specific policies and more 
detailed rules. The policies cover the relevant legal, certification and other best practice 
requirements and are reviewed annually. 

Tietoevry has a group-wide whistleblowing channel which is also available on the company’s 
external website. Whistleblowing notifications concerning matters such as possible Code of 
Conduct violations are investigated by the Group Compliance Officer confidentially through a 
predefined process. Cases of a severe or sensitive character can also be referred to the 
Escalation Committee, which consists of the Group Compliance Officer, Head of Corporate 
Governance and Compliance, Head of Legal, Head of Internal Audit and Head of HR. If a 
whistleblower notification relates to managers who are members of Group Executive 
Management, including the CEO, the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of 
Directors shall be informed. If a whistleblower notification involves managers who directly report 
to Group Executive Management, the CEO shall be informed.

In the case of serious or specifically sensitive whistleblowing cases, the Group Compliance 
Officer shall prepare a report for submission to the Audit and Risk Committee. For each such 
case, the Escalation Committee shall consider whether the CEO or Board of Directors should 
also be informed. Bi-annual reports shall be prepared for the Audit and Risk Committee covering 
aggregated information about notifications received through the whistleblowing channel, cases 
under investigation, cases closed, and rectifying measures taken. In addition, responsible areas 
have separate channels for incident reporting and continuous improvement.

Main risks of negative impacts in the operating environment

The aim of Tietoevry’s internal control framework is to assure that operations are effective and 
well aligned with the strategic goals. This also includes identifying the potential negative impacts 
the company might have on its operating environment and escalating its mitigation measures if 
necessary. The internal control framework is intended to ensure correct, reliable, complete and 
timely financial reporting and management information. The framework endorses ethical values, 
good corporate governance and risk management practices. Risk management and major risks 
are described in detail in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

Tietoevry uses systematic risk management to develop the efficiency and control of business 
operations as well as their continuity and profitability.
 
The risk management framework consists of the risk management organization, related policies, 
processes, tools and common ways of working. The risk management organization develops 
and maintains the company’s risk management framework, including risk reporting, risk 
management governance and follow-up of risk exposures consisting of strategic, financial, 
operational and compliance risks.

The risk management organization consists of the Corporate Risk Management unit and 
nominated Risk Managers in the business units. A group-wide Risk Manager Forum has been 
established for information sharing, setting direction for risk management, collaboration between 
units and reviewing steering documents. In addition, the forum co-ordinates Group-wide risk 
management activities and ensures company-wide deployment of the risk management 
framework.

Tietoevry defines its sustainability risks as the negative impact on people and the planet that 
might be caused by our activities within our organization or the value chain. Sustainability risks 
include a reputational factor, which in addition to negative publicity could lead to a decrease in 
scores in sustainability indices and deviations from audits conducted by independent parties. 
Severe breaches in these areas could also lead to loss of customers’ trust and the imposition of 
penalties. 

Failing to comply with regulations, such as GDPR, may subject the company to regulatory 
interventions or penalties, or sanctions from customers.
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Fraudulent, unethical, or even illegal actions by individuals in areas such as corruption or 
conflict of interest can occur if the company controls are not adequate or anticorruption 
awareness and team culture are not at a sufficiently high level. Such situations can have 
negative consequences ranging from disqualification from public tenders to sanctions. 
Compliance training, improvements of controls, audits and follow-up are used to mitigate these 
risks. 

Stress-related health issues as well as discrimination and harassment are human and labour 
rights-related risks. Working proactively to mitigate these risks is essential, and we have a 
systematic approach to this, including our whistleblowing channel and regular employee surveys 
to monitor employee satisfaction and engagement. From an operational perspective, deliveries 
could be compromised if key resources go on long sick leaves. Employee health, safety and 
well-being have been addressed especially due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. All 
employees were invited to co-create the future ways of working for the company through virtual 
ideation. The global and local hybrid working guidelines provide clarity on matters such as the 
support available for good working conditions.

Both health issues and discrimination and harassment can lead to environments where 
employees are unable to reach their full potential. Tietoevry believes that diversity in personnel, 
whether in terms of gender, age or cultural background, is needed to stay competitive in the 
fast-paced technology industry. Diversity and inclusion are therefore an integral part of the 
company’s culture as well as human resources activities. 

Tietoevry’s supplier base consists of direct and indirect suppliers. We are aware that our supply 
chain might include risks related to the environment, human and labour rights or even 
corruption. Our ambition is to ensure a fair and green supply chain in which we neither cause 
nor contribute to negative impacts on people and the planet. Severe breaches against 
international conventions in the supply chain could lead to customers deciding to terminate 
contracts or sanctions from authorities. Tietoevry mitigates these risks through its supplier 
sustainability programme and onboarding practices, consisting of both compliance and audit 
activities. As there have been limited possibilities to carry out on-premises audits of our 
suppliers during the pandemic, we have provided training focusing on the key elements of our 
Supplier Code with selected suppliers. 

Environmental risks are identified and handled within Tietoevry’s Environmental Management 
System and include, for example, risks related to our offices, equipment, waste handling and 
business travel. The environmental aspects and associated impacts are assessed two times a 
year. Environmental risk analysis describes how significant environmental aspects are identified, 
evaluated, and summarized in an environmental matrix – that is, the environmental aspect 
register. Environmental aspects can create both risks and opportunities impacting Tietoevry’s 
overall performance. Proper handling of these issues is a prerequisite for the ISO certificate 
(ISO14001) and our attractiveness as a supplier, partner and employer.

We strive to mitigate our contribution to climate change by means such as reducing our own 
carbon emissions, increasing energy efficiency and helping our customers to reduce their 
carbon emissions through our technology solutions. During the year, we have aligned our 
emission reduction ambitions with Science Based Targets and are waiting for formal validation 
by the Science Based Targets initiative. 

Physical climate change impacts such as changes in precipitation, snow and ice, sea level rise, 
hurricanes, and cyclones as well as access to natural resources may have an impact on 
Tietoevry or on strategic partners in our supply chain. Geotechnical assessments are part of the 
preliminary work prior to any new construction of offices and datacentres. Back-up centres 
ensure continuity of customer operations even when climate change has severe consequences. 
During 2021, Tietoevry initiated a process to review sustainability-related risks and their 
management with the aim of ensuring that the processes and procedures are up-to-date. 
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Policies and processes on NFI matters
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Ethical conduct Climate action Exciting place to work

1. Business ethics and anti-corruption 5. Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 7. Diversity and inclusion

2. Human rights 6. Circular economy practices 8. Employee experience

3. Cyber security and privacy

4. Responsible sourcing
P

ol
ic

ie
s

POLICIES, RULES AND GUIDELINES

Code of Conduct (1,2), Internal audit policy (2,3), 
Anti-corruption rule (2), Whistleblowing rule (1,2,3,7,8), Competition compliance rule (2), Procurement policy (4), 

Supplier Code of Conduct (1, 2, 4, 5), Environmental Rule (4, 5, 6), Information classification rule (3), 
Data transfer rule (3), Security Policy (3), Security Rule (3), User Security Rule (3),

Privacy Policy (3), AI ethics guideline (1,3), Occupational Health and Safety Policy (1, 8), 
HR Policy (1, 7, 8), Insider Rule (2), Public Authority Request Rule (1,3)

D
ue

 d
ill

ig
en

ce
 p

ro
ce

ss
es

Internal and external audits (1, 2), Governance, risk and compliance management (2,3), Sourcing to pay (4),
Supplier self assessment (4), Environmental management process (EMS) ISO14001 (4, 5, 6), ISO27001 (3), ISO31000 (3),

ISAE3402 audits in Data Centers (3), ISAE 3000 Assurance over non-financial information (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8), 
Information and cyber security audits and assessments (3), CDP Climate Change program (4, 5, 6),

HR processes (1, 7, 8), Employee engagement survey (8)

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT PROCESS, SUSTAINABILITY MATERIALITY 
ASSESSMENT FOR SUSTAINABILITY GAME PLAN 2023

WHISTLEBLOWING CHANNEL
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Goals and results for each sustainability area

Responsible area Goal Result 2020 Result 2021 UN Sustainable 
Development Goal

ETHICAL CONDUCT

Human rights 2021: Conduct a formal Human Rights Impact Assessment for a 
business entity

Assessment to be 
conducted in 2021

Corporate-wide 
Human Rights 
Impact Assessment 
initiated during 
FY21

Cybersecurity and 
privacy

2023: Zero substantiated complaints concerning breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer data1) Zero Zero

Business ethics and 
anti-corruption

2023: 90% completion of ethics training (CoC e-learning)1) 91% 93%

2023: 100% confirmation of receipt of a whistleblowing notification 
within four business days of receipt 100% 100%

Responsible sourcing 2023: 100% of new or renewed suppliers agreeing to Tietoevry’s 
Supplier Code of Conduct2) 100% 99%

1) Measured on an annual basis
2) Scope: Agreements made through Procurement function. Note that scope also includes supplier’s versions of Code of Conducts agreed by our Head of Sustainability.
3) Baseline FY20.
4) Scope: result based on reuse of returned devices (mainly laptops). Data accuracy: data is based on our main hardware supplier’s reports. This supplier provides close to 75% of our devices.
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Responsible area Goal Result 2020 Result 2021 UN Sustainable 
Development Goal

CLIMATE ACTION

Energy usage and 
GHG emissions

2023: 80% reduction of scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 20233)

Baseline is FY20 
and reductions 
against baseline will 
be available from 
2021

44% reduction

2023: 100% carbon free electricity in all data centers and offices 80% 92%

Circular economy 
practices 2023: 100% reuse and recycling of hardware4) Baseline set during 

FY21
Internal: 70%
Customer: 86%

EXCITING PLACE TO 
WORK

Diversity and inclusion 2026: 40% female employees by 2026, 2030: 50% female 
employees by 2030

29% female 
employees

29% female 
employees

Employee experience 2023: Employee engagement score >75

76/100 78/100

1) Measured on an annual basis
2) Scope: Agreements made through Procurement function. Note that scope also includes supplier’s versions of Code of Conducts agreed by our Head of Sustainability.
3) Baseline FY20.
4) Scope: result based on reuse of returned devices (mainly laptops). Data accuracy: data is based on our main hardware supplier’s reports. This supplier provides close to 75% of our devices.
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EU Taxonomy reporting 

Mobilizing sustainable investments towards a low-carbon and resilient 
economy
The European Union has set a clear target of becoming the world’s first climate-neutral 
continent by 2050. The digital transition as well as smarter and greener use of technologies are 
described as key enablers for achieving this.  

To support investment into sustainable projects, the EU has launched a classification system for 
sustainable business activities, the EU Taxonomy. By establishing a common language between 
investors, issuers, project promoters and policy makers, the taxonomy aims to help navigate the 
transition towards a low-carbon, resource-efficient and resilient economy. 

In June 2021, the European Commission formally adopted the Climate Delegated Act, 
containing the two first environmental objectives: climate change mitigation and climate change 
adaptation. The remaining four objectives are expected to follow in 2022. 

Companies that fall under the EU’s Non-Financial Reporting Directive must report how well their 
operations match the current scope of the EU Taxonomy – that is, whether they are taxonomy 
eligible – already for the financial year 2021. Taxonomy eligibility means that the activity is 
described in the taxonomy and that a certain activity might make a substantial contribution to at 
least one of the six environmental objectives of the taxonomy. 

For the reporting of the financial year 2022, for an activity to be classified as environmentally 
sustainable, it must be taxonomy aligned, that is, comply with technical screening criteria for 
that specific activity. According to technical screening criteria, an activity should substantially 
contribute to at least one environmental objective, avoid causing significant harm to any of the 
other five objectives and comply with minimum safeguards. 

For 2021, Tietoevry is obliged to disclose the proportion of taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy 
non-eligible activities in Group-level revenue, capital and operating expenditure, as well as 
provide qualitative information relevant for these disclosures. 

Tietoevry’s offerings fully in the scope of the taxonomy – 20% of revenue 
eligible  
Tietoevry has implemented the requirements of the EU Taxonomy Regulation in its reporting for 
2021. As a first step, an assessment was done to conclude whether Tietoevry’s operations were 
in the scope of the current taxonomy. The assessment concluded that all the company’s 
operations were in the scope, primarily under sector 8 Information and communication. A 
majority of the company’s offerings fall under economic activities 8.1 Data processing and 
hosting and related activities (climate change mitigation) and 8.2 Computer programming, 
consultancy and related activities (climate change adaptation). 

The European Commission’s notice draft on the interpretation, published on 2 February 2022 
has not been taken into consideration. 

Taxonomy-eligible KPIs in 2021 for the first two environmental objectives 

Total (EUR million)

Proportion of 
taxonomy-eligible 

economic activities 
(%)

Proportion of 
taxonomy non-

eligible economic 
activities (%)

Revenue 2 823.4 20.2 79.8 
Capital expenditure 128.1 98.7 1.3 
Operating expenditure 90.0 99.8 0.2 
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR EU TAXONOMY REPORTING
The required key performance indicators have been determined based on the company’s 
financial reporting prepared in accordance with IFRS. Further details about the Group’s 
accounting policies are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Revenue

At Group level, revenue comprises reportable segments’ revenue. Segment reporting is 
prepared according to IFRS accounting principles. To assess the proportion of eligible 
revenue, an identification process for eligible revenues was established. A Group-wide 
decision was taken to assess Tietoevry’s revenue on an aggregated lead offering level, 
which is a key dimension in the company’s internal operative accounting. This decision 
was made to ensure tracking of revenue streams in a consistent way throughout the 
organization. However, this also meant that some solutions and services below the lead 
offering level, if analysed individually, might have eligible revenues that are now not 
identified in this taxonomy reporting. Revenue for such solutions and services represents a 
smaller proportion and is therefore not deemed to be material this year. Approaching the 
reporting through the assessment of each lead offering also meant that there was no risk 
of double counting when producing the simplified reporting required for 2021.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure is defined as additions to tangible and intangible assets during the 
financial year considered before depreciation, amortization and any remeasurements 
(including those resulting from revaluations and impairments) and excluding fair value 
changes. It also includes additions to right-of-use assets from lease contracts.

Capital expenditure in this taxonomy reporting section includes additions to right-of-use 
assets, reported in Note 20 in the Financial Statements, while this is excluded from capital 
expenditure presented in the Group’s key figures in this Report by the Board of Directors. 
The share of capital expenditure related to support functions has not been assessed due 
to its low materiality and is fully excluded from this calculation. Identification of eligible 
capital expenditure was made based on Group-level reporting and thus there was no risk 
of double counting when producing the simplified reporting required for 2021.

Operating expenditure

Operating expenditure is defined as expenditure related to research and development, 
building renovation measures, short-term lease, maintenance and repair, and any other 
direct expenditures relating to the servicing of assets of property, plant and equipment by 
Tietoevry or a third party to which activities are outsourced as necessary to ensure the 
continued and effective functioning of such assets. Only direct costs are included.

Operating expenditure consists of the following items

• expensed offering and internal development for eligible activities. In the financial
reporting, related costs are included in employee benefit expenses

• costs for maintenance and short-term lease. In the financial reporting, related costs
are included in other operating expenses.

The share of operating expenditure related to support functions has not been assessed 
due to its low materiality and is fully excluded from this calculation. Identification of eligible 
operating expenditure was made based on Group-level reporting and thus there was no 
risk of double counting when producing the simplified reporting required for 2021.
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Taxonomy-eligible revenue
Tietoevry has great potential to facilitate customers’ transition to a low-carbon and circular 
economy. However, while the company’s products and services have positive effects on 
environmental sustainability, climate change mitigation or adaptation is not the predominant aim 
of many offerings, or at the core of services and solutions in the manner expected in the 
taxonomy regulation for eligible activities. Therefore, only a smaller portion of Tietoevry’s 
revenue is considered eligible. Most of the eligible revenue comes from infrastructure services, 
considered under activity 8.1 Data processing and hosting and related activities. Some 
taxonomy-eligible revenue for the environmental objective of climate change mitigation is also 
generated by selected software-based solutions.

For activities in the scope of the environmental objective of climate change adaptation, only the 
expenditures related to making the activity climate resilient are included in the KPIs, not the 
revenue. At Tietoevry, as the objective of increasing customers' resilience to physical climate 
risks is not at the core of offerings, no revenue is currently eligible for economic activities 
contributing to climate change adaptation. 

Tietoevry’s revenue in 2021 amounted to EUR 2 823 million, of which the proportion of 
taxonomy-eligible revenue was 20.2%.

Taxonomy-eligible capital expenditure
For the financial year 2021, Tietoevry has considered all capital expenditure related to offerings 
in the taxonomy scope (i.e. eligible activities) as eligible. Capital expenditure amounted to EUR 
128.1 million, comprising EUR 80.8 million in additions to tangible and intangible assets (see 
Notes 11 and 12 to the Financial Statements) and EUR 47.3 million in additions to right-of-use 
assets (see Note 20 to the Financial Statements). The proportion of taxonomy-eligible capital 
expenditure was 98.7%. The share mainly consists of capitalized investments related to eligible 
activities, including data centres and the development of software, which are IPR of Tietoevry. 
Furthermore, expenditure for right-of-use assets in eligible activities is included and mainly 
relates to the company’s premises, vehicles and data centre equipment. 

Taxonomy-eligible operating expenditure
For the financial year 2021, Tietoevry has considered all operating expenditure related to 
offerings in the taxonomy scope (i.e. eligible activities) as eligible. Operating expenditure 
amounted to EUR 90.0 million, comprising expensed offerings and internal development as well 
as short-term lease and maintenance costs. The share of taxonomy-eligible operating 
expenditure was 99.8%. 

Going forward	
Going forward, Tietoevry seeks to analyse its offerings on a more granular level. Also, 
preparations for the second delegated act for the remaining four environmental objectives, 
which are to be published by the EU during 2022, have been initiated. To be able to comply with 
the reporting requirements in 2022, the fulfilment of technical screening criteria regarding 
substantial contribution, followed by criteria for doing no significant harm and minimum social 
safeguards need to be further assessed. Alignment assessment has already been initiated and 
actions taken to ensure fulfilment. Tietoevry will furthermore assess the possibility to increase its 
share of eligible and aligned revenue in the future. 

Mitigation and the ability to adapt to climate change are growing in importance and impacting 
customers’ decision making. To support this development, Tietoevry aims to improve the 
quantification of the environmental impacts of its services and solutions.
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EU taxonomy eligible revenue

Revenue %

Eligible 20.2% 20,2

Non-eligible 
79.8%

79,8

Eligible 20.2% Non-eligible 79.8%

EU taxonomy eligible capital expenditure

Revenue %

Eligible 98.7% 98,7

Non-eligible 
1.3%

1,3

Eligible 98.7% Non-eligible 1.3%

EU taxonomy eligible operating expenditure

Revenue %

Eligible 99.8% 99,8

Non-eligible 
0.2%

0,2

Eligible 99.8% Non-eligible 0.2%
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Shareholders’ meetings

TietoEVRY Corporation's Annual General Meeting held on 25 March approved the financial 
statements 2020 and discharged the company's officers from liability for the financial year 2020. 
The meeting also approved the Remuneration Report. The Annual General Meeting decided on 
a total dividend of EUR 1.32 per share, paid in two instalments. 

The Board's prior members Tomas Franzén, Salim Nathoo, Harri-Pekka Kaukonen, Timo 
Ahopelto, Rohan Haldea, Liselotte Hägertz Engstam, Katharina Mosheim, Niko Pakalén, Endre 
Rangnes and Leif Teksum were reelected to the Board, and Angela Mazza Teufer was elected 
as a new member. Tomas Franzén was elected as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

Shareholders’ Nomination Board

The composition of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board for TietoEVRY Corporation was 
determined based on holdings on 31 August 2021 in the Finnish, Norwegian and Swedish 
shareholders’ registers and received evidence thereof. The shareholders who wished to 
participate in the work of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board nominated the following 
members:

• Petter Söderström, Investment Director, Solidium Oy
• Gustav Moss, Vice President, Cevian Capital AB
• Alexander Kopp, Investment Manager, Incentive AS
• Mikko Mursula, Deputy CEO, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company and
• Tomas Franzén, Chairperson of the Board of Directors, TietoEVRY Corporation.
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The Board of Directors 

31 December 20211) 
Name Born Nationality Education Main occupation

Tomas Franzén (Board and RC Chairperson) 1962 Swedish MSc. (Eng.) Professional Board member

Timo Ahopelto (Deputy Chairperson)2) 1975 Finnish MSc. (Tech.) Entrepreneur, investor and professional Board member

Harri-Pekka Kaukonen (ARC Chairperson) 1963 Finnish DSc. (Tech.) Professional Board member

Liselotte Hägertz Engstam 1960 Swedish MSc. (Civ. Eng.) Expert advisor, professional Board member

Angela Mazza Teufer3) 1973 Italian and Swiss Master of Business Adm. Managing Director, Ambulatory Information Systems DACH

Katharina Mosheim 1976 Austrian Ph.D. (Econ.) CEO, Alpha Pianos AS

Niko Pakalén 1986 Finnish and Swedish MSc. (Econ.) Partner, Cevian Capital AB

Endre Rangnes 1959 Norwegian BBA (Econ.) CEO, Zolva Group, professional Board member

Leif Teksum 1952 Norwegian MSc. (Econ.) Partner, Vest Corporate Advisor AS, professional Board member

Tommy Sander Aldrin (personnel representative) 1965 Norwegian BSc. (Comp.) Chief Consultant

Ola Hugo Jordhøy (personnel representative) 1956 Norwegian MSc. (Eng.), PGCE Chief Consultant

Anders Palklint (personnel representative) 1967 Swedish MSc. (Eng.) Senior Project Manager

Ilpo Waljus (personnel representative) 1974 Finnish BBA Test Manager

1) During 2021, Salim Nathoo (until 19 July) and Rohan Haldea (until 7 September) also served as Board members.
2) Deputy Chairperson as of 25 March 2021. Salim Nathoo was the Deputy Chairperson until 24 March 2021.
3) Board member as of 25 March 2021.
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The President and CEO and operative management  

Members of the Leadership Team as at 31 December 20211)

Kimmo Alkio 
President and CEO    
Born: 1963    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: BBA and Executive MBA    
Joined Tietoevry in 2011 

Malin Fors-Skjæveland     
Integration Officer 
Born: 1970    
Nationality: Swedish    
Education: MSc. (Tech.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2018    

Kishore Ghadiyaram   
Head of Strategy   
Born: 1972   
Nationality: Indian   
Education: BSc. (Tech.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2008  

Tomi Hyryläinen   
Chief Financial Officer   
Born: 1970   
Nationality: Finnish   
Education: MSc. (Econ.)
Joined Tietoevry in 2018

Ari Järvelä    
Head of Operations    
Born: 1969    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Eng.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2001 

Satu Kiiskinen    
Managing Partner, Finland    
Born: 1965    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Econ.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2013 
 
Thomas Nordås   
Head of Digital Consulting   
Born: 1971   
Nationality: Norwegian   
Education: MSc. (Math.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2019   

Christian Pedersen   
Managing Partner, Norway   
Born: 1974   
Nationality: Norwegian   
Education: MSc. (Tech.)   
Joined Tietoevry in 2014
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Harri Salomaa    
Head of Product Development Services    
Born: 1961    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: BSc. (Eng.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2020   

Christian Segersven    
Head of Industry Software   
Born: 1975    
Nationality: Finnish    
Education: MSc. (Tech.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2013

Johan Torstensson   
Head of Cloud & Infra   
Born: 1969   
Nationality: Swedish   
Education: MBA in Finance and Management   
Joined Tietoevry in 2019   

Trond Vinje    
Head of HR    
Born: 1968    
Nationality: Norwegian    
Education: MSc. (Pol. Sci.)    
Joined Tietoevry in 2015 

The remuneration and more detailed background information, such as full CVs of the Group 
Leadership, are presented on the company’s website.

1) Karin Schreil acted as Managing Partner, Sweden until 30 November 2021.
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Auditors  

The ARC prepares a proposal on the appointment of Tietoevry’s auditors, which is then 
presented to the Board of Directors and finally to the AGM for its decision. The compensation 
paid to the auditors is decided by the AGM and assessed annually by the ARC. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM, in accordance with the recommendation of the 
ARC, that the auditor to be elected at the AGM 2022 be reimbursed according to the auditor's 
invoice and in compliance with the purchase principles approved by the Committee. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the AGM, in accordance with the recommendation of the 
ARC, that the firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy be re-elected as the company's 
auditor for the financial year 2022. The firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy has 
notified that APA Jukka Vattulainen will act as the auditor with principal responsibility. 

Auditing  

The AGM 2021 elected the firm of authorized public accountants Deloitte Oy as the company’s 
auditor for the financial year 2021. Deloitte Oy notified the company that Authorized Public 
Accountant Jukka Vattulainen acts as principal auditor. 

In 2021, Tietoevry Group paid the auditors a total of EUR 1.3 (1.3) million in audit fees, and a 
total of EUR 0.5 (0.7) million for other services.
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Major risks

Tietoevry has five risk categories: strategic, operational, financial, people, and compliance risks.

Strategic risks are related to market volatility, IT market transformation to new technologies 
(including the rapid digitalization and automatization of society), change management, reskilling 
ability and speed, ability to respond to competition and new entrants in the market, 
dependencies on few big customers in some business areas and ensuring delivery quality in the 
dynamic business environment.

Operational risks refer e.g. to changing the business model in business units, risk and continuity 
management, customer bidding and requirement analysis, and maintaining a high professional 
standard in delivery management and quality assurance.

Financial risks mainly consist of credit risks, currency risks, interest rate risks, and funding and 
liquidity risks.

Compliance risks are connected to the organization failing to recognize or meet the 
requirements in the areas of legislation or other mandatory regulation (e.g. General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), Schrems II, anti-corruption, anti-bribery, insider matters, 
sanctions and trade compliance), internal policies and rules or ethics and integrity.

People risks can be driven by Tietoevry's needs to build a market leading workforce for high 
performance in terms of delivering projects and customer services; people risks are also related 
to quality of life, human rights, and the safety of people. 

Risks are aggregated by utilizing the corporate GRC platform, resulting in risk maps and Risk 
KPIs that are reviewed by leadership teams in the units and the ARC. Tietoevry’s major risks 
and the measures for their mitigation are described below.

Market volatility

Changes in the Nordic core markets have a direct effect on market conditions and result in 
volatility that might have a negative impact on Nordic market growth. Changes in the economic 
environment and customer demand can affect both business volumes and price levels, which 
might result in lower revenue or slower revenue growth than expected.

These potential risks are mitigated through multi-year contracts for continuous services. 
Tietoevry also aims to maintain long-term business relations and to be a preferred supplier to its 
customers. The company executes tight cost and investment control with continuous investment 
performance monitoring, accompanied with a clear structure for decision rights, which are 
defined in the Decision Making Authority (DMA) Policy.

Global service capabilities, cross-selling and tough price competition are the main drivers in the 
IT sector for the development of the global delivery model. Tietoevry’s position as a leading IT 
service provider in the Nordics is supported by existing and enhanced competencies, and by the 
choice of right partners.

Change and transformation

Tietoevry announced its new strategy to drive customer value and growth through 
specialization. The technology industry is being reshaped with cloud as the foundation, 
providing expansion opportunities for the company. Expansion will focus on cloud-native 
services, data & software engineering and scalable software businesses. In managed 
application and infrastructure services, the company will seek partnerships to invest and build 
scale.

In large-scale adaptation to the market by organizational transformation and right-sizing, 
resistance to change can prolong the transition, which may affect operational efficiency.

36

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 137

FINANCIALS



Change management is steered by the company-wide Program Management Office, which 
provides standard tools and systems for the change, including communication, target setting 
and training for the New Strategy implementation. 

The Group Project Excellence unit sets common standards for project management to ensure 
proper project risk management and compliance in project financials management and follow-
up.

Sudden changes in the market environment, customer demand and customer strategies or the 
competitive landscape in these areas might harm Tietoevry’s operations and profitability.
To diversify the business, Tietoevry provides services to several different industries and 
markets. The company develops its business mix to provide new industry software solutions, 
digital consulting, new hybrid cloud solutions and broader R&D capabilities to strengthen its 
position amongst both current and new customers. An industrialized and standardized way of 
providing services and solutions, employing automated processes, improves competitiveness 
and reduces risk.

Service continuity 

Close to 100% availability of the services is the basis of trust among customers, stakeholders 
and society. 

A service continuity disruption can be caused, for instance, by hardware or software failures, 
power outages, natural disasters and different types of intentional or unintentional actions by 
people.

Risks related to malfunctions of systems could seriously affect Tietoevry’s ability to provide its 
services and have an adverse impact on the company’s financials and reputation.Thus, 
business continuity planning is a high priority in Tietoevry’s operational management in order to 
ensure that redundancy and fault tolerance are at the appropriate level.

To reduce the service continuity risk and to better understand the interdependencies in solutions 
and data centers, Tietoevry constantly reviews, maintains and improves its IT asset 
management, configuration management and monitoring systems. In addition to a balanced 
global portfolio, Tietoevry has recovery procedures and backup systems in place to handle 

potential service interruptions. Root cause analysis, best practices and experiences from 
previous incidents help in preparing for and mitigating the service continuity risk.

Also, a comprehensive and robust Major Incident & Escalation process and crisis management 
process reduce service interruptions.

Cybersecurity

Tietoevry’s business operations involve processing and storing large amounts of confidential 
data of public and private sector customers, business partners and own data, including sensitive 
personal data. 

The threat landscape is constantly growing and evolving – e.g. criminal hackers, hacktivists, 
human errors or misconduct, and state-sponsored organizations – and may cause malfunctions 
or cybersecurity breaches of information against Tietoevry, its customers, subcontractors or 
other third parties.

At least the following threats are risk factors that could lead to loss, misuse, destruction of data 

or system malfunction, compromising Tietoevry’s ability to support, manage or develop services: 
• Enterprise ransomware
• Supply chain attacks
• Critical vulnerabilities
• Targeted attacks
• Digital fraud
• Denial of service attacks
• Data breaches and data leaks
• Insider threats

Such events could have an adverse impact on the company’s financials and reputation.  

To detect and investigate cybersecurity incidents, Tietoevry has implemented a comprehensive 
and robust Major Incident & Escalation process, a crisis management process as well as 
efficient cybersecurity defence with high-class detection and response capabilities to reduce 
service interruptions. 
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We regularly review our risk management and cybersecurity framework, train our employees to 
increase their awareness of cyber threats and continuously measure our cybersecurity maturity. 

Quality costs related to customer bidding and delivery management

Inability to appropriately understand and analyse customers’ changing needs, their business 
processes and the exact requirements can lead to misjudgements in setting the scope of 
projects or services and, consequently, difficulties in meeting the specifications of customer 
agreements.

Tietoevry is committed to actively verifying that business processes from sales to delivery are 
designed, implemented and embedded to deliver customer value and actively mitigate end-to-
end risk exposure along full contract life cycles. Internal and external quality assessments and 
audits are used to verify the effectiveness and efficiency of ways of working as well as to control 
the quality of outcomes through measurable and actionable KPIs (Key Performance Indicators)  
and key controls. At the same time, customer feedback management is an integral part of how 
we drive performance and safeguard quality assurance at both the operational and strategic 
level. As part of this, we actively ask customers for feedback to understand how well we perform 
individual deliveries. In addition, we engage with customers to understand how well we support 
them in meeting their changing business objectives through our portfolio of deliveries. Insights 
and actions resulting from customer feedback are prioritized and followed up regularly at all 
levels of the organization and integrated into change management efforts. 

Retention and attrition of employees

The competition in the market and demand for new services require ability and speed to reskill, 
attract new and retain existing competences and business knowledge for new services, new 
service models and offerings. Tietoevry’s success builds on attracting talent, skills renewal, 
business knowledge and the maturity of the organization. 

Inability to retain key employees and to recruit new talent with the required competence might 
have a negative impact on the company’s performance. High employee turnover might also 
cause delays in customer projects, leading to penalties or loss of customers.

To reduce these risks, Tietoevry implements unified delivery models across sites and offers its 
employees challenging jobs, diverse development possibilities, social recognition and training 
opportunities as well as interesting career paths through job rotation. Furthermore, the company 
has competitive compensation packages, including a company-wide incentive system. Attractive 
recruitment tools, strategies, talent management and competence development have a high 
strategic priority at Tietoevry. The company also focuses on employer branding to build and 
strengthen Tietoevry’s image as an attractive employer both internally and externally.

Credit risks

Changes in the general market environment and global economy can result in additional 
financial risks. Credit risks might arise if customers or financial counterparties become unable to 
fulfil their commitments towards Tietoevry.

Tietoevry's Credit Policy defines the principles for customer credit risk management to be 
applied in all lines of business and controlled by a centralized credit management team. The 
risk assessment utilizes external risk databases and past experience as a reference. Credit risk 
regarding financial counterparties is managed through counterparty limits, as set out in the 
Tietoevry Treasury Policy.

Currency risks

Tietoevry’s currency transaction exposure arises from foreign trade, cash management and 
internal funding in foreign currencies. Translating the balance sheets and income statements of 
Group companies into euros creates a translation exposure.

Tietoevry’s Treasury Policy defines the principles for managing currency risks within the Group.
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Interest rate risks

Tietoevry's interest rate risk consists mainly of short- and long-term loans, cash positions and 
derivative contracts. Fluctuations in interest rates can impact Tietoevry's financial result or 
economic situation.

Tietoevry's Treasury Policy defines the principles for managing interest rate risks within the 
Group.

Funding and liquidity risks

Exceptional market conditions in the financial market might impose temporary limitations on 
raising new funding and/or lead to an increase in funding costs.

Group Treasury monitors and manages Tietoevry’s funding structure and liquidity by maintaining 
a sufficiently diversified loan portfolio and liquidity position. Analyses of alternative financing 
sources, maturities and pricing for the company are continuously updated. Tietoevry’s financial 
risks are described in full in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal, regulatory and compliance risks

Tietoevry operates in multiple jurisdictions and is required to comply with a wide range of laws 
and regulations enacted both at the European and national level, e.g. data protection and 
privacy laws, public procurement, anti-corruption, anti-bribery, regulations restricting competitive 
trading conditions, health and safety regulations, environmental regulations, labour regulations, 
competition regulations as well as securities markets, corporate and tax laws. Failing to comply 
with the regulations may subject the company to regulatory interventions or penalties, or a 
slowing or even halting of the development of its activities. 

Tietoevry functions as a data processor for customers and as a data controller for its internal 
personal data. Failing to comply with the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 
its related judgement on data transfers, Schrems II might result in negative reputation, 
significant fines or other expenses if a solution or service needs to be redesigned or 
redeveloped.

The risk is mitigated by company-wide privacy work. Tietoevry has a privacy governance model, 
which ensures that a privacy organization and resources, continuous follow up and reporting, 
proactive privacy development and active employee communication and training are in place. 
Privacy governance also ensures that the GDPR requirements are appropriately embedded as 
practical rules and instructions into corporate core business processes such as offering and 
software development, sales and marketing, program and project delivery, continuous service 
delivery and Tietoevry’s internal service. 

Supply chain risk

Tietoevry's ability to perform its obligations to customers can be affected by a failure by any 
significant supplier or partner to fulfil its obligations. Such failure may expose Tietoevry to 
liabilities and impact the profitability of the company. The company has, for example, 
outsourced certain infrastructure operations, and a potential failure in deliveries by a supplier 
could cause disturbances to customers. These risks are managed by partner contract 
management, contract renewal negotiations and continuous evaluation of the partner delivery 
quality.

Global pandemic: Covid-19

The Covid-19 pandemic still creates uncertainty in the market and for the company. During the 
year, Tietoevry continued to identify, evaluate, and manage risks that could have significant 
financial, operating, or reputational impact on the company both on a short- and long-term 
basis. Enterprise risk management, crisis management and business continuity have been vital 
in handling the effect of the pandemic on our employees, portfolio and customers. Tietoevry 
follows country-specific government and healthcare guidelines for personal health and the 
prevention of the spread of Covid-19. 

Geopolitical instability 

Geopolitical instability might result in disruption in areas where Tietoevry operates. This 
instability might impact the company's operations, despite careful scenario planning and 
mitigation plans to ensure business continuity.
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Climate change

Physical climate change impacts may pose a risk for both Tietoevry and its customers. Tietoevry 
strives to mitigate its contribution to climate change by reducing carbon emissions and 
increasing energy efficiency in its own operations. Geotechnical assessments are part of the 
prospecting prior to any new construction of offices or datacenters, and back-up centers ensure 
continuity of customer operations also in case of severe climate change implications. The ability 
to mitigate the impacts and adapt to the climate change is becoming increasingly important 
factor impacting customers’ decision making. Tietoevry can help its customers to reduce their 
carbon emissions through its technology solutions and facilitate customers’ transition to a low-
carbon and circular economy.
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Shares and shareholders

Tietoevry’s issued and registered share capital amounts to EUR 76 555 412.00 and on 
31 December , the number of shares totalled 118 425 771. Tietoevry’s shares have no par value 
and their book counter value is one euro. The company's shares are listed on NASDAQ in 
Helsinki and Stockholm and Oslo Børs. The company has one class of shares, with each share 
conferring equal dividend rights and one vote. 

The company had around 60 480 registered shareholders at the end of 2021 based on the 
ownership records of the Finnish, Swedish and Norwegian central securities depositories. 
Tietoevry received the following flagging announcements during the year:

• According to the announcements on 11 March, 28 July and 8 September, the 
combined holding of Lyngen Holdco S.à r.l. and Apax Global Alpha Limited has fallen 
below the 5% threshold.

• On 17 September, the holding of Incentive Investment Funds ICAV exceeded the 5% 
threshold and amounted to 6 041 221 shares, corresponding to a holding of 5.10% in 
Tietoevry shares. According to its announcement on 6 July, Incentive AS' holding of  6 
082 829 shares (5.14% of shares and votes) were held by several funds, including 
sub-funds of Incentive Investment Funds ICAV.

On 31 December, TietoEVRY had one shareholder holding 10% or more of the shares: Solidium 
Oy.

In February, Tietoevry purchased 140 000 own shares (0.12% of the total number of shares) in 
trading organized by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The average purchase price was EUR 27.0787 per 
share. Related to the company’s share-based reward plans, a total of 143 391 shares held by 
Tietoevry (0.12% of the total number of shares) were transferred to the participants of the plan 
during the second quarter. At the end of the year, the number of shares in the company’s or its 
subsidiaries’ possession totalled 7 587, representing 0.01% of the total number of shares and 
voting rights. The number of outstanding shares, excluding the treasury shares, was 
118 418 184. 

The members of the Board of Directors, the President and CEO and their close associates 
together held 0.08% of the shares and votes registered in the book-entry system on 31 
December 2021. The President and CEO is also participating in the company’s long-term share-

based incentive plans and potential rewards will be paid partly in Tietoevry shares. As the 
number of additional shares related to these incentives is dependent on the company’s 
performance, these are not included in this aggregate number. 

The company’s Articles of Association include a restriction on voting at the Annual General 
Meeting, where no-one is allowed to vote with more than one-fifth of the votes represented at 
the meeting. The Articles of Association are available at www.tietoevry.com/investors. 

Share-based incentive plans 

Tietoevry has the following active share-based incentive plans: a Performance Share Plan 
2019, 2020 and 2021 and a Restricted Share Plan 2019, 2020 and 2021. Additionally, EVRY’s 
share-based incentive plans have been transitioned into Restricted Share Plans (RSP) at 
Tietoevry. The plans continue and have been transformed in a value neutral way into restricted 
stock units in the combined company. 

The potential rewards will be paid partly in the company’s shares and partly in cash in 2022, 
2023 and 2024, respectively. The share rewards to be delivered to the participants will consist of 
shares to be acquired from the market and treasury shares. Thus, no new shares will be issued 
in connection with the plans. The rewards to be paid on the basis of the plans correspond to the 
value of an approximate maximum total of 2 474 432 Tietoevry shares (including the proportion 
to be paid in cash). On 31 December, the value of granted and unvested share plans 
corresponded to 2 010 564. The company has not issued any bonds with warrants and does not 
have any stock option programmes. 
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Board authorizations 

The 2021 Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the 
repurchase of the company's own shares. The amount of own shares to be repurchased shall 
not exceed 11 800 000 shares, which currently corresponds to approximately 10% of all the 
shares in the company. The authorization is intended to be used to develop the company’s
capital structure. The Board of Directors was also authorized to decide on the issuance of 
shares as well as on the issuance of option rights and other special rights. The amount of 
shares to be issued based on the authorization (including shares to be issued based on the 
special rights) shall not exceed 11 800 000 shares, which currently corresponds to 
approximately 10% of all the shares in the company.
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Ownership structure on 31 Dec 2021

Owners %

Non-Finnish holders 9.5% 9,5

Households 11.9% 11,9

General Government 16.3% 16,3

Financial and insurance 
corporations 54.3%

54,3

Non-profit institutions 4.6% 4,6

Non-financial corporations  
and housing corporations 3.4%

3,4

Non-Finnish holders 9.5% Financial and insurance 
corporations 54.3%

Households 11.9% Non-profit institutions 4.6%

General Government 16.3% Non-financial corporations  
and housing corporations 3.4%

Based on the ownership records of Euroclear Finland Oy Tietoevry NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Turnover per month Source: Refinitiv
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Share price development and turnover, Helsinki

Month Turnover per 
month Tietoevry

NASDAQ 
OMX 
Helsinki

3,07 25,66 25,66

3,70 26,30 26,42

3,20 25,53 26,86

2,82 28,81 27,7

3,16 29,06 28,33

4,69 27,07 28,04

4,13 26,80 27,73

1,96 26,57 27,8

2,14 25,79 28,29

3,16 26,31 28,37

1,93 26,29 27,74

1,93 25,98 27,76

2,86 28,00 28,48

2,49 29,16 29,07

2,93 27,08 28,11

2,52 29,74 29,33

2,23 29,80 29,65

2,21 27,76 29,3

3,37 26,64 29,58

1,82 27,96 30,19

1,73 26,64 29,93

3,17 28,46 27,26

1,98 25,48 26,42

2,02 23,58 25,53

1,54 25,02 27,61

2,31 26,00 28,16

2,72 27,20 27,69

2,58 25,32 27,84

1,72 25,20 26,4

2,62 26,06 27,4

2,94 23,08 27,06

2,56 22,38 26,51

2,48 23,50 27,8

3,39 25,50 27,89

3,26 26,08 27,81

3,31 27,72 28,94

8,57 29,00 29,58

8,42 25,64 27,69

9,30 19,78 23,04

7,14 22,24 25,37

6,12 23,68 27,12

6,12 24,28 27

4,80 24,90 27,74

3,20 25,20 29,48

3,52 23,60 29,31

7,88 21,40 28,06

6,93 26,58 31,41

5,16 26,86 31,87

5,67 27,14 32,53

7,67 25,64 32,81

8,37 26,42 33,52

6,08 28,80 34,94

6,82 26,44 35,45

5,48 26,64 36,36

7,57 28,36 38,28

4,11 30,16 38,65

8,91 26,00 36,54

7,4 26,50 36,85

4,9 25,74 35,95

5,79 27,48 37,7
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Number of shares
Number of shares  118 425 771  118 425 771  118 425 771  74 109 252  74 109 252 
Outstanding shares

At year end  118 418 184  118 414 793  118 253 526  73 826 349  73 723 125 
Average  118 408 223  118 378 269  77 193 387  73 809 855  73 722 565 

Share capital at year end, EUR  76 555 412  76 555 412  76 555 412  76 555 412  76 555 412 

Per share data
Earnings per share, EUR

Basic  2.46  0.80  1.02  1.67  1.46 
Diluted  2.46  0.80  1.02  1.66  1.46 

Equity per share, EUR  15.38  13.73  14.27  6.54  6.46 

Share price performance and 
trading volumes
NASDAQ Helsinki

Highest price of share, EUR  30.46  31.32  29.06  30.74  29.98 
Lowest price of share, EUR  25.42  17.26  21.40  22.86  24.39 
Average price of share, EUR  27.26  24.42  25.37  27.56  26.85 
Turnover, number of shares  78 772 407  77 150 210  31 439 512 29 333 439 35 895 771
Turnover, %  66.5  65.1  26.5  39.6  48.4 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Market capitalization,
EUR million  3 254.3  3 180.9  3 282.8 1 747.5 1 925.4

Dividends
Dividend, EUR 1 000  165 785  156 308  75 190  103 465  103 212 
Dividend per share, EUR  1.40  1.32  0.64  1.45  1.40 
Payout ratio, %  56.8  165.3  62.3  86.8  95.9 

Price-weighted ratios
NASDAQ Helsinki

Price per earnings ratio (P/E) 11  34  27  14  18 
Dividend yield, % 5.1  4.9 4.6 6.1 5.4
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Major shareholders on 31 December 2021 
Shares %

1    Solidium Oy 12 857 918  10.9 
2    Cevian Capital Partners Ltd 1) 9 381 731  7.9 
3    Incentive Investment Funds ICAV 2) 6 041 221  5.1 
4    Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 3 091 095  2.6 
5    Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 368 953  1.2 
6  Swedbank Robur fonder 1 350 000  1.1 
7    Svenska litteratursällskapet i Finland r.f. 979 845  0.8 
8    The State Pension fund 858 000  0.7 
9  Nordea funds 840 861  0.7 
10  Åbo Akademi University Foundation 597 536  0.5 
Top 10 shareholders total 37 367 160  31.6 
- of which nominee registered 15 422 952  13.0 

Nominee registered other 54 897 014  46.4 
Others 26 161 597  22.1 
Total  118 425 771  100.0 

Based on the ownership records of Euroclear Finland Oy, Euroclear Sweden AB and Norwegian 
Central Securities Depository (VPS).

1) Based on the ownership records of Euroclear Finland Oy, Cevian Capital Partners Ltd's holding on 30 August 2021
was 9 381 731 shares, representing 7.9% of shares and voting rights.
2) On 21 September, Incentive AS announced that the holding of Incentive Investment Funds ICAV in TietoEVRY
Corporation was 6 041 221 shares, representing 5.1% of the shares.

Number of shares
Shareholders Shares

No % No %
1–100 24 805 53.0 1 134 315 1.0
101–500 15 393 32.9 3 816 511 3.2
501–1 000 3 419 7.3 2 596 152 2.2
1 001–5 000 2 698 5.8 5 638 933 4.8
5 001–10 000 254 0.5 1 770 152 1.5
10 001–50 000 187 0.4 3 923 060 3.3
50 001–100 000 38 0.1 2 802 421 2.4
100 001–500 000 24 0.1 5 962 239 5.0
500 001– 13 0.0 90 771 428 76.6

Based on the ownership records of Euroclear Finland Oy.
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Dividend

The distributable funds of the parent company amount to EUR 1 627.8 million, of which net 
profit for 2021 amounts to EUR 1.1 million. The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual 
General Meeting that for the financial year ended on December 31, 2021, a dividend of EUR 
1.40 per share be paid from the distributable profits of the company. The Board of Directors 
proposes that the dividend shall be paid in two instalments:

• The first dividend instalment of EUR 0.70 per share shall be paid to shareholders who
on the record date for the dividend payment on 28 March 2022 are recorded in the
shareholders’ register held by Euroclear Finland Oy or the registers of Euroclear
Sweden AB or Verdipapirsentralen ASA (VPS).

• The second dividend instalment of EUR 0.70 per share shall be paid to shareholders
who on the record date for the dividend payment on 26 September 2022 are recorded
in the shareholders’ registers.

The proposed dividend payout does not endanger the solvency of the company.
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Events after the period

New structure and appointment in Executive Management took 
effect on 1 January 2022

Tietoevry has established six specialized end-to-end businesses. These six businesses form the 
reportable segments as from the first quarter of 2022. The new structure and the following 
appointments in Executive Management took effect on 1 January 2022:

• Tietoevry Create – led by Christian Pedersen
• Tietoevry Care – led by Ari Järvelä
• Tietoevry Banking  – led by Christian Segersven
• Tietoevry Industry – led by Ari Järvelä
• Tietoevry Transform – led by Satu Kiiskinen
• Tietoevry Connect – led by Johan Torstensson

The business executives together with 
• Tomi Hyryläinen, CFO
• Kishore Ghadiyaram, Head of Strategy
• Trond Vinje, Head of Human Resources
• Malin Fors-Skjæveland, Head of Operations

form Tietoevry’s Executive Management under the leadership of Kimmo Alkio, the President and 
CEO.

Performance acceleration to drive cloud growth and further profit 
improvement in Cloud & Infra 

The technology industry is being reshaped with cloud as the foundation. Multi-cloud and the 
cloud transformation are the main growth drivers and automation is key for efficiency and 
customers’ cloud adoption. At the same time, the market for traditional infrastructure services is 
declining.

Tietoevry has initiated performance acceleration in Cloud & Infra to drive cloud growth and 
achieve further profit improvement. The company announced a cost savings programme in 
February 2022, expected to impact up to 600 roles. The targeted annual savings of around EUR 
50 million mainly relate to personnel and external purchases. The programme is anticipated to 
contribute to the growth and profitability ambitions for Cloud & Infra. 
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Full-year outlook for 2022

Tietoevry expects its organic1) growth to be 2% to 4% (revenue in 2021: EUR 2 823.4 million). 
The company estimates its full-year adjusted operating margin2) (adjusted EBITA)  to be 13.1–
13.6% (13.0% in 2021).

1) Adjusted for currency effects, acquisitions and divestments.
2) Adjustment items include restructuring costs, capital gains/losses, impairment charges and other items affecting
comparability.

Financial reporting in 2022

24 March  Annual General Meeting

Tietoevry will publish three interim reports in 2022:

5 May  Interim report 1/2022 (8.00 am EET)
22 July  Interim report 2/2022 (8.00 am EET)
27 October   Interim report 3/2022 (8.00 am EET)
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Key figures

Calculation of key figures and alternative performance measures

Tietoevry presents certain financial measures, which, in accordance with the “Alternative 
Performance Measures” guidance issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority, are 
not accounting measures defined or specified in IFRS and are, therefore, considered alternative 
performance measures. Tietoevry believes that alternative performance measures provide 
meaningful supplemental information to the financial measures presented in the consolidated 
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and increase the understanding of the 
profitability of Tietoevry’s operations. In addition, they are seen as useful indicators of
the Group's financial position and ability to obtain funding. Alternative performance measures 
are not accounting measures defined or specified in IFRS and, therefore, they are considered 
non-IFRS measures, which should not be viewed in isolation or as a substitute to the IFRS 
financial measures.

Adjusted earnings per 
share =

Net profit for the period excluding adjustment items, 
amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and 
related tax impact per country
Weighted average number of shares

Adjustment items = Restructuring costs + capital gains/losses + impairment 
charges + other items affecting comparability

Operating profit (EBIT) = Net profit + interests + taxes

Operating margin (EBIT), % = Operating profit (EBIT)
Revenue

Operating profit (EBITA) = Net profit + interests + taxes + amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets

Operating profit (EBITA), % = Operating profit (EBITA)
Revenue

Adjusted operating profit 
(EBITA) = Operating profit (EBITA) + adjustment items

Adjusted operating margin 
(EBITA), % = Adjusted operating profit (EBITA)

Revenue

Equity per share =
Total equity
Number of shares at the year-end

Capital expenditure = Acquisitions of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Acquisitions = Acquisitions of subsidiaries and business operations, net of cash
acquired

Return on equity, 12-month 
rolling, % =

Profit before taxes and non-controlling interests – income 
taxes * 100
Total equity (12-month average)

Return on capital 
employed, 12-month rolling, 
%

=
Profit before taxes + interest and other financial expenses * 100

Total assets – non-interest-bearing liabilities (12-month 
average)

Equity ratio, % =
Total equity * 100
Total assets – advance payments

Interest-bearing net debt =
Interest-bearing liabilities – interest-bearing receivables –
cash and cash equivalents

Gearing, % =
Interest-bearing net debt * 100
Total equity

48

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 149

FINANCIALS



Operating profit (EBITA) by segment
2021 2020 Change

EUR million 1–12 1–12 %
Digital Consulting 92.8 80.8  15 
Cloud & Infra 38.7 44.9  -14
Industry Software 229.8 45.4 > 100
Financial Services Solutions 64.9 30.7 > 100
Product Development Services 17.3 17.7  -2 
Other -14.1 -27.2  48 
Group total 429.3 192.2 > 100

Operating margin (EBITA) by segment
2021 2020 Change

% 1–12 1–12 %
Digital Consulting  13.9  12.2  2 
Cloud & Infra  4.5  4.8  0 
Industry Software  44.0  9.1  35 
Financial Services Solutions  13.8  7.3  6 
Product Development Services  11.3  12.4  -1 
Operating margin (EBITA)  15.2  6.9  8 

Adjusted operating profit (EBITA) by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 93.1 92.8  0 
Cloud & Infra 61.1 93.5  -35
Industry Software 125.5 91.5  37 
Financial Services Solutions 65.1 54.4  20 
Product Development Services 17.6 18.0  -2 
Other 5.4 4.8  13 
Group total 367.8 355.0  4 

Adjusted operating margin (EBITA) by segment
% 2021 2020 Change pp
Digital Consulting  13.9  14.0  0 
Cloud & Infra  7.2  10.0  -3 
Industry Software  24.0  18.3  6 
Financial Services Solutions  13.8  13.0  1 
Product Development Services  11.5  12.7  -1 
Adjusted operating margin (EBIT)  13.0  12.7  0 

Reconciliation of operating profit (EBITA)
2021 2020

EUR million 1–12 1–12
Operating profit (EBIT) 382.0 146.7 

+ amortization on intangible assets recognized
at fair value from acquisitions 47.3 45.5 

Operating profit (EBITA) 429.3 192.2 

Reconciliation of adjusted operating profit (EBITA)
EUR million 2021 2020
Operating profit (EBITA) 429.3 192.2 
+ restructuring costs 7.1 1.2 
- capital gains -104.0 -1.0
 +/- M&A related items 1.0 — 
+ IBM partner agreement 6.3 35.6 
+ Tietoevry integration 25.8 84.5 
+ SmartUtilities -3.1 40.5 
 +/- other items 5.4 2.0 
Adjusted operating profit (EBITA) 367.8 355.0 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IFRS)

Income Statement

EUR million Note 2021 2020
Revenue 5, 6 2 823.4 2 786.4 
Other operating income 7 125.1 11.6 
Materials and services -610.3 -688.7
Employee benefit expenses 8 -1 527.0 -1 485.6
Depreciation and amortization 11, 12, 20 -170.1 -175.8
Impairment losses 11, 12, 20 -5.3 -29.7
Other operating expenses 7 -255.2 -272.9
Share of results in joint ventures 28 1.5 1.5 
Operating profit (EBIT) 382.0 146.7 

Interest and other financial income 21 1.9 2.2 
Interest and other financial expenses 21 -25.3 -27.4
Net foreign exchange gains/losses 21 -4.8 0.8 
Profit before taxes 353.8 122.4 

Income taxes 9 -62.2 -27.9
Net profit for the financial year 291.6 94.5 

Net profit for the financial year attributable to
Owners of the Parent company 291.6 94.5 
Non-controlling interest 0.0 0.0 

291.6 94.5 
Earnings per share attributable to owners of the 
Parent company, EUR per share 10
Basic 2.46 0.80 
Diluted 2.46 0.80 

Statement of other comprehensive income

EUR million Note 2021 2020
Net profit for the financial year 291.6 94.5 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss

Translation differences 60.2 -82.8

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

Remeasurements of the defined benefit plans 15 -1.9 0.3 
Income tax related to remeasurements 9 0.4 -0.1

Total comprehensive income 350.3 11.9 

Total comprehensive income attributable to
Owners of the Parent company 350.3 11.9 
Non-controlling interest 0.0 0.0 

350.3 11.9 

Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of financial position

Assets
EUR million Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11, 28 1 943.7 1 974.4 
Other intangible assets 11 387.9 384.9 
Property, plant and equipment 12 87.4 96.9 
Right-of-use assets 20 192.4 231.7 
Interests in joint ventures 28 16.7 19.7 
Deferred tax assets 9 19.1 35.6 
Defined benefit plan assets 15 0.7 0.0 
Finance lease receivables 20, 22 2.7 2.9 
Other financial assets at amortized cost 22 15.7 12.8 
Other financial assets at fair value 22 0.6 0.6 
Other non-current receivables 14 35.4 21.8 
Total non-current assets 2 702.3 2 781.3 
Current assets
Inventories 13 7.2 4.9 
Trade and other receivables 14 517.0 516.9 
Financial assets at fair value 22 23.3 35.9 
Finance lease receivables 20 2.9 2.3 
Current tax assets 10.8 11.3 
Cash and cash equivalents 24 323.8 252.3 
Total current assets 884.9 823.5 

Total assets 3 587.2 3 604.8 

Equity and liabilities
EUR million Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Equity
Share capital 25 76.6 76.6 
Share premium and other reserves 25 41.5 42.1 
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 25 1 203.5 1 203.5 
Retained earnings 25 499.6 304.1 
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 
company 1 821.1 1 626.2 
Non-controlling interest — 0.0 
Total equity 1 821.1 1 626.2 
Non-current liabilities
Loans 19, 22 731.6 885.9 
Lease liabilities 19, 20, 22 144.0 171.0 
Deferred tax liabilities 9 9.1 19.8 
Provisions 16 2.8 3.2 
Defined benefit obligations 15 38.7 38.3 
Other non-current liabilities 17 34.7 34.2 
Total non-current liabilities 960.8 1 152.5 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 672.3 660.4 
Financial liabilities at fair value 22 0.8 2.9 
Current tax liabilities 18.5 5.5 
Loans 19, 22 31.5 39.6 
Lease liabilities 19, 20, 22 62.5 72.1 
Provisions 16 19.6 45.6 
Total current liabilities 805.3 826.1 

Total equity and liabilities 3 587.2 3 604.8 

Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
 

EUR million Note 2021 2020
Cash flow from operating activities
Net profit for the financial year  291.6  94.5 
Adjustments

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 11, 12, 20  175.5  205.5 

Profit/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment, 
subsidiaries and business operations  -104.1  -1.2 
Share of results in joint ventures 28  -1.5  -1.5 
Other adjustments  0.2  8.6 
Net financial expenses 21  28.1  24.4 
Income taxes 9  62.2  27.9 

Change in net working capital
Change in current receivables  -8.2  89.6 
Change in current non-interest-bearing liabilities  -18.7  -22.4 

Cash generated from operating activities before 
interests and taxes  425.2  425.3 
Interests received  1.8  2.2 
Interests paid  -23.2  -21.4 
Other financial income received  24.0  55.5 
Other financial expenses paid  -21.9  -82.3 
Dividends received 28  2.1  4.3 
Income taxes paid  -40.6  -28.9 
Cash flow from operating activities  367.5  354.7 

Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

EUR million Note 2021 2020
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries and business operations, 
net of cash acquired 26  —  -0.6 
Capital expenditure 11, 12  -80.8  -83.5 

Disposal of subsidiaries and business operations, 
net of cash disposed 26  179.5  16.3 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  0.8  2.7 
Change in loan receivables  0.3  -0.2 
Cash flow from investing activities  99.8  -65.3 

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid  -156.3  -75.3 
Repurchase of own shares  -3.8  -0.9 
Repayments of lease liabilities 19, 20  -73.1  -70.6 
Bridge loan related to merger 19  —  -300.0 
Other short-term financing, net 19  -19.7  -42.6 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 19  —  297.4 
Repayments of long-term borrowings 19  -145.8  — 
Cash flow from financing activities  -398.8  -191.9 

Change in cash and cash equivalents  68.5  97.5 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 24  252.3  164.6 
Foreign exchange differences  3.0  -9.9 
Change in cash and cash equivalents  68.5  97.5 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period  323.8  252.3 
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Statement of changes in shareholders' equity

Owners of the Parent company

EUR million Note
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

and other 
reserves

Own 
shares

Translation 
differences

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity
31 Dec 2020  76.6  42.1  -0.3  -133.8  1 203.5  438.2  1 626.2  0.0  1 626.2 

Comprehensive income
Net profit for the period  —  —  —  —  —  291.6  291.6  0.0  291.6 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Remeasurements of the defined benefit plans, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  -1.6  -1.6  —  -1.6 
Translation differences  —  -0.6  —  67.8  —  -7.0  60.2  —  60.2 
Total comprehensive income  —  -0.6  —  67.8  —  283.0  350.3  0.0  350.3 

Transactions with owners
Contributions and distributions
Share-based incentive plans  8  —  —  3.9  —  —  1.1  5.0  —  5.0 
Dividends  —  —  —  —  —  -156.3  -156.3  0.0  -156.3 
Repurchase of own shares  —  —  -3.8  —  —  —  -3.8  —  -3.8 
Changes in ownership interests
Acquisition of non-controlling interest without change in 
control  —  —  —  —  —  -0.3  -0.3  0.0  -0.3 
Total transactions with owners  —  —  0.1  —  —  -155.4  -155.3  0.0  -155.4 

31 Dec 2021  76.6  41.5  -0.2  -66.0  1 203.5  565.8  1 821.1  —  1 821.1 
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Owners of the Parent company

EUR million Note
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

and other 
reserves

Own 
shares

Translation 
differences

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity
31 Dec 2019  76.6  40.9  -2.9  -50.2  1 203.5  419.3  1 687.1  0.0  1 687.2 

Comprehensive income
Net profit for the financial year  —  —  —  —  —  94.5  94.5  0.0  94.5 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Remeasurements of the defined benefit plans, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  0.2  0.2  —  0.2 
Translation differences  —  1.2  —  -83.6  —  -0.3  -82.8  —  -82.8 
Total comprehensive income  —  1.2  —  -83.6  —  94.4  11.9  0.0  11.9 

Transactions with owners
Contributions and distributions
Share-based incentive plans  8  —  —  3.5  —  —  -0.2  3.3  —  3.3 
Dividends  —  —  —  —  —  -75.3  -75.3  —  -75.3 
Repurchase of own shares  —  —  -0.9  —  —  —  -0.9  —  -0.9 
Total transactions with owners  —  —  2.6  —  —  -75.5  -72.9  —  -72.9 

31 Dec 2020  76.6  42.1  -0.3  -133.8  1 203.5  438.2  1 626.2  0.0  1 626.2 

Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IFRS)

1.    Corporate information
TietoEVRY Corporation (business identity code 0101138-5) is a Finnish public limited liability 
company organized under the laws of Finland. It is domiciled in Espoo and the address of the 
Group head office is Keilalahdentie 2-4, 02101 Espoo, Finland. The company is listed on 
NASDAQ in Helsinki and Stockholm and the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

Tietoevry is a leading Nordic digital services company serving clients across Sweden, Norway 
and Finland and offering software, IT solutions and consulting services, as well as operations of 
IT systems. In addition, the Group offers outsourcing services and services related to data 
communication and data security.

The Board of Directors approved these consolidated financial statements on 16 February 2022. 
According to the Limited Liability Companies Act, the shareholders have the right at the Annual 
General Meeting to either approve, amend or reject the consolidated financial statements after 
the publication.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The accounting policies applied to the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
described below. A more detailed description of accounting policies and significant 
estimates related to specific disclosures are presented in conjunction with each note in the aim 
of providing understanding of each accounting area. 

2.    Principal accounting policies
These consolidated financial statements of Tietoevry have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations as adopted by the 
European Union. The financial statements also comply with Finnish accounting principles and 
corporate legislation complementing the IFRSs. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in millions of euros and have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
unless otherwise stated in these accounting policies. All figures presented have been rounded, 
and consequently the sum of individual figures can deviate from the presented sum figure. Key 
figures have been calculated using exact figures.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent company TietoEVRY Corporation and 
all subsidiaries over which the Parent company has directly or indirectly more than one half of 
the voting rights, or the Parent company is otherwise in control of the company. Control exists 
when the company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and can affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is achieved until the date on which 
control ceases by using the acquisition method. Intra-group receivables, payables and 
transactions including dividends and internal profit are eliminated on consolidation. When 
necessary, subsidiaries’ accounting policies have been aligned to correspond to the Group’s 
accounting policies. The result for the period and items of other comprehensive income are 
allocated to the equity holders of the company and non-controlling interests and presented in 
the income statement and statement of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests 
are shown separately under shareholders' equity.

Foreign currency transactions
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Parent 
company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into local functional currencies using the exchange 
rates prevailing on the transaction date. The foreign currency monetary items are translated 
using period-end exchange rates. The foreign currency non-monetary items held at fair value 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date when 
the fair value was determined or remeasured. Other non-monetary items are recognized at the 
exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. 

For internal, long-term loans to subsidiaries, when classified as net investment in foreign 
operation, all related unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or 
loss in the separate financial statements. In the consolidated financial statements, such 
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exchange differences are recognized initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. 

Other foreign exchange gains and losses related to business operations are included in 
operating profit. Foreign exchange gains and losses associated with financing are recognized in 
finance income and expenses. 

For those Group entities whose functional and presentation currency is not the euro, the income 
statements and statements of financial position are translated into the Group presentation 
currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated
using the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date;

• income and expenses for each income statement are translated using the average
exchange rates of the reporting period;

• all resulting translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

When a subsidiary is sold, any translation differences are recognized in the consolidated 
income statement as part of the gain or loss on the sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Translation 
differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.

3. Adoption of new and amended IFRS standards and
interpretations
The following amendments to IFRS standards have become effective on 1 January 2021. They 
have not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these 
financial statements.

• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

New and revised IFRS standards in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the 
following new and revised IFRS standards that have been issued but are not yet effective and 
had not yet been adopted by the EU (marked with *). The management do not expect the 
adoption of these to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements in the future 
reporting periods. Those will be adopted as of their effective date.

• IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments): Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

• Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current*
• Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
• Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before Intended

Use
• Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 1,

IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 4 – deferral of IFRS 9
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting

Policies*
• Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates*
• Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction*
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4. Use of judgements and estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed at the 
reporting date. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results may differ from the estimates. In addition, 
management judgement is required in the application of accounting policies, especially when 
IFRS standard has alternative accounting, valuation and presentation methods. 

Management believes that the following accounting principles represent those matters, where 
management judgement has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised or where 
different estimate could result in significant adjustment to reported carrying amounts within the 
next financial year. These are described in more detail in the related notes.

Accounting principle Estimates made Judgement applied Note
Valuation of goodwill X X 11
Provisions X 16
Deferred taxes X 9
Leases X 20
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PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR
This section comprises disclosures related to the performance of the Group, including segment 
information, sources of revenue, other operating income and expenses, as well as information 
on employee benefits, taxes and earnings per share.

5. Segment information
Tietoevry Group comprises six operating segments: Digital Consulting, Cloud & Infra, Industry 
Software, Financial Services Solutions, International Operations and Product Development 
Services. The operating segments are reported separately, except for International Operations 
which is included in Other due to its smaller size. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the Leadership team which has been identified as Tietoevry’s chief operating 
decision maker being responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of 
the operating segments as well as deciding on strategy. 

Segment reporting is prepared according to IFRS accounting principles. No internal sales 
occur between the segments as in the internal reporting, revenue and costs are 
recognized directly to the respective customer projects in the service lines. The 
performance of segments is assessed based on operating profit (EBIT).

Group level costs related to Global management, Support functions and other non-
allocated costs are not included in the segments but are reported under Other in the 
segment reporting.

The reportable segments comprise the following services: 

Digital Consulting
The Digital Consulting business comprises consulting services, including business and 
technology advisory as well as system integration services and managed application services. 
The segment currently focuses on Finland, Sweden and Norway. Services are delivered 
primarily by employees based in the Nordic countries while also through global delivery centres. 
Tietoevry is a leading vendor in the Norwegian and Finnish consulting market.

Cloud & Infra
The Cloud & Infra business modernizes and secures customers’ businesses with automated 
solutions enhanced by a variety of technologies. The infrastructure foundation is to ensure 
Nordic customers’ renewal, business continuity and security. Services comprise managed cloud, 
security and end-user services including cloud migration advisory and transformation. The 
business has a geographical focus in Finland, Sweden and Norway, and the Group is positioned 
as the leading provider in Finland and Norway and is among top 3 providers in Sweden. 
Services are delivered primarily from both onshore locations in the Nordic countries and the 
delivery centre in the Czech Republic. 

Industry Software
Industry Software provides with industry-specific software products for business-critical 
processes of clients in the public sector and the healthcare and welfare sector as well as in the 
forest industry and the energy segments. Customers are mainly in the Nordic countries while 
the Group also has industry software for its global customers in the forest sector. Majority of the 
business continues to be license-based while the share of software as a service is on the rise. 
In the license-based business, revenue comprises solution installations and license fees as well 
as maintenance, which is typically based on multi-year agreements.

Financial Services Solutions
Financial Services Solutions helps a wide range of Nordic and global companies in the financial 
services industry to digitalize business processes, secure operational efficiency and growth in 
an environment of constant regulatory change. The portfolio comprises a comprehensive range 
of services and processes, based on flexible modules and innovative scalable software 
platforms, from real-time solutions within the areas of payments, cards, wealth management 
and credit to running full stack banking and cards operations as well as BPO services.
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Product Development Services
Product Development Services provides software R&D services with focus on the telecom 
sector. Services are provided globally for communications infrastructure companies, consumer 
electronics and semiconductor companies as well as automotive industry. Services are currently 
provided mainly from global centres in Poland, China, Sweden, the Czech Republic and 
Finland.  

Other consists of International Operations including digital consulting services for markets 
outside the Nordics with focus on the industrial, public and telecom sectors in Europe and the 
healthcare, insurance and professional services in the US. International Operations serves its 
non-Nordic customers primarily from India and Ukraine. Other also includes unallocated Group 
costs. 

Disaggregation of customer revenue by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 667.5 662.0  1 
Cloud & Infra 853.8 931.6  -8 
Industry Software 522.7 501.1  4 
Financial Services Solutions 471.0 418.8  12 
Product Development Services 153.3 142.4  8 
Other 155.1 130.5  19 
Group total 2 823.4 2 786.4  1 

Customer revenue by country1)

EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Finland 639.2 684.7  -7 
Sweden 947.2 1 000.3  -5 
Norway 981.3 800.6  23 
Other 255.7 300.8  -15
Group total 2 823.4 2 786.4  1 

1) The distribution of revenue by country is based on the location of the customer. Strategic multi-country customer is
reported in one country based on the primary location of customer engagement.

Customer revenue from fixed-price contracts by segment
EUR million 2021 2020
Digital Consulting 14.4 19.0 
Cloud & Infra 6.6 8.5 
Industry Software 6.1 6.3 
Financial Services Solutions 24.2 15.1 
Product Development Services 3.7 4.6 
Other 5.5 0.8 
Group total 60.5 54.2 

Tietoevry does not have individual significant customers as defined in IFRS 8.

Operating profit (EBIT) by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 82.4 70.8  16 
Cloud & Infra 30.0 36.6  -18
Industry Software 223.4 38.8 > 100
Financial Services Solutions 43.2 10.0 > 100
Product Development Services 17.3 17.7  -2 
Other -14.1 -27.2  48 
Group total 382.0 146.7 > 100

Operating margin (EBIT) by segment
% 2021 2020 Change pp
Digital Consulting  12.3  10.7  2 
Cloud & Infra  3.5  3.9  0 
Industry Software  42.7  7.7  35 
Financial Services Solutions  9.2  2.4  7 
Product Development Services  11.3  12.4  -1 
Operating margin (EBIT)  13.5  5.3  8 
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Personnel by segment
End of period Average

2021 Change % Share % 2020 2021 20201)

Digital Consulting 6 351  2  26 6 220 6 165 6 398 
Cloud & Infra 4 682  -2  19 4 795 4 786 4 726 
Industry Software 3 169  -8  13 3 452 3 300 3 509 

Financial Services 
Solutions 3 057 6  13 2 885 2 957 2 890 

Product Development 
Services 2 104  28 9 1 643 1 748 1 639 
Other 5 026 8  21 4 637 4 868 4 626 
Group total 24 389 3  100 23 632 23 824 23 788 

1) Average represents the period June–December 2020 in alignment with the new reporting structure.

Personnel by country
End of period Average

2021 Change % Share % 2020 2021 20201)

Sweden 4 286  -2  18 4 377 4 321 4 397 
Norway 4 274  -5  18 4 513 4 373 4 450 
India 4 592  10  19 4 173 4 362 4 203 
Finland 3 130  3  13 3 042 3 102 3 183 
Czech Republic 2 505  2  10 2 457 2 478 2 458 
Ukraine 2 123  16  9 1 837 1 996 1 876 
Latvia 999 4  4 957 970 942 
Poland 710  -5 3 750 734 732 
China 842  89 3 445 503 431 
Estonia 108  -63 0 290 178 303 
Austria 217  18 1 184 193 180 
Lithuania 123  18 1 104 109 103 
Other 479  -5 2 502 505 530 
Group total 24 389 3  100 23 632 23 824 23 788 
Onshore countries 12 192  -2  50 12 407 12 296 12 532 
Offshore countries 12 197 9  50 11 225 11 528 11 256 
Group total 24 389 3  100 23 632 23 824 23 788 

1) Average represents the period June–December 2020 in alignment with the new reporting structure.

Non-current assets by country
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 Change %
Finland 85.2 100.7  -15
Sweden 117.6 142.9  -18
Norway 433.5 427.2  1 
Other 31.3 42.7  -27
Group total 667.7 713.5  -6 

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment, right of use assets and intangible 
assets excluding goodwill. 

Depreciation by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 4.4 4.8  -6 
Cloud & Infra 43.3 44.0  -2 
Industry Software 1.9 1.9 0 
Financial Services Solutions 4.0 3.8  3 
Product Development Services 0.3 0.3  20 
Other 57.3 60.2  -5 
Group total 111.2 115.0  -3 

Amortization on other intangible assets by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 0.1 0.1  22 
Cloud & Infra 4.1 6.5  -37
Industry Software 1.9 2.4  -18
Financial Services Solutions 3.3 3.8  -13
Product Development Services — — — 
Other 2.0 2.5  -17
Group total 11.6 15.3  -24
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Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets by segment
EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Digital Consulting 10.5 10.0  4 
Cloud & Infra 8.7 8.3  5 
Industry Software 6.5 6.5  -1 
Financial Services Solutions 21.7 20.7  5 
Product Development Services — — — 
Other — — — 
Group total 47.3 45.5  4 
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6. Revenue
The business models of the Group consist of continuous services, software solutions, projects 
and consulting. Goods mainly include sales of software licenses. Revenue comprises the fair 
value for the sale of IT services and goods, net of value-added tax, discounts and exchange 
rate differences.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes consideration collected on behalf of 
third parties. The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control of a good or service 
to a customer.

The Group typically provides the customers with wide variety of comprehensive services. 
The individual service delivery contracts are often structured under a common frame 
contract where general terms for the service delivery to the customer are defined. The 
content of the delivery, performance obligations and usually also pricing, are defined in the 
service delivery contracts. Management judgement is used to identify what is the entirety 
of which revenue is recognized; either an individual service delivery contract or a group of 
combined contracts.

Revenue from service contracts is based on service volumes or time and materials and 
the performance obligations are recognized over the accounting period in which the 
services are rendered or project is delivered. The services are generally satisfied and the 
control transferred to the customer over time given that either the customer simultaneously 
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group, or the Group’s performance 
does not create an asset with an alternative use for the Group, in which case there is an 
enforceable right to payment for work completed to date.

In majority of the businesses, covering continuous services, time and material projects and 
consulting, the performance obligations satisfied are invoiced on monthly basis. At the time 
of invoicing, a receivable is recognized by the Group as this represents the point in time at 
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is 
required before payment is due. The standard payment term is 30 days, net, according to 
the Group’s Credit Policy.

Goods, typically distinct licenses, that provide a right to use the software, are invoiced on 
delivery. The license revenue is recognized at a point in time when the license is delivered, 
the legal title has passed, the customer has accepted the license and has access to the 
licensed software. Distinct licenses, that provide a right to access the software, are 
recognized over the contract period. Contract assets or liabilities do not typically arise in 
the businesses described above.

For contracts comprising fixed-price projects, revenue is recognized based on the actual 
service provided by the reporting date as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 
This is determined based on the cost of actual labour hours spent relative to the total 
expected cost of labour hours, as it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer. 
Estimates of revenues, costs or progress towards completion are revised if circumstances 
change and any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are 
reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the 
revision become known by the management. Invoicing and customer payments in the 
fixed-price projects follow the payment schedule defined in the customer contract. If the 
services rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognized, and if 
the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognized. 

The customer contracts of the Group typically comprise several of the business models 
described above. The most appropriate presentation on how the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors is considered 
to be the disaggregation of revenue by segment, presented in the segment information  
note 5. The disaggregation of customer sales from long-term fixed-price contracts by 
segment represents the revenue from contracts for which the risks are different compared 
to other contracts with customers.

Some contracts include delivery of hardware together with a variety of services from the 
Group. Hardware is usually provided by another service provider. The installation of 
hardware is simple, does not include an integration service from the Group and could be 
performed by another party. It is, therefore, accounted for as a separate performance 
obligation. In these contracts, Tietoevry acts as an agent, if the Group does not obtain 
control of the hardware provided by another party before it is transferred to the customer, 
or as a principal if the control is obtained. 
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Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is 
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices, which 
are observable from the contracts and represent prices for services rendered in similar 
circumstances to similar customers. Revenue from contracts granting a discount 
retrospectively to the customer is recognized based on the price specified in the contract, 
net of the estimated discounts. Discounts are estimated based on management's 
experience of the earlier purchases of the customers under similar contracts. This 
estimation is regularly updated during the contract period. Revenue is only recognized to 
the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. 

In settlement agreement cases, the settlement consideration is reduced from revenue 
when a settlement agreement is signed with the customer.

The Group grants assurance type of warranties which guarantee that the delivery complies 
with agreed specifications. These are accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the 
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one 
year. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time 
value of money. 

The Group capitalizes material costs of set-up activities related to transition or 
implementation projects in the initial phase of continuous operating service contracts, 
when the criteria for capitalization according to IFRS 15 are met. Management judgement 
has been used when developing an internal guidance on what kind of tasks are defined as 
set-up activities in the Group. The set-up activities do not result in the transfer of a 
promised good or service and are not identified as a performance obligation to the 
customer. The capitalized costs of a contract are amortized during the period when the 
revenue for related continuous operating service contract is recognized. 

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
EUR million Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 1 Jan 2020
Trade receivables  14 372.8 358.9 443.5
Contract assets  14 52.5 50.1 68.3
Contract liabilities  17 56.0 56.3 41.9

Decreases due to business disposals during 2021 were EUR 1.6 million in trade receivables, 
EUR 6.1 million in contract assets and 5.8 million in contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised from the opening value of contract liabilities was EUR 47.8 (28.8) million.

Order backlog
Transaction price allocated to all fully or partially unsatisfied performance obligations (order 
backlog) amounted to EUR  3 513  (3 350) million at the end of the year. Of the backlog, 50% is 
expected to be recognized as revenue during 2022. The order backlog includes all signed 
customer orders that have not been recognized as revenue, including estimates of the value of 
consumption-based contracts.

Transaction price allocated to fully or partially unsatisfied fixed-price contracts amounted to EUR 
63.5 (76.8) million, of which 78% or EUR 49.7 million is expected to be recognized as revenue 
during 2022. 

Assets recognized from costs to fulfil a contract
EUR million 2021 2020
Capitalized set-up costs on 31 Dec 21.2 25.0
Amortization of capitalized set-up costs 6.6  8.3 

In the statement of financial position, capitalized set-up costs of EUR 15.9 (13.2) million are 
presented within other non-current receivables and current portion of EUR 5.3 (11.9) million in 
trade and other receivables.
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7.    Other operating income and expenses 
Other operating income includes income other than that associated with the principal activities 
of Tietoevry, such as capital gains and foreign exchange gains on derivatives. Other operating 
expenses mainly relates to information and communication technology and premises related 
costs as well as professional services such as consulting and marketing.  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Government grants

Government grants are recognized as other operating income on a systematic basis over 
the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are intended to  
compensate.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed when incurred. Development costs related to major new 
software products are capitalized as intangible assets when it is probable that the 
development will generate future economic benefits for the Group, and certain criteria 
related to commercial and technological feasibility are met. Development costs comprise 
service and solution development focusing on, for example, industry-specific software, 
customer experience management and security services, as well as cloud services. 
Additionally, the costs for related internal development, e.g. automation in infrastructure 
services, are included in development costs.

Other operating income
EUR million 2021 2020
Gain on sale of tangible assets, subsidiaries
and business operations  104.1  1.3 
Change in fair value of derivatives  7.4  0.8 
Joint venture management fees  1.6  3.5 
Other  11.9  6.0 
Total  125.1  11.6 

In 2021, Tietoevry sold its Oil & Gas software business as well as the software businesses 
Alystra, Jydacom and TRYGG/2000 and recognised a total gain of EUR 104.0 million. More 
information in note 26.

Other operating expenses
EUR million 2021 2020
Information and communication technology  141.3  136.9 
Premises related costs  44.4  47.9 
Professional services and marketing  42.5  50.7 
Other operating expenses  27.0  37.4 
Total  255.2  272.9 

Development costs
Tietoevry’s offering development costs amounted to around EUR 127 (135) million, representing 
4.5% (4.8) of the Group's revenue. Of these costs, EUR 42.6 (51.0) were capitalized. In 2021, 
the focus was on Industry Software, especially solutions for Financial Services and Health & 
Care. 

Fees to auditors
EUR million 2021 2020
Audit fees  1.3  1.3 
Audit related  0.2  0.1 
Tax advisory  0.1  0.1 
Other services  0.2  0.5 
Total  1.8  2.0 

64

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 165

FINANCIALS



8.    Employee expenses
Employee expenses consist of wages and salaries and related social costs. Tietoevry has also 
post-employment benefit plans as well as share-based incentive plans for key employees. 
Termination benefits refer to benefits arising from termination of employment, not performance 
of work.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits are recognised in the period in which services are rendered by the 
employees. Termination benefits are recognised at the time an agreement between the 
Group and the employee is made and no future service is rendered by the employee in 
exchange for the benefits. 

Share-based incentive plans

Tietoevry has share-based incentive plans for its key employees which are accounted for 
as equity-settled. The plans are valued at fair value based on the market price of Tietoevry 
share at the grant date and recognized as an employee benefit expense during the vesting 
period with a corresponding entry in equity. At each reporting date, the number of shares 
that are expected to vest from the Group’s share-based incentive plans is revised. As part 
of this evaluation, the changes in the forecasted performance of the Group, the expected 
turnover of the personnel participating in the plans and other information impacting the 
number of shares to vest, is taken into consideration. Any adjustments to the initial 
estimates is recognized in profit or loss and a corresponding adjustment is made to equity. 

Employee expenses
EUR million 2021 2020
Wages and salaries  1 174.8  1 122.3 
Termination benefits  0.2  25.1 
Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plans  104.5  96.6 
Defined benefit plans  1.5  2.9 

Other statutory social costs  217.8  198.9 
Share-based payments  8.7  8.6 
Other personnel expenses  19.5  31.1 
Total  1 527.0  1 485.6 

In 2021, Tietoevry initiated employee consultations regarding the Cloud & Infra business. In 
2020, the Group announced integration related restructuring measures including employee 
consultation processes which mainly concerned Sweden, Norway, Finland and India.

Management remuneration
2021 2020

EUR thousand
President 
and CEO

Leadership 
team

President 
and CEO

Leadership 
team

Salaries and benefits  842.3  3 938.1  807.0  3 652.7 
Bonuses  713.1  1 239.6  1 511.1  2 392.3 
Share-based payments  922.2  1 808.4  771.8  1 547.0 
Statutory pensions  250.3  483.4  200.2  595.0 
Supplementary pensions  205.1  354.1  121.1  261.2 
Total  2 933.0  7 823.6  3 411.2  8 448.2 

The President and CEO, Kimmo Alkio is entitled to a bonus corresponding maximum of 150% of 
the annual base salary based on the Group's external revenue, profit, and achievement of 
strategic goals when achievements exceed the targets set. The annual contribution for the 
President and CEO's supplementary pension arrangement is 23% of the annual base salary. 
The President and CEO's retirement age is 63. In case his assignment is terminated, the period 
of notice is 12 months and the severance payment is equivalent to the base salary and the 
short-term target incentive for six months, in addition to the salary for the notice period. The 
President and CEO participates in the Long-term incentive programmes according to respective 
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terms and conditions decided by the Board of Directors. In 2021, after deductions for applicable 
taxes, a total of 9 729 (13 947) shares were delivered to the President and CEO.

The other Leadership team members are entitled to a bonus corresponding maximum of 100% 
of the annual base salary based on their individual goals when achievements exceed the targets 
set. The annual contribution for the Leadership team members' supplementary pension 
arrangement is 15% of the annual base salary. The retirement age of the Leadership team 
members is according to national legislation. The termination terms vary and the amounts 
correspond to the periods of notice. The Leadership team members participate in the Long-term 
incentive programmes according to respective terms and conditions decided by the Board of 
Directors. In 2021, after deductions for applicable taxes, a total of 20 797 (34 344) shares were 
delivered to the Leadership team members.

Remuneration for the Board of Directors
EUR thousand 2021 2020
Board members at 31 Dec 2021
Tomas Franzén, Chairperson Board and RC  168.2  160.2 
Timo Ahopelto, Deputy Chairperson  98.4  81.4 
Liselotte Hägertz Engstam  85.4  77.4 
Harri-Pekka Kaukonen, Chairperson ARC  109.4  105.4 
Angela Mazza Teufer1)  61.8  — 
Katharina Mosheim  70.6  62.6 
Niko Pakalén  82.2  82.2 
Endre Rangnes  79.8  78.2 
Leif Teksum  78.2  90.9 
Rohan Haldea2)  60.2  78.5 
Salim Nathoo3)  70.2  113.3 
Tommy Sander Aldrin, personnel rep.  15.0  26.2 
Ola Hugo Jordhøy, personnel rep.  15.0  26.2 
Anders Palklint, personnel rep.  15.0  26.2 
Ilpo Waljus, personnel rep.  15.0  26.2 
Total  1 024.4  1 034.9 

1) From 25 March 2021
2) Until 7 September 2021
3) Until 19 July 2021

Each member of the Board of Directors receives a fixed annual remuneration and additional 
meeting based remuneration. According to the decision by the Annual General Meeting, the 
yearly remuneration is as follows: Chairperson EUR 125 000, Deputy Chairperson EUR 70 000, 
and ordinary member EUR 53 000. In addition to these fees, the Chairperson of a permanent 
Board Committee receives an annual fee of EUR 20 000 and a member of a permanent Board 
Committee receives an annual fee of EUR 10 000. The meeting based remuneration is EUR 
800 for each Board meeting and for each permanent or temporary Committee meeting. 
Remuneration for employee representatives is an annual fee of EUR 15 000.  

The Annual General Meeting also approved that part of the fixed annual remuneration may be 
paid in the company’s shares purchased from the market. An elected member of the Board of 
Directors may, at his/her discretion, choose to receive the fee from the following five 
alternatives:

1. No cash, 100% in shares
2. 25% in cash, 75% in shares
3. 50% in cash, 50% in shares
4. 75% in cash, 25% in shares, or
5. 100% in cash, no shares.

The shares will be purchased in accordance with an acquisition programme prepared by the 
company. If the remuneration cannot be paid in shares due to insider regulation, termination of 
the Board member’s term of office or other reason relating to the member of the Board, the 
remuneration shall be paid fully in cash. In addition to the share remuneration, the Board 
members do not belong to or are not compensated with other share-based arrangements, nor 
do the members have any pension plans at Tietoevry. 

The Shareholders' Nomination Board based on shareholdings as at 31 August 2021 consisted 
of the following representatives announced by Tietoevry’s shareholders: 

• Petter Söderström, Investment Director, Solidium Oy
• Gustav Moss, Vice President, Cevian Capital AB
• Alexander Kopp, Investment Manager, Incentive AS
• Mikko Mursula, Deputy CEO, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company
• Tomas Franzén, Chairperson of the Board of Directors, TietoEVRY Corporation.

66

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 167

FINANCIALS



Share-based incentive plans 
The aim of Tietoevry's share-based incentive plans is to align the objectives of shareholders and 
key employees in order to increase the value of the company in the long-term. At the end of 
2021, Tietoevry's share-based incentive plans included Performance Share Plans 2019–2021, 
2020–2022 and 2021–2023 as well as Restricted Share Plans 2019–2021, 2020–2022 and 
2021–2023. The rewards from the plans will be paid partly in the company’s shares and partly in 
cash. The cash proportion is intended to cover taxes and tax-related costs arising from the 
reward. 

As a rule, no reward will be paid, if a participant´s employment or service ends before the 
reward payment. The Board of Directors anticipates that share rewards to be delivered to the 
participants under the plans will consist of shares to be acquired from the market. Thus, no new 
shares will be issued in connection with the plans.

The Performance Share Plan 2018–2020 and the Restricted Share Plan 2018–2020 ended in 
2021. Based on the achievements of the targets a total of 159 823 gross shares were earned 
and of these 87 463 net shares were delivered to the participants. Tietoevry used its treasury 
shares for the reward payments.

Future cash payment to be made to the tax authorities from share-based payments is estimated 
at the end of the period at EUR 15.3 million.

Main terms and conditions of the share-based incentive plans
Performance Share Plan

2019–2021 2020–2022 2021–2023
Plan launched 16 January 2019 18 December 2019 16 February 2021
Performance Period 2019–2021 2020–2022 2021-2023

Vesting conditions
Total Shareholder Return of Tietoevry share (TSR), strategic target related to Tietoevry's growth (not in 2022–2022 plan) and Tietoevry's Earnings per Share 

(EPS). Valid employment or director agreement of a key employee upon the reward payment.
Exercised In shares and cash in 2022 In shares and cash in 2023 In shares and cash in 2024
Number of participants on 31 Dec 2021  80  111  119 

Other

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 315 466 

Tietoevry gross shares.

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 548 692 

Tietoevry gross shares.

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 545 720 

Tietoevry gross shares.

Restricted Share Plan
2019–2021 2020–2022 2021–2023

Plan launched 16 January 2019 18 December 2019 16 February 2021
Vesting period 2019–2021 2020–2022 2021-2023
Vesting conditions Valid employment or director agreement of a key employee upon the reward payment.
Exercised In shares and cash in 2022 In shares and cash in 2023 In shares and cash in 2024
Number of participants on 31 Dec 2021  160  404  465 

Other

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 61 549 

Tietoevry gross shares.

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 243 730 

Tietoevry gross shares.

On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to 
the value of approximate number of 238 305 

Tietoevry gross shares.
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Assumptions made in determining the fair value of Tietoevry's Share-based 
incentive plans
For Performance Share Plans and Restricted Share Plans, the fair value has been determined 
at grant using the fair value of the company share as of the grant date, expected outcome and 
expected dividends.

The fair value of social costs settled in cash are remeasured at each reporting date until 
settlement.

For share plan grants made in 2021, the fair value of the part recognised into equity has been 
determined at grant date using the following share price and expected dividends. The part 
recognised into liability is based on the share price at the end of the reporting period:

• Share price at grant: EUR 27.27
• Expected dividends: EUR 4.50
• Share price at year-end: EUR 27.48

Share option programme transferred from EVRY
As part of the Merger plan, it was agreed that EVRY's incentive plans will continue and will be 
transformed in a value neutral way into restricted stock units or performance shares in the 
combined company, with equivalency on all material respects with regards to economic value, 
vesting conditions and other terms and conditions, taking into account the strike price of the 
options and by applying an option conversion ratio of 1:0.1423. Any existing right for EVRY to 
settle options and/or restricted stock units under the plans in cash, will continue as a right for the 
combined company.  37 employees were included in the programmes at 31 December 2021.

The Board of Directors anticipates that share rewards to be delivered to the participants under 
the plans will consist of shares to be acquired from the market. Thus, no new shares will be 
issued in connection with the plans.

The rewards earned in 2020 from Long-Term Incentive Plan 2017 and Long-Term Incentive Plan 
2018 were paid in 2021. Based on the achievements of the targets a total of 112 440 gross 
shares were earned and of these 55 928 net shares were delivered to the participants. Tietoevry 
used its treasury shares for the reward payments. 

Future cash payment to be made to the tax authorities from share-based payments is estimated 
at the end of the period at EUR 0.8 million.

Interim Restricted Share Plan (Conversion from EVRY plans)
Long-Term Incentive Plan 2018

Plan launched December 2018
Vesting period 1/3 in 2019, 1/3 in 2020 and 1/3 in 2021

Vesting conditions
Valid employment or director agreement upon the reward payment and during lock-in period. 

Awarded shares will be be locked in and may not be sold for 12 months following the vesting dates.
Exercised In shares and cash in 2020, 2021 and 2022
Number of participants on 31 Dec 2021  37 

Other On 31 Dec 2021, rewards to be paid correspond to the value of approximate number of 57 102 Tietoevry gross shares.
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Share-based payments included in employee benefit expenses
EUR million 2021 2020
Equity-settled share-based incentive plans  8.7  8.6 
Social costs settled in cash1)  1.4  0.6 
Total  10.1  9.2 

1) Tietoevry's share-based incentive plans are accounted for as equity-settled. Social costs from the plans are 
reported as cash-settled.
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9.    Income taxes
Income tax expenses comprise of current and deferred tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
charged by the same taxing authority are netted and, therefore, shown net on the statement of 
financial position. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Tax expense for the period includes current taxes of the Group companies based on 
taxable profit for the year, together with tax adjustments for previous years and changes in 
deferred taxes. Tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which 
case the related income tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, respectively. The share of results in joint ventures is reported in the income 
statement based on the net result and thus, including the income tax effect.

Deferred  income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements as well as on tax loss carry forwards. Deferred income 
tax is determined using the tax rates and laws which have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred taxes are not 
recognized on temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that they will probably not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. The deferred tax assets 
and liabilities arising from consolidation are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if it is probable that the related tax effects will occur. 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

At each reporting date, the management estimates the amount of probable future taxable 
profits against which unused tax losses can be utilized. As the actual profits may differ 
from the forecasts, the change will affect the taxes in future periods.

The group operates globally and is, therefore subject to changing tax laws in multiple 
jurisdictions. The interpretation of tax legislation requires management judgement, and the 
applied interpretations may include uncertainties. 

Income tax expense in income statement
EUR million 2021 2020
Current taxes  48.9  28.0 
Change of deferred taxes  7.3  0.5 
Taxes for prior years  6.0  -0.6 
Total  62.2  27.9 

Reconciliation of income tax expense

Profit before taxes  353.8  122.4 
Tax calculated at the domestic corporation tax rate of 20%  70.8  24.5 
Effect of different tax rates in foreign subsidiaries  3.8  -0.5 
Taxes for prior years  6.0  -0.6 
Deferred taxes from previous year  -4.2  — 
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses and tax exempt income  -16.3  2.0 
Tax on foreign dividend distribution  4.1  4.1 
Other items  -2.0  -1.6 
Total  62.2  27.9 

Effective tax rate, %  17.6  22.8 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Deferred tax assets  19.1  35.6 
Deferred tax liabilities  9.1  19.8 
Net deferred tax asset  10.0  15.8 

Majority of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered after more than 
12 months.
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Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

EUR million 1 Jan 2021
Charged to income 

statement

Charged to other 
comprehensive 

income
Acquisitions and 

disposals Other changes 31 Dec 2021
Deferred tax asset
Provisions  4.8  -0.9  —  -0.6  0.3  3.6 
Employee benefits  12.1  -1.6  0.4  —  0.9  11.8 
Depreciation difference  11.4  -3.8  —  —  0.1  7.7 
Other temporary difference  8.4  1.2  —  —  0.2  9.8 
Revenue recognition  9.5  -0.4  —  —  0.4  9.5 
Tax losses carried forward  57.4  -9.7  —  —  1.9  49.6 
Total gross  103.6  -15.2  0.4  -0.6  3.8  92.0 
Offset against deferred tax liabilities  -68.0  -72.9 
Total net  35.6  19.1 

Deferred tax liability
Intangible assets  72.1  -10.8  —  —  2.8  64.1 
Untaxed reserves  13.0  3.4  —  —  -6.9  9.5 
Other temporary difference  2.7  -0.5  —  -1.0  7.2  8.4 
Total gross  87.8  -7.9  —  -1.0  3.1  82.0 
Offset against deferred tax assets  -68.0  -72.9 
Total net  19.8  9.1 

Net deferred tax asset  15.8  -7.3  0.4  0.4  0.7  10.0 

On 31 Dec 2021, the group´s unused tax loss carry forwards amounted to EUR 239.3 (263.0) million pertaining deferred tax asset of EUR 49.6 (57.4) million. These losses relate mainly to Norway and 
Sweden and have no expiry date. Based on profit forecasts, it is probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits available against which these tax losses can be utilized.
On 31 Dec 2021, the group had tax loss carry forwards amounting to EUR 0.8 (3.9) million pertaining deferred tax asset of EUR 0.2 (0.9) million, which were not recognized due to uncertainty of 
utilization.

The group does not have any material uncertain tax positions in accordance with IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.
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EUR million 1 Jan 2020
Charged to income 

statement
Charged to other 

comprehensive income Other changes 31 Dec 2020
Deferred tax asset
Provisions  6.3  -1.3  —  -0.2  4.8 
Employee benefits  12.7  -0.9  -0.3  0.6  12.1 
Depreciation difference  15.9  -3.6  —  -0.9  11.4 
Other temporary difference  9.8  0.3  —  -1.7  8.4 
Revenue recognition  9.6  0.1  —  -0.2  9.5 
Tax losses carried forward  59.0  1.8  —  -3.4  57.4 
Total gross  113.3  -3.6  -0.3  -5.8  103.6 
Offset against deferred tax liabilities  -60.1  -68.0 
Total net  53.2  35.6 

Deferred tax liability
Intangible assets  79.4  -6.1  —  -1.2  72.1 
Untaxed reserves  6.6  -0.7  —  7.1  13.0 
Other temporary difference  6.8  3.7  —  -7.8  2.7 
Total gross  92.8  -3.1  —  -1.9  87.8 
Offset against deferred tax assets  -60.1  -68.0 
Total net  32.7  19.8 

Net deferred tax asset  20.5  -0.5  -0.3  -3.9  15.8 
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10.    Earnings per share
The total number of Tietoevry's shares on 31 December 2021 amounted to 118 425 771. At the 
end of the reporting period, the number of shares in the company's or its subsidiaries' 
possession totalled 7 587, representing 0.01% of the total number of shares and voting rights. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basic Earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the 
shareholders of the Parent company by the weighted average number of shares in issue 
during the year, excluding shares purchased by Tietoevry and held as own shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year with the shares estimated to be delivered based on the 
share-based incentive plans. 

2021 2020

Net profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the Parent 
company (EUR million)  291.6  94.5 

Earnings per share (EUR)
Basic  2.46  0.80 
Diluted  2.46  0.80 

Weighted average number of shares during the year
Basic  118 408 223  118 378 269 
Effect of dilutive share-based incentive plans  276 585  219 550 
Diluted  118 684 808  118 597 819 
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INVESTED CAPITAL AND WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS
This section includes disclosures describing the assets that form the basis for the activities of 
Tietoevry and the related liabilities. 

11.    Intangible assets and impairment testing of goodwill 
Tietoevry's intangible assets comprise mainly of goodwill, internally developed software 
(capitalized development costs), and intangible assets acquired in business combinations, such 
as technology, trademarks and customer relationships. Intangible assets also include software 
licenses. Tietoevry does not have any intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than 
goodwill. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Other intangible assets than goodwill are recognized initially at cost. An intangible asset is 
recognized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the asset 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other costs 
are expensed as incurred.
After initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost less amortizations and 
accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives 
with the straight-line method. Assets that are subject to amortization are tested for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount of the intangible asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss equal to the difference is recognized in profit or 
loss.   

Internally developed software
Development costs related to major new software products are capitalized as intangible 
assets when it is probable that the development will generate future economic benefits for 
the Group, and certain criteria related to commercial and technological feasibility are met. 
Development projects are analysed individually to determine the moment when the project 
has reached a milestone after which capitalization of development costs can start. 
Capitalization is subject to CFO's approval. Only costs which are directly attributable to the 
development are capitalised. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these costs are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortization and impairment losses. Amortization period for the internally developed 
software depends on the technology renewal cycle and contract duration. Internally 
developed software for which amortizations have not yet started are tested for impairment 
on annual basis by comparing the assets' carrying amount with its recoverable amount. If 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss equal to the 
difference is recognized in profit or loss.  

Intangible assets recognised from acquisitions

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are measured at fair value at the 
acquisition date. These are usually customer or technology related and have finite useful 
lives.

Gains and losses on disposal of intangible assets are included in other operating income 
and expenses.

The Group applies the following useful lives:

Years
Software acquired separately 3
Other intangible assets 3–10
Technology related intangible assets recognized at fair value from acquisitions 3–15
Customer related intangible assets recognized at fair value from acquisitions 2–10
Trademark recognized at fair value from acquisitions 6
Internally developed software (capitalized development costs) 5–15
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Goodwill

Goodwill arising on a business combination represents the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. It is not amortized, but tested for impairment at least annually or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the 
operating segments of the Group, which are the cash generating units (CGU) expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the business combination. If the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the operating segments exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
equal to the difference is recognized in profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of the value in use represented by the net present value of future cash flows and the fair 
value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 

In respect of joint ventures, goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment. 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates are made when determining the fair values of assets acquired in a business 
combination. The valuation requires management to determine the appropriate valuation 
technique and inputs for fair value measurements, such as discount rate. 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the 
cash-generating units (CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use 
calculation requires management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from 
the CGUs and an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value. 

While management believes that the used estimates and assumptions are sufficiently 
reasonable, there are uncertainties which could materially affect the valuations.
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Intangible assets

EUR million Goodwill

Software 
acquired 

separately

Intangible assets 
recognized from 

acquisitions1)

Internally 
developed 
software2) Other

Advance 
payments Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2021  1 974.4  48.2  301.7  240.0  40.3  1.3  2 605.9 
Additions  —  5.0  —  42.6  1.3  2.7  51.7 
Disposals  -77.6  -5.0  -2.7  -6.0  -3.8  —  -95.1 
Reclassifications  —  1.2  —  -0.9  0.0  -0.4  -0.1 
Translation differences  46.9  0.2  9.6  9.6  0.3  -0.0  66.6 
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2021  1 943.7  49.6  308.6  285.3  38.2  3.5  2 628.9 

Accumulated amortization and impairments 1 Jan 2021  —  -42.4  -67.8  -97.3  -38.3  -0.7  -246.6 
Disposals  —  5.0  2.1  3.8  3.7  —  14.6 
Amortization  —  -4.5  -47.3  -6.6  -0.4  —  -58.9 
Reclassifications  —  -0.4  —  0.5  0.0  —  0.1 
Translation differences  —  -0.2  -2.4  -3.7  -0.3  0.0  -6.5 
Accumulated amortization and impairments 31 Dec 2021  —  -42.5  -115.4  -103.3  -35.3  -0.7  -297.3 

Carrying value 1 Jan 2021  1 974.4  5.8  233.9  142.7  1.9  0.5  2 359.3 
Carrying value 31 Dec 2021  1 943.7  7.1  193.2  182.0  2.8  2.8  2 331.6 

1) Includes technology and customer related intangible assets as well as trademark recognized at fair value from acquisitions.
2) Comprises mainly the development of Tietoevry's Lifecare and Core banking & Payment solutions.
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EUR million Goodwill

Software 
acquired 

separately

Intangible assets 
recognized from 

acquisitions1)

Internally 
developed 
software2) Other

Advance 
payments Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2020  2 023.1  44.9  318.1  222.6  42.0  2.5  2 653.2 
Additions  —  1.6  —  51.0  0.0  0.5  53.2 
Disposals  —  -0.4  -4.9  -27.5  -1.8  -0.1  -34.8 
Reclassifications  —  2.3  —  —  0.2  -1.7  0.8 
Translation differences  -48.7  -0.2  -11.4  -6.1  -0.2  0.0  -66.6 
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2020  1 974.4  48.2  301.7  240.0  40.3  1.3  2 605.9 

Accumulated amortization and impairments 1 Jan 2020  —  -36.4  -26.4  -88.2  -38.1  -0.9  -190.0 
Disposals  —  0.4  4.9  27.5  1.8  0.1  34.8 
Amortization  —  -5.9  -45.5  -7.4  -2.0  —  -60.8 
Impairments  —  —  —  -27.5  —  —  -27.5 
Reclassifications  —  -0.7  —  0.1  -0.1  —  -0.7 
Translation differences  —  0.1  -0.9  -1.8  0.1  0.0  -2.4 
Accumulated amortization and impairments 31 Dec 2020  —  -42.4  -67.8  -97.3  -38.3  -0.7  -246.6 

Carrying value 1 Jan 2020  2 023.1  8.5  291.7  134.4  3.8  1.7  2 463.2 
Carrying value 31 Dec 2020  1 974.4  5.8  233.9  142.7  1.9  0.5  2 359.3 

1) Includes technology and customer related intangible assets as well as trademark recognized at fair value from acquisitions.
2) Comprises mainly the development of Tietoevry's Lifecare and Core banking & Payment solutions. As part of the integration activities, the Group recognized an impairment loss of EUR 18.4 million due to harmonization of product development 
projects. In addition, the Group decided to end the common SmartUtilities platform due to the fact that a standard solution does not fulfil the individual needs of Nordic utilities companies resulting to an impairment of EUR 9.1 million. 

77

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 178

FINANCIALS



Impairment testing of goodwill
The annual impairment testing was carried out in the fourth quarter 2021 in line with Group 
accounting policy. The Group is organized into six service lines which are Digital Consulting, 
Cloud & Infra, Industry Software, Financial Services Solutions, Product Development Services 
and International Operations. These six service lines form the Group's operating segments and 
Tietoevry reports separately five of them and includes International Operations under Other in 
the segment reporting due to its smaller size. See note 5 for service line information. These six 
service lines form the cash-generating units (CGU) providing services to selected customers in 
their market segments, and represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. 

At the end of 2021, goodwill of the Group has been allocated as follows:

Carrying amount of goodwill by CGU
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Digital Consulting  483.4  474.5 
Cloud & Infra  523.9  508.6 
Industry Software  497.9  561.8 
Financial Services Solutions  344.6  332.9 
Product Development Services  54.0  54.8 
International Operations  39.8  41.9 
Total  1 943.6  1 974.4 

Compared to 31 Dec 2020, the decrease in the total goodwill is EUR 30.8 million. EUR 78.3 
million was allocated to the divestments (see note 26) and a change of EUR 47.5 million was 
due to currency effects.

As a result of the impairment testing, no impairment was identified. 

Recoverable amounts
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs of Tietoevry are determined based on value-in-use 
calculations which are prepared using discounted cash flow projections. Annually, management 
of the Group defines the long-term ambitions and strategic objectives for the next years taking 
into account for example industry growth forecasts obtained from external sources as well as 
salary increase assumptions. The strategic objectives serve as basis for the service lines' long-
term plans which are reviewed and approved by the Group's top management.  

The planning horizon covers five-year period including key assumptions for sales growth rate, 
development of EBITDA, capital expenditure including investments for right-of-use assets, tax 
payments and changes in net working capital. Forecasted EBITDA margins are adjusted for 
expected efficiency improvements. The key assumptions used are based on past experience 
and reflects management's expectations of future development of sales prices, business mix, 
costs, market shares and volumes.

Subsequent to the five-year projection period the growth rate used is 1%, which does not 
exceed the expectations of growth in real terms.

Discount rate
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is the weighted average pre-tax cost of 
capital (WACC). The components of the WACC rates are risk-free rate, market risk premium, 
country risk premium, industry specific beta, cost of debt and debt equity ratio. The risk-free rate 
is based on 30-year German government bond adjusted by the weighted average inflation 
differential between Germany and the countries where each CGU has operations. The discount 
rates are also adjusted for the additional business risk of the CGUs. The pre-tax discount rates 
for the CGUs vary between 6% and 12%.

Assumptions used in discounting the cash flow projections by the CGUs:
2021 Five-year period 2022–2026

%
Terminal 

growth rate Pre-tax WACC
Digital Consulting 1 6.1
Cloud & Infra 1 6.1
Industry Software 1 6.1
Financial Services Solutions 1 6.4
Product Development Services 1 10.8
International Operations 1 12.0
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Sensitivity analysis
Value-in-use calculation for each CGU is most sensitive to changes in WACC and EBITDA 
margin assumptions. No reasonable change in key assumptions would result in recognition of 
impairment loss in any of the CGUs. In Cloud & Infra, an increase of 5 percentage point in pre-
tax WACC would cause the recoverable amount to equal the carrying amount. Furthermore, 
a 3 percentage point decrease in the long-term EBITDA margin would cause the recoverable 
amount of Cloud & Infra to equal the carrying amount. 
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12.    Property, plant and equipment
Tietoevry's property, plant and equipment comprise mainly of information and communication 
technology (ICT) equipment.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment acquired in business combinations 
are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Depreciation is recognized according to 
plan based on the estimated economic lives of the individual assets and accounted for in 
accordance with the straight-line method. The assets' residual useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Assets that are subject to depreciation are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss equal to 
the difference is recognized in profit or loss.   

The group applies the following useful lives:

Years
Buildings and structures 25–40
Data processing equipment1) 1–5
Other machinery and equipment 5
Other tangible assets 5

1) Purchases of personal computers are expensed immediately.
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 Property, plant and equipment

EUR million Land
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment
Other tangible 

assets

Advance payments 
and work in 

progress Total
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2021  1.2  3.8  398.8  72.5  8.0  484.3 
Additions  —  —  19.1  0.7  10.4  30.2 
Disposals  —  —  -30.0  -1.4  -0.1  -31.5 
Reclassifications  —  —  17.2  -10.7  -5.7  0.8 
Translation differences  —  —  3.3  0.4  0.0  3.6 
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2021  1.2  3.8  408.3  61.5  12.7  487.5 

Accumulated depreciation and impairments 1 Jan 2021  —  -1.9  -340.3  -44.3  -0.9  -387.4 
Disposals  —  —  29.6  1.4  —  31.0 
Depreciation  —  -0.1  -33.3  -6.7  —  -40.0 
Impairments  —  —  0.0  —  —  0.0 
Reclassifications  —  —  -10.3  9.5  0.0  -0.8 
Translation differences  —  —  -2.6  -0.3  —  -2.8 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 31 Dec 2021  —  -2.0  -356.9  -40.3  -0.9  -400.1 

Carrying value 1 Jan 2021  1.2  1.9  58.4  28.2  7.1  96.9 
Carrying value 31 Dec 2021  1.2  1.8  51.4  21.2  11.8  87.4 
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EUR million Land
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment
Other tangible 

assets

Advance 
payments and 

work in progress Total
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2020  1.2  3.8  410.2  70.7  5.0  490.8 
Additions  —  —  24.1  1.4  6.5  31.9 
Disposals  —  —  -32.8  -0.5  -0.2  -33.5 
Reclassifications  —  —  0.8  1.5  -3.1  -0.8 
Translation differences  —  —  -3.6  -0.5  -0.1  -4.2 
Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2020  1.2  3.8  398.8  72.5  8.0  484.3 

Accumulated depreciation and impairments 1 Jan 2020  —  -1.8  -338.5  -38.4  -0.9  -379.6 
Disposals  —  —  31.5  0.5  —  32.0 
Depreciation  —  -0.1  -35.8  -6.3  —  -42.3 
Impairments  —  —  -1.2  —  —  -1.2 
Reclassifications  —  —  0.6  -0.2  —  0.3 
Translation differences  —  —  1.9  0.2  —  2.1 
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 31 Dec 2020  —  -1.9  -340.3  -44.3  -0.9  -387.4 

Carrying value 1 Jan 2020  1.2  2.0  71.7  32.2  4.1  111.2 
Carrying value 31 Dec 2020  1.2  1.9  58.4  28.2  7.1  96.9 

13.    Inventories
Inventories comprise mainly cards and chips for sale to customers.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined 
based on average cost and net realisable value represents the estimated selling price 
under normal commercial conditions less estimated costs of sale.

No impairments have been booked from the inventories in 2021 or in 2020.
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14.    Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables represent amounts that Tietoevry expects to collect from other parties in the 
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and the standard 
payment term is 30 days, net, according to the Group’s Credit Policy. Contract assets relate to 
fixed-price projects where the customer invoicing is based on agreed milestones and the 
services rendered by the reporting date exceeds the payment received. License fees relate to 
prepaid license costs that will be realized on an accrual basis in the future periods. Other 
interest-bearing receivables relate to assets that are financed as part of customer deliveries and 
where the contracts are treated as service contracts. 

Trade receivables to be sold via non-recourse factoring arrangements, but not yet derecognized 
as of the reporting date, are classified as Financial assets at fair value. 
More information in note 22.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost 
less expected credit loss provision (ECL). Tietoevry has elected to use the practical 
expedient and calculate lifetime ECL based on a pre-defined provision matrix with 
customer segment specific credit characteristics, based on the following criteria: 
• Country Group (Finland, Sweden, Norway, Other European Union countries, Other    

countries)
• Customer Industry Group (Financial Services, Public Healthcare & Welfare, 

Industrial customer Services)
• Balance due status (Not yet due, overdue 1–7 days, 8–30 days, 31–60 days, 61–90 

days, over 90 days) 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Default is defined as 90 days past 
due or a write off event, due to inability to collect debt.

For each segment, the ECL rate (expressed as a percentage) indicates the historical 
average defaults identified during the past three years and also the Group’s assessment of 
the possible impact from changes in the overall economic environment in which its 
customers operate. These collective provisions can be increased if the customer has filed 
for bankruptcy but has not yet registered the fact or if there are any facts or circumstances 
indicating that the customer’s credit risk is above industry/country average. As a response   

to increased uncertainty globally, Tietoevry has increased ECL rate by 0.1%–0.5% for all 
overdue trade receivables. No ECL is calculated for the portion of trade receivables, where 
the credit risk is covered by collateral, such as credit insurance. When calculating ECL for 
contract assets, the ECL rate set for “not yet due” invoices in the provision matrix is used. 
Trade receivables under business model sell are accounted at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL) and, therefore, those are not subject to ECL provisions.

Trade Receivables are permanently written off when there is no reasonable expectation to 
recovery. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to income 
statement.

Other interest-bearing receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at 
amortized cost during the contract period.

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables approximate to their fair values 
due to their short-term nature.

Trade and other receivables
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Non-current
Prepaid expenses and contract assets  12.7  4.2 
Other  22.6  17.6 
Total  35.4  21.8 

Current
Trade receivables at amortized cost  372.8  358.9 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Contract assets  52.5  50.1 
Licence fees  30.6  26.1 
Other prepaid expenses  34.2  46.4 
Other interest-bearing receivables  13.8  15.1 

Other  13.0  20.3 
Total  517.0  516.8 
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Group trade receivables maturity and expected credit losses
31 Dec 2021

Not yet due
Overdue
1–7 days

Overdue
8–30 days

Overdue
31–60 days

Overdue
61–90 days

Overdue
over 90 days Grand TotalEUR million

Gross Trade receivables subject to impairment  195.8  12.8  3.8  3.4  1.4  3.7  220.9 
Average Expected credit loss rate applied  -0.18  %  -0.27  %  -1.40  %  -6.11  %  -7.64  %  -63.29  %  -1.40  %

Collective loss allowance  -0.3  0.0  -0.1  -0.2  -0.1  -2.3  -3.1 
Individual loss allowance  -0.0  -0.0  —  -0.0  -0.0  0.3  0.2 

Total loss allowance  -0.4  -0.1  -0.1  -0.2  -0.1  -2.1  -2.9 
Trade receivables net of ECL  195.4  12.7  3.8  3.2  1.3  1.6  218.0 
Trade Receivables covered by Collateral  131.8  17.0  0.2  0.8  0.6  4.3  154.7 
Total Trade Receivables at amortized cost  327.3  29.8  4.0  4.0  1.8  5.9  372.8 

There are no major concentrations of credit risk in the Group, whether through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions. The maximum exposure to customer related 
credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of trade receivables.

Net contract assets
31 Dec 2021

Not yet dueEUR million
Contract assets  52.6 
Average ECL applied  -0.06 %
Collective loss allowance  0.0 
Net contract assets  52.5 

Movement of expected credit loss provision
Trade receivables Contract assets

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020
1 Jan  4.2  3.7  0.0  0.1 
Translation differences  0.1  —  —  — 
Impairment losses recognized  3.2  3.9  —  — 
Amounts written off this year as 
uncollectable  -0.2  -1.0  —  — 
Impairment losses reversed  -4.3  -2.4  —  -0.1 
Disposed companies  -0.1  0.0  —  — 
31 Dec  2.9  4.2  0.0  0.0 

Impairment losses recognized on trade receivables and contract assets are included in other 
operating expenses in the income statement.
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15.    Defined benefit plans 
Group companies in different countries have number of different post-employment benefit plans 
in accordance with local requirements and practices. The majority of the plans are classified as 
defined contribution plans. Other post-employment benefit plans than defined contribution plans 
are classified as defined benefit plans. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The fixed contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as employee benefit 
expenses in the period to which they relate. The Group has no further legal or constructive 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 

Defined benefit plans typically define an amount of post-employment benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as 
age, years of service and compensation. Defined benefit plans are funded with payments 
to insurance companies. 

For defined benefit plans, the net liability recognized in the statement of financial position 
equals the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the closing date less the fair 
value of the plan assets. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 
separately for each plan by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
The actuarial calculations include several financial and demographic assumptions and any 
change in these will impact the carrying amount and future expense of the defined benefit 
obligation. 

Current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on settlements are 
recognized in employee benefit expenses. Net interest expense or income is recognized in 
financial items under interest expense or interest income. All remeasurements of the 
defined benefit liability or asset arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.

The Group manages Defined benefit plans through insurance companies. The employer has 
guaranteed to the members of the plans a certain level of benefit after their retirement, which 
depends on the length of service and salary base. The salary base is an average of last years’ 
salaries indexed with common salary index. After the retirement, the benefit payable is indexed 
yearly.

In Sweden, the Group’s risk is only on active employees, but in Finland the Group’s risk covers 
also around 900 non-active employees. When the pensioner who has a vested pension, retires, 
the final amount of the pension is revised in the Finnish pension plan and as a result, the 
employer may incur additional costs. In addition, in the Finnish pension plan, the index 
increases that are borne by the employer during the period between the grant date of the vested 
pension and the beginning of the pension are charged only in the year when the pension is 
granted. In some insurance contracts, under certain conditions, the insured person has the right 
to retire earlier than at the normal retirement age. These additional expenses are charged on 
the beginning of the retirement.

In Finland, the plan covers 6 active employees and it is closed for future pension accruals. The 
active employees have been able to transfer their defined benefit pension to a defined 
contribution plan from 1 Jan 2017. Some employees have chosen this option in 2021, and as a 
result, a settlement gain of 0.4 million has been recognized in personnel expenses. The net 
defined benefit liability decreased by the corresponding amount. 

In Sweden, the plan covers 78 active employees. As the Group does not have actuarial or 
investment risk for those plan members whose employment has ceased, the plan members are 
removed from the pension plan and a settlement is recognized annually. In 2021, a settlement 
gain of EUR 1.5 million was recognized in personnel expenses and the net defined benefit 
liability decreased by the corresponding amount.

In Norway, the collective defined benefit pension scheme is closed and the Group has instead 
established an unfunded compensation scheme for the employees. The size of the 
compensation and the profile for its accrual are calculated based on parameters at the time of 
the change and are accounted for as a defined benefit pension scheme in the financial 
statements. The accrual formula and profile of the compensation scheme are used as the basis 
to make provisions in the accounts so that the total compensation earned to date by employees 
at any time is provided for as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 
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plan covers 823 employees and pensioners. In addition, there are various other closed and 
unfunded pension plans in Norway covering 385 employees and pensioners. 
  
Defined benefit cost recognized in income statement and in other comprehensive income
EUR million 2021 2020
Service cost

Current service cost  3.4  2.8 
Settlements  -1.9  0.1 

Net interest  -0.3  -0.4 
Total  1.1  2.5 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement

Gains (-)/losses (+) from change in demographic assumptions  0.1  -0.3 
Gains (-)/losses (+) from change in financial assumptions  -1.4  2.0 
Gains (-)/losses (+) from experience adjustments  0.5  -0.8 
Gains (-)/losses (+) on plan assets  2.7  -1.5 

Total  1.9  -0.6 

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position

Present value of 
defined benefit 

obligaton1)
Fair value of plan 

assets2) Net liability

EUR million 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
1 Jan  103.7  110.7  -65.5  -69.1  38.2  41.6 
Current service cost  3.3  2.7  —  —  3.3  2.7 
Interest expense/income  0.8  1.2  -0.5  -0.8  0.3  0.4 
Contribution  —  —  -5.2  -5.0  -5.2  -5.0 
Benefits paid  -4.5  -4.0  4.5  4.0  —  — 
Curtailment and settlement  -28.9  -8.5  27.0  8.6  -1.9  0.1 
Actuarial gains/losses  -0.7  1.1  2.7  -1.7  2.0  -0.6 
Operations acquired/divested  —  0.5  —  —  —  0.5 
Exchange rate difference  0.6  -0.1  0.7  -1.4  1.3  -1.5 
31 Dec  74.2  103.7  -36.4  -65.5  38.0  38.3 

1) Of which EUR 39.0 (41.7) million in Finland, EUR 7.2 (34.6) million in Sweden and EUR 28.1 (27.3) million in 
Norway.
2) Of which EUR 28.5 million (33.9) in Finland and EUR 7.9 million (31.6) in Sweden.

EUR million 2021 2020
Defined benefit obligations  38.7  38.3 
Defined benefit plan assets  -0.7  — 
Net liability  38.0  38.3 

86

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 187

FINANCIALS



Allocation of plan assets

2021 2020
EUR million % EUR million %

In Sweden, plan assets are 
comprised as follows
Equity instruments  2.1  26.6  7.2  22.9 
Debt instruments  3.2  40.8  14.1  44.7 
Property  0.7  8.9  3.1  9.7 
Other  1.9  23.7  7.2  22.7 
Total  7.9  100.0  31.6  100.0 

In Finland, the plan assets are accrued from the insurance premiums paid to the insurance 
company and accumulated up to the reporting date. The assets are part of the insurance 
company's investment assets and they are responsible for reporting the assets. A specification 
of the plan assets is not available.

Actuarial assumptions
% 2021 2020
Finland
Discount rate  1.0  0.4 
Future salary increases  3.7  2.9 
Future pension increases  2.3  1.5 
Inflation rate  2.0  1.2 

Sweden
Discount rate  1.9  1.1 
Future salary increases  2.2  3.0 
Future pension increases  2.2  1.5 
Inflation rate  2.2  1.5 

Norway
Discount rate  1.9  1.7 
Future salary inflation  2.8  2.3 
Growth in the basic state pension (G)  2.5  2.0 

Sensitivity analysis of actuarial assumptions
The following table shows how possible change in one assumption, holding other assumptions 
constant, affect the defined benefit obligation.

Change in
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Finland
Discount rate  0.5 %  -6.7%  7.5 %
Future pension increase  0.5 %  6.7%  -6.1 %
Life expectancy +1 year  6.2% 

Sweden
Discount rate  0.5 %  -8.8%  9.8 %
Future salary increase  0.5 %  1.3%  -1.3 %
Future pension increase  0.5 %  8.6%  -8.0 %
Life expectancy +1 year  5.7% 

Norway
Discount rate  0.5 %  -1.5%  1.7 %
Future salary increase  0.5 %  0.4%  -0.4 %
Future pension increase  0.5 %  1.2%  — %
Life expectancy +1 year  1.3% 
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Maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14 years in Finland, 15 years 
in Sweden and 10 years in Norway.

The following table shows the maturity profile of the future benefit payments which are the basis 
for the calculated undiscounted defined benefit obligation.

EUR million 2021
Maturity under 1 year  3.1 
Maturity 1–5 years  16.9 
Maturity 5–10 years  19.8 
Maturity 10–30 years  55.7 
Maturity over 30 years  5.9 

 101.4 

Expected contributions in 2022 
Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 Dec 2022 are 
EUR 1.5 million.

Multi-employer plans
The ITP pension plans operated by Alecta and Collectum in Sweden are multi-employer defined 
benefit pension plans which pool the assets contributed by various entities that are not under 
common control and the assets provide benefits to employees of more than one entity. It has 
not been possible to get sufficient information for the calculation of obligations and assets by 
employer from Alecta and Collectum and, therefore, these plans have been accounted for as 
defined contribution plans in the consolidated financial statements. In Tietoevry 4 710 
employees are included in these pension plans. The yearly contribution to the plans are around 
EUR 29 million.

4 452 employees in the Group’s Norwegian companies are members of an early retirement 
scheme (AFP), which is a multi-company defined benefit scheme, and is financed by premium 
payments determined as a percentage of salary. There is no reliable measurement and 
allocation of liabilities and assets between the companies that participate in the scheme. The 
scheme is, therefore, treated for accounting purposes as a defined contribution plan and the 
premiums paid are recognized as costs through profit or loss. The premium rate for 2021 was 
2.5% (2.5) corresponding to EUR 4.5 (3.8) million. The scheme is underfunded, and the 
administrator (Fellesordningen for AFP) assumes that premiums will have to increase over time 
in order to ensure sufficient buffer capital to cope with increased payments. Companies that 
participate in the AFP scheme are jointly and severally liable for two-thirds of the pension 
payments due to employees who satisfy the terms and conditions at any time. The liability 
applies both to shortfalls in premium payments and if the premium rate applied proves 
insufficient to meet the liabilities. In the event that the scheme is terminated, the participating 
companies have a duty to continue to make premium payments to provide for pension 
payments to employees who are members of the scheme or who satisfy the requirements of 
collective agreements for such pension arrangements at the date of termination. 
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16.    Provisions 
Provisions at Tietoevry Group mostly comprise of restructuring and contract-related provisions.
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount which is recognized when the entity 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is more 
likely than not that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation and are 
split between amounts expected to be settled within 12 months at the end of the reporting 
period and amounts expected to be settled later (non-current). 

Provisions for restructuring 

Restructuring provision is only recognized when a formal plan has been approved and the 
implementation of it has either commenced or the plan has been announced.

Provisions for loss-making contracts

Provision is recognised for any unavoidable net loss arising from the contract. 

Other provisions
Other provisions mainly consist of assurance type of warranties related to deliveries and 
other risk provisions.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Provisions require management to assess the best estimate of the future costs needed to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The actual costs may differ from the 
estimated costs. 

EUR million
Provisions for 
restructuring

Provisions for 
loss-making 

contracts
Other 

provisions Total
1 Jan 2021  24.4  12.9  11.5  48.8 
Translation differences  0.0  -0.2  0.1  -0.1 
Increases in provisions  10.1  0.7  2.1  13.0 
Use of provisions  -21.1  -9.3  -3.9  -34.2 
Reversal of provisions  -2.2  -0.7  -2.1  -5.0 
31 Dec 2021  11.3  3.4  7.7  22.4 

of which
Non-current  0.8  —  2.0  2.8 
Current  10.6  3.4  5.7  19.6 

Total  11.3  3.4  7.7  22.4 

In 2021, Tietoevry initiated employee consultations regarding the Cloud & Infra business.

EUR million
Provisions for 
restructuring

Provisions for 
loss-making 

contracts
Other 

provisions Total
1 Jan 2020  14.4  2.0  8.1  24.5 
Translation differences  0.3  0.0  -0.1  0.2 
Increases in provisions  40.6  26.3  8.7  75.6 
Use of provisions  -29.6  -15.1  -1.1  -45.7 
Reversal of provisions  -1.3  -0.3  -4.2  -5.7 
31 Dec 2020  24.4  12.9  11.5  48.8 

of which
Non-current  1.4  0.0  1.9  3.2 
Current  23.0  12.9  9.7  45.6 

Total  24.4  12.9  11.5  48.8 

In 2020, restructuring provisions related to the integration measures mainly in the Nordics.
In addition, Tietoevry decided to end the common SmartUtilities platform resulting to provisions 
for terminated customer contracts. 
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17.    Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables represent unpaid, non-interest bearing liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period. Contract liabilities relate to fixed-price projects where the customer invoicing is 
based on agreed milestones and the payments received by the reporting date exceeds the 
services rendered. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities if they are due to be settled 
within 12 months from the end of the reporting period. They are recognized at their fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The carrying amount of the trade and other payables approximate to their fair values due 
to their short-term nature.

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Non-current
Advance payments  29.2  29.4 
Accruals  5.5  4.7 
Total  34.7  34.2 

Current
Trade payables  260.8  189.7 
Contract liabilities  56.0  56.3 
Advance payments  0.7  1.9 
Accrued liabilities

Employee-related accruals  210.5  172.0 
Interest  3.8  4.1 
Other accrued expenses  57.3  102.6 

Value added tax liabilities  51.0  53.2 
Payroll tax liabilities  32.1  80.7 
Total  672.3  660.4 
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
This section includes notes related to Tietoevry's financial risk and capital structure 
management. The financial risks are monitored and managed via Tietoevry's Group Treasury.

18.    Management of financial risks and capital structure 
The group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and commodity risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The operative management of 
the treasury activities of Tietoevry is centralized into Group Treasury. The Group Treasury is 
responsible for managing the Group’s financial risk position and maintaining adequate liquidity. 
The Treasury Policy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors, defines the principles 
for measuring and managing liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risks and counter-
party risk of the Group. The Treasury Policy also defines the division of responsibilities with 
regard to financial risk management. The Group reviews and monitors financial risks on a 
regular basis.

Market risk
Currency risk management
Transaction risk
Currency risk means the risk that the result or economic situation of the Group changes due to 
changes in exchange rates. Foreign trade, Group internal transactions and liquidity 
management in non-euro countries generate transaction exposure to the Group. The objective 
of the Groups' currency risk policy is to secure profitability of operative business by managing 
recognized exposures while maintaining on a Group level a sufficient flexibility to adjust to 
changing currency markets. The underlying exposure includes financial items denominated in 
non-functional currencies of operating companies, such as internal funding, foreign currency 
bank account balances, and estimated cash flows such as firm commitments and future trade 
transactions.

Swedish krona, Norwegian krone, Czech koruna, Indian rupee, Polish zloty and US dollar are 
the largest currencies in the exposure. Other currencies, which does not have material impact 
on group exposure individually, are Ukraine hryvnia and Russian rouble. During 2021, currency 
forward contracts and swaps were used to mitigate the risks. Gains and losses from foreign 
exchange contracts are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Group Companies must hedge their identified currency risks with the Group Treasury unless 
there are legal restrictions preventing this. The benchmark for the Group’s currency position is a 
situation where all the identified currency risks are eliminated. A deviation from this benchmark 
is defined as an open position. The following deviations can be made based on the total size of 
the Group’s gross currency position (identified currency risks, excluding the hedging 
transactions): 
• +/- 15 %: Group Treasury 
• +/- 25 %: Treasury Committee 
• Greater deviation: Board of Directors 

The overall operational hedging ratio at the end of Dec 2021 was 101% (99%).
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Identified currency transaction risk exposure and sensitivity analysis

EUR million
Loans and 

Cash
Estimated 

cash flows Leases

Total 
foreign 

exchange 
exposure

External 
foreign 

exchange 
hedges

Transaction 
exposure 

sensitivity1)

Foreign 
exchange 

hedge 
sensitivity1)

Net effect 
gain/(loss)

SEK
31 Dec 2021  -125.6  23.4  —  -102.2  103.6  12.6  -10.4  2.2 
31 Dec 2020  44.9  26.5  —  71.4  -63.8  -4.5  6.4  1.9 

NOK
31 Dec 2021  17.1  10.8  —  27.9  -31.0  -1.7  3.1  1.4 
31 Dec 2020  -28.7  12.3  —  -16.1  22.4  2.8  -2.2  0.6 

PLN
31 Dec 2021  -0.7  -8.8  0.7  -8.8  8.9  —  -0.9  -0.9 
31 Dec 2020  -0.2  -9.5  1.4  -8.3  9.5  -0.1  -0.9  -1.1 

CZK
31 Dec 2021  -0.2  -47.6  5.9  -41.9  48.4  -0.6  -4.8  -5.4 
31 Dec 2020  -3.0  -50.1  10.1  -43.0  53.7  -0.7  -5.4  -6.1 

INR
31 Dec 2021  —  -31.1  —  -31.1  31.0  —  -3.1  -3.1 
31 Dec 2020  —  -34.0  —  -34.0  33.9  —  -3.4  -3.4 

USD
31 Dec 2021  -0.6  0.5  —  -0.1  -0.5  0.1  0.1  0.1 
31 Dec 2020  -1.4  —  -0.1  -1.6  —  0.2  —  0.2 

Other
31 Dec 2021  -1.9  —  —  -1.9  —  0.2  —  0.2 
31 Dec 2020  -1.5  —  —  -0.7  —  0.1  —  0.1 

1) The maximum pre-tax effect (EUR million) of 10% negative change in exchange rates on the Group's foreign 
exchange position over the following year.

Translation risk
According to the Treasury Policy, hedging translation exposure is subject to the Board of 
Directors' decision. Exposure includes the acquisition price, share capital and restricted and 
non-restricted reserves of subsidiaries in non-euro countries, as well as the result of the period. 
NOK 14 875 and SEK 5 113 million exposure forms the majority of the translation risk. The 
translation position was unhedged at the end of 2021.

Interest rate risk management
The most significant part of Group's interest rate risk arises from Group's borrowings and 
financial investments. The objective of interest rate risk management is to minimize the effect of 
interest rate fluctuations on Tietoevry’s annual results and economic positions. Group Treasury 
is responsible for the monitoring and operative management of the Group’s interest rate 
position. Interest rate position includes loans, financial investments and interest rate derivative 
contracts. According to the Treasury Policy, 30 months is defined as a benchmark for the 
Group's interest rate position, in terms of weighted average time to re-pricing. At the end of  
2021, the ratio was at 24 months (26 months in 2020).

31 Dec 2021
EUR million Amount

Average 
rate, %

Rate 
sensitivity1)

Capital markets2)  -397.8  1.8  — 
Money markets  318.7  0.2  0.1 
Other loans  -360.2  0.9  -3.3 
Other receivables  28.8  3.5  — 
Leasing  -200.9  4.3  -2.0 

31 Dec 2020
EUR million Amount

Average 
rate, %

Rate 
sensitivity1)

Capital markets  -397.2  1.8  — 
Money markets  261.0  0.4  0.4 
Other loans  -521.8  1.3  -4.8 
Other receivables  38.2  3.0  — 
Leasing  -237.9  4.2  -2.4 

1) The maximum pre-tax effect (EUR million) of 1% rise in interest rates on the Group's net interest expenses over 
the following year. 
2) The duration of underlying instruments was 3.2 (4.1 in 2020).
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Commodity risk management
Majority of power procurement has been centralized to a selected supplier and under the 
selected model, Group does not enter into any new power derivative agreements in its own 
name.

Credit risk management
Credit risk is managed on Group level. Credit risk derives from financial investments, derivative 
contracts and customer-related risks, such as accounts receivables. Group Treasury maintains 
a list of approved counterparts for commercial paper investments and other financial 
transactions. Core banks of the Group should have a minimum long-term rating of Baa3 or 
BBB-. 

Customer-related credit risks are assessed based on payment history and financial strength in 
accordance with the Credit Policy. The Credit Policy defines the limits for the acceptable level of 
customer credit risk in terms of invoicing schedules and payment terms. In addition, the Group 
uses customer credit insurance, given by global credit insurer, as a collateral. Excluded from 
credit insurance cover are all Public Sector customers and some other selected customers. In 
case of default by customer under insurance, the credit insurer covers 90% of the open 
accounts receivables, or up to customer specific limit received from credit insurer. The 
maximum exposure to customer related credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of 
trade receivables. There are no major concentrations of credit risk in the Group, whether 
through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions.

Liquidity risk management and funding
Liquidity risk management and funding principles are defined in the Treasury Policy. One of the 
key tasks of Group Treasury is to secure adequate funding for the Group. The Group has a 
committed EUR 250 million revolving credit facility, which matures in 2024. The Group has also 
overdraft facilities and a EUR 250 million commercial paper programme available to maintain 
flexibility in funding. In addition, the Group has two Sale of Receivables facilities, EUR 50 million 
and SEK 450 million. 
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Debt structure
31 Dec 2021 Amount 

drawn
Amount 

available
Maturity structure

EUR million 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027–
Loans Bonds  400.0  —  —  —  100.0  300.0  —  — 

Commercial paper programme  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Revolving credit facility  —  250.0  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Liabilities towards joint ventures  5.1  —  5.1  —  —  —  —  — 
European Investment Bank  78.5  —  13.1  13.1  13.1  13.1  13.1  13.1 
Syndicated term loan  254.2  —  —  80.0  174.2  —  —  — 
Other loans  29.0  —  13.3  8.8  3.9  1.9  0.4  — 

 766.8  250.0  31.4  101.9  291.2  315.0  13.5  13.1 

Interest payments  —  —  10.6  9.8  8.6  6.1  —  — 

Trade payables Outflow  260.8  —  260.8  —  —  —  —  — 

Other liabilities Lease liabilities  242.3  —  69.2  47.2  33.2  20.4  13.2  59.0 

Total  1 269.8  250.0  372.1  158.9  333.0  341.5  26.8  72.1 
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31 Dec 2020 Amount 
drawn

Amount 
available

Maturity structure
EUR million 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026–
Loans Bond  400.0  —  —  —  —  100.0  300.0  — 

Commercial paper programme  5.0  —  5.0  —  —  —  —  — 
Revolving credit facility  —  250.0  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Liabilities towards Joint Ventures  13.7  —  13.7  —  —  —  —  — 
European Investment Bank  85.0  —  6.5  13.1  13.1  13.1  13.1  26.2 
Syndicated term loan  400.0  —  —  —  80.0  320.0  —  — 
Other loans  26.7  —  15.0  8.4  2.7  0.5  0.1  — 

 930.4  250.0  40.2  21.5  95.8  433.6  313.1  26.2 

Interest payments  —  —  5.7  5.7  5.4  3.4  0.2  0.1 

Trade payables Outflow  189.7  —  189.7  —  —  —  —  — 

Other liabilities Lease liabilities  267.2  —  71.5  55.7  34.3  21.8  12.8  71.0 

Total  1 387.3  250.0  307.2  82.9  135.5  458.9  326.1  97.3 

Capital management
The objective is to keep the capital structure on a level securing adequate financial flexibility for 
the operations. The capital structure of the Group is being continuously monitored through Net 
debt/EBITDA ratio. The ratio is calculated by dividing interest-bearing net debt with the last 12 
months' EBITDA of the Group.

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Net debt  610.6  883.3 
12 months EBITDA  557.4  351.3 
Net debt/EBITDA  1.1  2.5 

Net debt/EBITDA ratio is a covenant used in certain funding arrangements. Tietoevry Group is 
within limits for this covenant as at the reporting date and comparative period.
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19.    Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
Tietoevry Group's interest-bearing liabilities consist of bonds, other loans, lease liabilities and 
Cash Pool liabilities towards joint ventures.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of 
transaction costs which are recognized in income statement as interest expenses over the 
loan term. Debt is classified as short term if it is payable within 12 months period, 
otherwise it is classified as non-current.

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Non-current
Bonds  397.8  397.2 
Other loans  333.8  488.8 
Lease liabilities  144.0  171.0 
Total  875.6  1 057.0 

Current
Other loans  26.4  25.9 
Cash Pool liabilities towards joint ventures  5.1  13.7 
Lease liabilities  62.5  72.1 
Total  94.0  111.7 
Total Interest bearing loans and borrowings  969.6  1 168.7 

More information on debt structure and carrying interest rates is disclosed in note 18.
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Change in liabilities arising from financing activities
Non-cash changes

EUR million 31 Dec 2020 Cash flows

Foreign 
exchange gains 

and losses Reclassification
Acquisitions 

and disposals New contracts
De-recognized 

contracts Other 31 Dec 2021
Non-current interest-bearing loans  885.9  -145.8  0.1  -13.1  —  3.3  —  1.2  731.6 
Current interest-bearing loans  39.7  -19.7  —  13.1  —  —  —  -1.4  31.5 
Lease liabilities  243.1  -73.1  4.5  —  -0.9  46.5  -14.1  0.5  206.5 
Total  1 168.7  -238.6  4.6  —  -0.9  49.8  -14.1  0.3  969.6 

Non-cash changes

EUR million 31 Dec 2019 Cash flows
Foreign exchange 
gains and losses Reclassification New contracts

De-recognized 
contracts Other 31 Dec 2020

Non-current interest-bearing loans  591.5  297.4  —  -6.5  2.6  —  0.9  885.9 
Current interest-bearing loans  372.6  -342.6  —  6.5  2.5  —  0.7  39.7 
Lease liabilities  298.3  -70.6  -9.0  —  48.2  -24.0  0.1  243.1 
Total  1 262.5  -115.8  -9.0  —  53.3  -24.0  1.7  1 168.7 

 The company issued a EUR 300 million bond in June 2020 to refinance a bridge loan related to the merger. The bond has a coupon of 2% and it will mature in June 2025.
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20.    Leases 
Tietoevry Group mainly acts as a lessee and leases premises, IT equipment and cars. In 
monetary terms, the highest portion of the Group's lease portfolio is for leasing premises. 
Tietoevry Group also leases equipment for Data centres to support continuous service delivery 
to its customers. Rent of company cars is part of employees' benefit package, the portion of 
employee share in payment being subject to local HR policies and varies between 0% to 100%.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Group as a lessee

Initially, lease liabilities are measured at the commencement date at the present value of 
the lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if it can be 
readily determined. If the rate can’t be readily determined, such as in real estate leases, 
the incremental borrowing rate is used. 

Incremental borrowing rate is defined for each legal entity, differentiated based on lease 
contract length and updated on a yearly basis, which further impacts the value of right-of-
use asset, lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, and split between 
depreciations and interest expenses. Management judgement has been used in 
determining the incremental borrowing rate that would reflect the rate of interest that 
Tietoevry group would pay to borrow over similar term, and with similar security, the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset over similar value to the right-of-use asset in similar 
economic environment. Average annual incremental borrowing rate applied to discounting 
future cash flows for existing lease agreements at year-end is 4.3%.

Lease term includes non-cancellable period for which the Group has the right to use the 
underlying asset, together with both enforceable:
• Periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if the Group is reasonably certain 

to exercise that option; and
• Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if the Group is reasonably 

certain not to exercise that option.

The decision if extension or termination options of lease contracts would be used, lies 
within related organisation responsible for underlying asset management and is in line with 
overall strategy and business development plans. 

In determining if either lessor or lessee would incur more than insignificant penalties by 
using or not using either of options, the Group considers not only penalties directly defined 
in contracts, but also wider economic costs, such as, reallocation costs or finding new 
tenants.

Lease payments include fixed payments, in substance fixed payments, lease payments 
that depend on index or rate and exercise price of purchase option, if it is reasonably 
certain to be exercised.

Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost, by increasing or reducing 
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and the lease payments made, 
respectively. Lease liabilities are remeasured for lease reassessments done or modified to 
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Interest expenses are recognized in profit or loss.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount equal to lease liability:
• less payments made at or before commencement date and lease incentives 

received
• adding initial direct costs; and
• adjusting by estimated dismantling or site restoration costs.

Subsequently, right-of-use assets are measured applying cost model, where asset cost is 
reduced by accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted by 
remeasurement of a respective lease liability.

Right-of use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of 
the underlying asset.

Tietoevry has applied recognition exemptions allowed by the standard not to capitalize 
short-term leases (lease term less than 1 year at commencement, where there is no 
purchase option) and leases of low value assets. Typically, such assets would include 
lease of individual IT equipment and office furniture. Payments for such assets are  
recognized in profit or loss on straight-line basis during the lease term. 

The Group has also elected to separate service component of a lease for all asset types, 
except for cars, where only variable lease payments are excluded from the measurement 
of lease liability. Non-lease components are separated from lease payments on fair market 
value basis. If such information is not readily available, management judgement has been 
applied in estimating the value.
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The Group presents cash payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities as cash 
flows from financing activities and interest portion within cash flows from operating 
activities. Short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low-value assets and 
variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability are 
presented as part of operating activities.

Group as a lessor

If an arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset to a purchaser, often together 
with related services, the assets, mainly technical equipment, are classified as embedded 
finance leases. Further the lease is classified either as Operating lease or Finance lease. 
As of 31 Dec 2021, all such cases have been classified as Finance leases. Sales derived 
from these embedded finance leases are recognized at the beginning of the agreement 
period. The annual payments are disclosed as amortization of the finance lease loan 
receivable and interest income.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Lease term, use of extension and termination options

Management judgement has been applied in determining lease term, where there are 
either extension or termination options included in lease contracts. Lease terms are 
negotiated on individual basis and contain a wide range of renewal and termination 
options. As of 31 Dec 2021, weighted average residual lease term for lease contracts is 
6.4 years (residual term vary between 0.1–47 years). Lease term for premises leases 
referred to as "evergreen leases" or "rolling" leases has been determined based on the 
internally defined site categories. Those take into consideration the number of full time 
employees and strategic importance of the site, allowing longer lease term for larger Level 
1 sites (5 years and more) and recognizing higher flexibility for smallest Level 1 sites (1 
year, short-term lease exemption from on balance sheet treatment not applied). Total 
annual leasing expenses (depreciation and interest) for such leases amounted to EUR 6.3 
million during year 2021, weighted average remaining lease term being 2.6 years.

Leases impact on income statement
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Tietoevry as a Lessee Buildings  -57.7  -59.3 

Equipment and Machinery  -13.5  -13.4 
Depreciation expenses of Right-of-use 
assets  -71.2  -72.7 

Tietoevry as a Lessee Impairment losses  -5.3  -1.0 

Tietoevry as a Lessee Expense relating to variable lease payments  -6.6  -5.0 

Tietoevry as a Lessee
Expenses relating to short-term leases and 
lease of low value leases  -4.0  -5.3 
Other income and expenses  -10.6  -10.3 

Tietoevry as a Lessor Revenue  2.0  1.6 
Tietoevry as a Lessor Materials and services  -1.8  -1.4 

Tietoevry as a Lessor
Finance income on the net 
investment in lease  0.1  0.2 

Tietoevry as a Lessee Interest expense on lease liabilities  -9.5  -11.1 
Expenses reported in Financial items  -9.4  -11.0 

Total impact on Income Statement from 
leasing contracts  -96.2  -94.8 

Leases impact on Statement of cash flows
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Tietoevry as a Lessee
Interest paid (Cash flow from Operating 
activities)  -9.0  -11.0 

Principal paid (Cash flow from Financing 
activities)  -73.1  -70.6 
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Leases impact on Statement of financial position

Right-of-use assets

EUR million Buildings

Machinery 
and 

Equipment Total

Tietoevry as a Lessee 31 Dec 2020  208.6  23.1  231.7 

Additions1)  33.2  14.1  47.3 

Terminations  -11.0  -2.9  -13.8 
Depreciation  -57.7  -13.5  -71.2 
Impairment  -5.3  —  -5.3 
Subleased  1.4  -1.2  0.2 
Currency translation differences  4.3  0.2  4.4 
31 Dec 2021  171.5  21.0  192.4 

EUR million Buildings

Machinery 
and 

Equipment Total

Tietoevry as a Lessee 31 Dec 2019  263.5  25.6  289.1 

Additions1)  32.3  16.5  48.7 

Terminations  -18.3  -5.4  -23.6 
Depreciation  -59.3  -13.4  -72.7 
Impairment  -1.0  —  -1.0 
Currency translation differences  -8.6  -0.2  -8.8 
31 Dec 2020  208.6  23.1  231.7 

1) Additions represent increase in right-of-use assets both due to new lease contracts, as well as remeasurements 
and lease modifications.

Lease liabilities

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Current  62.5  72.1 
Non-current  144.0  171.0 
Total  206.5  243.1 

The movement in lease liabilities over reporting period is presented in note 19.
The maturity structure of contractual undiscounted lease payments is presented in note 18.

Lease receivables

Net investment in lease
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Current  2.9  2.3 
Non-current  2.7  2.9 
Total  5.6  5.2 

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows for finance leases
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Within one year  3.0  2.4 
One to two years  2.2  1.7 
Two to three years  0.5  1.0 
Three to four years  —  0.2 
Four to five years  —  — 
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable  5.7  5.4 
Unearned finance income  -0.1  -0.2 
Net investment in lease  5.6  5.2 
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21.    Financial income and expenses 
Finance income and expenses comprise interest, foreign exchange gains and losses and other financial income and expenses, such as fees to banks.

2021 Interest 
income

Interest 
expenses

Foreign exchange 
gains and losses

Other financial 
income

Other financial 
expenses TotalEUR million

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  —  —  -0.1  —  —  -0.1 
Financial assets at amortized cost  1.8  —  -4.7  0.1  —  -2.7 
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost  —  -22.7  —  —  -2.3  -25.0 
Net defined benefit obligation  —  -0.3  —  —  —  -0.3 
Total  1.8  -23.0  -4.8  0.1  -2.3  -28.2 

2020 Interest 
income

Interest 
expenses

Foreign exchange 
gains and losses

Other financial 
income

Other financial 
expenses TotalEUR million

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  —  —  -3.1  —  —  -3.1 
Financial assets at amortized cost  2.1  —  3.9  0.1  —  6.1 
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost  —  -24.0  —  —  -3.1  -27.0 
Net defined benefit obligation  —  -0.4  —  —  —  -0.4 
Total  2.1  -24.4  0.8  0.1  -3.1  -24.4 

Foreign exchange gains and losses included in the operating profit were EUR 3.9 (0.8) million in 2021.
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22.    Financial assets and liabilities - carrying amount and fair value 
and fair value hierarchy 
Financial assets and liabilities of the Group consist of trade receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, lease receivables and payables, trade payables, derivatives (see note 23), bonds 
and other interest-bearing liabilities (see note 19).

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently 
classified either as financial assets at amortized cost or financial assets through profit or 
loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets are accounted at amortized cost only when the asset is held within a 
business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows, which are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

This category of financial assets includes trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, lease receivables and other interest-bearing receivables.

Financial assets in this category are carried at amortized cost in accordance with the 
effective interest method with interest income recognized in profit or loss under financial 
items (see note 21). 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities under this category are initially recognized at fair value, net of 
transaction costs directly associated with the borrowing. For interest-bearing liabilities, 
after initial recognition, liabilities are measured using effective interest rate method, taking 
into account any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement. Related interest 
expenses are recognized in profit or loss under financial items (see note 21).

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognized on the statement of financial 
position at their fair value with gains or losses resulting from change in the fair value, being 
recognized in income statement.

This category mostly consists of derivatives. Gains or losses from revaluation of derivative 
contracts that relate to financial items (loans, cash, leases) are presented as financing 
costs (see note 21), whereas gains or losses from derivatives, mostly currency forward 
contracts that relate to operating activities are included in operating profit.

Fair value measurement is also applicable to trade receivables sold under non-recourse 
factoring agreements, which have not yet been de-recognized from the statement of 
financial position as of the reporting date.

Other investments include unlisted shares, where their fair value cannot be measured 
reliably and, therefore, the cost is considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair 
value.

Determination of fair values

The classification of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement 
of financial position, has been done on three hierarchy levels:
• Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for given or identical assets or liabilities that 

the entity can access at the measurement date;
• Level 2: inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 

indirectly;
• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities, carried at amortized cost is 
considered to provide a reasonable approximation of their fair value, due to the short 
maturity and liquid nature of these items, except for bonds which are traded on active 
market.

Fair values of derivatives is determined based on prevailing marked quotes at the 
reporting date. Foreign exchange derivatives' fair values are calculated according to 
foreign exchange and interest rates on the closing date. 
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Financial assets

EUR million Note
31 Dec 

2021
31 Dec 

2020
Fair value 
hierarchy

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Non-current

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  0.6  0.6 Level 3
Current

Trade receivables at fair value through profit or loss  19.1  34.4 Level 2
Current derivative receivables 23  4.2  1.5 Level 2

Financial assets at amortized cost
Non-current

Other loan receivables, interest-bearing  15.7  12.8 Level 2
Lease receivables 20  2.7  2.9 Level 2

Current
Other loan receivables, interest-bearing 14  13.8  15.1 Level 2
Lease receivables 20  2.9  2.3 Level 2
Trade receivables 14  372.8  358.9 Level 2
Accrued interest income 14  0.1  0.1 Level 2
Cash and cash equivalents 24  323.8  252.3 Level 2

Total  755.5  680.8 

Financial liabilities

EUR million Note
31 Dec 

2021
31 Dec 

2020
Fair value 
hierarchy

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Current derivative liabilities 23  0.8  2.9 Level 2

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Non-current

Lease liability 19, 20  144.0  171.0 Level 2
Bonds1) 19  397.8  397.2 Level 1
Other loans 19  333.8  488.8 Level 2

Current
Trade payables 17  260.8  189.7 Level 2
Accrued interest 17  3.8  4.1 Level 2
Lease liability 19, 20  62.5  72.1 Level 2
Loans 19  31.5  39.6 Level 2

Total  1 235.0  1 365.3 

1) Fixed rate bond where carrying amount of EUR 397.8 million has not been adjusted to match the fair value of EUR 
415.8 million. Fair value of the bond has been calculated based on the prevailing market rate at the end of the 
reporting period.

There has been no movement between the fair value hierarchy levels during 2021.
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23.    Derivatives 
Tietoevry Treasury uses currency forward and swap contracts to manage identified currency 
risks. More information on financial risk management is in note 18 and for Accounting policies 
applied in note 22. Derivatives are used for economic purposes only.

Nominal amounts of derivatives
Includes the gross amount of all nominal values for contracts that have not yet been settled or 
closed. The amount of nominal value outstanding is not necessarily a measure or indication of 
market risk, as the exposure of certain contracts may be offset by other contracts.

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Foreign exchange forward contracts  479.7  484.2 

Fair values of derivatives
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Gross positive fair values  4.2  1.5 
Gross negative fair values  -0.8  -2.9 
The net fair values at the reporting date  3.3  -1.4 

Foreign exchange derivatives' fair values are calculated according to foreign exchange and 
interest rates on the closing date. All outstanding derivative contracts will expire within 12 
months after the reporting date.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Agreements with derivatives' counterparties are based on ISDA Master Agreements or on 
agreements with similar content with regards to offsetting financial assets and liabilities. 
Based on the terms of these agreements, offsetting is possible only under certain 
circumstances, such as, default of either of parties or other force majeure events. If any of those 
occur, then the net position owing/receivable to a single counterparty will be taken as owing.

Gross amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
instruments in the 

statement of 
financial position1)

Related amounts not set off in 
the statement of financial 

position
31 Dec 2021 Financial 

Instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amountEUR million

Derivative financial 
assets  4.2  -0.8  —  3.4 

Derivative financial 
liabilities -0.8  0.8  —  -0.1 

1) No amount have been set off in the statement of financial position

Gross amounts of 
recognized 

financial 
instruments in the 

statement of 
financial position1)

Related amounts not set off in 
the statement of financial 

position
31 Dec 2020 Financial 

Instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amountEUR million

Derivative financial 
assets  1.5  -1.1  —  0.4 

Derivative financial 
liabilities  -2.9  1.1  —  -1.8 

1) No amount have been set off in the statement of financial position
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24.    Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and cash deposits with banks and other 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash within three months and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are included in 
current liabilities in the statement of financial position. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at 
nominal value, which corresponds to their fair value.

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Cash in hand and at bank  309.1  223.3 
Short-term deposits  14.6  29.0 
Total  323.8  252.3 

25.    Share capital and reserves 
Tietoevry has one class of shares, and each share has one vote at the Annual General Meeting 
and equal rights to dividend and other distribution of assets. The company’s Articles of 
Association includes a voting constraint at the Annual General Meeting that no-one is entitled to 
vote on more than one-fifth of the votes represented at the Annual General Meeting.

Tietoevry’s shares have no nominal value and their book value counter value is one euro. All 
issued shares have been fully paid. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors are not deducted from distributable equity 
until approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

When the company's own shares are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, 
including directly attributable costs, is recognized as a deduction in equity.

EUR million
Number of 

shares
Share 

capital

Share issue 
premiums 
and other 
reserves

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity 
reserve Total

1 Jan 2020  118 253 526  76.6  40.9  1 203.5  1 321.0 

Purchase of own shares  -35 000  —  —  —  — 

Return of shares without 
consideration  -5 731  —  —  —  — 

Shares delivered from the 
share-based incentive plans1)  201 998  —  —  —  — 
Translation difference  —  —  1.2  —  1.2 
31 Dec 2020  118 414 793  76.6  42.1  1 203.5  1 322.2 
Purchase of own shares  -140 000  —  —  —  — 

Shares delivered from the 
share-based incentive plans1)  143 391  —  —  —  — 
Translation difference  —  —  —  —  — 
31 Dec 2021  118 418 184  76.6  42.1  1 203.5  1 322.2 

Own shares2)  7 587 
Total number of shares on 
31 Dec 2021²⁾  118 425 771 

1) Shares granted from own shares without effect to share capital.
2) On 31 Dec 2020, the number of shares in the company's possession totalled 10 978 and the total number of 
shares was 118 425 771.

Share capital
The share subscription price received in connection with the share issues is entered in share 
capital to the extent that it has not been recorded in the invested unrestricted equity reserve 
according to the share issue decision.

Share issue premiums and other reserves
Share issue premiums and other reserves include share issue premium of Parent company and 
statutory reserve fund of Tieto Sweden AB.
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Invested unrestricted equity reserve
The invested unrestricted equity reserve includes the subscription price of shares to the extent 
that it has not been recorded in share capital according to specific resolution. 

Retained earnings
Retained earnings consists of the following:

– Costs of share-based payments which are accounted for as equity-settled and 
recognized as an employee benefit expense during the vesting period with a 
corresponding entry in equity. More information is disclosed in note 8. 

– Remeasurements of the defined benefit plans arising from experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions. More information is disclosed in note 15.

– Treasury shares. In 2021, Tietoevry repurchased 140 000 own shares which were 
further delivered from the share-based incentive plans.

– Cumulative translation differences arising from translation of foreign Group companies’ 
assets and liabilities into euro; and

– other retained earnings and losses

Distributable funds
On 31 Dec 2021, the distributable funds of the parent company totalled EUR 1 627.8 million of 
which retained earnings were EUR 419.1 million and net profit for the financial year EUR 1.1 
million. The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting in 2022 that a dividend 
of EUR 1.40 per share is paid for 2021 (dividend of EUR 1.32 per share paid for 2020).
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OTHER INFORMATION
This section includes information about the Group structure, joint ventures, related parties and 
commitments.

26.    Changes in Group structure   
In 2021, Tietoevry sold its Oil & Gas software business as well as the software businesses 
Alystra, Jydacom and TRYGG/2000. The businesses disposed of were reported as part of the 
Industry Software segment. Both divestments are part of Tietoevry’s strategy to seek focus and 
scale.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Disposed operations are consolidated until the point in time when control is transferred. 
Where the disposed operation is part of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill 
has been allocated, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the 
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill 
disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts are expected to 
be recovered principally through sale and the sale is highly probable. From the date of 
classification, the assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair 
value less costs to sell, and the recognition of depreciation is discontinued.

Sale of Oil & Gas software business
In February 2021, Tietoevry announced an agreement with Aucerna, a Quorum Software 
affiliate, to sell its Oil & Gas software business. The transaction was completed in June 2021, 
with a minor part of asset transfers to be completed in early 2022. Through this transaction, the 
Oil & Gas software business will have greater global market reach and growth opportunities. The 
Oil & Gas software business comprises hydrocarbon management, personnel and material 
logistics software and related services with installations in more than 50 countries. Revenue of 
the divested businesses amounted to around EUR 50 million in 2020 and the number of 
employees was around 430.  

With a consideration of EUR 156.8 million including adjustments, a capital gain of EUR 73.3 
million was recognized. The cash payments in total amounted to EUR 154.7 million. In addition, 
Tietoevry will receive a cash compensation of EUR 2.1 million subsequent to the completion of 
asset transfers taking place in early 2022. The following table summarizes the effects of the sale 
on the consolidated financial statements.

EUR million
Intangible and tangible assets 0.2
Right-of-use assets 0.8
Trade and other receivables 14.1
Cash and cash equivalents 7.0
Non-current liabilities -0.7
Trade and other payables -14.0
Fair value of net assets 7.4
Allocation of goodwill and intangible assets on disposal 71.3
Total net assets disposed 78.7

Consideration, including adjustments 156.8
Transaction costs -6.1
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve to profit or loss 1.4
Total net assets disposed -78.7
Gain on disposal, before income tax 73.3
Income tax expense on gain -0.5
Gain on disposal, after income tax 72.8

Consideration received in cash 154.7
Transaction costs -5.9
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -7.0
Net cash flow on disposal 141.8
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Other divestments
In October 2021, Tietoevry announced an agreement to sell its software businesses Alystra, 
Jydacom and TRYGG/2000 to a Nordic software company EG. The transaction was completed 
in December 2021. These businesses focus on creating software products for construction, 
retail, and transport markets. They had limited operational dependencies with the rest of 
Tietoevry. Revenue of the divested businesses amounted to around EUR 13 million in 2020 and 
the number of employees was around 80 in Finland and Sweden. With a consideration of EUR 
40.6 million including adjustments and FX impact, a capital gain of EUR 30.6 million was 
recognized. The following table summarizes the effects of the sale on the consolidated financial 
statements.

EUR million
Intangible assets 2.3
Trade and other receivables 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents 2.1
Non-current liabilities -0.4
Trade and other payables -2.0
Fair value of net assets 2.6
Allocation of goodwill on disposal 7.0
Total net assets disposed 9.7

Consideration, including adjustments and FX impact 40.6
Transaction costs -0.1
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve to profit or loss -0.2
Total net assets disposed -9.7
Gain on disposal, before income tax 30.6
Income tax expense on gain -2.6
Gain on disposal, after income tax 28.0

Consideration received in cash 39.8
Transaction costs  — 
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of -2.1
Net cash flow on disposal 37.7
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27.    Subsidiaries 

Subsidiary shares owned by the Parent company

Company name Domicile

Parent 
company's 

holding 
%

31 Dec 2021 
Book value in 

the Parent 
company 

EUR million
EVRY Card Issuing AS Norway  100.0  77.4 
EVRY Card Payments AS Norway  100.0  0.7 
EVRY Card Services AS Norway  100.0  84.0 
EVRY Danmark A/S Denmark  100.0  0.3 
Fellesdata AS Norway  100.0  — 
Infopulse Brasil Servicos Technologicos Ltda. Brazil  1.0  0.0 
Octagon IT Holding 2  AS Norway  100.0  0.0 
Octagon IT LLC Russia  100.0  0.0 
Octaserv Technologies Pvt. Ltd. India  100.0  2.2 
Tieto Austria GmbH Austria  100.0  0.8 
Tieto (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. China  100.0  0.8 
Tieto China Co., Ltd. China  100.0  4.3 
Tieto Czech s.r.o. Czech Republic  100.0  8.0 
Tieto Czech Support Services s.r.o. Czech Republic  100.0  — 
Tieto Denmark A/S Denmark  100.0  6.5 
Tieto DK A/S Denmark  100.0  1.6 
Tieto Estonia AS Estonia  100.0  0.3 
Tieto Finland Oy Finland  100.0  137.2 
Tieto Finland Support Services Oy Finland  100.0  1.6 
Tieto Germany GmbH Germany  100.0  0.5 
Tieto Global Oy Finland  100.0  1.1 
Tieto Great Britain Ltd. Great Britain  100.0  0.5 
Tieto Latvia SIA Latvia  100.0  15.2 
Tieto Lietuva UAB Lithuania  100.0  2.6 
Tieto Netherlands Holding B.V. Netherlands  100.0  24.5 
Tieto Poland Sp. z o.o Poland  100.0  3.3 
Tieto Support Services Sp. z o.o. Poland  100.0  0.4 
Tieto Sweden AB Sweden  100.0  919.3 
TietoEnator Inc. The United States  100.0  8.0 

TietoEVRY Accounting AS Norway  100.0  16.7 
TietoEVRY Norway AS Norway  100.0  1 007.9 
Total  2 325.5 

Shares in Group companies owned by subsidiaries

Company name Domicile

Group
 holding 

%

31 Dec 2021 
Book value in 

the Parent 
company 

EUR million
Avega Affero AB Sweden  100.0  0.2 
Avega Aqilo AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Avega Catalyst AB Sweden  100.0  0.4 
Avega Clarity AB Sweden  100.0  0.9 
Avega Complius AB Sweden  100.0  — 
Avega Dinamiko AB Sweden  100.0  0.2 
Avega Edge AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Avega Effectus AB Sweden  100.0  0.9 
Avega Group AB Sweden  100.0  45.9 
Avega Kipeo AB Sweden  100.0  1.6 
Avega Kite AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Avega Miundo AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Avega Mtoni AB Sweden  100.0  0.1 
Avega Nuvem AB Sweden  100.0  — 
Avega Primero AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Avega Qurio AB Sweden  100.0  2.8 
Avega Scire AB Sweden  100.0  0.2 
Avega Sempai AB Sweden  100.0  0.5 
Avega Senso AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
Bekk Consulting AS Norway  100.0  46.6 
Emric d.o.o. Beograd Serbia  100.0  — 
EVRY Card Services AB Sweden  100.0  26.2 
EVRY Card Services Oy Finland  100.0  6.4 
EVRY Financial Service UK Ltd. Great Britain  100.0  0.1 
EVRY Financing AB Sweden  100.0  0.0 
EVRY Financing AS Norway  100.0  2.1 
EVRY India Pvt. Ltd. India  100.0  14.7 
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EVRY Sweden AB Sweden  100.0  173.7 
EVRY USA Corporation Inc. The United States  100.0  0.5 
Eye-share AS Norway  100.0  2.5 
Gjeldsregisteret AS Norway  100.0  — 
Infopulse Brasil Servicos Technologicos Ltda. Brazil  99.0  0.1 
Infopulse Bulgaria Ltd. Bulgaria  100.0  0.1 
Infopulse Europe GmbH Germany  100.0  0.0 
Infopulse Poland Sp. z o.o. Poland  100.0  — 
Infopulse Ukraine LLC Ukraine  100.0  0.0 
Infopulse USA LLC The United States  100.0  0.1 
NUK Holding AB Sweden  100.0  18.3 
Tieto India Pvt. Ltd. India  100.0  45.4 
Tieto Rus OOO Russia  100.0  2.3 
Tieto Sweden Support Services AB Sweden  100.0  — 
Tieto Ukraine Support Services LLC Ukraine  100.0  0.8 
Tieto U.S. Inc. The United States  100.0  1.0 
Total  394.7 

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. In India, the official reporting 
period is 1.4.–31.3. according to the Indian legislation.
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28.    Interests in joint ventures 
Tietoevry has established few joint ventures in order to be able to produce high quality IT 
services required by the customer. All other joint ventures are located in Finland except for 
BuyPass AS that is a Norwegian company and joint venture of TietoEVRY Norway AS.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Companies, where Tietoevry has assumed management responsibility, has contractually 
based joint control with a third party and has right to the net assets of the company based 
on the contractual arrangement are included in the consolidated financial statements as 
joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted by using the equity method under which the 
investments in joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognize the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in 
other comprehensive income. When the Group's share of joint venture’s losses exceeds 
the carrying amount of the investment, the investment is recognized at zero value in the 
statement of financial position and the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it 
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Sales to and purchases from joint ventures are made on normal market terms and 
conditions and at market prices. The Group’s share of the joint ventures’ result for the 
period is separately disclosed in the income statement.

Joint ventures

Number of 
shares

Parent 
company's share 

% Voting right %
Carrying value 

EUR million

31 Dec 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tieto Esy Oy  7 300  7 300  80.0  80.0  34.0  34.0 5.1 5.2
TietoIlmarinen Oy  3 570  3 570  70.0  70.0  30.0  30.0 2.2 3.4
Tietokarhu Oy —  8 000 —  80.0 —  20.0 — 2.8
BuyPass AS  21 100  21 100  50.0  50.0  50.0  50.0 9.4  8.3 

 16.7  19.7 

Reconciliation to carrying value
EUR million 2021 2020
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  11.2  11.8 
Acquisition  —  — 
Translation difference  0.4  -0.6 
Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  11.6  11.2 

Equity adjustments, 1 Jan  8.5  11.3 
Share of results  1.5  1.5 
Dividends received  -2.1  -4.3 
Tietokarhu liquidation  -2.8  — 
Equity adjustments, 31 Dec  5.1  8.5 

Carrying value, 31 Dec  16.7  19.7 

Equity adjustments include Group level goodwill of EUR 4.5 (4.5) million.

Tietokarhu Oy's special task as a supplier of IT services for the Tax Administration ended on 31 
December 2020 in accordance with the two-year notice period as the Tax Administration 
switches to the use of a new ready-made software. The Extraordinary General Meeting 
supported the liquidation of Tietokarhu as of 1 January 2021, as a result of which the company 
was dissolved 28 September 2021. Liquidation gain of EUR 0.3 million was booked in the third 
quarter, 2021.

There are no commitments or contingencies related to joint ventures.
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Financial and personnel information of Joint ventures

The summarised financial information below represents amounts in joint ventures' financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards.

31 Dec 2021
Tieto Esy Oy TietoIlmarinen Oy BuyPass ASEUR million

Non-current assets  0.0  0.0  3.5 
Current assets  4.2  1.7  51.1 
Total  4.2  1.7  54.5 

Non-current liabilities  0.1  0.1  0.1 
Current liabilities  0.8  0.5  35.6 
Total  0.8  0.7  35.7 

Net sales  4.6  3.4  27.9 
Expenses  -3.8  -3.6  -24.9 
Profit before taxes  0.7  -0.2  3.0 
Income taxes  -0.2  0.0  -0.8 
Net profit for the financial 
year  0.6  -0.2  2.3 

Dividends paid to Tietoevry  0.6  0.7  0.9 

Average full-time 
personnel during the 
financial year  34  25  76 

31 Dec 2020
Tieto Esy Oy TietoIlmarinen Oy Tietokarhu Oy BuyPass ASEUR million

Non-current assets  0.0  0.0  0.1  2.6 
Current assets  4.5  2.9  7.7  44.4 
Total  4.5  2.9  7.8  47.0 

Non-current liabilities  0.0  0.1  1.0  0.2 
Current liabilities  0.9  0.9  3.0  29.4 
Total  1.0  0.9  4.0  29.7 

Net sales  5.0  6.4  8.0  23.6 
Expenses  -4.0  -4.8  -8.9  -21.0 
Profit before taxes  1.0  1.6  -0.8  2.6 
Income taxes  -0.2  -0.3  -0.4  -0.6 
Net profit for the financial 
year  0.8  1.3  -1.3  2.0 

Dividends paid to Tietoevry  0.6  1.5  2.2  — 

Average full-time 
personnel during the 
financial year  36  37  20  78 
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29.    Related party transactions 
Related parties of Tietoevry include subsidiaries, joint ventures and key management of the 
company and their close family members. Key management includes the members of the Board 
of Directors, Leadership team and the President and CEO.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Sales to and purchases from related parties are made on normal market terms and 
conditions and at market prices. There are no commitments or contingencies on behalf of 
related parties.

The transactions with related parties are presented below. More information on joint ventures is 
disclosed in note 28 and subsidiaries are listed in note 27. Information on management 
remuneration is disclosed in note 8.

Transactions and balances with joint ventures
EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Sales  2.9  8.5 
Other operating income  1.6  3.5 
Purchases  2.1  3.5 
Receivables  0.2  0.3 
Liabilities including cash pool  5.0  13.9 

30.    Commitments and contingencies
The Group's commitments and contingencies mostly relate to lease guarantees and 
performance commitments.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Commitments are disclosed when the Group has a contract where the existence of 
obligation will be only confirmed in the future. 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed by 
uncertain future events that are not wholly within the control of the entity. They can also 
include obligations that are not recognized in the statement of financial position because 
settlement is not probable or their amount cannot be measured reliably. 

 

EUR million 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
For Tietoevry obligations

Mortgages  —  2.5 
Guarantees

Performance guarantees  91.6  82.7 
Payment guarantees  0.3  7.8 
Other  0.2  0.1 

Other Tietoevry obligations
Lease commitments, not yet commenced  67.4  70.7 
Other  0.6  0.7 

On behalf of third parties
Guarantees

Performance guarantees  25.4  25.9 

In addition to the above, TietoEVRY Oyj or other group companies have provided security on 
behalf of delivering Group company relating to some major contracts.
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31.    Events after the reporting period
Tietoevry has established six specialized end-to-end businesses. These six businesses form the 
reportable segments as from the first quarter of 2022. The new structure took effect on 1 
January 2022.

In February, 2022, Tietoevry announced additional cost savings measures to support the plans 
to reach Cloud & Infra's financial targets for 2023. 
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PARENT COMPANY´S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (According to Finnish Accounting Standards)

Income statement

EUR Note 2021 2020
Net sales 1  189 578 776.56  121 506 688.34 

Other operating income 2  71 785 655.83  30 331 222.55 
Personnel expenses 3  -15 031 276.18  -16 203 417.07 
Depreciation and impairment losses 8, 9  -25 733 340.37  -26 254 311.72 
Other operating expenses 4  -324 321 796.64  -159 959 364.53 
Operating profit  -103 721 980.80  -50 579 182.43 

Financial income and expenses 6  18 401 547.19  9 801 579.46 
Profit before appropriations and taxes  -85 320 433.61  -40 777 602.97 

Appropriations
Group contribution  101 450 000.00  107 911 000.00 

Profit before taxes  16 129 566.39  67 133 397.03 

Income taxes 7  -15 060 370.04  -11 716 565.82 
Net profit for the financial year  1 069 196.35  55 416 831.21 
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Balance Sheet 

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 8  179 764 483.57  204 348 438.14 
Tangible assets 9  997 029.89  1 734 794.64 
Investments 10  2 339 345 203.31  2 553 877 750.35 
Total non-current assets  2 520 106 716.77  2 759 960 983.13 

Current assets
Long-term receivables

Receivables from Group companies 11  49 963 581.34  155 106 208.04 
Other receivables 11  3 076 212.06  4 081 355.92 

 53 039 793.40  159 187 563.96 
Current receivables

Accounts receivables 12  83 969.46  6 006.96 
Receivables from Group companies 12, 13  265 292 666.11  209 972 821.63 
Receivables from joint ventures 12, 13  34 158.12  59 347.24 
Other receivables 12  4 053 197.00  2 474 449.03 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 13  8 892 784.56  7 446 174.17 

 278 356 775.25  219 958 799.03 

Cash and cash equivalents  216 229 117.95  137 952 944.02 

Total current assets  547 625 686.60  517 099 307.01 

Total assets  3 067 732 403.37  3 277 060 290.14 

EUR Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Shareholders' equity and liabilities
EUR Note 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Shareholders' equity 14
Share capital  76 555 412.00  76 555 412.00 
Share issue premiums  13 791 579.51  13 791 579.51 
Invested unrestricted equity reserve  1 207 617 299.52  1 207 617 299.52 
Retained earnings  419 147 178.84  523 840 957.06 
Net profit for the financial year  1 069 196.35  55 416 831.21 
Total equity  1 718 180 666.22  1 877 222 079.30 

Provisions 15  1 581 645.91  2 620 770.27 

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Bonds 16  400 000 000.00  400 000 000.00 
Loans 16  319 584 615.38  478 461 538.46 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 16  44 705.25  — 
Other non-current liabilities 16  —  628.13 

Total non-current liabilities  719 629 320.63  878 462 166.59 

Current liabilities 17
Accounts payables  19 974 239.66  8 518 362.36 
Liabilities to Group companies 17, 18  577 336 540.64  471 541 257.34 
Liabilities to joint ventures 17, 18  5 096 656.74  13 694 400.23 
Loans  13 076 923.08  6 538 461.54 
Other current liabilities  1 757 969.91  8 825 856.86 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 18  11 098 440.58  9 636 935.65 

Total current liabilities  628 340 770.61  518 755 273.98 

Total liabilities  1 347 970 091.24  1 397 217 440.57 

Total equity and liabilities  3 067 732 403.37  3 277 060 290.14 
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Statement of cash flow

EUR 2021 2020
Cash flow from operating activities

Net loss before appropriations and taxes  -85 320 433.61  -40 777 602.97 
Adjustments

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses  25 733 340.37  26 254 311.72 
Net financial income  -18 401 547.19  -9 801 579.46 
Profit on sale of subsidiaries  -36 111 989.92  — 
Other adjustments  -2 388 320.43  22 245.44 
Other non-cash items  96 987 855.03  2 048 306.87 

Cash generated from operating activities before 
net working capital  -19 501 095.75  -22 254 318.40 

Change in net working capital
Change in current receivables  8 482 365.74  13 053 627.88 
Change in current non-interest bearing liabilities  -9 232 690.47  -28 257 277.94 

Cash generated from operating activities  -20 251 420.48  -37 457 968.46 

Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid  -35 108 062.09  -94 332 231.68 
Interest income received  30 397 232.18  69 185 775.29 
Dividend received and equity refund  31 419 280.17  15 463 326.87 
Income taxes paid  -12 352 795.45  -14 929 254.34 

Cash flow from operating activities  -5 895 765.67  -62 070 352.32 

EUR 2021 2020
Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible and intangible assets  -422 891.43  -777 782.68 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  -3 057 822.20  -6 462 616.31 
Disposal of subsidiaries  154 094 585.51  — 
Proceeds on liquidations of shares  3 040 447.58  369 857.69 
Loans granted  -14 332 556.52  -112 635 791.88 
Repayment of other loans  62 607 595.40  154 774 787.24 

Cash flow from investing activities  201 929 358.34  35 268 454.06 

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividends paid  -156 312 002.88  -75 189 670.55 
Purchase of own shares  -3 798 606.55  -894 169.50 
Conveyance of own shares  —  3 845 668.22 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  —  297 417 000.00 
Repayments of long-term borrowings  -145 800 000.00  -3 957 182.00 
Repayments of bridge loan related to merger  —  -300 000 000.00 
Repayments of other short-term borrowings  -18 091 639.10  -24 999 728.42 
Change in intercompany cash pool, net  98 333 829.79  98 230 380.92 
Group contributions received  107 911 000.00  83 700 000.00 

Cash flow from financing activities  -117 757 418.74  78 152 298.67 

Change in cash and cash equivalents  78 276 173.93  51 350 400.41 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  137 952 944.02  86 602 543.61 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period  216 229 117.95  137 952 944.02 

 78 276 173.93  51 350 400.41 
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Notes to the parent company´s financial statements (FAS)

Parent company accounting principles
The financial statements of the Parent company TietoEVRY Corporation are prepared in 
accordance with Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS).

TietoEVRY Corporation (business identity code 0101138-5) is a Finnish public limited IT service 
and software company organized under the laws of Finland and domiciled in Espoo: 
Keilalahdentie 2-4, 02101 Espoo, Finland. The company is listed on NASDAQ in Helsinki and 
Stockholm and the Oslo Stock Exchange. The Board of Directors approved the financial 
statements on 16th February 2022. According to the Limited Liability Companies Act the 
shareholders have at the Annual General Meeting the right to approve, disapprove or change 
the financial statements after the publication. 

Foreign currency items
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the 
transaction date. Foreign currency items at the end of the financial period are valued at the 
exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Foreign currency items are hedged using derivative 
contracts. 

Exchange gains and losses on net financial liabilities are reported in the income statement 
under financial items, while other exchange gains or losses are included in operating profit. 
Gains and losses arising from revaluation of derivative contracts are, depending on their nature, 
reported either under financial items or operating profit.

Net sales 
Net sales include internal service fees and exchange rate differences from accounts 
receivables, less indirect taxes such as value added tax. 

Other operating income 
Other operating income includes gain on sale of subsidiaries, gain on liquidation of joint venture, 
rental income and derivative exchange rate gains.

Pension arrangements
The company’s pension obligations are administered through pension insurance institutions. 
Pension obligations are fully covered.

Financial instruments
The company applies the Finnish Accounting Act chapter 5 section 2a and records financial 
instruments initially at fair value. 

See financial instruments accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements note 22.

Appropriations
Group contributions are included in appropriations.

Valuation of fixed assets
Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged 
according to plan based on the estimated economic lives of the individual assets and accounted 
for in accordance with the straight-line method. 

The company applies the following economic lives:
Years

Intangible assets (software) 3
Other capitalized expenditure 3–10
Trademark 6
Goodwill from operations 10
Buildings 25–40
Data processing equipment1) 3–5
Other machinery and equipment 5
Other tangible assets 5

1) Purchases of personal computers are expensed immediately.
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Income taxes
The income statement includes the company’s income taxes based on taxable profit for the 
period according to local tax regulations as well as adjustments to prior year taxes. The 
information related to deferred tax items is included in the notes.
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1. Net sales
EUR 2021 2020
Internal service fees  189 578 776.56  121 506 688.34 
Total  189 578 776.56  121 506 688.34 

Net sales by country 2021 2020
Finland  53 864 285.76  46 868 231.33 
Sweden  64 833 984.09  38 548 147.00 
Norway  45 177 186.76  15 342 202.30 
Other  25 703 319.95  20 748 107.71 
Total  189 578 776.56  121 506 688.34 

2. Other operating income
EUR 2021 2020
Gain on sale of subsidiaries  36 111 989.92  — 
Rental income  23 366 256.76  23 948 595.32 
Gain on liquidation of subsidiary  —  76 205.33 
Gain on liquidation of joint venture  3 040 447.58  — 
Other income  9 266 961.57  6 306 421.90 
Total  71 785 655.83  30 331 222.55 

Capital gain on sale of subsidiaries; see note 26 in Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

3. Personnel expenses
EUR 2021 2020
Wages and salaries  12 630 837.81  14 274 190.33 
Pension expenses  1 818 608.30  1 564 089.33 
Other pay-related statutory social costs  581 830.07  365 137.41 
Total  15 031 276.18  16 203 417.07 

The parent company had an average of 105 employees during 2021 and 110 employees in 
2020.

4. Other operating expenses
EUR 2021 2020
Information and communication technology  26 785 819.96  23 327 288.52 
Internal service fees  137 493 025.25  84 227 253.38 
Premises related costs  21 941 052.88  22 280 999.19 
Professional services and marketing  22 250 204.74  13 926 600.51 
Derivative exchange rate losses on other expenses  7 208 200.31  6 072 216.83 
Merger loss  98 084 192.05  — 
Other operating expenses  10 559 301.45  10 125 006.10 
Total  324 321 796.64  159 959 364.53 

Fees to auditors
EUR 2021 2020
Audit fees  700 000.00  572 000.00 
Audit related fees  100 000.00  — 
Tax consultation  100 000.00  112 000.00 
Other services  —  65 000.00 
Total  900 000.00  749 000.00 

5. Management remuneration
See note 8 in Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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6. Financial income and expenses
EUR 2021 2020
Dividend income

Dividend income from Group companies  27 160 474.47  11 141 694.41 
Dividend income from joint ventures  1 255 125.92  4 321 500.00 
Dividend income from other companies  98.18  132.46 

 28 415 698.57  15 463 326.87 

Other interest and financial income
From Group companies  7 263 893.65  10 386 786.86 
From other companies  40 838 966.13  79 857 779.72 

 48 102 859.78  90 244 566.58 

Interest and other financing expenses
To Group companies  -880 201.89  -2 951 344.39 
To other companies  -57 236 809.27  -92 954 969.60 

 -58 117 011.16  -95 906 313.99 

Total  18 401 547.19  9 801 579.46 

7. Income taxes
EUR 2021 2020
Taxes for the financial period / appropriations  20 290 000.00  21 582 200.00 
Taxes for the financial period / regular operations  -30 262 790.42  -33 301 171.66 
Taxes for the previous years  -5 087 579.62  2 405.84 
Total  -15 060 370.04  -11 716 565.82 
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8. Intangible assets
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Intangible rights

Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  24 249 592.04  24 179 795.87 
Additions  —  69 796.17 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  24 249 592.04  24 249 592.04 
Accumulated amortization, 1 Jan  14 369 529.35  12 352 894.11 
Amortization for the period  2 017 760.79  2 016 635.24 

Accumulated amortization, 31 Dec  16 387 290.14  14 369 529.35 
Book value, 31 Dec  7 862 301.90  9 880 062.69 

Goodwill
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  212 149 583.27  212 149 583.27 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  212 149 583.27  212 149 583.27 
Accumulated amortization, 1 Jan  22 754 753.65  1 539 795.36 
Amortization for the period  21 214 958.28  21 214 958.29 

Accumulated amortization, 31 Dec  43 969 711.93  22 754 753.65 
Book value, 31 Dec  168 179 871.34  189 394 829.62 

Other capitalized expenditures
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  19 668 704.41  19 364 099.27 
Additions  161 498.79  316 149.06 
Disposals  -4 532.24  -11 543.92 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  19 825 670.96  19 668 704.41 
Accumulated amortization, 1 Jan  14 595 158.58  12 864 587.77 
Amortization for the period  1 508 202.05  1 730 570.81 

Accumulated amortization, 31 Dec  16 103 360.63  14 595 158.58 
Book value, 31 Dec  3 722 310.33  5 073 545.83 

Total  179 764 483.57  204 348 438.14 

9. Tangible assets
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Land

Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  60 270.13  60 270.13 
Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  60 270.13  60 270.13 

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  33 332 668.61  32 951 532.68 
Additions  261 392.63  391 837.35 
Disposals  -6 738.14  -10 701.42 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  33 587 323.10  33 332 668.61 
Accumulated depreciation, 1 Jan  31 695 514.40  30 403 367.02 
Depreciation for the period  992 419.24  1 292 147.38 

Accumulated depreciation, 31 Dec  32 687 933.64  31 695 514.40 
Book value, 31 Dec  899 389.46  1 637 154.21 

Other tangible assets
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  37 370.30  37 370.30 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  37 370.30  37 370.30 
Book value, 31 Dec  37 370.30  37 370.30 

Total  997 029.89  1 734 794.64 
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10. Investments
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Subsidiary shares

Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  2 550 302 170.91  2 450 629 129.80 
Additions  6 797 822.20  99 966 693.47 
Disposals  -221 330 369.24  -293 652.36 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  2 335 769 623.87  2 550 302 170.91 
Book value, 31 Dec  2 335 769 623.87  2 550 302 170.91 

Shares in joint ventures
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  3 422 133.10  3 422 133.10 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  3 422 133.10  3 422 133.10 
Book value, 31 Dec  3 422 133.10  3 422 133.10 

Other shares and interests
Acquisition cost, 1 Jan  153 446.34  153 446.34 

Acquisition cost, 31 Dec  153 446.34  153 446.34 
Book value, 31 Dec  153 446.34  153 446.34 

Total  2 339 345 203.31  2 553 877 750.35 

Subsidiary shares
See note 27 in Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Joint ventures owned and managed by the parent company
See note 28 in Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

11. Long-term receivables
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Loan receivables from Group companies

Subordinated loan  41 267 084.88  42 155 406.95 
Other loan receivables  8 696 496.46  112 950 801.09 

Other receivables  3 076 212.06  4 081 355.92 
Total  53 039 793.40  159 187 563.96 

123

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 224

FINANCIALS



12. Current receivables
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Receivables from Group companies

Accounts receivable  26 504 165.82  20 848 166.84 
Loan receivables  130 837 889.40  74 914 383.51 
Other receivables  98 089.66  1 687 700.11 
Group contribution receivables  101 450 000.00  107 911 000.00 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income  6 402 521.23  4 611 571.17 

Total  265 292 666.11  209 972 821.63 

Receivables from joint ventures
Accounts receivable  34 158.12  59 347.24 

Total  34 158.12  59 347.24 

Receivables from other companies
Accounts receivable  83 969.46  6 006.96 
Tax receivable  —  964 086.10 
Other receivables  4 053 197.00  1 510 362.93 

Total  4 137 166.46  2 480 455.99 

13. Prepaid expenses and accrued income
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Prepaid expenses and accrued income from Group 
companies

Other  6 402 521.23  4 611 571.17 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income from other 
companies

Licence fees  6 427 756.85  5 104 419.73 
Rents  353.34  — 
Social costs  29 464.42  70 749.58 
Bond discount and issue costs  1 200 023.09  1 186 197.15 
Other  1 235 186.86  1 084 807.71 

 8 892 784.56  7 446 174.17 

Total  15 295 305.79  12 057 745.34 
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14. Changes in shareholders' equity
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Restricted equity
Share capital, 1 Jan  76 555 412.00  76 555 412.00 
Share capital, 31 Dec  76 555 412.00  76 555 412.00 

Share issue premiums, 1 Jan  13 791 579.51  13 791 579.51 
Share issue premiums, 31 Dec  13 791 579.51  13 791 579.51 

Restricted equity total  90 346 991.51  90 346 991.51 

Unrestricted equity
Invested unrestricted equity reserve, 1 Jan  1 207 617 299.52  1 207 617 299.52 
Invested unrestricted equity reserve, 31 Dec  1 207 617 299.52  1 207 617 299.52 

Retained earnings, 1 Jan 579 257 788.271)  595 467 110.28 
Purchase of own shares  -3 798 606.55  -894 169.50 
Shares distributed to personnel  —  4 457 686.83 
Dividend distributions  -156 312 002.88  -75 189 670.55 
Retained earnings, 31 Dec  419 147 178.84  523 840 957.06 

Net profit for the financial year  1 069 196.35  55 416 831.21 

Unrestricted equity total  1 627 833 674.71  1 786 875 087.79 

Shareholders' equity, total  1 718 180 666.22  1 877 222 079.30 

Distributable funds
Invested unrestricted equity reserve  1 207 617 299.52  1 207 617 299.52 
Retained earnings  419 147 178.84  523 840 957.06 
Net profit for the financial year  1 069 196.35  55 416 831.21 
Total  1 627 833 674.71  1 786 875 087.79 

Breakdown of the parent's share capital
Number of shares  118 425 771  118 425 771 
Euros  76 555 412.00  76 555 412.00 

1) The accrued cash liability 31.12.2021 (EUR 652.127,15) of the share-based incentive plans has been adjusted by 
crediting the company's retained earnings.
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15. Provisions
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Restructuring commitments  710 030.73  287 689.82 
Other provisions  871 615.18  2 333 080.45 
Total  1 581 645.91  2 620 770.27 

16. Non-Current liabilities
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Bonds  400 000 000.00  400 000 000.00 
Loans  319 584 615.38  478 461 538.46 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income  44 705.25  — 
Other non-current liabilities  —  628.13 
Total  719 629 320.63  878 462 166.59 

Fair value of bonds has been calculated based on prevailing market rate at the reporting date 
and as of 31 Dec 2021 it was EUR 415 774 000  (EUR 411 392 000 in 2020).

17. Current liabilities
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Liabilities to Group companies

Accounts payable  11 058 522.50  4 702 940.10 
Other liabilities including cash pool  561 039 176.06  459 809 202.19 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income  5 238 842.08  7 029 115.05 

 577 336 540.64  471 541 257.34 
Liabilities to joint ventures

Accounts payable  1 397.17  — 
Other liabilities including cash pool  5 095 259.57  13 694 400.23 

 5 096 656.74  13 694 400.23 
Liabilities to other companies

Accounts payable  19 974 239.66  8 518 362.36 
Loans  13 076 923.08  6 538 461.54 
Commercial papers  —  4 973 421.21 
Other current liabilities  1 757 969.91  3 852 435.65 
Accrued liabilities and deferred income  11 098 440.58  10 289 062.80 

 45 907 573.23  34 171 743.56 

Total  628 340 770.61  519 407 401.13 

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities are held at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Their carrying amounts are considered to approximate their fair value, 
except for the fixed rate bond where carrying amount has not been adjusted to match the fair 
value.
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18. Accrued liabilities and deferred income
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Accrued liabilities and deferred income from Group 
companies

Service fee  5 238 544.39  7 028 613.67 
Interest  297.69  501.38 

 5 238 842.08  7 029 115.05 

Accrued liabilities and deferred income from other 
companies

Vacation pay and related social costs  1 661 185.12  1 875 518.40 
Other accrued payroll and related social costs  1 835 728.76  1 981 907.58 
Other social costs  276 832.09  203 462.28 
Interest  3 800 204.34  4 060 603.84 
Rents  604 315.56  936 885.96 
Taxes  1 743 488.49  — 
Other  1 176 686.22  578 557.59 

 11 098 440.58  9 636 935.65 

Total  16 337 282.66  16 666 050.70 

19. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Deferred tax assets

From temporary differences  1 934 798.45  1 395 077.04 
From appropriations  425 507.64  458 506.91 

Total  2 360 306.09  1 853 583.95 

Deferred tax liabilities
From temporary differences  4 659 503.31  4 726 017.39 

Total  4 659 503.31  4 726 017.39 

Deferred tax items are not included in the balance sheet.

20. Contingent liabilities
EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
On behalf of Group companies

Guarantees  135 514 842.90  128 428 256.45 
Other Tieto obligations

Rent commitments due in 2022 (2021)  13 390 201.16  12 434 514.00 
Rent commitments due later  34 872 741.37  39 856 620.00 
Lease commitments due in 2022 (2021)1)  331 089.00  320 092.00 
Lease commitments due later1)  418 196.00  302 355.00 

On behalf of Third parties
Guarantees  25 381 206.19  25 911 124.8 

1) Lease commitments are principally three-year lease agreements that do not include buyout clauses.

In addition to the above mentioned contingent liabilities, parent company has provided security 
on behalf of delivering Group company relating to some major contracts.

127

SUSTAINABILITYTIETOEVRY 2021 GOVERNANCE AND REMUNERATION SUSTAINABILITY NOTES

Annual report 2021 228

FINANCIALS



21. Derivatives
Nominal amounts of derivatives
Includes the gross amount of all nominal values for contracts that have not yet been settled or 
closed. The amount of nominal value outstanding is not necessarily a measure or indication of 
market risk, as the exposure of certain contracts may be offset by other contracts.

EUR 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Foreign exchange forward contracts 559 538 204.20 578 629 042.52

Fair values of derivatives
Foreign exchange derivatives' fair values are calculated according to foreign exchange and 
interest rates on the closing date.

The net fair values of derivative financial 
instruments at the balance sheet date 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Foreign exchange forward contracts 234 108.04 188 348.63

Derivatives are used for economic purposes only.

Gross positive fair values of derivatives 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Foreign exchange forward contracts 4 138 215.08 3 128 076.98

Gross negative fair values of derivatives 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020
Foreign exchange forward contracts -3 904 106.99 -2 939 728.35

Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities
See note 22 in Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

22. Management of financial risks
The operative management of the treasury activities of Tietoevry is centralized into Group 
Treasury, which is operated from Parent company. The Group Treasury is responsible for 
managing the Group’s financial risk position and maintaining adequate liquidity. The Treasury 
Policy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors, defines the principles for measuring 
and managing liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risks and counterparty risk of the 
Group. The Treasury Policy also defines the division of responsibilities with regard to financial 
risk management. The Group reviews and monitors financial risks on a regular basis.

Financial risks are assessed, measured and managed on a Group level. See note 18 in Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND PROPOSAL, SIGNATURES FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR'S 
NOTE
Dividend proposal The Auditor's Note
Distributable funds in the parent company  1 627 833 674.71 Our auditors' report has been issued today.
of which net profit for the current year  1 069 196.35 Espoo, 16 February 2022

The Board of Directors proposes that the retained earnings of Deloitte Oy
EUR 420 216 375.19 shall be used as follows: Audit Firm
a total dividend of EUR 1.40 per share to be paid to shareholders  165 785 457.60 

Jukka Vattulainen
 the remainder be carried forward  254 430 917.59 Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)

In the opinion of the Board of Directors the proposed dividend distribution does not endanger the 
solvency of the company.

Signatures for the Financial statements and Board of Directors' report
Espoo, 16 February 2022

Tomas Franzén
Chairperson

Timo Ahopelto Liselotte Hägertz Engstam Harri-Pekka Kaukonen
Deputy Chairperson

Angela Mazza Teufer Katharina Mosheim Niko Pakalén

Endre Rangnes Leif Teksum Tommy Sander Aldrin

Ola Hugo Jordhøy Anders Palklint Ilpo Waljus

Kimmo Alkio
President and CEO
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AUDITOR’S REPORT (Unofficial translation of the Finnish original) 

To the Annual General Meeting of TietoEVRY Oyj

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of TietoEVRY Oyj (business identity code 0101138-5) for the year ended 31 December, 2021. The financial statements comprise the consolidated income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as well as 
the parent company’s income statement, balance sheet, statement of cash flows and notes.

In our opinion
• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU,
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of 

financial statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report submitted to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

In our best knowledge and understanding, the non-audit services that we have provided to the parent company and group companies are in compliance with laws and regulations applicable in Finland 
regarding these services, and we have not provided any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of regulation (EU) 537/2014. 

The non-audit services that we have provided have been disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls. This includes consideration of whether there was evidence of management bias that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition We evaluated the IT systems used for recognizing revenue by testing access and change management controls. We also 
evaluated process level controls by performing walkthroughs of each significant class of revenue transactions, assessed the 
design  of key controls and tested the operating effectiveness of those controls.Refer to accounting policies for the consolidated financial statements and 

notes 5 and 6.

Consolidated Net Sales of TietoEVRY Oyj amounted to EUR 2 823.4 (2 
786.4) million. The Net Sales consist mostly of continuous services, software 
solutions and consulting. In addition to this, the Company has fixed-price 
Revenue from service contracts, software solutions and consulting is based 
on service volumes or time and materials; and the performance obligations 
are recognized over the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered. For contracts comprising fixed-price projects, revenue is 
recognized based on the actual service provided by the reporting date as a 
proportion of the total services to be provided.

We identified as a specific risk of error and fraud in respect of improper 
revenue recognition given the nature of the Group’s services, as follows:

– Improper revenue recognition in manually recorded exceptional
revenue transactions.

Revenue recognition due to its significance require specific attention both 
from the accounting and the auditing  perspective. In addition, management 
applies judgement when considering revenue recognition for fixed-price 
projects.

Our substantive audit procedures to address the identified risk relating to revenue from services consisted among others, 
performing transactional testing procedures to validate the recognition of revenue throughout the year as well as year-end.

Our substantive audit procedures to address the risk of inappropriate accounting for projects were focused on judgements used by 
management in project estimates. 

We selected a sample of contracts based on quantitative and qualitative criteria and performed the following:
– We performed interviews with project managers and financial controllers to assess the estimates on projects' status and

estimated costs and income;
– Ensured that the revenue recognition method applied was appropriate based on the terms of the arrangement;
– Agreed project revenue estimate against the sales agreement, including contract amendments;
– Tested the accuracy of the cost estimate by taking a sample of cost components and traced those to supporting

documentation; and
– Recalculated the revenue based on percentage of completion of the fixed price projects. Assessed the appropriateness

of the percentage of completion by comparing actual costs from the Company’s accounting records to the estimated total
costs of the project.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment testing of Goodwill

Refer to Note 11 in the consolidated financial statements. As part of our audit procedures we have assessed key controls over management’s goodwill impairment testing for each cash 
generating unit.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are determined based on value-in-use calculations. Cash flows used in 
these calculations are based on five-year financial plans defined by group management.

We have assessed the key assumptions used by management in the impairment test for cash generating units:
– comparing the growth and profitability estimates to historical performance.
– comparing the estimates with the latest approved budgets and strategic plans.
– involving our valuation specialists to verify that the discount rates and the long-term growth rates are consistent with 

observable market data
– validated the mathematical accuracy of the impairment calculations

We have also assessed the related disclosure information. 

Consolidated financial statements includes goodwill of EUR 1 943.7 (1 974.4) 
million. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is subject to annual impairment test. For testing purposes goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units. As a result of management’s goodwill 
impairment test, no impairment was identified.
Goodwill impairment testing requires substantial management judgment over 
the projected future business performance, cash flows and applied discount 
rate.

Note 11 in the consolidated financial statements describes key assumptions 
used by management in the impairment test and related sensitivity analysis.

We have no key audit matters to report with respect to our audit of the parent company financial statements. There are no significant risks of material misstatement referred to in Article 10(2c) of Regulation (EU) 
No 537/2014 with respect to the group financial statements and the parent company financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO for the financial statements
The Board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements 
in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and CEO are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and CEO are responsible for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The financial statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to 
liquidate the parent company or the group or cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities in the audit of financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the President and CEO’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events so that the financial statements give a true and fair view.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.
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Other Reporting Requirements

Information on our audit engagement

We have been acting as Tietoevry’s auditors a total period of uninterrupted engagement of 4 years since 2018.

Other information
The Board of Directors and CEO are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the report of the Board of Directors and the information included in the Annual Report, but 
does not include the financial statements and our report thereon. We have obtained the report of the Board of Directors prior to the date of the auditor’s report, and the Annual Report is expected to be 
made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. With respect to report of the Board of Directors, our responsibility also 
includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Espoo, 16 February 2022

Deloitte Oy
Audit Firm

Jukka Vattulainen 
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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About our  
sustainability  
report

Scope

The non-financial data and information included in our 

Annual Report 2021 describes our sustainability efforts 

across our value chain, ranging from our purchasing 

activities to the use of our services and products. The 

disclosures focus on the sustainability topics that are 

most material regarding our economic, social and 

environmental impact. 

The sustainability disclosures in this year’s report include 

the Parent company Tietoevry Corporation and all 

subsidiaries over which the Parent company has direct or 

indirect control with following exceptions: Greenhouse 

gas emission data does not cover Tietoevry’s Norwegian 

subsidiary Bekk (around 500 employees). This year’s data 

regarding completion of Code of Conduct e-learning training 

includes subsidiaries Infopulse and EVRY India, but does not 

cover Avega (around 300 employees) and Bekk. HR data 

covers the Parent company and includes all subsidiaries 

that the Parent company has direct or indirect control 

over, except for the GRI disclosure 405-1 (employees and 

managers split by gender and age), GRI disclosure 102-8 

(employment type split by gender) and GRI Disclosure 401-1 

(new employee hires and turnover split by gender and age) 

where data does not cover the subsidiary Avega. The GRI 

General Disclosures cover the entire Tietoevry Group. 

Unless otherwise stated, our workforce related figures in 

the Sustainability section of the report are based on GRI 

Standards. The numbers include joint ventures, hence 

differing from the headcount in the Financial section. The 

data sources are company systems that provide data on 

full-time, part-time, permanent and temporary employees. 

As Avega, Infopulse companies and EVRY India Private 

Limited use external systems, data will be transferred via 

e-mail and excel in those cases.
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We strive to include data for all Tietoevry’s subsidiaries in 

our sustainability reporting. In last year’s report, data on 

the Norwegian subsidiary Bekk was not included in the 

disclosure “Total number of employees”. The total number of 

employees reported in 2020 was 24,061, excluding Bekk. In 

this year’s report the number has been updated to include 

Bekk which means that the Total number of employees in 

2020, including Bekk was 24,549. The percentage of male 

and female and share of employees belonging to certain age 

groups was not affected by the restatement. The effect of 

this restatement is increased comparability between figures 

for 2020 and 2021.

Unless otherwise stated, all information and data pertain 

to activities from 1 January to 31 December 2021. The 

regional data is divided between HR and financial data due 

to system restrictions. 

Our energy reporting and corresponding scope 1 and 2 

emissions cover all operating sites (offices, laboratories 

and data centers) except Tietoevry’s Norwegian subsidiary 

Bekk. The scope of the energydata collection is aligned 

with our Environmental Management System; data is 

collected from data centers, laboratories and offices with 

20 employees or more. The energy consumption by offices 

excluded from the scope of the data collection is based 

on our global average values, with a 10% safety margin. 

The original data sources are on-line energy management 

systems, energy invoices and data from utility providers. 

The scope 3 business-travel-related GHG emissions include 

flights and the use of employees’ own cars for business 

purposes. GHG data (tCO2) comes mainly from the travel 

agency’s IT systems. Defra-emission factors have been 

used for air travel not included in the report from the 

travel agency. Defra-emission factors are also applied for 

cars used for business purposes, when calculating the 

emissions based on driven kilometres. Locations with major 

operations and a significant amount of travel are within 

the scope. 

Energy and emission calculations follow the Greenhouse 

Gas Protocol, and emissions are reported as CO2 equivalents 

(CO2e). The electricity-emission factors are based on 

national gross electricity production mixes (annual statistics) 

from the International Energy Agency’s statistics (IEA stat). 

Emission factors per fuel type are based on assumptions 

in the IEA methodological framework. Factors for district 

heating/cooling are either based on actual (local) production 

mixes, or average IEA statistics. The scope 2 market-based 

calculations are determined by the purchased Guarantees 

of origin (GoO)/ Renewable Energy Certificates (REC). 

When acquiring GoOs or RECs, the supplier certifies that the 

electricity is produced exclusively by renewable sources, 

which have an emission factor of 0 grams CO2e per kWh. 

However, for electricity without certificates, the emission 

factor is based on remaining electricity production after all 

GoOs and RECs for renewable energy are sold. The emission 

factors used for European residual mixes are provided 

by European Residual Mixes 2021. Country-specific IEA 

emission factors are used for non-EU countries. Purchased 

renewable district-heating and cooling products are 

counted as zero emissions, according to the scope 2 market-

based method.

The base year for the scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG calculations is 

2020, with the exception of the business-travel category, 

which is in scope 3. The base year for scope 3 business  

travel GHG calculations is 2019. In the report, the metric ton/

UK tonne equivalent to 1,000 kilograms is stated  

solely as a ton. 

Our sustainability 
report is prepared  
in accordance with  
the core option  
of the GRI Standards.
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Reporting framework and 
communication to initiatives

Our sustainability report for 2021 is prepared in accordance 

with the core option of the GRI Standards. 

Tietoevry has signed the UN Global Compact, which means 

that we commit to implementing the ten principles for 

sustainable business. The Global Compact requires a yearly 

report on progress and performance. Tietoevry’s annual 

report and sustainability report are designed to meet these 

requirements. In the GRI-index, page 242, references to the 

principles can be found. 

Tietoevry supports UN’s Sustainable Development Goals 

and we have analysed our impact on them with the help of 

‘principled prioritisation’. This means that we have aligned 

our company strategy, efforts and allocated resources that 

reflect our significant impacts assessed as a part of our 

materiality analysis. The references to how we work with the 

global goals and sub-targets can be found in the GRI index.

Legislation on non-financial reporting 

Information about the companies within the Tietoevry 

group that are covered by the legislation are included in 

the non-financial information in the Board of Directors’ 

report. Tietoevry’s Board of Directors submits the non-

financial information.

External assurance

An independent third party, Deloitte Oy, has provided limited 

assurance on the sustainability information disclosed in 

Tietoevry’s Annual Report 2021. The scope of the assured 

information is indicated in the independent practitioner’s 

assurance report as well as in the GRI content index. In 

our view, a third-party independent assurance increases 

transparency, helps us to improve, and is key to delivering a 

high-quality report. 

Publication

Our combined annual and sustainability report 2021 was 

published on 2 March 2022. 

Sustainability contacts

Kia Haring, Vice President Communications and 

Sustainability

kia.haring@tietoevry.com

+358 40 765 3700

Ida Bohman Steenberg, Head of Sustainability

ida.bohman.steenberg@tietoevry.com

+46 722 037 248

mailto:kia.haring%40tietoevry.com?subject=
mailto:ida.bohman.steenberg%40tietoevry.com?subject=
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Independent  
limited assurance report
To the Management of TietoEVRY Oyj

To the Management of TietoEVRY Oyj

We have been engaged by the management of TietoEVRY Oyj (business identity code 0101138-5, hereinafter also the 

Company) to provide a limited assurance on the selected sustainability disclosures in the TietoEVRY Annual Report 2021 for 

the reporting period of January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021. The assured information is indicated in the Company’s GRI 

Content Index 2021 (hereinafter Sustainability Information).

Management’s responsibility

The Management of TietoEVRY is responsible for the preparation of the Sustainability Information in accordance with the 

Reporting criteria as set out in the Company’s reporting instructions and the GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards of the 

Global Reporting Initiative (hereinafter also the Reporting criteria). This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Sustainability Information that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate criteria and making estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Assurance provider’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion on the Sustainability Information based on our engagement. 

We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 

3000 (Revised). 

ISAE 3000 standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the assurance engagement 

to obtain limited assurance whether any matters come to our attention that cause us to believe that the Sustainability 

Information has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Reporting criteria. 

We did not perform any assurance procedures on the prospective information, such as targets, expectations and ambitions, 

disclosed in the Sustainability Information. Consequently, we draw no conclusion on the prospective information. Our 

assurance report is made in accordance with the terms of our engagement with TietoEVRY. We do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than TietoEVRYfor our work, for this assurance report, or for the conclusions we have reached.

A limited assurance engagement with respect to responsibility related data involves performing procedures to obtain 

evidence about the Sustainability Information. The procedures performed depend on the practitioner’s judgment, but their 

nature is different from, and their extent is less than, a reasonable assurance engagement. They do not include detailed 

testing of source data or the operating effectiveness of processes and internal controls, and consequently they do not enable 

us to obtain the assurance necessary to become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable 

assurance engagement. 

Our procedures on this engagement included:

• Interviewing senior management of the Company;

• Conducting interviews with employees responsible for the collection and reporting of the Sustainability Information 

and reviewing of the processes and systems for data gathering, including the aggregation of the data for the 

Sustainability Information;

• Reviewing internal and external documentation to verify to what extent these documents and data support the information 

included in the Sustainability Information and evaluating whether the information presented in the Sustainability 

Information is in line with our overall knowledge of corporate sustainability at TietoEVRY;

• Performing analytical review procedures and testing data on a sample basis to assess the reasonability of the presented 

Sustainability Information;

• Conducting an interview with TietoEVRY’s sites in Sweden and India through a video conference;

• Assessing that the Sustainability Information has been prepared in accordance with the Sustainability Reporting Standards 

(Core) of the Global Reporting Initiative.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.
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Our independence, quality control, and competences

We have complied with Deloitte’s independence policies which address and, in certain cases, exceed the requirements 

of the Code of Ethics for professional accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants. 

We have maintained our independence and objectivity throughout the year, and there were no events or prohibited services 

provided which could impair our independence and objectivity. 

Deloitte Oy applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of 

quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. This engagement was conducted by a multidisciplinary team 

including assurance and sustainability expertise with professional qualifications. Our team is experienced in providing 

sustainability reporting assurance.

Conclusion

Based on the procedures we have performed, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that TietoEVRY’s 

Sustainability Information for the reporting period ended 31 December 2021 is not properly prepared, in all material 

respects, in accordance with the Reporting criteria.

Our assurance statement should be read in conjunction with the inherent limitations of accuracy and completeness 

for sustainability information.

Espoo, March 1, 2022

Deloitte Oy

Jukka Vattulainen Teemu Jaatinen
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant
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Disclosure Disclosure title Link and reference Responsible area and number UNGC Externally assured

GRI 102: GENERAL DISCLOSURES 2016

ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE

102-1 Name of the organization Fact & figures COP report profile

102-2 Activities, brands, products and services Operating model COP report profile

102-3 Location of headquarters Fact & figures COP report profile

102-4 Location of operations Fact & figures, Tietoevry world COP report profile

102-5 Ownership and legal form Shares and shareholders COP report profile

102-6 Markets served IT market development COP report profile

102-7 Scale of the organization Operating model, IT market development COP report profile

102-8 Information on employees and other workers Diversity and inclusion Principle 6, COP report profile x

102-9 Supply chain Responsible sourcing Principle 1–10, COP report profile

102-10 Significant changes of the organisation CEO review, New strategy launched  
in 2021 – growth through specialization, 
Shares and shareholders

102-11 Precautionary principle Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions

102-12 External initiatives Managing sustainability

102-13 Memberships of associations Societal engagements

STRATEGY

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker CEO review

102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities NFI

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms 
of behaviour

Business ethics and  anti-corruption, 
Managing sustainability, Diversity and inclusion

Principle 10

GRI Content index
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Disclosure Disclosure title Link and reference Responsible area and number UNGC Externally assured

GOVERNANCE

102-18 Governance structure Corporate governance statement

102-20 Executive-level responsible for economic, 
environmental and social topics

Managing sustainability

102-23 Chair of the highest governance body Corporate governance statement

102-32 Highest governance body's role in sustainability Managing sustainability, 
Independent assurance report

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Stakeholder engagement and materiality analysis

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements Employee experience Principle 3 x

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders Stakeholder engagement and materiality analysis

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement and materiality analysis

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised Stakeholder engagement and materiality analysis

REPORTING PRACTICE

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements

About our sustainability report

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries Stakeholder engagement and materiality analysis,  
About our sustainability report

102-47 List of material topics GRI content index

102-48 Restatement of information About our sustainability report

102-49 Changes in the report About our sustainability report

102-50 Reporting period About our sustainability report

102-51 Date of most recent report About our sustainability report

102-52 Reporting cycle About our sustainability report

102-53 Contact point for the report About our sustainability report

102-54 Claims for reporting in accordance with 
the GRI Standards

About our sustainability report

102-55 GRI Content Index GRI content index

102-56 External assurance Independent assurance report
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Disclosure Disclosure title Link and reference Responsible area and number UNGC Externally assured

MATERIAL TOPICS, MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND DISCLOSURES

GRI 200: ECONOMIC STANDARD SERIES

GRI 205: ANTI-CORRUPTION 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder  
engagement and materiality analysis,  
Business ethics and anti-corruption

2: Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Business ethics and anti-corruption 2: Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Business ethics and anti-corruption 2: Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related 
to corruption

Business ethics and anti-corruption 2: Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption 
and actions taken

Business ethics and anti-corruption 2: Business ethics and  
anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

GRI 300: ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARD SERIES

GRI 302: ENERGY 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder  
engagement and materiality analysis,  
Business ethics and anti-corruption

5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

302-3 Energy intensity Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

GRI 305: EMISSIONS 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder  
engagement and materiality analysis,  
Business ethics and anti-corruption

5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x
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Disclosure Disclosure title Link and reference Responsible area and number UNGC Externally assured

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG Emissions Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

305-4 GHG emissions intensity Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5: Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

x

GRI 306: WASTE 2020

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder  
engagement and materiality analysis,  
Business ethics and anti-corruption

6. Circular economy practices Principle 8–9

103-2 The management approach and its components Circular economy practices 6. Circular economy practices Principle 8–9

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Circular economy practices 6. Circular economy practices Principle 8–9

306-1 Waste generation and significant 
waste-related impacts 

Circular economy practices 6. Circular economy practices Principle 8–9

306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts Circular economy practices 6. Circular economy practices Principle 8–9

306-3 Waste generated Due to information unavailable, omission  
is applied to parts of this disclosure.  
Measures have been taken during FY21 to ensure 
full disclosure in FY22

6. Circular economy practices

GRI 400: SOCIAL STANDARD SERIES

GRI 401: EMPLOYMENT 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder  
engagement and materiality analysis,  
Business ethics and anti-corruption

8. Employee Engagement Principle 6 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Employee engagement 8. Employee Engagement Principle 6 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Employee engagement 8. Employee Engagement Principle 6 x

401-1 Total number and rates of new employee hires 
and employee turnover

Employee engagement 8. Employee Engagement Principle 6 x
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GRI 405: DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder engagement 
and materiality analysis, Diversity and inclusion

7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

GRI 406: NON-DISCRIMINATION 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder engagement 
and materiality analysis, Diversity and inclusion

7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

406-1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective 
actions taken

Diversity and inclusion 7: Diversity & inclusion Principle 1, 2, 6 x

GRI 407: FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder engagement 
and materiality analysis, Responsible sourcing, 
Diversity and inclusion

1. Human rights, 5. Responsible 
sourcing

Principle 3

103-2 The management approach and its components Diversity and inclusion 1. Human rights, 5. Responsible 
sourcing

 Principle 3

412-1 Operations that have been subject to human 
rights reviews or impact assessments 

Diversity and inclusion 1. Human rights, 5. Responsible 
sourcing

Principle 3

GRI 412: HUMAN RIGHTS 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and 
its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder engagement 
and materiality analysis, Human rights

1. Human rights Principle 1–6

103-2 The management approach and its components Human rights 1. Human rights Principle 1–6

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Human rights 1. Human rights Principle 1–6

407-1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to 
freedom of association and collective bargaining 
may be at risk

Responsible sourcing, Human rights 1. Human rights, 5. Responsible 
sourcing

Principle 3
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GRI 418: CUSTOMER PRIVACY 2016

103-1 Explanation of the material topic 
and its Boundary

Managing sustainability, Stakeholder 
engagement and materiality analysis, 
Cybersecurity and privacy

3: Cybersecurity and privacy Principle 1–2 x

103-2 The management approach and its components Cybersecurity and privacy 3: Cybersecurity and privacy Principle 1–2 x

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach Cybersecurity and privacy 3: Cybersecurity and privacy Principle 1–2 x

418-1 Sustantiated complaints regarding breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer data

Cybersecurity and privacy 3: Cybersecurity and privacy Principle 1–2 x

TIETOEVRY SPECIFIC DISCLOSURES

BUSINESS ETHICS AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

Tietoevry 2.1 Completion of Code of Conduct training Business ethics and anti-corruption 2. Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 1–3, 6–10 x

Tietoevry 2.2 Whistleblowing notification period Business ethics and anti-corruption 2. Business ethics 
and anti-corruption

Principle 10 x

CYBERSECURITY AND PRIVACY

Tietoevry 3.1 Completion of both GDPR and Security training Cybersecurity and privacy 3. Cybersecurity and privacy Principle 1–2

RESPONSIBLE SOURCING

Tietoevry 4.1 New or renewed suppliers agreeing to Tietoevry’s 
Supplier Code of Conduct

Responsible sourcing 4. Responsible sourcing All principles x

Tietoevry 4.2 Annual review of conflict mineral management 
with main hardware suppliers

Responsible sourcing 4. Responsible sourcing All principles

Tietoevry 4.3 Self-assessment on selected strategic suppliers Responsible sourcing 4. Responsible sourcing All principles

Tietoevry 4.4 On-site audits for suppliers identified as high 
risk suppliers

Responsible sourcing 4. Responsible sourcing All principles

Tietoevry 4.5 Sustainability management system reviews with 
five top-spend suppliers 

Responsible sourcing 4. Responsible sourcing All principles

Tietoevry 4.6 Percentage of suppliers having a public, absolute 
GHG emission reduction target (not assured)

Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 4. Responsible sourcing

Tietoevry 4.7 Percentage of TCO certified computers 
(or equivalent) procured for internal use 
(not assured)

Circular economy practices 4. Responsible sourcing
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ENERGY USAGE AND GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Tietoevry 5.1 Percentages of carbon free electricity  
in scope 1 and 2

Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5. Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

Tietoevry 5.2 Reduction of total Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5. Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

Tietoevry 5.3 Reduction of average carbon footprint 
from business travel per employee

Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5. Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

Tietoevry 5.4 Ton CO2 avoided by customers through use 
of IT services provided by Tietoevry

Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions 5. Energy usage and greenhouse 
gas emissions

Principle 7–9 x

DIVERSITY & INCLUSION

Tietoevry 7.1 Ratio female and male employees Diversity and inclusion 7. Diversity & inclusion Principle 6 x

Tietoevry 7.3 Senior managers by gender - not assured Diversity and inclusion

EMPLOYEE EXPERIENCE

Tietoevry 8.1 Employee engagement score Employee Experience 8. Employee Experience x
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